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2024 12 2023 12
7,377 11,715
18,053 16,603
12,198 10,863
8,027 6,698
1,951 1,121
47,606 47,000
(912) (1,134)
46,694 45,866
2024 12
380 2023 12 330
2024 458.4 2023 519.8
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
10,425 9,486 8,781
393 161 359
2,881 2,576 2,458
1,359 342 610
1,084 1,315 1,168
16,142 13,880 13,376
232) (508) 519
6,595 6,144 5,927
5,230 6,885 5,623
11,825 13,029 11,550
4,549 1,359 1,307
1,019 281 215
3,530 1,078 1,002
144 126 113
3,386 952 979
26,405 30,078 31,762
12.8% 3.2% 3.1%
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OoOoOoOoOodno
2024 21.8 2023
21.3 2022 18.5
2024 20 100
2024 20
2022
10 ROE
2024 28
( )
2024 12
4,576 5,849 10,425
303 - 393
- 2,881 2,881
1,357 2 1,359
1,084 - 1,084
7,410 8,732 16,142
2023 12
4,207 5,279 9,486
161 - 161
- 2,576 2,576
a 349 342
1,315 - 1,315
5,676 8,204 13,880
2022 12
3,817 4,964 8,781
359 - 359
- 2,458 2,458
610 - 610
1,168 - 1,168

5,954 7,422 13,376

1741617
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2023

1751617

( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
1,303 361 2,078
56 (19) (1,468)
1,359 342 610
289 (181) 1,482
1,070 523 (872)
1,359 342 610
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
/C ) 154 (61) (415)
930 1,376 1,583
1,084 1,315 1,168
2024
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oOoOooodn
2024 2023
2024 161.4 2023 16
2023
370
2023 508 2024 232
2024

2023
2024 118.3 2023 CIE

2024 2023 13.6

45.5

176/617
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AUS
AUS
AUS
AUS
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
336 295 263
772 658 563
1,184 1,122 1,010
AUS 2,292 2,075 1,836
845 737 711
AUS 3,137 2,812 2,547
1,078 1,033 905
929 798 712
1,130 981 930
AUS 3,137 2,812 2,547
2,235 1,951 1,806
EMEA 683 653 548
219 208 193
AUS 3,137 2,812 2,547
1,687 1,557 1,388
1,004 901 862
446 354 297
AUS 3,137 2,812 2,547

EMEA

1771617
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2024 12 AUS
1.6
AUS
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
2,812 2,547 2,470
C )
38 25 19
15 3) 13
53 52 18
AUS /C ) 106 74 50
108 27 16
AUS /C ) 214 101 66
/C ) - (23) 316
/C ) 111 187 (305)
3,137 2,812 2,547
2024 AUS
3,250
2023 AUS PFM
2,650
2022 AUS
NN
770
AUS
( ) 2024 2023 2022
38 38 16
61 31 39
115 32 11
AUS C ) 214 101 66
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AUS
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
314 269 253
731 610 581
1,164 1,050 992
AUS 2,209 1,929 1,826
751 749 693
AUS 2,960 2,678 2,519
AUS
2024 12 41.2
2023 12 37.7
AUS
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
62 64 64
55 57 57
17 17 17
15 15 14

31 31 31
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AUS
( )

2024 12
AUS

34 84 118

48 12 60

13 14 27

45 26 71

140 136 276

38

AUS 314

122 55 75

82 10 71

88 32 58

68 45 59

88 47 68

17

62
2023 12
AUS

29 70 99

44 2 46

11 9 20

42 22 64

126 103 229

40

AUS 269

125 61 80

80 37 78

82 42 64

67 53 62

86 57 73

16

64
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2022 12
AUS
27 61 88
36 2 38
10 8 18
45 22 67
118 93 211
42
AUS 253
133 61 83
81 51 80
87 50 70
64 49 59
87 57 74
16
64
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AUS
( ) AUS
2024 12
131 73 204
62 79 141
30 24 54
76 3 79
299 179 478
37 2 39
336 181 517
2023 12
109 77 186
55 75 130
22 32 54
66 3 69
252 187 439
43 3 46
295 190 485
2022 12
94 76 170
44 73 117
18 36 54
65 2 67
221 187 408
42 - 42

263 187 450
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2024
12 610 2023 12 580
2028 3,000
2020 2024
( ) 2024 12
AUS 242
81
323
610
AUS
2024 720
280 190 60
190 2019

3,230 2025

183/617
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ooooooo
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
8.5 12.9
9.0 10.8
13.4 13.2
CIE 5.6 9.3
36.5 46.2
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
18.4 21.3
8.7 8.6
1.6 3.5
2.6 3.6
3.5 4.0
1.7 5.2
9.4 16.3
36.5 46.2
One Million Black Women
2022 12
300 2026
2024 939

2024 12 40

184/617
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2024

/(

16.3
0.7

7.9)
0.3

9.4

400

2024 12

2023 12

8.5
9.0

12.9
10.8

17.5

23.7

51%
45%
3%
1%

45%
49%
3%
3%

100%

100%

EMEA

54%
35%
11%

52%
37%
11%

100%

100%

11%

9%
12%
14%

2%
13%
29%
10%

11%
6%
15%
18%
2%
11%
28%
9%

100%

100%
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12

13.4 13.2

68% 70%

EMEA 17% 15%
15% 15%

100% 100%

5% 6%

15% 11%

6% 6%

% 10%

14% 13%

27% 30%

24% 22%

2% 2%

100% 100%

2024 12 126 2023 12 121
2024 12 2023 12 11
2024 12 14 2023 12 13
2023 12 2023 12
2023 12

2023 12

186/617
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2024 12
2017 22%
2018 2020 28%
2021 50%
100%
2023 12
2016 25%
2017 2019 26%
2020 49%
100%
2024 12 32 2023 12 34
2024 12 24
2023 12 59
CIE 2024 12 12 2023 12

35
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CIE
( 2024 12 2023 12
CIE ( 1.2 2.4
72% 61%
EMEA 15% 25
13% 14%
100% 100%
7% 6%
23% 16%
15% 13%
29% 24%
6% 7%
4% 15%
1% 7%
15% 12%
100% 100%
CIE
2024 12
2017 29%
2018 2020 37%
2021 34%
100%
2023 12
2016 12%
2017 2019 574
2020 31%

100%

188/617
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2024 12 2023 12
16,041 24,043
5,944 7,651
72 3
20,452 14,911
3 2
18,836 20,028
1,154 1,846
62,502 68,484
2024 12 2023 12
- 3,125
21,403 19,361
- 17
21,403 22,503
(2,567) (2,475)
18,836 20,028
2024 204.8 2023

oOoOooodn

214.8
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2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
2,147 2,072 1,176
280 306 326
2,427 2,378 1,502
1,540 1,135 1,728
685 784 560
1,277 2,634 1,203
1,962 3,418 1,763
(1,075) (2,175) (1,989)
41) (450) (328)
(834) (1,725) (1,661)
25 23 12
(859) (1,748) (1,673)
4,573 3,863 3,574
(18.8)% (45.2)% (46.8)%
2025

190/617



2023

2024 2023

2024

2023
2024
2024 2023
2023
2024 19.6 2023
2024

10.8

GM

11.4

191/617
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2024

24.3 2023

15.4 2024

43

2023 21.8

25
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CCAR
DFAST

2024 12 1.68 2023 12 343.8

930.5
376.8
128.4 594.9
485.2

193/617
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Ogoooood
2024 12 1.55 2023 12 292.9
350.3
46.0
74.7
54.8
2024 12 2023 12
2,743.8 2,498.9
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12 21 2024
12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12 26 2024 12
2024 12
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
1,675,972 1,641,594
242,634 241,877
121,996 116,905
13.7 14.0
2.0 2.1

194/617

20
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) 2024 12 2023 12
121,996 116,905
(13,253) (11,203)
108,743 105,702
(5,853) (5,916)
(847) 1,177)
102,043 98,609
336.77 313.56
316.02 292.52
2024 12 322.9 2023 12
337.1
) 2024 12 2023 12
433,013 35% 428,417 36%
358,590 29% 323,564 27%
69,709 6% 75,945 6%
242,634 20% 241,877 21%
121,996 10% 116,905 10%
1,225,942 100% 1,186,708 100%
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USA GS USA
GSIB SE GSBE

( )
2024 12
126,694 54,541 181,235
90,013 6,489 96,502
- 41,014 41,014
30,927 - 30,927
60,925 1,820 62,745
1,776 18,814 20,590
310,335 122,678 433,013
2023 12
120,211 36,903 157,114
86,457 6,855 93,312
- 46,860 46,860
31,916 - 31,916
68,177 3,643 71,820
1,568 25,827 27,395

308,329 120,088 428,417

196/617



FDIC

259.8

2024 12

2024 12

260.0

2023 12

FDIC

2023 12

11

GCLA

197/617
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0.6

2,345.4 2,215.2

2024 12 2023 12

13
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GS
USA
2024 12 50.4 2023 12
discount window
14
1933 144A
( )
2024 12
2026 10,016 6,947 8,179 11,788 36,930
2027 13,058 8,700 8,091 11,289 41,138
2028 11,495 6,191 4,542 6,976 29,204
2029 4,490 10,308 6,912 11,026 32,736
2030 102,626

242,634

198/617
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2024 12

14

19

RWA

FRB
14 19
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FRB
2025 27 SEC 10-K 2024
Part 1 Item 1 Business Available Information
FRB CCAR FRB
FRB

FRB FRB

FRB

FRB

SCB SCB
CET1 CET1
RWA

200/617



2024 CCAR
2024 10
13.7
G-SIB
2024
GS USA
GS USA 2024

12

2025

FRB
2025 30

DFAST

DFAST

2023 12

201/617
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SCB 5.5

GSI GSIB

16

2024 12

ooooood
6.2
CET1

2024
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1933 10b5-1
2023 300
19
2024 80.0 38.0
118.0
50 100
2024
GS USA

GS&Co. GSI GSIB GSBE GSJCL
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oOoOooodn
GS&Co. GSI
GS USA GSIB GSBE
GS
USA GSIB GSBE GS&Co. GSI
FRB
G-SIB
2.5 SCB
G-SIB
G-SIB 2024
2025 3.0 2026 3.5
G-SIB
SCB

50

100

20

203/617
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TLAC
FRB TLAC TLAC
FRB
TLAC
2024 12 2023 12
RWA TLAC 22.0% 22.0%
TLAC 9.5% 9.5%
RWA 9.0% 9.0%
4.5% 4.5%
RWA TLAC 18 2.5
FRB 1.5
G-SIB
TLAC 7.5
2.0
RWA 3.0
G-SIB
4.5
TLAC
2024 12 2023 12
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
TLAC 275,904 278,188
150,682 154,300
RWA 688,541 692,737
2,120,756 1,995,756
RWA TLAC 40.1% 40.2%
TLAC 13.0% 13.9%
RWA 21.9% 22.3%

7.1% 7.7%

204/617
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ooooooo
TLAC
TLAC RWA RWA TLAC
RWA 2024 12 2023
12 RWA
TLAC
GS USA GSIB GSBE
GS USA
20
GSIB
GSIB PRA
FCA GSIB
GSIB
GSIB
2024 12 2023 12
CET1 11.9% 10.1%
Tierl 14.7% 12.4%

18.4% 15.4%
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ooOoooOoo
GSIB
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
CET1 4,336 3,936
Tierl 4,336 3,936
Tier2 826 826
5,162 4,762
RWA 17,767 16,546
CET1 24.4% 23.8%
Tierl 24.4% 23.8%
29.1% 28.8%
2024 12
GSIB GSIB
2024 12 CET1 213
GSIB
2024 12 2023 12
3.7% 3.6%
8.9% 7.4%
2024 12 GSIB
GSIB
2024 12 87
GSIB 2024
12 2023 12 GSIB
GSBE
GSBE BaFin
GSBE GS USA
GSBE EU CRD
EU CRR
GSBE

GSBE

206/617
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oooooog
GSBE
2024 12 2023 12
CET1 10.3% 10.0%
Tierl 12.3% 12.1%
15.0% 14.8%
GSBE
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
CET1 13,871 14,212
Tierl 13,871 14,212
Tier2 21 22
13,892 14,234
RWA 43,426 39,797
CET1 31.9% 35.7%
Tierl 31.9% 35.7%
32.0% 35.8%
2024 12
GSBE GSBE GS USA
2024 12 CET1 151
GSBE
2024 12 2023 12
3.0% 3.0%
9.8% 11.4%
2024 12 GSBE
GSBE GS USA
2024 12 54
GSBE
2024 12 2023 12 GSBE
GSBE CFTC SEC
2024 12 2023 12 GSBE

207/617
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GS&Co. CFTC
SEC
SEC
SEC 15¢3-1 CFTC 1.17
23 E
GS&Co. SEC 15¢3-1
SEC
GS&Co. SEC 15¢3-1 2024 12 213.1
2023 12 202.5 SEC 15¢3-1 CFTC 1.17
23 2024 12 158.7
2023 12 150.7 GS&Co.
15¢3-1 50 10
GS&Co. 60 SEC
GS&Co. 2024 12 2023 12
GSI GSJCL
GSI PRA FCA GSI
GSI
2024 12 2023 12
CET1 9.1% 9.1%
Tierl 11.0% 11.0%
13.6% 13.7%

208/617
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Gsl
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
CET1 32,697 32,403
Tierl 38,197 37,903
Tier2 6,874 6,877
45,071 44,780
RWA 265,944 257,956
CET1 12.3% 12.6%
Tierl 14.4% 14.7%
16.9% 17.4%
2024 12
GSI GSl
2024 12 CET1 14
Gsl
2024 12 2023 12
3.5% 3.5%
5.3% 4.9%
2024 12 GSI
GSl
2024 12
GSI  CFTC SEC
2024 12 2023 12 GSI

GSJCL
GSJCL
2024 12 2023 12

209/617
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2023 2024

2023

2023 PFM
2023 2024

2024 GM
2025

2024
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
- 233
PFM - 276
@n (1,227)
GM (557) (65)
(84) (28)
(668) (811)
GM
PFM
GM GM
GM
2025
10-K 2024 SEC 2025

27
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17

18

18
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CISO
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CISO

Al

EMEA
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GCLA
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GCLA
GCLA

GCLA

GCLA

IHC
GCLA
GCLA
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GCLA
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IHC
IHC
IHC
IHC
2024 12
GS&Co. 386.9
GSI 472.1 GSJCL
20.8 GS USA 628.1
GSIB 53.0 2024 12 1,318.2
599.7 329.2

2024 12
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GCLA

30
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30

11

15

2271617

13
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GCLA
GCLA

2024 12 2023 12
GCLA

GCLA
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GCLA

) 2024 12 2023 12 2024 12 2023 12
311,839 282,414 300,535 282,307
110,252 131,176 128,645 124,691
422,091 413,590 429,180 406,998
143,563 204,929 184,370 231,066
177,721 150,806 163,983 133,000
46,979 22,895 32,102 16,387
53,828 34,960 48,725 26,545
422,091 413,590 429,180 406,998

1HC 60,609 65,952 65,965 66,803
113,996 117,818 117,204 114,824
247,486 229,820 246,011 225,371
422,091 413,590 429,180 406,998

GCLA

GCLA
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GCLA
IHC
IHC
IHC
IHC GCLA
GCLA
GCLA
2024 12 2,954.9 2023 12
2,865.1 2024 12 2,922.2 2023 12
2,819.5 GCLA
LCR LCR
LCR HQLA
HQLA HQLA HQLA
LCR 100

LCR
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LCR
( ) 2024 12 2024 2023 12
HQLA 407,348 434,256 401,721
HQLA 352,494 369,119 326,181
279,368 277,825 255,106
LCR 126% 133% 128%
LCR LCR
NSFR NSFR
NSFR RSF
ASF ASF
ASF ASF 100
NSFR
NSFR
NSFR
( ) 2024 12 2024 2023 12
ASF 692,474 673,860 628,734
RSF 595,352 577,525 542,089
NSFR 116% 117% 116%
NSFR NSFR
GS USA
GS USA LCR 100 LCR
2024 12 GS USA LCR NSFR GS
USA 2024 12 GS USA NSFR
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10% 9%
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67% 50%
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9% 16%
100% 100%
( )

AAA 79% 65%
AA 6% 15%
A 14% 20%
BBB 1 -
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24,256 5,247 29,503
16,762 5,240 22,002
49,709 2,622 52,331
90,727 13,109 103,836
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18,650 7,184 25,834
2023 12
19,314 7,700 27,014
19,673 6,331 26,004
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781 5,243 11,397 6,835 24,256
855 4,301 6,689 4,017 16,762
2,431 13,970 17,824 15,484 49,709
4,067 23,514 35,910 27,236 90,727
(1,753) (20,812) (30,083)  (19,429) (72,077)
2,314 2,702 5,827 7,807 18,650
2023 12
583 4,383 7,718 6,630 19,314
1,226 4,850 6,755 6,842 19,673
5,963 13,417 15,507 17,057 51,944
7,772 22,650 29,980 30,529 90,931
(5,308) (18,364) (25,470)  (23,270) (72,412)
2,464 4,286 4,510 7,259 18,519
( ) BB
2024 12
5,020 227 5,247
5,201 39 5,240
2,578 44 2,622
12,799 310 13,109
(5,888) @GN (5,925)
6,911 273 7,184
2023 12
7,274 426 7,700
6,244 87 6,331
3,887 112 3,999
17,405 625 18,030
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9,430 581 10,011
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25,969 1,848 27,817
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75,107 33,536 108,643
70 - 70
21,403 78,099 99,502
2,079 872 2,951
200,866 283,442 484,308
(4,666) (674) (5.,340)
2023 12
35,874 144,463 180,337
26,028 3,440 29,468
25,388 1,471 26,859
14,621 691 15,312
62,225 23,731 85,956
3,298 2,250 5,548
19,361 70,824 90,185
1,613 888 2,501
188,408 247,758 436,166
(5,050) (620) (5,670)
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9% 13% 12%
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5% 3% 3%
9% 11% 11%
9% 16% 15%
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( 5% 1% 2%
100% 100% 100%
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100% 100% 100%
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BBB 22% 41% 37%
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11% 13% 12%
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8% 9% 9%
4% 3% 3%
9% 11% 10%
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13% 5% 7%
25% 20% 21%
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63% 77% 74%
EMEA 29% 22% 23%
8% 1% 3%
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A 5% 20% 17%
BBB 20% 41% 37%
BB 74% 33% 41%
100% 100% 100%
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25,969 1,848 27,817
94% 99% 94%
EMEA 5% - 5%
1% 1% 1%
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13% 36% 15%
48% 24% 46%

- 2% -
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( )
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95% 93% 95%
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16,477 1,542 18,019
76% 50% 73%
EMEA 24% 50% 27%
100% 100% 100%
(
™% 63% 76%
2% - 2%
21% 37% 22%
100% 100% 100%
2023 12
14,621 691 15,312
79% 98% 80%
EMEA 20% 2% 19%
1% - 1%
100% 100% 100%
(
75% 254 73%
4% 2% 4%
21% 73% 23%
100% 100% 100%
2023 12 80
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86% 89% 87%
EMEA 12% 10% 12%
2% 1% 1%
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14% 16% 15%

1% - -
- 1% 1%
100% 100% 100%
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5% - 4%
100% 100% 100%

2023 12

1,613 888 2,501
97% 100% 98%
EMEA 3% - 2%
100% 100% 100%
(
61% 87% 70%
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(2024 12 31 )
O]
@ 4,000,000,000 927,499,667 (2) 3,072,500, 333
E%g 150,000,000 502,282 (2) 149,497,718
€))
@
(3) 2005 25 30,000 2005 10 31 8,000
2006 24 34,000 2006 20,000
2012 17,500 4,972 4,861
2016 23 19 2012
5,000 1,746 1,639 2016 23 19
2016 27 26,000 2019 17
20,000 2019 11 15 24,000 2020
28 14,000 2021 26 27,000 2021
28 30,000 2021 10 29 30,000 2023
18 60,000 2024 23 90,000
2024 26 80,000
2025 27 578,282 2025 24 76,000
) 2024 12 31
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0.01 927,499,667 (L) )
0.01 92,000 (2)(3) ®)
0.01 410,282 (1)(4) ()
928,001,949
@
(2) 2005 25 30,000 2005 10 31 8,000
2006 2 34,000 2006 24 20,000
2025 27 92,000
@) 1,000 GS PrA
1,000 6S PrC 1,000
GS PrD
(4) 2012 17,500 4,972 4,861 2016 23
19 2012 5,000
1,639 2016 23 19
27 26,000 2019 17
20,000 2019 11 15 24,000 2020 28
14,000 2021 26 27,000 2021 28
2021 10 29 30,000 2023
18 60,000 2024 23 90,000
2024 26 80,000 2025 24 76,000
2025 27 486,282 2025 2
76,000
®)
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SEC 10-K 2024

50,000 30,000 29,999 1,000
25,000 8,000 8,000 1,000
60,000 54,000 53,999 1,000
17,500 7,667 7,667

5,000 1,615 1,615

26,000 26,000 26,000 25
20,000 20,000 20,000 25
24,000 24,000 24,000 25
14,000 14,000 14,000 25
27,000 27,000 27,000 25
30,000 30,000 30,000 25
30,000 30,000 30,000 25
60,000 60,000 60,000 25
90,000 90,000 90,000 25
80,000 80,000 80,000 25
558,500 502,282 502,280
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SOFR  0.93161 4.00
SOFR 1.02911 4.00
SOFR 1.03161 4.00
2026 11 10 5.30
SOFR 4.09561
3.623
2025 10 4.95
3.224
2025 10 4.40
2.85
2026 10 3.80
2.969
2026 10 3.65
2.915
2026 11 10 4.125
2.949
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2029 10 7.50
2.809
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1998 21
0.01 0.01
*

2020 12 31 4,909,389 | 901,692,039 796 | (1,162 ) 55,688 | (81,321 )
2021 12 31 4,738,275 | 906,430,314 717 | (1,047 ) 56,405 | (82,368 )
2022 12 31 11,384,716 | 917,815,030 2,654 | (3,876 ) 59,059 | (86,244 )
2023 12 31 5,080,000 [ 922,895,030 1,197 | (1,748 ) 60,256 | (87,992 )
2024 12 31 4,604,637 | 927,499,667 1,129 | (1,649 ) 61,385 | (89,641 )

0.01 0.01
2020 12 31 0 420,282 0 © ) 11,203 | (16,360 )
2021 12 31 (20,000) 400,282 G0y ((730) ) 10,703 | (15,630 )
2022 12 31 0 400,282 0 © ) 10,703 | (15,630 )
2023 12 31 20,000 420,282 5000 (730 ) 11,203 | (16,360 )
2024 12 31 82,000 502,282 2,050 (2,994 ) 13,253 | (19,353 )
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oTe () 99.57
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02940-3078 43078 5,646,737
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02110
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) 2013 SEC 136 2014
SEC 2015 SEC
2016 10  SEC 2017 24 SEC
2018 SEC 2019
SEC 2020 SEC
2021 29  SEC 2022 SEC
2023 SEC 10 2024
26 SEC 11
401(k) 401(k)
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CEO
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CLO 2022| 1,500,000 4,200,000 9,021,951 2,339,034 11,360,985 — 68,859 17,129,844

2024] 1,500,000 5,220,000 6,587,141 — 6,587,141 244 770,528 14,077,913
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38 59
328
2024 12 31 2023 12 31 2024 12 31 2023
12 31 2022 12 31
2024 12 31
193
2025 27 SEC 10-K
2024
331
2025 UFJ

146.03
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oooooog
@

2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 7,738 \ 1,129,980 $ 6,218 \ 908,015 $ 7,360 \ 1,074,781
10,596 1,547,334 9,532 1,391,958 9,005 1,315,000
4,086 596,679 3,789 553,308 4,034 589,085
18,390 2,685,492 18,238 2,663,295 18,634 2,721,123
4,646 678,455 2,126 310,460 654 95,504
45,456 6,637,940 39,903 5,827,035 39,687 5,795,493
81,397 11,886,404 68,515 10,005,245 29,024 4,238,375
73,341 10,709,986 62,164 9,077,809 21,346 3,117,156
8,056 1,176,418 6,351 927,437 7,678 1,121,218
53,512 7,814,357 46,254 6,754,472 47,365 6,916,711
1,348 196,848 1,028 150,119 2,715 396,471
16,706 2,439,577 15,499 2,263,319 15,148 2,212,062
6,724 981,906 5,698 832,079 5,312 775,711
646 94,335 629 91,853 812 118,576
1,991 290,746 1,919 280,232 1,808 264,022
2,392 349,304 4,856 709,122 2,455 358,504
973 142,087 1,053 153,770 1,026 149,827
1,652 241,242 1,623 237,007 1,887 275,559
2,683 391,798 3,210 468,756 2,716 396,617
33,767 4,930,995 34,487 5,036,137 31,164 4,550,879
18,397 2,686,514 10,739 1,568,216 13,486 1,969,361
4,121 601,790 2,223 324,625 2,225 324,917
14,276 2,084,724 8,516 1,243,591 11,261 1,644,444
751 109,669 609 88,932 497 72,577
$ 13,525 \ 1,975,066 $ 7,907 \ 1,154,659 $ 10,764 \ 1,571,867
$ 4107 \ 5997 $ 23.05 \ 3,36 $ 30.42 \ 4,442
$ 4054 \ 5920 $ 2287 \ 3,30 $ 30.06 \ 4,390

328.1 340.8 352.1
333.6 345.8 358.1
@

2024 12 2023 12 2022 12

$ 14,276  \ 2,084,724  $ 8,516 \ 1,243,501  $ 11,261 \ 1,644,444
C ) ( )

32 4,673 62) (9,054) 7 (6,863)
(263) (38,406) (1,015) (148,220) 1,403 204,880
47 6,863 (76) (11,098) @172) (25,117)
401 58,558 1,245 181,807 (2,126) (310, 460)
[ (146) - - - -
/C ) 216 31,542 92 13,435 (942) (137,560)
$ 14,492  \ 2,116,267 $ 8,608 \ 1,257,026 $ 10,319 \ 1,506,884
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w[m{minln]s]s
(€))
2024 12 2023 12
$ 182,092 \ 26,590,895 $ 241,577 \ 35,277,489
17
, ( 9.793 223,543 180,062 26,294,454 203,805 32,682,244
, ( 46,902 44,930 194,645 28,424,000 199,420 29,121,303
) ( 2 2 133,717 19,526,694 132,495 19,348,245
) ( 148,417 110,567 570,555 83,318,147 477,510 69,730,785
) ( 80,777 51,001 79,458 11,603,252 49,141 7,176,060
78,713 11,494,459 70,310 10,267,369
( 25,284 26,626 26,343 3,846,868 27,388 3,999,470
4,666 5,
¢ 5.460 0506 506 ) 196,200 28,651,086 183,358 26,775,769
( 194 366 ) 34,187 4,992,328 36,590 5,343,238
$1,675,972 \ 244,742,191 $1,641,594 \239,721,972
( 44,855 29,460 ) $ 433,013 \ 63,232,888 $ 428,417 \ 62,561,735
( ) 274,380 40,067,711 249,887 36,490,999
) ( 10,246 8,934 56,060 8,186,442 60,483 8,832,332
27
, ( -985 12,554 28,150 4,110,745 13,194 1,026,720
223,255 32,601,928 230,728 33,693,210
) 202,555 29,579,107 200,355 29,257,841
, ( 50,367 46,127 69,709 10,179,605 75,945 11,090,248
) ( 89,189 86,410 242,634 35,431,843 241,877 35,321,298
( 84 266 ) 24,220 3,536,847 23,803 3,475,952
1,553,976 226,927,115 1,524,689 222,650,335
( 13,253 11,203 ) 13,253 1,935,336 11,203 1,635,974
( 927,499,667 922,895,030
310,653,708 323,376,354 ) 9 1,314 o 1,314
5,148 751,762 5,121 747,820
( ) - - i -
61,376 8,962,737 60,247 8,797,869
153,412 22,402,754 143,688 20,982,759
2.702) (394,573) (2.918)  (426,116)
( 616,845,961 599,518,678 ) (108,500)  (15,844,255)  (100,445) (14,667,983)
121,996 17,815,076 116,905 17,071,637
$1,675,972 \ 244,742,191 $1,641,594 \239,721,972
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2024 12 2023 12 2022 12

$ 11,203 \ 1,635,974 $ 10,703 \ 1,562,959 $ 10,703 \ 1,562,959

4,250 620,628 1,500 219,045
(2,200) (321, 266) (1,000) (146,030) - -
13,253 1,935,336 11,203 1,635,974 10,703 1,562,959
9 1,314 9 1,314 9 1,314
9 1,314 9 1,314 9 1,314
5,121 747,820 5,696 831,787 4,211 614,932
2,741 400,268 2,098 306,371 4,110 600,183
(2.483) (362,592) (2,504) (365,659) (2,468) (360,402)
(231) (33,733) (169) (24,679) (157) (22,927)
5,148 751,762 5,121 747,820 5,696 831,787
60,247 8,797,869 59,050 8,623,072 56,396 8,235,508
2,476 361,570 2,549 372,230 2,516 367,411
(1,331) (194,366) (1,345) (196,410) (1,591) (232,334)
10 1,460 5 730 - -
- - - - 1,730 252,632
(26) (3,797) 12) (1,752) D) (146)
61,376 8,962,737 60,247 8,797,869 59,050 8,623,072
143,688 20,982,759 139,372 20,352,493 131,811 19,248,360
14,276 2,084,724 8,516 1,243,591 11,261 1,644,444
(3.801) (555, 060) (3,591) (524,394) (3,203) (467,734)
in (104,704) (599) (87,472) 497) (72,577)
(34) (4,965) (10) (1,460) - _
153,412 22,402,754 143,688 20,982,759 139,372 20,352,493

C )
(2.918) (426,116) (3,010) (439,550) (2,068) (301,990)
/C ) 216 31,542 92 13,435 (942) (137,560)
(2.702) (394,573) (2,918) (426,116) (3,010) (439,550)
( )

(100,445)  (14,667,983) (94,631) (13,818,965) (91,136)  (13,308,590)
(8.000)  (1,168,240) (5,796) (846,390) (3,500) (511,105)
33 4,819 29 4,235 20 2,921
(88) (12,851) 7 (6,863) (15) (2,190)
(108,500)  (15,844,255) (100,445)  (14,667,983) (94,631) (13,818,965)

$ 121,996 \ 17,815,076 $ 116,905 \ 17,071,637 $ 117,189 \ 17,113,110
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®
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 14,276\ 2,084,724 $ 8,516 \ 1,243,501 $ 11,261 \ 1,644,444
/(

)
2,392 349,304 4,856 709,122 2,455 358,504
(800) (116,824) (1,360) (198,601) (2,412) (352,224)
2,663 388,878 2,085 304,473 4,083 596,240
1,348 196,848 1,028 150,119 2,715 396,471
¢ ) (8,367)  (1,221,833) (28,219)  (4,120,821) 35,014 5,113,004
( W) 68,582 10,015,029 160,227 23,397,949 (100,996)  (14,748,446)
(86,991)  (12,703,296) (163,807)  (23,920,736) 45,278 6,611,946
@12) (30,958) 5,751 839,819 8,062 1,177,294
« ) 537 78,418 1,635 238,759 3,161 461,601
C ) (6.640) (969, 639) (3,299) (481,753) 87 12,705
/( ) (13,212)  (1,929,348) (12,587)  (1,838,080) 8,708 1,271,629
(2.091) (305,349) (2,316) (338,205) (3,748) (547,320)
1,613 235,546 3,278 478,686 2,706 395,157
() /( ) 3,622 528,921 487 71,117 (2,115) (308,853)
(60,852)  (8,886,218) 9,185)  (1,341,286) (3,753) (548,051)
19,005 2,775,300 3,161 461,601 2 292
12,809 1,870,498 8,130 1,187,224 25 3,651
(23,018)  (3,361,319) (26,238)  (3,831,535) (50,099)  (7,315,957)
15,549 2,270,620 8,604 1,256,442 3,671 536,076
(8,226)  (1,201,243) (4,833) (705,763) (6,684) (976,065)
9,010 1,315,730 6,953 1,015,347 9,263 1,352,676
( 3 ) (17,045)  (2,489,081) (5,353) (781,699) (25,228)  (3,684,045)
(49,624)  (7,246,593) (17,312)  (2,528,071) (75,960)  (11,092,439)
« ) 934 136,392 2,050 299,362 321 46,876
C ) ) 13,707 2,001,633 673 98,278 (2,283) (333,386)
C ) 5,243 765,635 3,047 444,953 1,800 262,854
¢ ; ( (2.036) (297,317) (3,570) (521,327) (3,407) (497,524)
67,252 9,820,810 47,153 6,885,753 84,522 12,342,748
N ( (74,519)  (10,882,010) (54,066)  (7,895,258) (42,806)  (6,250,960)
« ) 2,390 349,012 3,280 478,978 1,797 262,416
«C ) 5,894 860,701 39,723 5,800,750 28,074 4,009,646
(2.,200) (321,266) (1,000) (146,030) - -
(8,000)  (1,168,240) (5,796) (846,390) (3,500) (511,105)
(1,331) (194,366) (1,345) (196,410) (1,595) (232,918)
(4,497) (656,697) (4,189) (611,720) (3,682) (537,682)
( ) 4,239 619,021 1,496 218,461 - -
() 247 36,069 344 50,234 361 52,717
7,323 1,069,378 27,800 4,059,634 59,602 8,703,680
(3.972) (580,031) 1,851 270,302 (11,561)  (1,688,253)
D) (59,485)  (8,686,595) (248) (36,215) (19,211)  (2,805,382)
241,577 35,277,489 241,825 35,313,705 261,036 38,119,087
$ 182,092  \ 26,590,895 $ 241,577 \ 35,277,489 $ 241,825 \ 35,313,705
( ) $ 72,623 \ 10,605,137 $ 60,026 \ 8,765,597 $ 19,022 \ 2,777,783
C ) $ 3,673 \ 536,368 $ 2,389 \ 348,866 $ 4,555 \ 665,167

12 16
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2024 2023 2022 2024 12 31 2023 12 31
2022 12 31 12 31

17

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

VIE

VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE VIE
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NAV
NAV
NAV NAV
NAV
12 12
NAV
2024 12
2033
2033 300
11
16
2024 12 53.6 2023 12 79.3
2024 12 1,767.3 2023 12

2,336.5
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2024 12 148.4 2023 12 170.8
11
2024 12 928.8
2023 12 901.6 2024
408.4 2023 12 423.3
12 2023 12
10
2024 12 40.8
12 35.9 2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2,171.5
2023 12 2,207.1
12 61.1 2023 12 100.2

2024 12 2023 12
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ASC 280
ASU
ASU
ASC
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ASU 2025
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ASC 220
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11

ASC 326 2022 FASB

ASU

ASC 820
ASU

2022 FASB

ASU
ASU 2024

ASC 323 2023

323

2024 ASU

2023 11 FASB ASU No.2023-07

2024
ASU

740 2023 12 FASB ASU No.2023-09

ASU

2024 11 FASB ASU No.2024-03

2028
ASU
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/
( 2024 12 2023 12
$ 436,298 $ 332,549
497,514 519,130
20,358 25,100
NAV 2,547 3,000
(49,048) (51,134)
$ 907,669 $ 828,645
$ 1,675,972 $ 1,641,594
1.2 1.5
2.2 3.0
$ 100,350 $ 125,715
611,340 523,709
25,721 28,704
(37,750) (44,135)
$ 699,661 $ 633,993
$ 1,553,976 $ 1,524,689
1.7 1.9
3.7 4.5
( 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,213 $ 1,791
4,126 5,161
14,142 17,138
683 823
194 187
$ 20,358 $ 25,100
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( )
2024 12
$ 169,121 $ 66,958 $ - $ 236,079
44,427 25,071 41 69,539
- 1,450 38 1,488
- 11,364 57 11,421
172 46,739 728 47,639
_ 529 - 529
1 2,236 95 2,332
141,821 1,143 242 143,206
- 10,971 12 10,983
$ 355,542 $ 166,461 $ 1,213 $ 523,216
$ (21,181) $ 52) $ - $ (21,233)
(37,466) (3,283) ®) (40,752)
- 32) (€)) @33)
- (20) - (20)
(75) (23,755) (52) (23,882)
- @2) - 2
(41,528) 2 (19) (41,559)
- (24) - (24)
$ (100,250) $ (27,250) $ @) 3 (127,575)
2023 12
$ 85,190 $ 58,862 $ - $ 144,052
61,981 25,702 91 87,774
- 916 45 961
- 8,940 99 9,039
177 37,883 1,415 39,475
- 371 - 371
80 2,086 37 2,203
135,032 1,739 103 136,874
- 5,640 1 5,641
$ 282,460 $ 142,139 $ 1,791 $ 426,390
$ (26,400) $ (32) $ - $ (26,432)
(50,825) (2,343) - (53,168)
- @n - @7
- ®) - ®)
(124) (15,317) (70) (15,511)
(48,347) €)) ®) (48,392)
- (66) - (66)
$ (125,696) $ (17,827) $ (78) $ (143,601)
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2024 12 2023 12
)
$95 $144
7.2 24.3 11.5 3.8 26.1 12.8
23.3 69.2 50.9 35.5 76.0 44.6
) 1.9 12.1 3.7 0.3 15.3 5.2
$728 $1,415
3.0 35.9 13.0 2.8 40.0 9.3
6.8 69.0 53.6 7.3 65.0 39.4
) 1.6 3.3 2.3 0.9 11.3 3.4
$390 $232
4.7 37.9 15.2 3.6 31.3 14.6
N/A N/A 0.7 4.5 3.9
) 1.5 3.5 2.4 2.3 6.4 4.1

2024 12

2024 12

2023 12
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) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,791 1,734
/( 161 154
/( 7 (32)
512 825
(618) (515)
(382) (286)
222 167
(480) (256)
$ 1,213 1,791
$ (78) (64)
/( 4 3
/( (25) (66)
57 90
@3) an
1 1
® (©)
18 38
$ (75) (78)
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 144 $ 154
/( 18 10
/( ayn 5
37 28
(33) (57)
(28) (16)
6 31
(38) (11)
$ 9%5 $ 144
$ 1,415 $ 1,238
/( 87 56
/( 2 (26)
253 656
(389) @17
@321 (201)
116 98
(429) (129)
$ 728 $ 1,415
$ 232§ 342
/( 56 88
/( 16 (11)
222 141
(196) (181)
@n (69)
100 38
(13) (116)
$ 390 $ 232
2024 12 2024
168 161
100 68
2024
2024
2024
2023 12 2023
122 154 32
60 62
2023
2023
2023
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ooooooo
( )
2024 12
$ 102 $ 156,054 § 580 §$ 156,736
- 9,249 2,188 11,437
- 114,500 174 114,674
- 12,134 1,192 13,326
136 79,301 742 80,179
« ) 238 371,238 4,876 376,352
- (279,215) (750) (279,965)
$ 238 $ 92,023 § 4,126 $ 96,387
©47)
(48,101)
(@D $ 47,339
$ 92) $ (124,235) $ (692) $ (125,019)
- (9,060) (970) (10,030)
- (114,488) @27 (114,615)
- (14,111) (415 (14,525)
®) (126,650) (1,848) (128,506)
« ) (100) (388,544) (4,051) (392,695)
- 279,215 750 279,965
$ (100) $ (109,329) $ (3,301) $ (112,730)
947
36,803
([GD) $ (74,980)
2023 12
$ 15 $ 241,850 $ 758 $ 242,623
- 9,964 2,861 12,825
- 89,694 210 89,904
- 15,393 1,449 16,842
2 59,220 816 60,038
« ) 17 416,121 6,094 422,232
- (319,045) (933) (319,978)
$ 17 $ 97,076  $ 5,161 $ 102,254
(1,411)
(49,723)
(GD) $ 51,120
$ (14) $ (213,861) $ (1,197) $ (215,072)
- (8,923) (1,211) (10,134)
- (97,436) (168) (97,604)
- (17,122) (821) (17,943)
5) (78,222) (1,887) (80,114)
« ) (19) (415,564) (5,284) (420,867)
- 319,045 933 319,978
$ (19) $ (96,519) $ (4,351) $ (100,889)
1,411
42,724
(GD) $ (56,754)
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2024 12 2023 12
) / /

$(112) $(439)

(10) 95 60 /72 10) 75 60 /66

) 31 101 63/59 31 101 56/49
$1,218 $1,650

8 1,328 134/91 3 1,750 130/85

(10) 100 24/14 0 100 26/15

20 70 46 /50 20 70 43 /40
$47 $42

20 68 34 /23 20 90 41 /43

17 17 17 /17 15 16 16 /16
$778 $628

21 120 37 /33 23 98 42 /39

$(2.82)  $3.76 $(0-14)/$(0.16) $(1.39)  $3.06  $(0.32)/$(0.35)

$(6.42)  $22.10 $1.77/$(3.80) $(5.39)  $31.69 $15.39/$19.35

$1.89  $587.75 $52.18/$32.68 $2.72  $1,088.00 $48.15/$35.16
$(1,106) $(1,071)

@5) 100 56 /52 (70) 100 65 /71

2 101 15 /12 1 106 14 /13
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) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 810 $ 1,521
/( (129) 65
/( 25 327)
480 366
(885) (1,420)
573 466
25) (%0)
e 229
$ 825 $ 810

374/617



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooooo
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
C )
$ (439) $ (459)
/C ) 21 9
C ) 63 (78)
4 85
(9) (408)
290 423
(36) (81)
14 70
$ a2) s (439)
C )
$ 1,650 $ 1,460
/C ) 94 (58)
C ) 9 274
85 89
74 (50)
(354) (138)
79 (20)
271) 93
$ 1,218 $ 1,650
C )
$ 2 % 162
/C ) @n 80
C ) 1 (182)
44 2
© @)
(45) (56)
3 4
38 33
$ 47  $ 42
C )
$ 628 $ 919
/C ) (340) (113)
/C ) 91 (373)
192 4
@n an
57 68
14 122
163 18
$ 778 $ 628
C )
$ @,071) $ (561)
C ) 123 147
C ) (139) 32
155 186
(746) (944)
625 169
(85) (115)
32 15
$ (1,106) $ (1,071)
2024 12 2024
104 129 25
(115) 11 /
2024
2024
2024
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oooooog
2023 12 2023
262 65 327
251 11
2023
2023
2023
(
2024 12
75,410 - 3 - 3 75,410
4,048 62 - 4,110
137 2,629 4,510 7,276
- 7 562 569
327 1,453 - 1,780
2 53 328 403
574 3,331 8,742 12,647
80,518 7,535 § 14,142 $ 102,195
NAV 2,547
$ 104,742
2023 12
46,731 -8 -8 46,731
2,399 144 - 2,543
160 2,299 6,533 8,992
- 2 687 689
52 999 - 1,051
9 14 244 267
721 2,099 9,674 12,494
50,072 5,557 $ 17,138 72,767
NAV 3,000
$ 75,767
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oooooog
2024 12 2023 12
)
$4,510 $6,533
5.0 28.8 12.2 6.0 31.0 12.1
5.8 41.0 25.2 7.3 41.2 27.6
( 9.0 3.6 0.4 5.3 3.0
1.1 34.2 6.5 0.9 53.3 7.7
$562 $687
9.5 16.0 13.6 7.4 18.8 14.1
( 2.8 2.8 0.4 4.1 3.9
$328 $244
7.0 8.7 7.7 7.6 8.8 8.2
$8,742 $9,674
0.4 34.2 8.6 0.5 25.2 8.3
/ 6.0 27.9 13.3 6.0 38.5 12.3
4.4 9.1 5.4 4.5 8.0 5.3
2024 12
) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 17,138 $ 16,942
/( 342 463
/( @87 (722)
1,395 1,651
(916) (1,186)
@.322) (1,762)
953 2,918
(2,161) (1,166)
$ 14,142 $ 17,138
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
6,533 $ 7,003
/( 179 360
/( (169) 1
600 590
(306) (458)
(1,672) (1,110)
462 755
(1,117) (608)
4,510 $ 6,533
687 $ 827
/( 52 12
/( (82) (166)
53 58
(33) (148)
14 (62)
1 171
(O) 5)
562 $ 687
244 $ 256
/( 5 4
141 2
(31) (18)
(31) -
328 $ 244
9,674 $ 8,856
/( 106 87
/( (36) (557)
601 1,001
G17) (580)
(505) (572)
490 1,992
(1,011) (553)
8,742 % 9,674
2024 12 2024
55 342 287
(224) 279 /
2024
2024
2024
2023 12 2023
259 463 722
(820) 561 /
2023

378/617



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooood
2023
2023
( )
2024 12
$ - % 64 $ 403 3 467
- 349 75 424
- 3,684 42 3,726
- 648 135 783
- 32 28 60
$ - % 4,777 $ 683 $ 5,460
2023 12
$ -8 415 % 344 % 759
- 360 203 563
- 4,087 58 4,145
- 775 136 911
- 46 82 128
$ - 3 5,683 $ 823§ 6,506
/ 2024
2023 /
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2024 12 2023 12
)
$403 $344
11.6 22.4 17.5 8.0 17.1 10.5
37.2 95.6 72.9 2.0 95.0 74.0
) 0.6 9.3 6.0 0.7 2.3 1.7
$117 $261
6.1 10.9 6.7 5.0 21.4 18.1
3.3 99.2 73.7 5.3 99.2 66.0
() 0.2 3.6 0.6 0.5 6.2 1.6
$135 $136
6.2 6.8 6.3 5.6 8.7 6.1
$28 $82
N/A N/A 7.3 13.5 9.6
() N/A N/A 3.6 5.2 4.2
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12
) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 823 $ 1,837
/( 33 26
/( (41) (169)
135 53
(61) (540)
(286) (318)
124 2
(44) (68)
$ 683 $ 823

380/617
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(« ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ M 3 637
C ) 12 10
C ) (26) (124)
127 10
®) “4n
(160) (113)
111 2
- (€19)
$ 403 $ 344
$ 261 $ 785
C ) 9 11
C ) (¢)) (42)
2 7
G2 (272)
93) (192)
- (36)
$ 117 $ 261
$ 136 $ 140
/7C ) 4 1
C ) 1 ®)
6 5
(€)) @
(€23 @
13 -
$ 135 $ 136
$ 82 $ 275
/C ) 8 4
C ) ®) 3
- 31
() (219)
an (11)
()] @)
$ 28 $ 82
2024 12 2024
33 41
(13) /
2024
2024
2024
2023 12 2023
143 26 169
(152) /
2023
2023
( )
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2024 12
$ - $ 179,793 $ - 3 179,793
- 46,902 - 46,902
- 23 - 23
- - 194 194
$ - 8 226,718 $ 194 3 226,912
$ - 8 (41,810) $ (3,045) $ (44,855)
- (274,380) - (274,380)
- (10,246) - (10,246)
- (27,434) (551) (27,985)
- (45,073) (5,294) (50,367)
- (75,810) (13,379) (89,189)
- ®) (76) (€C2))
$ - $ (474,761) $ (22,345) $ (497,106)

2023 12
$ - $ 223,543 $ - $ 223,543
- 44,930 - 44,930
- 23 - 23
- 179 187 366
$ - $ 268,675 $ 187  $ 268,862
$ - $ (26,723) $ 2,737) % (29,460)
- (249,887) - (249,887)
- (8,934) - (8,934)
- (10,532) (2,022) (12,554)
- (40,538) (5,589) (46,127)
- (72,562) (13,848) (86,410)
- (187) (79) (266)
$ - $ (409,363) $ (24,275) $ (433,638)

2024 12 2023 12
2024 12
3.8 12.3 ( 8.9 )
2.0 5.4 ( 2.9 )
2023 12
6.7 11.3 ( 8.5 )
0.1 4.5 ( 0.9 )
11
12 13
14 15

382/617
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ooooooo
) 2024 12 2023 12
187 $ 74
/( - @
/( 18 95
- 20
(1) -
194 $ 187
(24,275) $ (18,826)
/( (210) (212)
/( 715 (1,667)
(9,768) (8,153)
11,040 8,298
(1,835) (4,542)
1,988 827
(22,345) $ (24,275)

383/617



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ @,737) $ (2,743)
C ) - ©)
/C ) (96) (140)
(1,086) (506)
928 773
73) (153)
119 34
$ (3,045) $ (2,737)
$ (2,022) $ (1,842)
C ) (€)) (19)
C ) 12 (50)
(1) (657)
1,615 1,479
(104) (941)
- 8
$ (551) $ (2,022)
$ (5,589) $ (4,090)
C ) ®) (36)
C ) 9 (563)
(4,883) (4,315)
4,700 3,418
(101) (281)
576 278
$ (5,294) $ (5,589)
$ (13,848) $ (10,066)
C ) (203) (155)
¢ ) 787 (914)
(3,748) (2,675)
3,797 2,622
(1,457) (3,167)
1,293 507
$ (13,379) $ (13,848)
$ @9 s (85)
/C ) 3 -
- 6
$ (76) $ @9
2024 12 2024
505 210 715
491
(42) ()
57 /
2024
2024
2024
2023 12 2023
18.8 212 16.7

384/617
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ooooooo
( )
2024 12
$ 523,216 $ 127,575
47,339 74,980
$ 570,555 $ 202,555
2023 12
$ 426,390 $ 143,601
51,120 56,754
$ 477,510 $ 200,355
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 715 $ 4,437  $ (4,890)
2,467 1,141 1,095
6,292 2,827 11,662
7,632 7,938 7,734
1,284 1,895 3,033
$ 18,390 §$ 18,238  $ 18,634
/ /

23

386/617
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FICC

2024 2023
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2024 12 2023 12

2,706 $ 1,068 $ 3,401 $ 1,129
1,746 2,428 67,815 64,490
152,083 121,515 171,109 149,444
156,535 125,011 242,325 215,063
1,787 1,893 1,271 1,533
9,650 8,137 11,554 8,601
11,437 10,030 12,825 10,134
142 6 708 15
1,325 993 1,033 1,632
112,838 113,608 88,158 95,742
114,305 114,607 89,899 97,389
5,563 5,917 5,468 5,998
558 650 635 711
7,205 7,958 10,739 11,234
13,326 14,525 16,842 17,943
55,049 83,475 31,315 39,247
189 131 122 1
24,941 44,900 28,601 40,696
80,179 128,506 60,038 80,114
375,782 392,679 421,929 420,643
201 8 298 9
201 8 208 9
114 3 - 7
255 5 208
369 8 5 215
570 16 303 224
376,352 $ 392,695 $ 422,232 $ 420,867
(57,776)  $ (57,776) $ (32,722) $ (32,722)
(4,867) (4.867) (67,272) (67.,272)
(218,269) (218,269) (221,395) (221,395)
(280,912) (280,912) (321,389) (321,389)
“12) (105) (1,335) (486)
(47,689) (36,698) (48,388) (42,238)
(48,101) (36,803) (49,723) (42,724)
(329,013) $ (317,715) $ (371,112) $ (364,113)
5,684 $ 32,690 $ 8,170 $ 13,667
440 1,126 2,269 786
41,215 41,164 40,681 42,301
47,339 $ 74,980 $ 51,120 $ 56, 754
(600) $ (1,271) $ @) $ (2,732)
(14,938) (8,731) (13,425) (6,516)
31,801 $ 64,978 $ 36,818 $ 47,506
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) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 2,332,117 $ 3,854,689
12,571,690 16,007,915
10,569,501 12,390,595
25,473,308 32,253,199
322 299
660,181 498,720
619,068 619,975
1,279,571 1,118,994
9,264 11,586
429,858 268,293
6,031,944 6,363,700
6,471,066 6,643,579
324,159 306,787
3,087 3,323
183,174 199,270
510,420 509,380
1,868,855 1,564,341
1,475 1,487
1,256,905 1,204,140
3,127,235 2,769,968
36,861,600 43,295,120
246,765 241,160
3,588 2,914
250, 353 244,074
5,041 1,227
10,328 9,130
15,369 10,357
265,722 254,431
$ 37,127,322 $ 43,549,551
11
2024 12
85.5 2023 12 89.8 2024 12 108.4 2023 12
160.3
2024 EMEA
2023 12 641.9
628.6
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( )
2024 12
$ 5,880 $ 9,552 $ 46,625 $ 62,057
1,664 2,576 1,605 5,845
17,249 8,280 5,387 30,916
1,908 1,882 1,026 4,816
5,483 2,395 1,959 9,837
(2,681) (2.683) 4,211) (9.635)
$ 29,503 $ 22,002 $ 52,331 $ 103,836
(14,080)
(48,101)
$ 41,655
$ 5,074 $ 10,858 § 16,049 $ 31,981
999 2,474 963 4,436
12,931 9,645 8,417 30,993
2,012 2,448 1,201 5,661
11,435 15,113 3,189 29,737
(2,681) (2.683) 4,211) (9,635)
$ 29,770 $ 37,855 $ 25,548 $ 93,173
(14,080)
(36,803)
$ 42,290
2023 12
$ 9,511 § 12,178 $ 49,045 $ 70,734
1,814 3,283 1,961 7,058
9,117 7,579 5,479 22,175
2,993 2,574 1,451 7,018
6,625 3,155 1,655 11,435
(3,046) (2,765) (3,648) (9,459)
$ 27,014 $ 26,004 $ 55,943  $ 108,961
(16,288)
(49,723)
$ 42,950
$ 11,952 $ 15,972 $ 17,540 $ 45,464
792 2,508 1,067 4,367
15,335 7,934 7,299 30,568
2,526 3,643 1,419 7,588
10,183 10,048 3,340 23,571
(3,046) (2,765) (3,648) (9,459)
$ 37,742 §$ 37,340 $ 27,017 $ 102,099
(16,288)
(42,724)
$ 43,087
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( )
( ) 0 - 250 251 - 500 501 - 1,000 1,000
2024 12
/
$ 137,145 $ 23,875 § 717 $ 3,00 % 164,778
378,743 15,349 4,242 6,194 404,528
29,196 2,457 471 64 32,188
$ 545,084 $ 41,681 $ 5,430 $ 9,209 $ 601,494
/
$ 463,919 $ 20,601 §$ 4,781 $ 8,264 $ 497,655
165, 662 11,721 1,879 1,160 180,422
$ 629,581 $ 32,412 § 6,660 $ 9,424 $ 678,077
$ 6,420 $ 664 $ 31 s 5 § 7,183
985 314 307 1,138 2,744
/C ) $ 5,444  $ 30 $ @76) $ (1,079) $ 4,439
2023 12
/
$ 126,667  $ 12,504  $ 892 $ 3,611 $ 143,764
324,577 11,371 5,613 5,802 347,363
30,406 1,316 671 249 32,642
$ 481,650  $ 25,281 $ 7,176 $ 9,662 % 523,769
/
$ 396,984  $ 11,857 $ 6,241 $ 8,246 % 423,328
155,468 12,862 1,948 1,619 171,897
$ 552,452 $ 24,719 $ 8,189 $ 9,865 $ 595,225
$ 11,147 $ 654 $ 21 $ 165  $ 12,187
1,723 47 201 1,034 3,005
/C ) $ 9,424  $ 607 $ 20 3 (869) $ 9,182
/
CVA CVA
FVA FVA

392/617
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CVA FVA
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
CVA $ 187 $ (139) $ 320
FVA 142 131 (193)
$ 329 $ ® 3 127
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 467 $ 450
(175) (307)
C ) $ 292 $ 143
$ 8,106 $ 8,082
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 31,575 $ 30,021
$ 20,262 $ 20,758
$ 315 $ 271
$ 1,200 $ 1,584
SOFR
80
80 125
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/
/
/
23
/
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 63 $ (109 $ 366
(80) 111 (350)
/(GD) $ an 3 2 $ 16
$ G8y 8 3,859 $ (22,183)
181 (4,344) 21,662
/C_ ) $ (400)  $ (485)  $ (521)
/
( )
2024 12
$ 34,755 $ (279)
$ 1,840 $ 52)
$ 14,720 $ (113)
$ 130,161 $ (10,757)
2023 12
$ 16,523  $ (104)
$ 3,435  $ (123)
$ 14,449  $ 94)
$ 134,992 $ (10,810)
2024 12
(58.1) 2023 12 (56.3)
2024 12 352.9 2023 12 173.3
2024 12 2023 12
/
/
/ 2024
2023 () 127
125 2022 (30) 266
296
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/
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 1,064 $ @m.) $ 1,713
$ 1,633 $ (50) $ (269)
/ /
/ 2024 2023 (49)
90 139 2022
2024 12 221.0 2023 12 275.2
2024
80 80 125
/
/ /
/ / 2024 2025
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
( ) $ 79,458 $ 49,141
78,713 70,310
( ) 13,832 13,747
( ) 11,452 12,879
1,059 762
26,343 27,388
$ 184,514 $ 146,839
2024
/
( )
2024 12
$ 21,176 $ 21,011 2.62
48,564 47,931 3.64
10 6,620 6,468 3.93
76,360 75,410 3.38
4,224 3,893 1.73
10 193 155 0.72
4,417 4,048 1.69
$ 80,777 $ 79,458 3.29
2023 12
$ 20,027 $ 19,687 0.45
27,592 26,500 1.83
10 586 544 2.05
48,205 46,731 1.25
11 11 0.01
1,635 1,420 0.10
10 1,150 979 0.84
2,796 2,410 0.40
$ 51,001 $ 49,141 1.21
2024 12 /
/ 13.8 983
12 211.0
399 12 327.1

396/617



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

OoOoOoOoOodno
2023 12
/ 18.9 12
/ 2024 541
401 2023 16.5 12.5
2024 2023
2024 2023
2024 2023 2022
( )

2024 12
$ 15,449 $ 15,409 3.46
42,420 41,939 3.66
57,869 57,348 3.61
10 20,637 20,482 5.42
20,637 20,482 5.42
2 2 7.50
10 205 206 5.25
207 208 5.29
$ 78,713 $ 78,038 4.09

2023 12
$ 13,475 $ 13,382 2.90
54,789 54,352 3.58
10 1,848 1,861 3.94
70,112 69,595 3.46
3 2 7.92
10 195 195 5.98
198 197 6.02
$ 70,310 $ 69,792 3.47
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2024 12 121 2023 12 383
2024 12 796 2023 12 901
2024 2023
2024 12 2023 12
( ) $ 13,832 $ 13,747
6 9
94 91
100 100
75 73
25 27
100 100
2024 12 50.4
2023 12 51.8
/
2024 (172) 2023 (638) /
NAV
2024 12 2023 12

398/617
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 7,276 $ 8,992
569 689
1,780 1,051
1,827 2,147
$ 11,452 $ 12,879
NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
NAV
( )
2024 12
$ 881 $ 432
1,281 364
31 -
354 159
$ 2,547 $ 955
2023 12
$ 875 $ 484
1,733 248
46 -
346 65
$ 3,000 $ 797

399/617
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( )
2024 12
$ 28,680 $ 467 S 816 $ 29,972
28,899 424 466 29,789
22,243 3,726 - 25,969
16,477 - - 16,477
74,008 783 316 75,107
- - 70 70
19,615 - 1,788 21,403
1,950 60 69 2,079
191,881 5,460 3,525 200,866
(4,666) - - (4,666)
$ 187,215 $ 5,460 $ 3,525 §$ 196,200
2023 12
$ 33,866 $ 759 8 1,249  $ 35,874
25,025 563 440 26,028
21,243 4,145 - 25,388
14,621 - - 14,621
61,105 911 209 62,225
250 - 3,048 3,298
17,432 - 1,929 19,361
1,333 128 152 1,613
174,875 6,506 7,027 188,408
(5,050) - - (5,050)
$ 169,825  $ 6,506 $ 7,027 $ 183,358
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12
2024
2023 32.4
2023 40
2024 36.9
2023 GM 20
2024 GM
2025
2023 FDIC 150

90
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FICO
( ) /
2024 12
$ 113,986 $ 45,595 $ 32,300 $ 191,881
505 856 4,099 5,460
869 745 1,911 3,525
$ 115,360 $ 47,196 $ 38,310 §$ 200,866
$ 8,601 $ 21,370 $ 1 3 29,972
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18,175 11,514 100 29,789
10,227 3,375 12,367 25,969
12,662 320 3,49 16,477
63,896 10,442 769 75,107
- - 70 70
- - 21,403 21,403
1,799 175 105 2,079
$ 115,360 $ 47,196 $ 38,30 § 200,866
93 90 43 83
7 10 57 17
100 100 100 100
2023 12
$ 91,324 $ 54,200 $ 29,351 $ 174,875
1,212 1,213 4,081 6,506
255 1,628 5,144 7,027
$ 92,791 $ 57,041 $ 38,576 $ 188,408
$ 9,408 $ 26,328 $ 138 8 35,874
12,097 13,574 357 26,028
10,771 3,217 11,400 25,388
10,991 561 3,069 14,621
48,536 13,207 482 62,225
- - 3,298 3,298
- - 19,361 19,361
988 154 471 1,613
$ 92,791 $ 57,041 $ 38,576 $ 188,408
91 92 40 81
9 8 60 19
100 100 100 100
/
2024 12 2023 12
80
2024 12 2023 12 FICO
740
2024 12 2023 12 /
80
/
FICO FICO
FICO
2024 12 93 2023 12 92 /
2024 12
( ) /
2024 $ 1,447 $ 2,545 $ - 3 3,992
2023 1,522 1,446 - 2,968
2022 727 2,084 1 2,812
2021 215 2,244 - 2,459
2020 102 1,287 - 1,389
2019 376 1,910 - 2,286
4,001 8,696 - 12,697
- 86 - 86

402/617
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0Oo0o000
8,390 20,298 1 28,689
2024 2,988 1,669 27 4,684
2023 1,079 1,252 - 2,331
2022 1,018 1,664 - 2,682
2021 624 1,901 - 2,525
2020 273 766 - 1,039
2019 972 738 18 1,728
10,355 2,944 5 13,304
201 405 - 606
17,510 11,339 50 28,899
2024 713 584 1,746 3,043
2023 224 9 1,414 1,647
2022 87 46 2,537 2,670
2021 21 122 2,598 2,741
2020 - 6 41 47
2019 - 19 306 325
9,182 2,588 - 11,770
10,227 3,374 8,642 22,243
2024 1,528 78 16 1,622
2023 35 - - 35
2022 5 - - 5
2019 - 2 - 22
11,004 220 3,479 14,793
12,662 320 3,495 16,477
2024 5,033 2,009 151 7,193
2023 3,816 1,279 150 5,245
2022 910 144 2 1,096
2021 546 739 72 1,357
2020 854 566 26 1,446
2019 196 45 25 266
51,373 5,211 15 56,599
710 96 - 806
63,438 10,089 481 74,008
2024 257 73 - 330
2023 113 10 - 123
2022 36 6 - 2
2021 16 - 16 k7
2020 - 2 - 2
1,337 84 - 1,421
1,759 175 16 1,950
$ 113,986 $ 45,595 $ 12,685 $ 172,266

66 27 7 100

403/617



EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

OoooooO
2023 12

( ) /
2023 $ 2,475 $ 1,912 $ 6 S 4,403
2022 1,223 3,284 - 4,507
2021 848 4,045 - 4,893
2020 306 2,008 - 2,404
2019 45 1,909 - 1,954
2018 371 2,102 - 2,473
3,857 9,355 20 13,232
9,125 24,705 36 33,866
2023 553 1,547 38 2,138
2022 1,251 2,838 - 4,089
2021 1,134 2,661 - 3,795
2020 271 1,234 - 1,505
2019 430 631 - 1,061
2018 832 744 - 1,576
7,129 3,192 309 10,630
231 - - 231
11,831 12,847 347 25,025
2023 619 54 1,627 2,300
2022 108 1 2,687 2,836
2021 22 249 2,724 2,995
2020 3 23 81 107
2019 6 - 89 95
2018 - 20 254 274
9,813 2,823 - 12,636
10,571 3,210 7,462 21,243
2023 8 - - 8
2022 5 - - 5
2018 - 303 - 303
10,978 258 3,069 14,305
10,991 561 3,069 14,621
2023 5,412 2,767 245 8,424
2022 1,940 293 69 2,302
2021 1,883 845 102 2,830
2020 1,256 469 32 1,757
2019 177 74 9 260
2018 436 66 21 523
35,605 8,242 1 43,848
1,161 - - 1,161
47,870 12,756 479 61,105
2023 60 21 - 81
2022 67 9 - 76
2021 6 8 51 65
2020 - 3 218 221
2019 - - 4 4
2018 - - 3 3
803 80 - 883
936 121 276 1,333
$ 91,324 $ 54,200 $ 11,669 $ 157,193

58 35 7 100
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FICO F1CO
( ) 660 660
2024 12
$ 13,090 $ 6,525 $ 19,615
67 33 100
2023 12
2023 $ 79 $ 10 $ 89
2022 132 18 150
2021 11 - 11
222 28 250
11,119 6,313 17,432
$ 11,341 $ 6,341 $ 17,682
89 11 100
64 36 100
64 36 100
( ) EMEA
2024 12
$ 29,972 66 26 8 100
29,789 78 18 4 100
25,969 94 5 1 100
16,477 76 24 - 100
75,107 86 12 2 100
70 100 - - 100
21,403 100 - - 100
2,079 9 4 - 100
$ 200,866 83 14 3 100
2023 12
$ 35,874 63 29 8 100
26,028 80 17 3 100
25,388 95 4 1 100
14,621 79 20 1 100
62,225 89 10 1 100
3,298 100 - - 100
19,361 100 - - 100
1,613 97 3 - 100
$ 188,408 84 13 3 100
2024 12
24 16 14
2023 12
25 17 13 11
90
( ) 30 89 90
2024 12
$ - $ 15 3 15

405/617
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ooooooo
186 286 472
3 18 21
6 - 6
- 5 5
417 456 873
$ 612 $ 780 $ 1,392
0.7
2023 12
$ 45 $ 73 % 118
137 352 489
12 4 16
2 - 2
9 7 16
6 7 13
463 486 949
7 11 18
$ 681 $ 940 $ 1,621
0.9
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,977 $ 1,779
800 1,466
104 19
2 -
757 860
12 17
$ 3,652 $ 4,141
1.9 2.4
2024 12 322 2023 12 600 30
2024 12 2023 12 90
2024 12 127.8 2023 12
122.0
2024 2023 2024 12 2023 12
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,208 $ 846
2024 2023
2024 19 2023

16

406/617
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2024 12 156 2023 12
2024 2023
100 2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12
)
$ 28,689 $ 156,562 $ 33,866 $ 141,976
28,899 4,969 25,025 3,379
22,243 1,742 21,243 1,431
16,477 1,542 14,621 691
74,008 33,136 61,105 23,020
1,950 872 1,333 888
- - 250 1
19,615 63,781 17,432 56,479
$ 191,881 $ 262,604 $ 174,875 $ 227,865
2024 12 36.5 2023 12

41.4
2024 12 735 2023 12 778

407/617
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2024 12 585 2023 12 625

18

GDP

FI1CO

180 120

408/617
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(
2024 12
$ 2,576 $ 2,474 $ 5,050
(169) (1,471) (1,640)
121 104 225
( )/ (48) (1,367) (1,415)
(292) 1,540 1,248
37 (80) (217
$ 2,099 $ 2,567 $ 4,666
1.2 13.1 2.4
( - 7.6 0.8
$ 620 $ - $ 620
56 - 56
(@) - @
$ 674 $ — $ 674
2023 12
$ 2,562 $ 2,981 $ 5,543
(455) (1,246) (1,701)
55 98 153
( )/ (400) (1,148) (1,548)
540 641 1,181
(126) - (126)
$ 2,576 $ 2,474 $ 5,050
1.6 14.0 2.9
( 0.3 5.5 0.9
$ 711 $ 63 $ 774
(90) (63) (153)
(€)) - (€))
$ 620 $ - $ 620
/
2024 12
2024 12
GDP
2024 12
2025 4.4
2025 12 4.4
2026 4.3
GDP
2025 2.0
2026 1.7
2027 1.7
2025 2026

409/617
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ooooood
2026 7.4 2024 GDP
2.7 2025
GDP
GDP
2024 12 2024 330
2024 2022 2021
2023 12 2023 647
637 442 GM
160
2023 2021
( )
2024 12
$ 187,215 $ 99,790 $ 89,540 $ 189,330
$ 3,525 $ 2,928 $ 600 $ 3,528
2023 12
$ 169,825 $ 88,485 $ 83,288 $ 171,773
$ 7,027 $ 3,992 $ 3,038 $ 7,030

410/617
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ooooooo
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ (2,749) $ (4,341) $ 4,055
(3,295) (4,937) 6,506
(356) (513) 1,072
$ (6,400) $ (9,791) $ 11,633
23

411/617
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/
/ /
/
/
2024 12 2023 12 147
2024 12
42.3 2023 12 33.7
DVA /
) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
DVA $ (351) $ (1,355) $ 1,882
DVA $ (263) $ (1,015) $ 1,403
DVA
2024 2023 2022 /
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ooooooo
( ) 2023 12
9%5 $ 1,893
20
2,402 $ 2,305
1,454 $ 1,508
90
2024 12 568
2023 12 878 2024 12 2023
12 18
2024 2023 125 2022
281

413/617
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11

23

FICC

2024 12
2023 12
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( )
2024 12
$ 313,924 $ 205,259 $ 408,242 $ 66,674
(133,862) (10,614) (133,862) (10,614)
180,062 194,645 274,380 56,060
(176,390) (187,474) (270,150) (55,910)
$ 3,672 $ 7,171 $ 4,230 $ 150
2023 12
$ 315,112 $ 199,753 $ 341,194 $ 60,816
(91,307) (333) (91,307) (333)
223,805 199,420 249,887 60,483
(218,494) (192,291) (246,634) (60,180)
$ 5,311 $ 7,129 $ 3,253 $ 303
2024 12 1,797.9 2023 12 2,235.4
2024 12 469.0 2023 12 449.3
2024 12 102.5 2023 12
89.3

415/617
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( )
2024 12
$ 61 $ -
276,341 -
95,812 461
407 -
1,154 -
11,521 376
573 -
289 -
22,084 65,837
$ 408,242 $ 66,674
2023 12
$ 3 $ -
228,718 216
85,230 376
135 -
641 -
10,585 230
57 -
144 -
15,681 59,994
$ 341,194 $ 60,816
2024 12
( )
$ 189,068 $ 40,189
30 115,949 1,638
31 90 41,361 1,634
91 38,967 12,068
22,897 11,145
$ 408,242 $ 66,674
CIE VIE
2024 12
37.4 2023 12 55.7

416/617
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2024
12 2023 12
( )
2024 12
$ 16,333  $ 4,582 $ 20,915
1,377 5,858 7,235
$ 17,710 $ 10,440 $ 28,150
$ 17,004  $ 8,644 $ 25,738
$ 616  $ 1,796 $ 2,412
2023 12
$ 3,385  $ 3,819 $ 7,204
2,144 3,846 5,990
$ 5,529  $ 7,665 $ 13,194
$ 3,122 % 6,755 $ 9,877
$ 2,407 8 910 $ 3,317
2024 12
279.9 2023 12 125.5
2023 12 0.47
2024 12
2024 12 7.16 2023 12 3.44
2024 12 2023 12
25.0 23.4 2024 12
2023 12 25.0 23.6
2024 12 243.9 2023 12 83.8
2024 12 13.5
2023 12 14.9

417/617
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( ) 2024 12
C ) $ 20,915
C )
2026 4,626
2027 475
2028 1,223
2029 184
2030 727
(GD) 7,235
$ 28,150
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,038,740 $ 1,002,891
$ 912,863 $ 862,988
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 148,417 $ 110,567
$ 173,254 $ 138,404
$ 8,712 $ 22,165
$ 12,065 $ 8,865
$ 1,590 $ 3,924
2024 12 642.1 2023 12 492.6

418/617
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 8,024 $ 11,244
5,853 5,916
847 1,177
1,967 2,171
9,131 8,157
8,365 7,925
$ 34,187 $ 36,590
2024 12 2023 12 136.4
2024 12 2023 12
65.7 66.5 2024 12 2023 12
52 124 VIE
2024 2022
CIE 228
314 2023
CIE 14.6
118
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 267 $ 267
FICC 269 269
2,647 2,647
1,361 1,410
1,309 1,309
- 14
$ 5,853 $ 5,916

419/617



2024
14
2024
2024
EPS
2023 2022
2024
2023

2022
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 2,187 $ 2,339
(1,358) (1,292)
829 1,047
82 866
(64) (736)
18 130
2,269 3,205
(1.422) (2,028)
$ 847 $ 1,177
2023 12 2024 12
110 2024 GM
72
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 176 $ 681 $ 174
2024 GM
2023 506
( ) 2024 12
2025 $ 79
2026 $ 713
2027 $ 13
2028 $ 12
2029 $ 1
2024 2023 2022

421/617
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2024 2023 2022
167 333 256
15
2024 2023
2022
qualified affordable housing
2024 12 2023 12 34.6 33.9
17
2024 12 2023 12 517 518
2024 GM
GM
GM 2023
2024 12 GM GM
18
2024 12 2023 12 517 327
2023 12
34 30 110
110
190

2024

15

422/617
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 341,711 $ 333,116
91,302 95,301
$ 433,013 $ 428,417
USA GS USA
GSIB
SE GSBE
2024 12
( )
2025 $ 86,122 $ 23,167 $ 109,289
2026 6,325 543 6,868
2027 2,192 215 2,407
2028 1,031 194 1,225
2029 1,382 192 1,574
2030 1,265 50 1,315
$ 98,317 $ 24,361 $ 122,678
190.0 239.2
2024 12 2023 12
448.6 294.6
10
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12

423/617
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 69,709 $ 75,945
242,634 241,877
$ 312,343 $ 317,822
10
2024 12 2023 12
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 38,521 $ 49,361
29,130 23,073
- 1,213
2,058 2,298
$ 69,709 $ 75,945
5.87 3.64
( )
2024 12
116,077 $ 24,613 $ 140,690
7,034 3,708 10,742
18,017 8,816 26,833
42,713 21,656 64,369
183,841 $ 58,793 $ 242,634
2023 12
112,821 $ 31,023 $ 143,844
1,992 3,739 5,731
18,936 12,555 31,491
38,117 22,694 60,811
171,866 $ 70,011 $ 241,877

424/617
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OooooOodd
2061
2024 12
2023 12 891.9 864.1
2024 12 2023 12 1,534.4 1,554.7
2024 12 2023 12
1,563.1 1,577.5
2024 12 2023 12
SOFR
2024 12 2023 12 0.86 6.75 4.10
0.86 6.75 3.73
2024 12 2023 12 0.25 7.25
2.04 0.25 7.25 2.11
2024 12
( )
2026 $ 22,884 $ 14,046 $ 36,930
2027 22,389 18,749 41,138
2028 20,728 8,476 29,204
2029 21,205 11,531 32,736
2030 80,317 22,309 102,626
$ 167,523 $ 75,111 $ 242,634
(107.4) 2026 (250) 2027 (837)
2028 (867) 2029 (874) 2030 (79.1)

425/617
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( )
2024 12
$ 19,883 § 5,783 $ 25,666
147,640 69,328 216,968
$ 167,523 $ 75,111 § 242,634
2023 12
$ 15,460 4,912 20,372
159,875 61,630 221,505
$ 175,335 $ 66,542 $ 241,877
2024 12 2023 12 5.72
4.39 5.82 6.13 3.44
6.27
2024 12 2023 12 2025 2045
( )
2024 12
$ 12,131 $ 11,217 6.89
968 1,004 5.88
$ 13,099 $ 12,221 6.82
2023 12
$ 12,215 $ 11,898 7.79
968 1,053 6.30
$ 13,183 $ 12,951 7.68
2024 12 2023 12 121.3
122.2 2024 12 2023 12
112.2 119.0

426/617
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28.4
27.5
12 2023 12
968
939

6.345

10
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85 2024

29 I

2034 15
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 8,770 $ 7,804
3,544 2,947
2,062 2,232
401 363
16 19
9,427 10,438
$ 24,220 $ 23,803
12
2024 12
2025 $ 295
2026 315
2027 278
2028 252
2029 225
2030 1,298
2,663
(601)
$ 2,062
12
4.25
2023 12
2024 $ 325
2025 325
2026 288
2027 256
2028 231
2029 1,462
2,887
(655)
$ 2,232
12
4.13
ASU No.2016-02 842
ASU
2024 2023 2022 473 484
462 2024 2023 2022
2024 2023 2022
2024 12 11.0

428/617
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2023 12 257
12
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12
22.6 17
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VIE
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 33,210 $ 20,276 $ 26,717
7,238 4,446 13,935
2,782 5,951 3,617
$ 43,230 $ 30,673 $ 44,269
$ 722 $ 493 3 551
2024 2023 2022
364 369 792
( )
2024 12
cMo $ 34,049 $ 3,053 $ -
33,069 1,357 14
59,562 945 57
12,059 493 5
$ 138,739 $ 5,848 $ 76
2023 12
cMo $ 31,140 $ 2,260 $ -
28,767 1,162 78
61,648 1,192 61
12,501 685 56
$ 134,056 $ 5,299 $ 195

430/617
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CMOo
2019
2024 12 2023 12 57.8 52.6
VIE
2024 12 2023 12
847 120
2024 12 2023 12 27.8 19.5
17 VIE
2024 44 .4 21.2
2023 32.4 27
2024 28.5 2023 10
2024 12
2024 12 2023 12 13.2
18.1
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 5,292 $ 4,590
6.1 5.7
10.0 12.2
10 $ (7 $ (50)
20 $ (110) $ %4)
7.8 7.6
10 $ (136) $ 117
20 $ (281) $ (226)

Cmo

431/617
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2024 12 491
5.0 2023 12 674 5.0

2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12
493 685

432/617
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VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE
VIE

VIE
VIE
VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE

VIE
VIE

VIE
VIE
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VIE VIE
VIE
16
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE

VIE VIE
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VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE VIE VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
VIE
VIE $ 206,500 $ 193,934
$ 16,710 $ 15,478
$ 2,754 $ 2,750
$ 5,848 $ 5,299
767 902
5,034 4,159
8,974 8,636
6,878 6,927
$ 27,501 $ 25,923

434/617
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VIE
VIE VIE
VIE

( ) 2024 12 2023 12
VIE $ 128,378 $ 123,108
$ 5,618 $ 4,867
$ 5,355 $ 4,614
263 253
- 35
1 2
$ 5,619 $ 4,904
VIE $ 55,311 $ 47,638
$ 6,978 $ 6,716
$ 2,315 $ 2,220
$ 4,138 $ 3,893
4,831 4,824
$ 8,969 $ 8,717
VIE $ 22,811 $ 23,188
$ 4,114 $ 3,895
$ 439 $ 530
$ 493 $ 685
504 649
896 231
8,973 8,634
2,047 2,103
$ 12,913 $ 12,302

2024 VIE 2024

VIE VIE
2024 12 2023 12 91
2024 12 2023 12 VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE

435/617
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oooooog
ASU
No.2023-02 2024
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 3,456 $ 3,394
2024 12 2023 12
21.5 22.6 2024 12
2026
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 381 $ 301 3 127
$ 452 $ 370 $ 151
2024 12
2023 12
ASU No.2023-02
2024 12 2023 12
13.9 14.0
VIE
VIE
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
VIE
$ 172 $ 439
325 347
95 95
170 80
9 267
69 248
$ 840 $ 1,476
$ 661 $ 850
7 2
5 14
15 17
165 91
$ 853 $ 974

436/617
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VIE VIE ii VIE
VIE
VIE
2024 12 2023 12
$ 17 $ 417
18 28
170 80
9 267
69 248
$ 283 $ 1,040
$ 4 $ 143
7 2
165 91
$ 176 $ 236
$ 155 $ 22
$ 155 $ 22
$ 334 $ 374
$ 334 $ 374
$ 325 $ 347
77 67
$ 402 $ 414
$ 323 $ 333
5 14
15 17
$ 343 $ 364

VIE

437/617
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2024 12 2023 12
$ 124,001 $ 111,202
67,755 54,298
13,587 9,184
78,099 73,074
283,442 247,758
5,014 8,167
95,282 100,503
49,333 84,276
5,832 4,592
8,223 8,258
$ 447,126 $ 453,554

2024 12

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030
19,773 $ 41,607 $ 59,574 $ 3,047
5,752 24,247 28,326 9,430
1,296 7,972 3,774 545
78,099 - - -
104,920 73,826 91,674 13,022
583 2,202 2,203 26
94,438 844 - -
49,333 - - -
1,868 754 366 2,844
7,796 244 40 143
258,938 $ 77,870 $ 94,283 $ 16,035

2024

438/617
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 262,604 $ 227,865
20,258 19,129
580 764
$ 283,442 $ 247,758
2024 12 2023 12 929 674 845
620
2024 12 2023 12 48.4 52.9
2024 12 2023 12 24.4
31.0 24.0 21.9
2024 12 2023 12 43 70
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12 1,487.8 1,371.1
2024 12 2023 12 112.6
42.1
2024 12 2023 12 781.0
708.2 GM
2024 12 2023 12
143.2
2023 12 22.5

2024

439/617
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/
2024 12 2023 12
11.0 963
27
( )
2024 12
$ 3,53 § - 8 425
/
2025 $ 181,940 § 58,056 $ 2,523
2026 -2027 78,419 - 3,086
2028 -2029 17,074 - 1,843
2030 31,819 - 505
$ 309,252 $ 58,056  $ 7,957
2023 12
$ 5,240  $ - 8 430
/
2024 $ 177,895  $ 28,787  $ 2,325
2025 -2026 98,843 - 3,108
2027 -2028 19,282 - 2,109
2029 29,030 - 231
$ 325,050 % 28,787 % 7,773
2024 12 2023 12 464 359
2024 12 2023 12 40.0 56.0

440/617
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/
2024 12 2023 12 106.2 141.9
2024 12 2023 12 110.2 146.3
2024 12
2023 12 474.4 146.0 2024 12 2023
12 469.6 146.9
MDB
14
2025 500
2022 14 250
2028 18
14
2023 10 11 2022 500
2023 11
2024 10
2024 24
MDB

27

441/617
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14 19

2024 12 2023 12
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2024 12 2023 12

GS

GSé&Co. GS USA
et Cie

GSI GSBE

443/617
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2024 12 2023 12 40.0
200 0.01
10b5-1
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
( ) 17.5 16.8 10.1
C = ) $ 457.82 $ 345.87 $ 346.07
( ) $ 8,000 $ 5,796 $ 3,500
2024 1,197
2023 868 2022 11,644 2024 0.5 2023 0.3 2022
2024 3.4 2023 3.9 2022 4.6 2024
13.3 2023 13.5 2022
2024 2023 2022
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 11.50 $ 10.50 $ 9.00
2025 14 3.00
2025 28 2025 28
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2024 12
A 50,000 30,000 29,999 1,000
c 25,000 8,000 8,000 1,000
D 60,000 54,000 53,999 1,000
E 17,500 7,667 7,667
F 5,000 1,615 1,615
0 26,000 26,000 26,000 25
Q 20,000 20,000 20,000 25
R 24,000 24,000 24,000 25
s 14,000 14,000 14,000 25
T 27,000 27,000 27,000 25
U 30,000 30,000 30,000 25
v 30,000 30,000 30,000 25
W 60,000 60,000 60,000 25
X 90,000 90,000 90,000 25
Y 80,000 80,000 80,000 25

558,500 502,282 502,280
A $ 25,000 $ 750
c $ 25,000 200
D $ 25,000 1,350
E $ 100,000 767
F $ 100,000 161
0 2026 11 10 $ 25,000 650
Q $ 25,000 500
R 2025 10 $ 25,000 600
s 2025 10 $ 25,000 350
T 2026 10 $ 25,000 675
u 2026 10 $ 25,000 750
v 2026 11 10 $ 25,000 750
W 2029 10 $ 25,000 1,500
X 2029 10 $ 25,000 2,250
Y 2034 11 10 $ 25,000 2,000

$ 13,253
0.01
FRB
2024 7.50
90,000
2024 6.125
80,000
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2024 6.375
700 25,000
5.00
15.0 25,000
34 2024
2023 5.50
10 25,000
10 2023
2025 6.85
76,000 25,000
25 2030 10 25,000
2030 10 6.85 2.461
2024 12
A SOFR+1.01161  3.75
C SOFR+1.01161  4.00
D SOFR+0.93161  4.00
E SOFR+1.02011  4.00
F SOFR+1.03161  4.00
0 2026 11 10 5.30 SOFR+4.09561
Q +3.623
R 2025 10 4.95 +3.224
S 2025 10 4.40 +2.85
T 2026 10 3.80 +2.969
U 2026 10 3.65 +2.915
v 2026 11 10 4.125 +2.949
W 2029 10 7.50 +3.156
X 2029 10 7.50 +2.809
Y 2034 11 10 6.125 10 +2.40
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2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
( ) ( ) ( )
A $ 1,606.63 $ 48 $ 1,484.27  $ 44 $ 950.51  $ 28
c $ 1,606.63 13 $ 1,484.27 12 $ 1,013.90 8
D $ 1,586.18 86 $ 1,463.99 79 $ 1,013.90 55
E $ 6,423.37 50 $ 6,074.57 46 $ 4,055.55 31
F $ 6,425.91 10 $ 6,077.09 10 $ 4,055.55 6
J $ - - $ 1,261.02 51 $ 1,375.00 55
K $ 796.88 20 $ 1,593.76 a4 $ 1,593.76 45
0 $ 1,325.00 34 $ 1,325.00 34 $ 1,325.00 34
P $ 1,623.09 97 $ 2,022.64 121 $ 1,250.00 75
Q $ 1,375.00 28 $ 1,375.00 28 $ 1,375.00 28
R $ 1,237.50 30 $ 1,237.50 30 $ 1,237.50 30
s $ 1,100.00 15 $ 1,100.00 16 $ 1,100.00 16
T $ 950.00 26 $ 950.00 26 $ 950.00 26
U $ 912.50 27 $ 912.50 27 $ 942.92 28
v $ 1,031.25 31 $ 1,031.25 31 $ 1,062.76 32
W $ 1,833.33 110 $ - - $ - -
X $ 1,026.04 92 $ - - $ - -
$ 717 $ 599 $ 497
2025 2025 26
345.49 345.49 340.49
922.38 618.75
550.00 456.25 937.50
2025 10 2025 16
1,397.48 1,398.11
2025
/
/
/C )
( ) ( )
2024 12
$ (847) $ 32 $ (815)
(123) (263) (386)
(575) a7 (528)
(1.373) 401 ©72)
- (€)) (€))
$ (2,918) $ 216 $ (2,702)
2023 12
$ (785) $ (62) $ (847)
892 (1,015) (123)
(499) (76) (575)
(2,618) 1,245 (1,373)
$ (3,010) $ 92 $ (2,918)
2022 12
$ (738) $ 7 $ (785)
(511) 1,403 892
(327) 172) (499)
(492) (2,126) (2.618)
$ (2,068) $ (942) $ (3,010)
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FRB 1956
FRB
RWA
G-SIB
Tierl CET1
CET1 Tierl
Tierl SLR
SLR
2024 12
CET1 13.7 10.0
Tierl 15.2 11.5
17.2 13.5
2023 12
CET1 13.0 10.0
Tierl 14.5 11.5
16.5 13.5
2024 12 2023 12
CET1 4.5 Tierl 6.0
8.0 3.0 G-SIB FRB
2024 12 6.2 2023 12 5.5
2024 12 2023 12 2.5
G-SIB G-SIB
G-SIB

448/617



EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

ooooooo
( )
2024 12
CET1 $ 103,065 $ 103,065
Tierl $ 115,647 $ 115,647
Tier2 $ 14,125 $ 10,164
$ 129,772 $ 125,811
RWA $ 688,541 $ 674,812
CET1 15.0 15.3
Tierl 16.8 17.1
18.8 18.6
2023 12
CET1 $ 99,442 $ 99,442
Tierl $ 110,288 $ 110,288
Tier2 $ 14,874 $ 10,684
$ 125,162 $ 120,972
RWA $ 692,737 $ 665,348
CET1 14.4 14.9
Tierl 15.9 16.6
18.1 18.2
2024 12 2023 12
Tierl 4.0 4.0
SLR 5.0 5.0
SLR G-SIB
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
Tierl $ 115,647 $ 110,288
$ 1,699,419 $ 1,579,237
Tierl (6,919) (7,167)
1,692,500 1,572,070
428,256 423,686
$ 2,120,756  $ 1,995,756
Tierl 6.8 7.0
SLR 5.5 5.5
CECL
Tierl Tierl
SLR Tierl
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
108,743 $ 105,702
CECL 276 553
(5,159) (5,224)
(638) (950)
(157) (639)
CET1 103,065 99,442
13,253 11,203
(669) (354)
@ (©)
Tierl 115,647 $ 110,288
Tier2
Tierl 115,647 $ 110,288
9,124 9,886
5,011 5,012
(10) (24)
Tier2 14,125 14,874
129,772 $ 125,162
Tier2
Tierl 115,647 $ 110,288
Tier2 14,125 14,874
(5,011) (5,012)
1,050 822
Tier2 10,164 10,684
125,811 $ 120,972
CECL 2022
2022 2025 25 11.1
2024 12 829
2020 CECL 2020 2021 12 31
25 CECL 2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12 694 692
2024 12 2023 12 209 227
CET1 Tierl CVA
Tier2
Tier2
14
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CET1 Tierl Tier2
( )
2024 12
CET1
$ 99,442 99,442
3,041 3,041
CECL Q@1 @17
65 65
312 312
482 482
$ 103,065 103,065
Tierl
$ 110, 288 110,288
CET1 3,623 3,623
2,050 2,050
(315) (315)
1 1
115,647 115,647
Tier2
14,874 10,684
(762) (762)
o -
14 242
14,125 10,164
$ 129,772 125,811
RWA
RWA
RWA

451/617



RWA
VaR
99 VaR
VaR
VaR
VaR

VaR

VaR

RWA

VaR

VaR
VaR

10

VaR

VaR

2024
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RWA
VaR
95 VaR

99 VaR RWA

VaR

VaR
VaR
2023 99
RWA VaR

RWA
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RWA
RWA
RWA
( )
2024 12
RWA
146,368 $ 99,766
247,140 199,816
97,174 22,846
30,018 31,457
71,013 97,129
RWA 591,713 451,014
RWA
VaR 19,995 19,995
VaR 48,249 48,249
7,054 7,054
2,057 2,057
19,473 19,473
RWA 96,828 96,828
RWA - 126,970
RWA 688,541 $ 674,812
2023 12
RWA
146,357 $ 96,322
243,094 194,236
103,704 23,637
34,223 36,920
76,481 96,755
RWA 603,859 447,870
RWA
VaR 16,457 16,457
VaR 48,496 48,496
5,032 5,032
2,718 2,718
16,175 16,175
RWA 88,878 88,878
RWA - 128,600
RWA 692,737 $ 665,348
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RWA
( )
2024 12
RWA
$ 692,737 $ 665,348
RWA
1 3,444
4,046 5,580
(6,530) (791)
(4,205) (5,463)
(5,468) 374
RWA (12,146) 3,144
RWA
VaR 3,538 3,538
VaR (47) (247)
2,022 2,022
(661) (661)
3,298 3,208
RWA 7,950 7,950
RWA - (1,630)
$ 688,541 $ 674,812
RWA
2024 12 2024 12 RWA 2023 12 121.5
RWA
2024 12
RWA 2023 12 79.5 VaR
2024 12 RWA 2023 12 31.4
2024 12
RWA 2023 12 79.5 VaR
GS USA GS USA
GS USA FRB FDIC NYDFS
CFPB
GS USA
GS USA FDIC
2.5
CET1
GS USA CET1 Tierl
GS USA
GS USA
GS USA
GS USA
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GS USA
2024 12 2023 12 2024 12 2023 12
CET1 7.0 7.0 6.5 6.5
Tierl 8.5 8.5 8.0 8.0
10.5 10.5 10.0 10.0
Tierl 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0
SLR 3.0 3.0 6.0 6.0
CET1 4.5 Tierl 6.0
8.0 2.5 FRB
GS USA
( )
2024 12
CET1 $ 62,022 $ 62,022
Tierl $ 62,022 $ 62,022
Tier2 $ 4,209 $ 955
$ 66,231 $ 62,977
RWA $ 386,922 $ 284,624
CET1 16.0 21.8
Tierl 16.0 21.8
17.1 22.1
2022 12
CET1 $ 53,781 $ 53,781
Tierl $ 53,781 $ 53,781
Tier2 $ 6,314 $ 2,951
$ 60,095 $ 56,732
RWA $ 380,774 $ 288,938
CET1 14.1 18.6
Tierl 14.1 18.6
15.8 19.6
GS USA GS USA
2024 12 2023 12
GS USA CECL 2022 25
2025 2020 CECL
2020 2021 12 31 25
2023 12 2024
12 RWA
RWA
GS USA
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
Tierl $ 62,022 $ 53,781
$ 565,513  $ 523,546
$ 775,170 $ 722,465
Tierl 11.0 10.3
SLR 8.0 7.4

455/617



Tierl
Tierl Tierl
SLR Tierl
FRB GS USA
GS USA CFTC SEC
2024 12 2023 12
USA
2024 12
1,337.5

2023 12
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CECL
2024 12 2023 12
26
GS USA
GS
2023 12 1,407.9
2024 12
984.8 958.0
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21
RSU
RSU
) 2024 12 2023 12 202212
$ 13,525 $ 7,907 $ 10,764
328.1 340.8 352.1
RSU 5.5 5.0 6.0
333.6 345.8 358.1
$  41.07 $ 23.05 $  30.42
$  40.54 $  22.87 $  30.06
2024 2023 2022 0.15
2024 2023
2022 0.1 0.4 0.5 RSU
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22
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 5,399 $ 4,726 $ 4,553
2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,589 $ 1,536
$ 4,079 $ 4,042
2024 2023
2022 123 2024
2023 2022
18
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2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 9,282 $ 10,949 % 3,233
19,895 16,405 4,468
14,316 8,460 5,087
5,998 3,856 2,199
16,162 14,905 9,059
15,744 13,940 4,978
81,397 68,515 29,024
20,282 17,010 5,823
17,362 12,705 2,808
2,911 2,453 1,923
2,112 1,322 541
11,010 11,084 5,716
19,664 17,590 4,535
73,341 62,164 21,346
$ 8,066 $ 6,351 $ 7,678
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24
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 2,000 $ 1,230 $ 2,356
659 389 623
2,262 1,964 1,658
4,921 3,583 4,637
(869) (954) (2,079)
(140) (356) (436)
209 (50) 103
C ) (800) (1,360) (2,412)
$ 4,121 $ 2,223 $ 2,225
2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
21.0 21.0 21.0
( ) 2.4 0.6 1.3
@1.2) (1.8) @.9
1.4 (2.4) (3.4)
GILTI 2.8 4.4 1.8
0.8) (1.6) (0.9)
(0.6) (1.0) 2.2)
- 0.2 0.8
0.2 1.3 0.5
22.4 20.7 16.5
GILTI
2023 GILTI GILTI
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 1,888 $ 1,773
ASC 740 366 331
1,507 1,278
2,786 2,100
786 929
85 98
C ) 714 1,198
461 236
581 636
1,412 1,450
« ) 421 165
11,007 10,194
(2.,064) (1,978)
$ 8,943 $ 8,216
$ 982 $ 752
512 574
$ 1,494 $ 1,326
2024 12 786
2023 12 929
2024 12 328 2023 12 396
2024 12 13 33
15
2025
2024 12 405
289 2024 12
45 11
2033 2025
2026
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12
2024 12
365
346
2024 86 2023 409 2024
2023
2024 12 2023 12
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2024 12 475
2023 12 320 2024 113 2023 90
2022 59 2024
12 12
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 202212
$ 1,726 $ 1,533 $ 1,446
381 143 190
87 164 10
23) (92) (32)
® (20) (76)
= ) ®)
$ 2,162 $ 1,726 $ 1,533
2024 12 18
2023 12 14 2022 12 12
IRS
2024 12
2011
2015
2017
2018
2018
2013 2025 IRS
CAP IRS
2011 2018
CAP
2019 2022 IRS
2011 2022
2023
2015 2018 2021

462/617
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2024 12 2023 12 2022 12

$ 32,538 $ 29,254  $ 30,042
2,405 742 2,445

34,943 29,996 32,487

40 401 468

9,426 8,571 8,661

10,554 9,469 9,190

19,980 18,040 17,851

$ 14,923 $ 11,555  $ 14,168
$ 11,580 $ 9,163 $ 11,830
$ 10,998 $ 8,703  $ 11,458
$ 75,796 $ 71,863 $ 69,951
14.5 12.1 16.4

$ 13,346 $ 10,790  $ 9,843
2,796 3,090 3,533

16,142 13,880 13,376

(232) (508) 519

6,595 6,144 5,927

5,230 6,885 5,623

11,825 13,029 11,550

$ 4,549 $ 1,359 $ 1,307
$ 3,530 $ 1,078  $ 1,092
$ 3,386 $ 952 $ 979
$ 26,405 $ 30,078 $ 31,762
12.8 3.2 3.1

$ (428) $ (141) $ (198)
2,855 2,519 1,700

2,427 2,378 1,502

1,540 1,135 1,728

685 784 560

1,277 2,634 1,203

1,962 3,418 1,763

/( $ (1,075) $ ,175) $ (1,989)

C ) $ (834) $ (1,725) $ (1,661)

/( $ (859) $ (1,748) $ (1,673)
$ 4,573 $ 3,863 $ 3,574
(18.8) (45.2) (46.8)

$ 45,456 $ 39,903 $ 39,687
8,056 6,351 7,678

53,512 46,254 47,365

1,348 1,028 2,715

16,706 15,499 15,148

17,061 18,988 16,016

33,767 34,487 31,164

$ 18,397 $ 10,739 $ 13,486
$ 14,276 $ 8,516 $ 11,261
$ 13,525 $ 7,907 $ 10,764
$ 106,774 $ 105,804  $ 105,287
12.7 7.5 10.2
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) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 1,119 $ 1,109 $ 1,033

1,017 2,425 1,212

256 1,322 210

$ 2,392 $ 4,856 $ 2,455

2023 CIE 14.6
2023 506
2023 504
) 2024 12 2023 12

$ 1,420,142 $ 1,381,247
193,328 191,863
62,502 68,484
$ 1,675,972 $ 1,641,594
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FICC FICC

( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 34,448 64 $ 29,335 64 $ 28,669 61
EMEA 12,250 23 11,744 25 12,860 27
6,814 13 5,175 11 5,836 12
$ 53,512 100 $ 46,254 100 $ 47,365 100
$ 12,106 66 $ 6,038 56 $ 7,016 52
EMEA 4,418 24 4,033 38 5,260 39
1,873 10 668 6 1,210 9
$ 18,397 100 $ 10,739 100 $ 13,486 100
$ 9,354 66 $ 4,849 57 $ 6,067 54
EMEA 3,470 24 3,137 37 4,164 37
1,452 10 530 6 1,030 9
$ 14,276 100 $ 8,516 100 $ 11,261 100

2023 CIE
FDIC
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 389,148 $ 260,531
23.2 15.9
$ 74,496 $ 90,681
4.4 5.5
2024 12 2023 12
1,518.4 2,060.7 1,057.8 1,056.6
2024 12 2023 12
11
( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 129,942 $ 154,056
$ 76,932 $ 92,833

467/617
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27

ASC450

2024 12

17

MDB
2012 2013 65 MDB

2018 11 DOJ

2018 28
FCPA
FCPA
2022

2020 18
MDB
14
18

2020 10 22 MDB DOJ SEC FRB NYDFS
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2024
2021
2018 12 20
2021 28
2023 29
2019 25 2020 29 17
GS Co. 2021
2022
18
S.A.
2014 12 2015 2015 12
BES
GSI 2015 12 BoP
S.A.
GSI
GSI
BES
50 GSI
BES 222
2023 11 GSI  BoP

2015 12
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DOJ
FCPA
GS FCPA
2021
QPAM
MDB
2019 10 28
2023
2024
2024
GS
2020 11 23
14
2023
2023
BoP 835
S.A. BES GSI
S.A.
GSIB 2015
BoP 2018
BoP
2018 BES
GSI GSI
GSI 54
2018 10 GSI
104
BoP 2015

469/617



GS Co. CBS
17 10
32 323,077
GS Co.
CBS
CBS
2024
2024 14
2021 10
GSX
i1Y1 CBS
10 b 20A
2023
GS Co. 2023
2024
SVB
500
2021
2021 13
SVBFG
831 831,250
727
2023 17 SVBFG
2024 16
SVBFG SVB
SVB
2023 SvB

2021 13

GS Co.

2021

GS

2024

GS Co.

iQIYI

20 a

2024

25
SVBFG
750
10
2022

18

470/617
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CBS 2021
CBS
55 646,154
LP
12 21
2023
Co.
CBS
iQlyl
CBS
2024 28
26
2021
2021 12
500
800
GS Co.
3,266,108
11
2024
SVB
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GS Co.
2019 81 2019
GS Co. 16 35,864,408 2020 11 16
2020 11 2020 12 16
2020 2020
25 2020 12
2021 25 2021 14
2021 10 2022 26
2023 27
2024 12
GS Co.
GS Co.
2020 10 12 2020 12 13
2021 993 2021 14
GS Co.
877 31,912,213 2021 12 2023
19 2023
2023
GS Co.
2020 12 11 2021 17
GS Co. 388 16,169,000 2022 15
2023 10
2023 10 2023 12 22
2024 15
2024 22
2024 19
GS
2021 44
ADS 2021
GS 15 ADS104,554,000
2021 22 2022
10 b 20A 2024 14
2025
GS Co. 2020
589 2021 10
GS Co. 212 3,886,819
2021 12 20 2024 11 13

11
471/617



178

2021

2023

GS Co.
575

5,750,345

11

2022

472/617
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2021

GS Co.
24 2022 11 29
11
2023 10
11 2024



GS
2021 29
GS 26 ADS8,222,500
2022
15
2023 15
GS Co.
2021 11 137
2023 28
GS Co.
2023
2023
2023
GS Co.
585 2022
GS Co. 164 1,449,000
2025 28
21
GS Co.
2021 22
18,039,706 2023 10
2023 13
2024
ON24 GS Co. ON24
2021 11
GS Co.
181 3,616,785
2023
2024
2024
GS Co.
2021 14

473/617
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2021 40 ADS
2022 11 2022 17
19 2022
2022
2024 28
2024 27
2024 11 11
GS
2022
35 44,733,050
2023
30
2024 17
2021
2022 10
2022 15
2023 11
2025
2021 12 17
GS Co. 686
2024 24
21
ON24 2021 492
ON24
GS Co.
2022 18
2023
2022 12

GS Co. 498



12,760,633 2022 12 2023
GS Co.
2020 377
2021 691 2021 747
2022 25
GS Co. 2020
2020 12 69 1,503,944
173 3,083,098 2021
3,013,065 2023 10
12(a) 2021
11
2024 12 12
GS Co.
2021 924
24
GS Co. 203 11,297,000
2024 11 27
GS
2020 10 656
2022 17 2022 11 18
GS
2023 2024 23
S Co.
46 2022 26
GS Co. 15
24 2023 28
6S
2020 11 617 ADS
ADS22,912,500 2023 10
GS Co.
2021 10 357
14
110 5,254,304 2023
25
GS Co.
2021 886
2022 11 22
275 10,173,401 2023 17
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2020 12

42,900,000
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298

4,157,103

187

2023 12 15
GS Co.

2022

ADS16,408,093

2024 10

2021
2023
2022 23
241
22
2022 11
GS Co.
2024
GS Co.
2024



28
GS Co.
668 2021
210
128 3,179,047
17
2025 10
GS Co.
10
19
2021
300
GS Co. 2021
2021
2021
2021 12
10
F45
F45
2023 19
F45
GS Co.
2023
2024 11
2023 28
GS Co. 408
2025
GS Co.
GS Co.
2021 12
18 2024
10,631,949 2021
2024

GS Co.

GS Co.
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2024 14
2024
2021
413 2022 12
GS Co. 2021
9,545,073 2021
2023 10 2024
2024 19
2025
GS Co. 2023
2023 11
288 2021
2021 200
2021 12 552
108 1,711,313
300
40 1,600,000
199 1,375,397 2023
2024 17
11
GS Co. F45
2021 350
133 8,303,744
2024 25
2021 18
19,419,420 2023 22
2021 587 2023
2021 245
113 3,759,588 2023
519 26,879,772 2,731,638

2024 11
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GS Co. VRDO 2019
2019 31 VRDO
2019 2020 11
GS Co.
GS Co. 2021
2019 31
VRDO
2021 2019 31 2021
2019 31 2021 14 2021
2022 28
GS Co.
2023 21
2024
2024 15
GS Co. GSI GS USA
2015 11
2016 2018
2013 2016 2018 11 20
2019 13
2008 2012
2013 2016
2019 22 2023 12 15
2023 12 28
2024 11
GSI 2014 11
25 2017 15
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21
10 29

18

26
30
2024

GS
CFPB

GS Co.
2023 11

23

GS

2023

USA

2023 27
2023 12
2023 21
GS Co.
2022 11 10
2024
2024
Co. GSI
2022
GSI
2015
GS USA  CFPB
45
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2020
2020
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2024 10
2021 30
2021 11 15
2024 24
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2014
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FCPA

28
2008 2016

31
2003 11
2004 11
2024 12 73
344 2023 12
93

449

2024 382 2023 377 2022 378

29
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RSU RSU
RSU
2021
2021 SIP
2021 29 2021 SIP 2021 SIP
1999 30
2024 12 55.7 2021 SIP 2021 SIP
2021 SIP
2021 SIP 2021 SIP
2021 SIP 2025
RSU RSU RSU
RSU
RSU
150
RSU 2024
RSU
RSU
4,379,141 15,306,921 $ 310.31 $ 304.37
2,795,500 4,302,501 $ 381.27 $ 354.89
(585,760) (418,815) § 201.64 $ 321.77
- (8,502,057)  $ - 8 301.08
(3.103,014) 3,103,014 $ 339.86 $ 339.86
3,485,867 13,791,564 $ 344.05 $ 329.61
RSU 2024 365.28 2023 329.23
2022 316.98 RSU 2024
2023 2022 2024
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3.9 2023 4.5 2022 6.0
RSU RSU
2024 31.5 2023 24.7 2022
39.1
2024 12 4,579 2023 12
347,240
RSU 2024 12 466,731
2023 12 617,655 RSU
2024 12 700,097 2023 12 913,551
RSU 2024 12 1,587,795
2023 12 1,620,470 RSU
2024 12 2,381,693 2023 12 2,430,705
2024 2025 5.0 RSU 1.5
RSU RSU
RSU
2024 12 630
1.70
299
0.65
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 2,772 $ 2,008 $ 4,107
$ 213 $ 198§ 324
RSU
900
2024 376 2023 407 2022 493
30
( ) 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 62 3 58 $ 101
9,021 11,499 6,243
(1,214) (1,965) (3,590)
7,869 9,592 2,754
20,533 18,839 8,367
23,527 21,479 9,428
(2,994) (2,640) (1,061)
4,875 6,952 1,693

676 287 328
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693 219 685
1,369 506 1,013
3,506 6,446 680
(1,617) (1,070) (1,398)
9,153 1,000 9,183
14,276 8,516 11,261
751 609 497
$ 13,525 $ 7,907 $ 10,764
2024 62 2023 58 2022
97
2024 90.2 2023
114.9 2022 61.4
2024 (17.2) 2023 (892) 2022
(33.4)
2024 176.5 2023 168.2 2022 74.7
2024 119.1 2023 99.4 2022 38.0
2024 104 2023 105 2022 116
/ 2024 216 2023 92
2022 (942)
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( ) 2024 12 2023 12
$ 19 $ 35
2 7
5,738 1,833
(15,494 4,813 ( ) 282,580 286,688
63,427 55,164
77,362 78,591
438 3,197
(35,205 22,443 ( ) 80,697 79,300
8,300 7,408
$ 518,563 $ 512,223
( ) $ 78,145 $ 78,776
28,151 19,233
1,803 568
( ) 1,107 898
(4,583 4,721 ( ) 22,409 31,833
3,526 5,710
(29,051 28,966 ( )» 167,523 175,335
89,883 79,316
4,020 3,649
396,567 395,318
13,253 11,203
9 9
5,148 5,121
61,376 60,247
153,412 143,688
2,702) (2,918)
( ) (108,500) (100, 445)
121,996 116,905
$ 518,563 $ 512,223
2024 12 261 2023 12 155
2024 12 11.1 2023 12 898
2024 12 2026 876.6 2027
160 2028 224 2029 243 2030 16.0
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( 2024 12 2023 12 2022 12
$ 14,276 $ 8,516 $ 11,261
(9,153) (1,000) (9,183)
25 13 9
(844) (380) (1,523)
361 (11) 378
( C ) ) (631) 11,937 66,839
3,685 7,620 (23,451)
209 (1,646) 1,428
(GD) 5,090 (221) 5,933
13,018 24,828 51,691
(55) (48) 64
¢ HC ) 9,578 3,145 2,210
(22,275) (25,473) (1,859)
12,626 921 2,311
(30,473) (25,904) (47,247)
/ 30,239 17,801 3,162
/( ) (GID) 127 1,205 (5,665)
(233) (28,353) (47,152)
( 8,518 3,810 (36,389)
)
(€LY 87 13
8,152 19,314 27,803
77,389 127,728 78,803
(94,943) (136,618) (65,960)
(2,200) (1,000) _
(8,000) (5,796) (3,500)
(1,331) (1,345) (1,595)
(4,497) (4,189) (3,682)
) 4,239 1,496 -
) 9 (€)) -
/C ) (12,806) 3,486 (4,507)
C ) ) (1) 39 32
42 81 49
$ 21 % 42 $ 81
2024 224.3 2023 205.3
2022 85.4 2024 116.0 2023
94.0 2022 35.5
2024 12.9 2023 671 2022
25.9
2024 12
2023 12
14.2
2022 12
17.5
GS USA
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2013
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THE GOLOKMAN SACHS GROUWF, INC. AND SUBSIOWAIES

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

War Ended Decambor

o NS, SN0 D ShAM STIOUMIS 2034 203E FOE2
Revenues

Investrnent banking § 7738 £ 638 § 7360
Irrv@sirrent mhirdgemant 10,596 9. 537 9,005
Commissions and fees 4,086 3,783 4,034
harke: raking 18,390 T, 38 18,634
{rher principal transactions 4,646 2,026 54
Tola! nor-nlanast renvenues 45 456 o a0 38,687
Interast incoma 81,397 &1 h15 2,024
Inleras] xS 73,341 62,164 21,346
Mt interast nocrmn 8,056 [ 7.878
Total res] resenag 53,512 A Fhd 47,365
Prewision for credit losses 1,344 1,028 2156
Oparating axpanses

Cormpensation and benedils 16,706 15,499 15,148
Transaction based 6,724 5,654 5,312
Warket denngloprmaent B4E 629 |z
Communicaticns and technology 1.991 1,918 1,808
Deprecation and amenization 2,392 4,356 2,455
Docupancy 873 1,063 .06
Professional fees 1,652 1,623 1,887
{rher pxpanses 2,683 3210 2716
Tota! operating expensas 33,767 4487 37,164
Pre-tax earnings 18,397 10,733 13,486
Prowision for tawes 4.1 prx] 2375
Bzt 4 s 14,276 Bh1E 11.281
Preferresd stock dividends 751 0d 437
Nat earnings applicable to common shareholders 513528 £ 7807 510084
Earnings per common share

Basic § 4107 % 23056 5 3047
Diluted § 4054 £ 2287 § 3006
Average common shares

Basic 3281 3408 3521
Dkt 33316 3458 354, 1

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Wenr Ended Decambar

£ in mifiang 204 2023 HE
het earmings §14276 = 856 51728
(nher comprehansive incomaiioss) adjustrments, nat of tax:
Currgngy translifion a2 [Livd] {471
Dbt veluation adustmant [263) 11,015k 1,403
Pansion and postretirernant liabifties 47 e s
Awailable-for-sale securities a0 1,245 [2,126]
Cagh flew hadges (R ] - -
xher comprefhaensive incomaliossh 216 92 (122 Wil
Comprohansive incoms §14492 = a603 510319

Tl ACCOi Dy Mg MO0E A 4n IHIEK_:"J! partof chese consohdnmed fnencal ataamama

Goldman Spchs 2024 Form 10K 131
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIOIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheats
Aot o Discirm B
£ in miigns 2024 NE
HAssats
Cash and cash equrakenis & 1\2002 5 240577
Cellateralized agresemants:
Securites purchased under agreemants (o resell lincludes $17T9.783 and £223,543 at fair valus) 180,062 233,805
Securites bormowed lincludes S46,902 and $44,930 at fair valuel 154,645 188,420
Custormer and olher iecevables lincludes S8 and S23 & Tair waluah 122 717 132,495
Trading assets [at fair value and includes $148,417 and $1 10,587 pledged as collaterall 570,555 477,510
Investrments:
Awailable-for-sale securities lat fair value, amortized cost of $80,777 and §51,001) 79458 49,141
Held to-rmatunly securities 78,713 70,310
Dither investrments Encludos $28,204 and 28,628 at fair valued 26,343 27,308
Leans [net of alowance of 4,666 and 55,050, and includes §5,480 and 56,506 at fair valuel 196,200 183,358
Orhaor assots lincledes §194 and 5368 at fair valual 34187 36,550
Total assets S1675,972 51617504
Liabilities and shareholders’ aquity
Deposits Encludas 44,855 and 529,460 at fair value) 5 433013 & 420417
Collateralized Fnana ngs:
Securites sold under agreemaents to repurchase (at fair value) 274,380 249,887
Securibes loared Incudes $10,246 and S83,934 at fair value 56,060 60,483
Other secured financings. includes SX7,985 and 512,554 at fair valuah 28,150 13,154
Customer and olher payvables 223 255 230,78
Trading liabilities lat fair valus) 202 555 200,355
Llrgécuinid shaor- i ixlrltmlil'gx [REFS TS mﬂ? anel 46,127 &t fair walue B0 709 75,945
Unsecured kong-term borewings [nciudes $89, 189 and 586,410 a1 fak valusd 242 634 247,877
{rher liabilites [ncudes $84 and $266 at fair valuel 24,220 23,803
Totd lnbiities 1553976 1,574,689
Commitments, contingencies and guarantess
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, aggregate liquidation preference of $13.253 and 511,03 13,253 11,203
Caornrmon sbock, 327,499 867 and 972,895,060 shanes issued, and 310,663, 708 and 333,376,554 shares outstanding 9 b1
Share-based awards 5148 5121
Manmwating oomrmon $iock; no shanes issued and outstanding - -
Additional paid-in capital E1.376 60,247
Reteined earmings 153412 143,688
Accumulated other comprehansne loss i2.702] 2974
Steck held in treasery, ot cost; 616,845,061 and 500,518,678 shanes (108,500] (100,445
Total sharoholders” oquity 121,996 116,905
Total liabilities and sharaholders’ aquity 1675972 51647504

Thi acciimgany g Robid ote 4n intsgral part ol thisa camobdated fnencal stetamams

132  Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, IMC. AMD SUBSIOMAIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders” Equity

Yeur Endad Decambar

& o1 s 2024 2OEE AR
Prefermed stock

Beginning balance § 1203 § o §
lssied 4,250 [ ] -
Redeamed {2.200) 11 0 -
Erichriy bl e 13,263 11,303 1, 700
Common stock

Biginning balanca ] ] a
Issuad - - -
Endng balanoce a ] a
Share-based swards

Beginning balance 521 5,608 4211
Issusnce and srrartzation of share-based swards 2.1 e 4,110
Dalvery of comemon stock undarlying share-tased mwards {2.483) 12, 5048) 2, e8|
Forfemre of share-based swards [231) 1ER [157)
End i) alanoe 5.148 5,121 5,808
Additional paid-in capital

Beginning balance 60,247 St 050 5,30
Dalrvary of common siock unidaibyng share-based awards 2478 2,540 2,518
Cancalstan of share-based awards = satisfacton of withholdng tax requiements {1.331] 11.345) {1,501)
Prafamed stock Mavancs costs 10 5 -
Issusnce of comman stock in conmection with scquisition - - 1,730
Other 28] (121 [}
Ending balonce: 61,376 B el 56,050
Retained eamings

Beginning bafance 143,688 139,372 131,811
Mat samings 14,278 8518 12
Dovidands and dividend equivalents declared on comman stock and sharerbased swards {3,801) {E501) £3,203)
Deadends deciared on peetarmed stock nmn {50 (=87
Prafamsd stack redlamplion pramiwn {u:l [109 -
Ending balonce: 183412 aniEm AR
r lated other comprehensive in Hiass)

Beginning balance {2.914) R (2,08
Otk eamanalarmnsg @oeriiias) 218 a3 1942)
Ending balance {2,702) 208 3,010)
Stock held in tressury, ot cost

Baginning balance [100.445] @4 gm) (8, 1)
Repuhaned {B.000) 15,798 (32,5001
Resssyd X3 et ¥i]
Otk |&8) (7] a5l
Ending balanoe [108,800] |fd0aLh) (B4 ET)
Total sthareholdars' HL..-HI- 5118005 5117,189
The socompany ng notes e an integral part of these bctad fanamcial 3t

Goldman Sechs 2004 Form 10K 133
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, IMC. AMD SUBSIOMAIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Yaar Erdliod Dacarmbar

$ in miligng 2024 el itk
Cash flows from operating activities
It minrrrigs § 14278 5 ALE 1100
Adiustrments to reconcile net earmings to net cash provided yflused for) cperating activities:

Deprecation and amortization 2,392 4,856 2,455

Dafered income taxes |800) 11,3601 2,473

Share-based compansation 2663 2,085 4,063

Prowvision for credit losses 1348 108 2715
Changas in operating assets and liabilites:

Custorner and cther receivables and payables, net 18.367) 28,219 35,014

Collateralized transactions lexcluding ether secured financingsh, net 68582 160,237 (100,996

Trading assels 86,991 (163807 45,278

Trading lizbilities 1212) 5,751 8,062

Loans held for sale. nat 537 1,635 ae
nher, nat |6,640) 13,2551 B
st st prenided byilused ford aperating sclivities 13.212) 112.587) 808
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of propety, leasehold improvernents and equipmaent 12,097) 12,376 [3, 748
Procesds from sales of pregerty, leasehold improvernents and equipment 1613 a2re 2,706
et cash recaived fromfTused fork business dispositions or boquisitions 3622 iy [2,118]
Available-for-sale securities:

Purchases [60,852) 19,7185) [3,7531

Procesds from sales 19,005 3,161 2

Proceeds from paydowns and matwities 12,809 8,130 25
Hich borrmarburily securities:

Purchasas [Z3.018) (206, 258 %0, R

Proceeds fram prpdowns and rmatuities 15,549 8,604 a6Nn
b irvesirments:

Purchasas |8.2286) 14, B33 G, 841

Procesds from sales, paydowns and maturities 2,010 6,953 9,763
Loans lexcluding loans heid for salal, nat [17,045) 15,353) 125,278
Met cash usad for irvesting activitias [49,624) (17,313 1759600
Cash flows from financing activities
Unsacured shor-tanm Bomamaings, net 934 2,050 o3|
b secured financings ishort-term), net 13,707 BrE 2,283
Proceeds fram ssuance af ather seeuned finanangs long-term] 5243 3047 1,800
Repaymant of other secured financings longterml, including the curant portion {2,028) 13,5700 3,407}
Procesds from ssuance of unsecured leng-term bomewings 67252 47,153 84,522
Repayment of unsecured long tern bormenwings, indwding the curment pertion [74519) [54,066) 142,206
Derivative contracts with a finencing element, net 2390 3,280 1,747
Dposts, net 5804 a9.0ER 28,074
Preferred stock redemnpticn (2.200) 11,000 -
Caormrmon stock repurchased {8,000) 15, 706] [3,5000
Settlernent of share-based swards in satisfaction of withholding tax requirements 11,331) 11,345} 11,545)
Dividends and divicend equivalents paid on common stock, prafered stock and share-based awands 14,497 14,189 (3,683
Procesds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs 4239 1,406 =
(rher finaneing, net 247 344 361
et cash provided by financing activities 7323 27,000 50,602
Effest of exchange rate changas on cash and cash equivalents 13.972) 1,851 111,561)
ot decrease in cash and cash equivalents 59,485) (2421 19211
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance 241577 241,825 261,006

Cash and cash aquivalants, ending balance

§ 182092 5 241577 S 241895

Supplamental diselesures:
Cash payments for interest, net of capitalized interest
Cash payments for incoma taxes, met

§ 72823 5 GOOZG 3
§ 3673 5 MGEG %

19,022
4,565

Sen Mobes B, 12 and 16 for nfomation slbout noncanh actvites

T dCimBamying no0E it 4n inuegral gart of Chess d finamcal a8

¥ Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUFP, INC. AND SUBSIOWRIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1.
Description of Business

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, (Group Inc. or parent
company), a Delaware corporation, together with its
comsalidated subsidiaries {collectively, the firm), is a leading
global financial institution that delivers a broad range of
financial services to a large and diversified client base that
includes corporations, financial institutions, governments
and individuals. Founded in 1869, the firm is headguartered
in Mew York amd maintaing offices in all major hnancial
centers around the world.

The firm manages and reports its activities in the Et:ll.lt:l““tl'lt‘.
thres business sepments:

Global Banking & Markets

The fiem provides a broad ranpe of services 1o a diverse
group of corporations, financial institetions, investment
funds and governmems. Services include steavegic advisory
assignments with respect to mergers and  acquisitions,
divestitures, corporate defense activities, restrocturings and
spincoffs, and equity and debt wnderwriting of public
offerings and private placements. The firm facilitates client
cransactions and makes markers in fixed income, equity,
currency and commedity prodects. In addition, the firm
m:lh:s marlﬂs n :llld ;ir.ars ilmi.lllli.cm:ll i,'li.l.'.lll. lr:lllpu:'lil:m:ﬁ
on major stock, options and futures exchanges worldwide
and provides prime financing (incloding securities lending,
margin lending and swaps), portfolio hinancing asd other
types of equity financing (including secunities-based loans 1o
individuals). The firm also provides lending 1o corporate
clients,  including  through  relationship  lending  and
acquisition  financing, and  secured  lending, through
structured credic and asset-backed lending. In addition, the
firm provides commodity financing te cients through
structured rransactions and alse provides financing through
securities  purchased under agreements to resell (resale
agresments). The firm  also makes equity and  debe
investmenits relaved o Global Banking & Markets activities,

EDINETOOOO
O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)
oOoOooodn

Assat & Wealth Management

The firm manages assets and offers investment products
across all major asset classes to a diverse set of clients, both
institwtional and individuals, including through a network of
third-party distributors around the world, The firm also
provides investing, and wealth advisory solutions, including
fimancial planning and counseling, and execoting brokerape
rransactions for wealth management clients, The firm isoes
loans o wealth managememt clienms and raises deposits
through its consurmer banking digital platform, Marcus by
Coddman Sachs (Marcus), and through its privage bank. The
firm makes equity investments, which include investing
activities related to public and private equity investments in
corporate, real estate and infrastructure assets, as well as
investments through consolidated investment entities (CIEs),
substantially all of which are enpaped in real estare

investment  activigies,

The firm also invests in debt

st riments and CNgages mn |rn:|i.|:|r. activities o middle-
market cliencs, and provides financing for real estate and

other assers.

Platform Solutions
The firm

credit

cards  through  parenership

arrangements, raises deposits from Apple Card customers
amd provides transaction banking and other services, such as

deposit-taking,

soluions  and  other cash

management services, for corporate and institutional clients,
See Note @ for information about the General Motors (GM)
credit card program and the firm®s seller financing loans.

489/617
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 2.
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial scatements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepred in
the United Stares (U5, GAAP) and include the accounts of
Group Inc, and all cther entities in which the firm has a
comeolling financial interest. Inercompany rransactions and
balances have been eliminaved.

Al references to 2024, 2023 and 3022 refer to the firm's years
ended, or the dates, as the context requires, December 31,
2024, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
rﬁpl:n:_'l.i\':-l}'. .ﬁn}' reference 1o a future year relers 1o a year
ending on December 31 of that year. Certain reclassifications
have been made 1o previously reported amounts o conform
1o the current presentation.

13 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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MNote 3.
Significant Accounting Policies

The firm®s significant accounting policies include when and
how ro measure the fair value of asss and labilivies,
measuring, the allowance for ceedit losses on loans and
lending, commitments accounted for at amortized cost, and
when 1o consolidate an entity. See Note 4 for policies on fair
value measurements, Note 9 for policies on the allowance for
credit losses, and l:n;-]:::lw and MNote 17 far |:u:ﬂ:in:'ivr:s an
consolidation accounting, All other significant accouming
policies are cither described below or included in the
following footnotes:

Fair Value Measurements Note 4
Fair Value Hierarchy Note 5
Trading Asseis and Liabilities Note &
Derivatives and Hedging, Activities MNeote 7
Imvestments Note §
Loans More 9
Fair Value Oprion Mote 10
Collateralized Agreements and Financings Mate 11
Other Assets Note 12
Deposits Mote 13
Unsecured Borrowings MNore 14
Other Liabilities Mote 15
Secuntization Activities Mote 16
Variable Interest Entities Maote 17
Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees Mote 13
Sharcholders” Equity Note 19
Regulation and Capital Adequacy Mote 20
Eaenings Per Commaon Share Mate 21
Transactions with Affiliated Funds Mote 22
Imterest lncome and lnterest Expense Note 23
Imcome Taxes Mote 24
Business Segments Mote 25
Credit Concentrations Mate 26
Lepal Proceedings Note 27
Employes Benefit Plans Mote 23
Employves Incentive Plans Mote 29
Parent Company Mote 30
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidation

The firm consolidaves entities in which the firm has a
contrelling financial interest. The firm determines whether it
has a comrolling financial interest in an emtity by frst
evaluating whether the entity is a voting interest entity or a
variable interest entity (VIE),

WVoting Interest Entities. Vating interest entities are entities
in which (i) the total equity investment at risk is sufficient 1o
enable the entity 1o finance its activities independemly and
(i) the equity holders have the power o direcr the aoivites
of the emity that most significantly impact its economic
performance, the oblipation o absorb the losses of the entity
and the right to receive the residual returns of the entity, The
usnal condition for a contralling Bnancial interest in a voting
interest entity is ownership of 3 majority voting interest, 1f
the firm has a controlling majority voting, interest in a voting
incerest enity, the entity is consolidaved.

Variable Interest Entities. A VIE is an entity that lacks one
or more of the characteristics of a voting interest entity. The
firm has a controlling, financial interess in a VIE when the
firm has a variable imterest or imerests that provide it with (i)
the power 1o direct the acrivities of the VIE thar most
significantly impact the VIE® economic performance and (i)
the obligation o absorb losses of the VIE or the right 1o
receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be
significant to the VIE, See Mote 17 for further informaticn
about VIEs.

Equity-Method Investments. W hen the firm does not have
a controlling financial interest in an entity bur can exen
sipnificant influsnce over the entity’s operating and hinancial
policies, the investment is generally accounted for at fair
value by electing the fair value option available under LS.
GAAP. Significant influence generally exists when the firm
owns X% o 50% ol the ﬂlﬂil}"’:.- common stock or n-
substance common stock.

In certain cases, the firm applies the equity method of
accounting (o new investments that are strategic in nature or
closely related to the firm's principal business activities,
when the firm has a significant degree of invelvement in the
cash Mlows or operations of the inveses or when cost-benefit
considerations are less significant, See Note 8 for further
information abour equity-method investments.
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Invastment Funds. The firm has formed investment funds
with third-party  investors. These funds are  typically
organized as limited pannerships or  limited  liabilicy
mln]:l:nirs !rur whirh l|bc Firm acts as g:g:lwr;l pzrhx‘r O
manager, Generally, the firm does not hold a majority of the
economic interests in these funds. These funds are vsually
voting, interest entities and generally are not consolidated
because third-pany  investors typically  have rights 1o
terminate the funds or to remove the firm as general partner

Or  IMianageEr.

Invessments in these funds are generally

measwred ar net asset value [(NAY) and are included in
investments. See Notes 8, 18 and 22 for further information

abowr investments in funds.

Use of Estimates

Preparation of these consolidated financial  statements

FEGUITES  Management

0 make cemain estimates  and

assimprions, the most important of which relate 1o faie value
measurements, the allowance for credit losses on loans and
lending commitments accounted for at amortized cost,
accounting, for goodwill and identifiable intangible assets,
provisions for losses that may arise from litgaton and

repulatory

{including governmental

investigations), and accounting for income taxes. These
estimates and ::ﬂnmlsli::-ns are based on the best available
information, bur actual resulis could be marerially different.

Revenue Recognition

Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value. Trading
assets and liabilities and certain investments are carried at
fair value either under the fair valwe option or in accordance
with other U5, GAAP. In addition, the firm has elecred 1o
aceount for certain of its loans and other financial assets and
liabilities ac fair value by electing the fair value oprion. The
fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would
be received to sell an asser or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market pamicipants at the
measurement date, Financial assets are marked to bid prices
amd financial liabilities are marked 1o offer prices. Fair value
measurements do not include transaction costs. Fair value
gains or losses are generally included in market making or
other principal transactions, Sce MNote 4 for further
information about fair value measurements,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue from Contracts with Clients. The firm
recognizes revenue earned from contracts with cliems for
services,  such as Investment h'.lllkillf;, vestent
mamagement, and execution and clearing (comtracts with
clients), when the performance obligations related o the
underlying tramsaction are completed.

Revenues  from  contracts  with  clients  represent
approximately 45% of otal non-interest revenues for both
224 and 2023 (including approximately 85% of investment
banking revenues, approximately 95% of investment
management revenues and all commissions and fees), and
approximately 50% of total non-interest revenuves for 2022
lincleding  approsimately 85%  of jnvestment  banking
revenues, approximately 95% of investment management
revenues and all commissions and fees). See Note 25 for
information abour net revenues by business sepment.

Invastmant Banking

Advisory. Fees from [inancial adviscry assignments are
recognized in revenwes when the services related 1o the
undeelying transaction are completed under the teems of the
assignment.  Non-refundable  deposits  and  milestone
payments in connection with financial advisory assignments
are recognized in revenues wpon completion of ihe

underlying transaction or when the asignment is otherwise
concluded.

Expenses associated with financial advisory assignments are
recognized when incurred and are included in transaction
based expenses. Client reimbursements for such expenses ane
included in investment banking revenues,

Underwriting. Fees from underwriting assignments are
recognized in revenues upon completion of the underlying
transaction based on the terms of the assignment.

Expenses associated with underwriting assignmemis are
generally deferred until the related revenue is recognized or
the assignment is otherwise concluded. Such expensss are
included in transaction based expenses for completed
ASSHEMEents.

138 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Investment Management

The firm earns management fees and incentive fees for
investment management services, which are included in
investment management revenues, The firm makes payments
to brokers and advisors related 1o the placement of the firm’s
investment funds [distriburion fees), which are included in
transaction based expenses

Management Fees. Management fees for mutual funds are
calculated as a percentage of daily NAV and are received
monthly. Management fess for hedge funds are calculated as
a percemage of month-end NAV and are generally received
quarterly. Management fees for separarely managed accounts
are calculated as a percentage of either the daily or monthly
NAV amd are received quarterly, Management fees for
private equity funds are caleulated as a percentage of
momthly invested capital or commined capital and are
generally  received quarterly, semi-annually or  annually,
depending on the fund. Management fees are recognized over
time in the period the services are provided.

Distribution fees paid by the fiem are calculated based on
either a percentage of the management fee, the investment
fund’s NAV or the committed capital, Such fees are includad
in cransacrion based expenses.

Incentive Fees. Incentive fees are caloulated as a percentage
of a fund’s or separately managed accoumt™s recurm, or excess
returm above a specified benchmark or octher performance
target. Incentive fees are penerally based on investment
performance over a twelve-month period or over the life of a
fund. Fees that are based on performance over a twelve-
momth period are subject o adjustment prior 1o the end of
the measurement period. For fees that are based on
investment performance over the life of the fund, future
investment underperformance may require fees previously

distributed to the firm to be returned to the fund.

Incentive fees earned from a fund or separately managed
account are recopnized when it iz probable thar a significant
reversal of such fees will not occur, which is generally when
such fees are no longer subject o Muctoations in the marker
value of imvestments held by the fund or separately managed
account. Therefore, incentive fees recopnized during the
pericd may relate to performance obligations satisfied in
previous perieds,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Commissions and Fees

The firm carns substantially all commissions and fees from
executing, and clearing client transactions on stock, options
and futures markets, as well as over-the-counter [OTC)
transactions. Commissions and fees are recopnized on the
day the rrade is execured, The firm also provides third-party
research services to clients in connection with certain sofi-
dollar arrangemenis. Third-pariy research costs incurred by
the firm in connection with such arrangements are presented
net within commissions and lees.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations are services thar the fiem
has committed to perform in the future in connection with its
comracts with clients. The firm's remaining performance
oblipations are generally related o its fimancial advisory
ASSIEAMents and certain investment mamagement activities,
Bevenues associated with remaining performance obligations
relating te financial advisory assignments cannot be
determined until the outcome of the wransaction. For the
firm's investment management activities, where fees are
caleulared hﬂsrd on the MNAV uf the f1:|m.‘| or :a-.paratr]}-
mamaged account, fuore revemues associated with such
LT ETH T |s-crfu|'||‘|:.uln:'\n ul‘:lir;.'lliullt cannot be determined as
such fees are subject to flucruations in the market value of
investments held by the fund or separately managed account,

The firm i able 1o determine the [uture revenues associated
with managememt fees calculated based on committed
capital. As of December 2024, substantially all future net
revenues associated  with such  remaining  performance
obligations  will be recognized through 2033, Annual
revenues associated with such  performance obligations
averape less than 5300 million through 2033,

Transfers of Financial Assets

Transters of financial assets are accounted for as sales when
the firm has relinguished contral over the assers transferred.
For transters of linancial assets accounted for as sales, any
pains or losses are recognized in net revenues, Assets or
liabilities thar arise from the firm"s continuing involvement
with transferred financial assets are initially recognized at
fair valwe. For transfers of fnancial assers that are not
accounted for as sales, the assets are generally included in
trading assets and the transfer @5 accounted for as a
callateralized financing, with the related imerest expense
recognized over the life of the transaction. See Mote 11 for
further information abour cransfers of financial assers
accounted for as collateralized fimancings and Note 16 for
further information abour transfers of financial assers
accounted for as sales,
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Cazh and Cash Equivalents

The firm defines cash equivalents as highly liquid overnight
deposits held in the ordinary course of business. Cash and
cash equivalents included cash and due from banks of $5.36
billicn as of December 2024 and 57.93 billion as of December
2023, Cash and cash equivalents alse included interest
bearing deposits with banks of 517673 billion as of
December 2024 and $233.65 billion as of Decernber 2023,

The firm seprepates cash for repulatory and cther purposes
relaced 1o cliem activiy. Cash and cash  equivalents
sepregated for regulatory and other purposes were 514,84
billion as of December 2024 and S317.08 billion as of
December 2023, In addition, the finm segregates securities for
regulatary and other purposes related o client acrivity. See
Note 11 for furcher information abour segregated securigies.

Customer and Other Receivablas

Customer and other receivables included receivables from
customers  and J.'wlnl:nrpariic:.' af S92 8% I'ti]]i.rm a% af
December 2024 and 390,16 billion as of December 2023, and
receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
of 540.84 billion as of December 2024 and $42.33 billion as of
December 2023, Such receivables primarily consist of
custamer margin loans, collateral posted in cannection with
certain derivative rransactions, and receivables resulting from

unsettled tranmictions.

Substantially all of these receivables are accounted for ar
amortized cost net of any allowance for credic losses, which
generally approximates fair value, As thess receivables are
not accounted for ar fair value, they are not incleded in the
firm's fair value hierarchy in Notes 4 and 5. Had these
receivables been included in the firm’s fair value hierarchy,
substantially all would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2024 and December 2023, See Mote 10 for
further information abowt customer and other receivables
accounted for at fair valee under the fair value option,
Interess on custormer and other receivables is recopnized over
the life of the transaction and included in interest income,

Customer and other receivables includes receivables from
contracts with clients and contract assets. Contract assets
represent the firm's right to receive consideration for services
provided in connection with its comtracts with clients for
which collection is conditional and not merely subject to the
passage of time, The firm's receivables from contracts with
clients were $4.08 billion as of December 2024 and 53.59
billion as of December 2023, As of both December 2024 and

December 2023, contract assets were not material.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Customer and Other Payablas

Customer and other payables included payables o customers
and coumerparties of $217.15 billion as of December 2024
and §2120,71 billion as of December 3023, and payables to
brokers, dealers and clearing orpanizations of $6.11 billion as
of December 2024 and $10.02 billion as of December 2023,
Such !J.i-l}':ll‘.'lﬂs primarily consist af costomer eredit balances
related to the firm's prime brokerage activities. Customer
and ather payables are accounted for ar cost plus accrued
incerest, which generally approximares fair value. As these
payables are not accounted for at fair value, they are not
included in the firm®s fair value hierarchy in Notes 4 and 3,
Had these pavables been included in the firm's fair valee
hierarchy, :.1||,"Ma.n|:ia||}' all would have been classified in level
2 az of both December 2024 and December 2023, Interest on
customer and other pavables is recognized over the life of the
vransaction and included in interest expense.

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

To reduce credit exposures on derivatives and securities
financing transactions, the firm may enter into master netting
agresments or similar arcangements I:m“-cﬂ:i'r{-]y, n-ﬂl.l'tnr_
apreements) with counterparties that permit it 1o offss
receivables and pavables with such counterpartics. A nemting
agreement is a conteact with a counterpany that permits net
seitlement of multiple transactions with that counterparty,
including uwpon the exercise of rermination rights by a mon-
defaulting pamy. Upon exercise of such termination righs,
all wransactions governed by the netting agreement are
terminated and a net sewlement amount is caloulated. In
addition, the firm receives and posts cash and securities
callateral with respect to its derivatives and  securities
financing transactions, subject to the terms of the related
credit  support  agreememts  or  similar  arrangements
[collectively, credin support apgreements). An enforceable
credit support agreement grants the non-defalting party
exercising termination rights the right o ligouidate the
collateral and apply the proceeds to any amounts owed. In
order 1o assess enforceability of the fiem's right of se1oll
under meting, and credic suppon agreements, the firm
evaluates various factors, including applicable bankruptcy
laws, local staoures and  repulatory  provisions in the
jurisdiction of the parties to the agree ment.

140 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Derivarives are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis [ie.,
the net payable or receivable for derivative assets and
|i;|l‘ri|il:irs for a f;i'rrn \'.'\IIIIJIIII:'FP’.II.'I.}'] m the n:'::-ns::llin:l:llnd
balance sheets when a legal right of setoff exists under an
enforceable netring apreement, Resale agreements  and
securities sald under apreements o repurchase [repurchase
agreements) and securities borrowed and boaned transactions
with the same settlement date are presented on a net-by-
counterparty basis in the consolidaved balance sheets when
sich transactions meet certain settlement crteria and are
subject 1o neming agreements,

In the consolidated balance sheets, derivatives are reported
net of cash collateral received and posted under enforceable
credit support  agreements, when transacted wnder an
enfarceable netting, agreement. In the consalidated balance
sheets, resale and repurchase agreemems, and securities
borrowed and loaned, are not reported net of the related cash
amd securities received or posted as collateral. See Note 11 for
further information abour collateral received and pladped,
mcluding nghts to deliver or repledge collateral, See Notes 7
and 11 for further information abour offsetting assets and
liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in non-UL.S, currencies are
rranshated at raves of exchange peevailing on the date of the
consalidated balance sheets and revenues and expenses are
rranskited ar average rates of exchange for the period.
Foreign  currency  remeasurement  gains or  losses  on
transactions in nonfunctional currencies are recognized in
earnings. Gains or losses on ceanslation of the financial
statements of a non-US, operation, when the functional
rul'l‘m:l#}- 1% other than the 1.8, u;lu“;lr, are inr1u:|.|.-.|:|, net uf
hedpes and taxes, in the consolidated satemencs  of
comprehensive income.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Recant Accounting Developmants

Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures
[ASC 328). In March 2022, the FASB isued ASU MNa.
2022-02, “Financial Instruments — Credit Losses [ Topic 326)
— Troubled Debr Restrucrurings and Vintage Disclosures.”
This ASU eliminates the recopnition and  measurement
guidance for troubled debt restructurings and  requires
enhanced disclosures about loan modifications for borrowers
experiencing financial difficulty, This ASU also requires
enhanced disclosiare for loans that have been :'h:lrf.ﬂl ol
This ASU became effective for the firm in Janwary 2023
under a prospective approach. Adoption of this ASU did not
have a marerial impact on the firm’s consolidated hinancial
statements,

Fair Valua Measurement of Equity Securities Subject
toe Contractual Sale Restrictions [ASC 820). In June
2022, the FASE issued ASU No, H21L03, "Fair Value
Measurement of Equity Securities Subjeat to Comractual Sake
Resrictions.” This ASU  clarifies that a  contractual
restriction on the wle of an equity security should not be
considered in measwring its fair value, In addition, the ASL
cequires specific disclosures relared 1o equity securities that
are subject 1o contractual sale restricrions. This ASL became
effective for the firm in Janvary 2024 under a prospective
approach. Adoption of this ASU did not have a marterial
impact on the firm's consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Investments in Tax Credit Structures
Using the Proportional Amortization Method (ASC
323). In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 202302,
“Investments — Equity Method and Joim Vemtures (Top:
323) — Accounting for Invest ments in Tax Credit Structures
Using, the Proportional Amortization Method,” This ASU
expands the propomional amorization methed election
currently associated with low-income housing, tax credits o
other qualifving tax credits and requires incremental
disclosures for programs in which the proportional
amortization method is elected, This ASU became effective
for the fiem in J:anll.arr 2024 under a modified L‘\c!rusp-e::'li't'c
approach, Adoption of this ASU did not have a material
impact on the firm's consolidated financial statements.
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Improvemants to Reportable Segment Disclosures
(ASC 280). In Movember 2023, the FASE issued ASU Mo,
202307, “Improvements  to Reportable  Segment
Disclosures.™ This ASU  requires enhanced  disclosures
primarily about siﬂliﬁ;:nl. sgment  expenses that are
regularly provided ro the chief operating decision maker.
This ASU became effective for the firm for annual periods
beginning, in Januvary 2024, and is effective for interim
pericds beginning in January 2025 under a rerrospective
approach,  Since  this  ASU  anly  requires  additional
disclosures, adoption of this ASU did not have an impact on
the firm's financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows. See Note 235 for further information.

Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (ASC 740).
In December 2023, the FASBE issued ASU Mo, N023-09,
“Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.™ This ASU
requires incremental disclosures primarily related 1o the
reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effectve
income tax rare, as well as income raxes paid. This ASU is
elfective for the lirm for annoal periods beginning in January
2025 under a prospective approach with the option to apply
it retrospectively, Since this ASU only requires additional
disclosures, adoption of this ASU will net have an impact on
the firm's financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses [ASC
220). In Movember 2024, the FASE issuad ASU No. 202403,
“Disappgregation of Income Statement Expenses.” This ASU
requires additional disapgregation of certain expenses within
the footnotes to the Binancial satements. This ASU s
effective for the firm for annual periods beginning in January
2027, and imterim periods beginning in January 2028 under a
prospective approach. Early adoption and  retrospective
application is permitted, Since this ASU only requires
additional disclosures, adoption of this ASL will not have an
impact on the firm®s financial condition, results of operations
or cash Mlows.

Goidman Sachs 2004 Form 10K 141
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 4.
Fair Valuae Measuremeants

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that
would be received to sell an asset or paid o transfer a
liability in am  orderly  reansaction  berween  marker
participants at the measurement date, Financial assets are
marked o bid prices and linancial liabilities are marked 1o
offer prices. Fair value measurements do not  include
tmllm!iun Cost %, T]u- firm measiures vl;rrlain ﬁl:l:llwi:ll Assels
and liabilities as a portfolio (i.c., based on its et exposure 1o
market and’or credit risks).

The best evidence of Fair value is a quoted price in an active
market. If quoted prices in active markets are not available,
Fair valuwe s determined h:r reference ta prices for samilar
instruments, quoted prices or recent transactions in less
active markets, or internally developed models chat primarily
use market-based or independently sourced inpurs, including,
bur not limited vo, interest rates, volarilities, equity or delbe
prices, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, credit
spreads and funding spreads lie., the spread or difference
between the interest rave at which a borrower could finance a
given financial instrument relative to a benchmark imerest
rate].

1.5, GAATP has a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of lair
value measurements. This hierarchy prioritizes inputs 1o the
valuation techniques used to measure fair value, giving the
highest prioeiy o level 1 inputs and the lowest priceity 1o
level 3 inpurs. A financial instrument’s level in this hierarchy
is based on the bowest level of input that is significant 1o its
fair value measurement. In evaluating the significance of a
valuation input, the firm considers, among other factors, a
portfolio®s net risk exposure 1o that input. The fair value
hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets to which the firm had access ar the measurement
dare for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities,

Level 2. Inputs to valuation technigues are abservable, either
directly or indirectly.

Leval 2. One or more inpuis to valuation techniques are
significant and unchservable,

The fair values for substantially all of the Gem®s Boancial
assets and liabilitics are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the Fair value
hierarchy, Certain level 2 and level 3 financial assets and
liabilities may require valuation adjustments that a market
parmticipant would require to arrive at fair value for factors,
such as counterparty and the firm"s crediv quality, funding
risk, transfer restrictions, hguidity and bidfoffer spreads
Valwation adjustments are generally based on market
evidence,

142 Goidman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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The table below presents financial assets and liabilities

carried at fair value,

£ in milions

A of Deoember
2004 2003

Toasl level 1 firancial pesets
Tonl kv 2 Tirancisl sasets
Todn leve| 3 firancipl pssets

% 430208 § 11258
497 574 519,130
20358 25,100

Imvesirnents i lunds o1 KAy 2547 3000
Countamaity ond cah colaniral Pemine (49,048} 151,134
Total finencial sssets at falr value Gali7 £ b

lo3nl psels

675,872 £ 1040 Lad

Tatal kevel 3 finsncial sesets divided by

Tosl pssets
Total {inancnl assets ot foir value

1% 1.5%
2% 0%

Todnl vl 1 francipl liskeites
Tosnl k| 2 firancipl lalities

§ 100350 & 125715
B340 LN

Todal kel 3 firancisl lakities e al T
Coinpemparmy and cimh collamnal reming ; 14, 135
Tl firar sl lisbilithes St lnir v lus i) b
Todnl lisbil it 51,553,006 50 504 dEs
Total kevel 3 tinsncial Hablities divided by
Total ksbifioes 1% 1.9%
Total financial kebiities ot inir valse 2T 4.54%

In the table above:

® Counterparty netting among, positions classified in the
same level is included in thae level.

* Counterparty and cash collateral meming represents the
impact on derivatives of netting across levels,

The table below presents a summary of level 3 financial

assels,
Az of Dicnmipes

P ki i
Trading aste1s:

Traading cash insirurments 5 13 s 1w

Chestivatroiee 4926 561
Imveatmants 14,942 17,158
Loans =5k B3
Lo p5508S 184 187
Joul $ Zoase s Joi

Level 3 financial assets as of December 1024 decreased
compared with December 2023, primarly reflecting a
decrease in level 3 investments, See Mote § for further

information

-

3 financial assets (including

information about unrealized gains and losses related 1o level
3 Flna ncial assers and lr:ln::rvcrs inta and out af level .§:|.

496/617



THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIOARIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The valoarion techniques and natoee of sipnificant inputs
used 1o determine the fair value of the firm's linancial
instruments are described below. See Mote 5 for further
information abour significant unobservable inputs vsed 1o
value level 3 financial instruments.

Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs for
Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans
Level 1. level | instruments include US. povernment
obligations, mos non-US. povernment obligmions, cemain
;iarm;:r ul‘ll!iﬁ,ul"ums, certain 4.'-::|rpnra!c' qlrl'!! !.IIE'fI'IIHIL'J!Il..S.,
certain money marker instruments and actively rraded listed
equities. These instruments are valued wsing quoted prices for
identical unrestricted instruments in active markers. The firm
defines active markets for equity instruments based on the
average daily trading volume both in absolute terms and
relative 1o the marker capitalization for the instrument. The
Eirrn drnnr:u achive J:rt:u'l!rt:.- f11r tti'bsl ins!rulhcnls b:mﬂ n
bath the average daily trading volume and the nomber of
days with trading activity.

Level 2. Level 2 instrumentss include certain non-ULS,
government  obligations, most agency obligations, most
mongage-backed loans and securitics, most corporate debt
instruments, mose state and municipal ablipations, maos
money market instroments, most ocher debt obligations,
restricted or less iguid listed equities, certain private equitics,
commodities and certain lending commitments.

Valuaticns of level 2 instruments can be veriflied to quoted
prices, recemt tradinpg activity for idenmical or similar
inscruments, broker or dealer quotations or  alternative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price trandparency.
Consideration is given 1o the nature of the quotations (e,
indicative or executable} and the relaionship of recent
market activity to the prices provided from alternative
Pricing sources,

Valuation adjustments are aypically made 1o level 2
instrugnents (i} if the instroment is subject o transfer
restrictions andor (i) for other premivms and liquidity
discounts thar a market participant would require to arrive a0
fair value. Valiation adjustments are penecally based on
market evidence.

Level 3. Level 3 instruments have one ar more signilicant
valuation inputs that are not observable, Absent evidence 1o
the comtrary, level 3 instruments are instially valued at
rransacrion price, which is considered 1o be the best iminal
estimate of fair value, Subsequently, the firm uses other
methodologies 1o determine fair value, which vary based on
the type of instrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are
champed when corroborated by substantive observable
evidence, including values realized on sales.

EDINETOOOO
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Valuation rechniques of level 3 instruments wary by
instrument, but are generally based on discounted cash Mow
tm‘hnir.lun:. The wvaluation I!l.-.rhnir.lm-.s- ,'lrld the nature al
significant inputs used o determine cthe fair valoes of each
type of level 3 instrument are described below:

Loans and Securities Backed by Commercial Real

Estate

Loans and securities backed by commercial real estare are
direcily or indirectly collateralized by a single propeny or a
p-tn'an]jn -::||I prni'u-.r[ir.-s, ..'I!'ld m:l}' il'u'1'|.||:|r. tranches :lf 'I.'.'Il'}'i.l'li'_
fevels of subordination. Significant inputs are generally
determined based on relative value analyses and include:

* Market vields implied by rransactions of similar or related
assets andfor current levels and changes in market indices,
such as the CMBX (an index that wracks the performance
of commercial monpgage bonds);

* Transaction prices in both che underlying collateral and
instruments with the same or similar underlying collateral;

A measure of expected furare cash flows in a defauvl

scemario (recovery rates) implied by the value of the
||||.drr1]_.'i|‘|.f_ collateral, which is mainky driven |:|:|.' cureent
performance of the underlying collateral and capiralization
rates. Recovery rates are expressed as a percentage of
noticnal or face value of the instrument and reflect the
benefit of credit enhancements on certain instrurments: and

Timing of expected luture cash flows (duration) which, in

certain cases, may incorporate the impact of any loan

forbearances
prepayment spoeeds).

and other uncbservable inputs  {e.g.,.

Loans and Securities Backed by Residential Real

Estate

Loans and securitics backed by residemial real estate are
directly or indirectly collateralized by portfalios of residential
real estare and may include reanches of varying levels of
subordination. Significant inpus are generally determined

based on

analyses, which incorporae

comparisens (o instruments with similar collareral and risk
profiles, Significant inputs include:

* Marker yields implied by rransactions of similar or relared

assets;

* Transaction prices in both the underlying collateral and
instewments with the same or amilar underlving collateral,

and

* Draticon, driven h"."' H:Ilt{l:‘l.‘l.fi-ﬁﬁ lesan prepayinen .\qimh
and residential property liquidation timelines,
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Corporate Debt [nstruments

Corporate debt instruments includes corporate loans, debe
securities and convertible debentures. Significant inpuwts for
corparate debt instruments are geneeally determined based
on relative value analyses, which incorperate comparnisons
hath to prices of credit default swaps that reference the same
or similar underlying insrument or entity and 1o other debe
instruments for the same or similar issuer for which
observable prices or broker quotations are  available.
Significant inputs include:

* Market yields implied by transactions of similar or related
assets andlor current levels and trends of marker indices,
such as the CDX {an index that tracks the performance of
corporate credit) ;

* Current performance and recovery assumptions and, where
the firm uses credit default swaps to value the related
instrument, the cost of barrowing the underlying reference
obligation;

* Duration; and

* Marker and transaction multiples for corporate del
instruments with convertibility or participation options.

Equity Securities

Equity securities consists of private equities. Recent third

party completed or pending rransactions (e.p, merger

proposals, debt restructurings, tender offers) are considered
the best evidence for any change in fair valoe. When these are

not available, the following valuation methodologics are
used, as appropriate:

* [ndustry  multiples  (primarily  EBITDA and  revenue
multiples) and public comparables;

* Transactions in similar instruments;

* Discounted cash flow rechniques; and

* Third-party appraisals.

The firm alse considers changes in the outlook for the

relevane industry and financial performance of the issuer as
compared 1w projected  performance.  Significant  inpurs
include:

* Marker and transaction mubiples;
* Discount rates and capitalizacion ravess and

* For equity securities with deba-like features, market yields
implied by rransactions of similar or related assets, current
performance and recovery assumptions, and duracion,

144 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Other Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and
Loans

The significam inputs to the valwation of other teading cash
instruments, investments and loans are generally determined
based on  relative  value analyses, which  incorporate
comparisons both o prices of crediv defaule swaps that
reference the same or similar 1|||drr|3r.i|||5_ INSErument or entity
and 1o other debt inscruments for the same issuer for which
observable prices or broker quotations are  available,
Significant inpurs include:

* Marker viclds implied by transactions of similar or related
assets andlor current levels and trends of market indices;

* Cureent performance and recovery assumprions and, where
the firm uses crediv defaule swaps w value the related
prist riument, the cost 1.:||l l'mrl\vm.\':i:lgr the UII'.‘II:'II':(:I'IE'_ r:-rc-rrllq.v
obligation; and

* Dwration.

Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs for
Derivatives

The firm"s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued usinﬂ
derivative pricing models {e.p., discounted cash flow models,
correlation models and models that incorporate option
pricing methodalopies, sueh as Monte Carle simulations).
Price  transparency of derivatives can  penerally  be
characterized by product type, as described below,

* Interest Rate. In peneral, the key inputs used 1o value
interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most
long-dared comtracts. [nrerest rate swaps and options
denominated in the currencies of leading industrialized
naticns are characterized by high trading volumes and tight
bid/offer spreads. Interest rate derivatives thar reference
indices, such as an inflation index, or the shape of the yvield
curve (g, 10-year swap rate vi. 2-year swap rale] are
more complex, but the key inputs are generally observable,

* Cradit. Price transparency for credit  defaul SWIAPE,
including both single names and baskers of credits, varies
by market and underlying reference entity or obligation.
Credit  defanlt  swaps  that  reference  indices, large
corporares and major sovereipns generally exhibit the most
price transparency. For credit default swaps with other
underliers, price cransparency varies based on credit eming,
the cost of borrowing the underlying reference obligations,
and the availability of the underlying reference abligations
for delivery upon the default of the issuer, Credit defaule
swaps that reference loans, asset-backed securities and
emerging market debr instruments tend 1o have less price
transparency than those that reference corporate bonds In
addition, more complex credit denvatives, such as those
sensitive 1o the correlation between two or more
||||.d|.-r1yinf1 relerence |::|l'iﬂiE:,'.ll:i|::||"|:»r t_rm-l‘a“y have less |:lric'c
LEA NS rency.
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* Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the
exchanpe rates of leading industrialized nations, including
those with |u||5\m' Lenars, sare r_rn:-r.a”].' transparent, The
primary difference between the price transparency of
developed and emerging marker currency derivatives is that
emerging, markets tend 1o be only abservable for contracts
with shorter tenors,

* Commodity. Commodity derivatives include transactions
referenced to encrgy [e.g., oil, natwral gas and electricity),
metals (e, precious and base) and soft commodities (e,
agriculceral). Price teansparency wvaries based on the
underlying commodity, delivery  location, tencr  and
product quality (e.g., diesel fuel compared to unleaded
gasoline). In general, price transparency for commodity
derivatives s greater for contracts with shorer tenors and
comracts that are more closely aligned with major andlor
benchmark commodity indices,

- Equ?t]r. Prace Lransparency fewr ﬂl:!ll.ilr derivatnives vares h}'
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit
the most price reansparency. Equity derivatives penerally
have observable market prices, except for contracts with
long tenors or reference prices that differ significantly from
current market prices. More complex equity derivatives,
such as those sensitive to the carrelation between two or
more  individual  stocks, generally  have less  price
transparency.

Liquidity is essential to the abservability of all product types.
If rransaction velumes decline, previcusly transparent prices
and other inputs may become unobservable, Conversely, even
highly strucrured products may ar vimes have wrading
volumes large enough to provide observability of prices and
other inputs,

Level 1. Level | derivatives include short-term contracts for
futwre delivery of securities when the underlying security is a
level 1 instrament, and exchange-traded deeivatives if they
are actively traded and are valued at cheir quored market

price.

Level 2. Level 2 derivatives include OTC derivatives for
which all significant valuation inpuis are corroborated by
market evidence and exchange-traded denvatives that are not
actively traded andlor that are valued using models that
calibrate to market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives.

The selection of a particular mode]l w value a derivative
depends on the contracoual terms of and specific risks
inherent in the instrument, as well as the availability of
pricing information in the marker. For denivatives thar trade
in liquid markets, model selection does not invelve significant
management judgment because outpurs of models can be
calibrated to market-clearing levels,
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Valuation models require a variety of inpurs, such as
comtractual terms, market prices, vield corves, discount rates
I:illl.']ul;“llz_ thoss drl‘iml from interest rales on r\c:lbﬂrr.a]
received and posted as specitied in credit support agreements
for collateralized derivaives), credit curves, measures of
volatlity,  prepayment  rates, loss  sevesity  eates  and
correlations of such inputs. Significant inputs to the
valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified 1o marker
transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternative
pri:;ini-_ sonrces with r\c:l:u::ln;blc levels ol pr:h;c transparency.
Consideration is given 1o the nature of the quotations (e.g,.,
indicative or execotable) and the relationship of recent
market activity 1o the prices provided from alternative
pricing scurces,

Level 3. level 3 derivatives are valued using, madels which
utilize abservable level 1 andlar level 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs. The sipnificamt unobservable
inputs wsed 1o value the firm®s level 3 derivatives are

described below.

* For kevel 3 interest rate and currency derivatives, significant
unobservable  inputs  include  correlations of  cerain
currencies and interest races (e,g, the correlation between
Euro inflation and Euro interest rates) and specilic interest
rare and corrency volalities.

For level 3 credit derivatives, sipnificant unobservable
inputs include illiquid credin spreads and upfront credi
points, which are unique o specific reference obligations
and reference entities, and recovery rates,

For level 3 commodity derivatives, significant unobservable
inputs include volatilities for options with strike prices that
differ significantly from corrent market prices and prices or
spreads for cermain produces for which the produoc qualicy
or l:lllrﬁ:;al lewcation af the mmmn-dil:y 1% ncst afir_’nrd with
benchmark indices.

For level 3 equity derivatives, significant unobservable
inputs generally include equity volatility inputs for options
that are long-dated andfor have strike prices thay differ
significantly from current market prices. In addition, the
valwation of certain structured trades requires the use of
level 3 correlation inputs, such as the correlation of the
price performance of two or more individual stocks or the
correlation of the price performance for a basker of stocks
to another asset class, such as commoddities,

Goldman Sechs 2024 Form 10K 145
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Subsequem 1o the initial valuation of a level 3 derivarive, the
firm updates the level 1 and level I inputs to reflect
uh!u:'rv: I'lh" ma rkt‘l i.']l.illl.r.l'* .HI'II:I .'-ul}' lﬂll:lillﬁ E‘.ﬂill* .HI'II:I Il:lmﬂ
are classified in level 3 Level 3 inputs are chanped when
corroborated by evidence, such  as  similar  marker
transactions, thied-party pricing services and’or broker or
dealer quotations or other empirical market data, In
circumstances where the fiem cannot verily the model value
by reference vo marker transactions, it is possible thar a
diffrrrlll 1.':|||.|=liu|| r|1|::-d:-| |:'I:!ll.1|n;l l:lr\n:lw.'r a malrri:”].'
different estimate of fair value. See Nowe 5 for further
information about significant uncbservable inputs used in the
valuation of level 3 derivatives.

Valuation Adjustments. Valuation adjustments  are
integral 1o determining the fair valee of derivative pontfolios
and are vsed 1o adjust the mid-marker valuations produced
by derivative pricing models to the exit price valuation, These
adjustments  incorporate  bidioffer spreads, the cost of
liquidity, and credic and funding valuation adjustments,
which account for the credit and lunding risk inherent in the
uncollateralized portion of denvative portfolics. The firm
alse makes funding valuation adjustments to collateralized
derivatives where the terms of the agreement do not permit
the firm to deliver or repledpe collateral received. Market-
based inputs are generally wsed when calibrating valuation
adjustments to marker-clearing levels,

In addition, for derivatives that include significant
unobservable inpws, the firm makes model ar exit price
adjustments 1o account for the valuation uncertaingy present
in the tranzaction,

Valuation Techniques and Significant Inputs for Other
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Valua

In addition o rading cash instruments, derivatives, and
certain investments and loans, the fiem accounts for certain
of its other financial assets and liabilities ac fair value under
the fair value option. Such instruments include repurchase
agreements and subsantially all resale agreements; certain
securities  borrowed  and  loamed  cransactions;  cerain
customer and other receivables, including cermain margin
loans; certain time deposits, including structured certificates
of  deposit, which are hybrid financial  instruments;
substantially all other secured  financings,  including
structured financing arrangements and transfers of assets
accoumed [or as ‘iJJ:IIK'.II:Ir_'!;, certain unsecured shorr- and
lomg-rerm borrowings, substancially all of which are hybrid
financial instruments; and certain other assets and liabilivies.
These instruments are generally valued based on discounted
cash  Now techmiques, which  incorporate  inputs  with
reasonable levels of price rransparency, and are geneeally
classified in level 2 because the inputs are observable.
Valuation adjustments may be made for liguidity and for
counterparty and the firm's credic quality, The sigmificant

in|:luls mﬂ;l (15 1.'=||m-. l|'|vn fiu:n.'s nlhe'r ﬁ:ll:lll.c'i.:-ll assel s :lnd

liabilities are described below.

148  Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Reszale and Repurchase Agreemaents and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. The significant inputs 1o the
valuation of resale and repurchase apreements and securities
borrowed and loaned are funding spreads, the amoont and
timing of expected future cash flows and interess rates.

Customer and Other Receivables. The significant inputs
to the valuation of receivables are interest rates, the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows and funding
spreads,

Daposits. The significant inputs 1o the valuation of time
deposits are interest rates and the amount and timing of
future cash Mows. The inputs used to value the embeddad
derivative component of hybrid financial instruments are
consisent with the inputs used to value the firm's ocher
derivative instruments described above. See Note 7 for
further information abow derivatives and Mote 13 for further
informaticn about deposits,

Other Secured Financings. The significant inputs 1o the
valwation of cther secured financings are the amount and
timing of expecred fwmure cash Mows, interest raves, funding
spreads and the fair value of the collareral delivered by the
firm [determined vsing the amoum and timing of expected
furure cash flows, market prices, market yields and recovery
assumptions). See Mote 11 for further information about
other secured linancings.

Unsecured Short- and Long-Term Bomowings. The
significant inputs to the valuation of unsecured short- and
long-term borrowings are the amount and timing of expected
future cash flows, interest rates, the credit spreads of the firm
and commedity prices for prepaid commodity transictions.,
The inputs used 1o value the embedded derivarive component
of hybrid financial instruments are consistent with the inputs
used o value the fiem"s other derivative instruments
described above, See MNote 7 for further information about
derivatives and MNote 14 for lusther information about

borrowings.
Other Assets and Liabilities. The signilicant inputs to the

valuation of other assets and labilities are the amoont and
timing of expected future cash flows, interest rates, market
yvields, volatility and cosrelation inputs. The inputs used 1o
value the embedded derivative component of hybrid financial
instruments are consistent with the inputs wsed 1o value the
firm’s other derivative instruments described above. See Note
7 for further informartion abour derivatives,
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Note 5.
Fair Value Hierarchy

Financial assers and liabilities av fair value includes trading
cash instruments, derivatives, and cenain investments, loans
and orher financial assets and liabilites ar faire valoe.

Trading Cash Instruments
Fair Value by Level. The table below presents wrading cash

in:lrulnrllls l;].' '||:-w;=i wilhill !hn:- fair '|.':l|.|.|t- h;nnn:'h}'.

£ i millions Level | Level 7 Lewnl 3 Total
As of December 2024
Assets
Governmunt snd sgincy ohigations:
s, 160,121 § 66,068 § - § 238,008
Mol 5. HAZT  FmOM a1 8,638
Lestifng and Siscaritiog Daciad by:

Commencisl real estate - 1450 2 1488
Rasdental real esiabe = 1384 57 1.4
Coiporate Gelil | reetnuments 172 6,738 ] 47839
Swte and municpal obigation = 5 = o]
Orihee cel obligations 1 2,238 ] 2132
Equity Secufites 141,821 1943 2 145206
Comimagdilies = 108N 12 10,983
Jotal $38547 §166.461 §1713 $57218

Linksilinies
Governmmend and sgency ohigatons:
LIRS &[] § {52} § = & {21,233
MNond) 5, (37,4860  (3,283) (30 {40,752
Lowins aind seournitios bacined by:
Commarncial ronal estals - 132} (1 133
Pasidential real esiate - {&ap - {29
Carporate Selil indinments {76} [Zh785F (62 (ZREE2)
Onhsr cielt obdigations - {72} - [Pl
Euity SeGufit s [41.528} {12} [ (415550
SLommodiies - {24} - f24)
Taotal 1 254 127,
A8 ol Decarber 23
Assols
mpaiNiei B Sincy ShEGaTE:
us. & 85,190 & SBBG2 5 - & 144,052
Mordls, 61,581 25,70 kLl ar,7ra
Loains and securnities bacied by:
Commancial raal astste - 916 4% 5l
Resdenial renl estnte = B 540 =] 5 S
Corporate delit Insinumants 177 arem 1415 HATH
State and municpal obilgations amM M
Onhar deht obiligations o 2 00 ar 2 M5l
Ecpuity siscuit ek 135, 033 1,75 i 138.874
Camirasdities - 5, G40 1 5,641
Tots 5 2H2 60 E142 130 5 1,700 & 426 30
Uiahilithes
Gowpernimem and seancy chEpalo:
us. & (26 400 & s - & 26,432
Mordlls, 150, 525 2,343 - 53,16
LS dingd Sascurilieg backed by:
Commaicial real eamte - @2 = @7
Resdential resl esiate = L] = 2
Corpoite Gelil insinements (1240 1531A oy 155111
Bty SGunit s 3N i L i P
Commodities = i - L
Jotsl S5 E (TAYT E (76 S0143 A1)
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Trading cash instruments consists of instruments held in
comnection  with  the  firm's  marker-making  or sk
management activities. These instruments are carried at fair
value and the related fair waloe pains and losses are
recopnized in the consolidated statements of earnings,

In the table above:

- .r‘ﬂt'.lE- Aare L]ICFWJ:I as Flt”ﬁili.\"\(' amonunts .'-II'II:I .IJH I‘litllli"! are
shown as negative amounts.

* Corporate debr instruments includes corporate loans, debe
securities, convertible  debentures, prepaid  commodity
transactions and transfers of assets accoumed for as
secured loans rather than purchases.

"'ﬂlll-rr n:!d:l 1.1|1|ii-.;||i1.1||5 inn:'h.n;lns |::|l.|||;-r asmt-l;arkﬂ;l
securities and money market instruments.

& Equity securities includes public equities and exchange
traded funds.

Sec Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value

measurement palicies, valuation technigues and significant

inputs used o determine the faie value of weading cash
instruments.

Significant Unobservable Inputs. The rable below
presents the amount of level 3 trading cash instrument assers,

and ranges and weighted avera g;g:':'.nf :ﬂ'f_lliﬁ;ant unohservable
inputs used te value such trading cash instrument assets.

A ol Dacamber 2004 dig ol Dsosimbad 2003

Amoant or  Welghied Amcund of Wasghied
5 a Arulinding Aange  Awsrage Asnge  Awicag
Lowns and securities backed by real estate
Ll 3 aessants ] &5 5 144
Vi T2Rw I N6% 3IE% iR 120%
Recovery rate 233% e 60.2% B00% 3555 A0 e
Dhuration dyesairs) 1.8 80 121 ar 0310153 5.2

Corporate debt Instruments

L] T seasin1s 3 b | 5 1415
Vil I0% W IBE%  130% ZEW od00%n B3%
Recowany rate 8% BR0Y% 536% JEW 0050%  ERA%

Dhasrir e s} 16033 2.3 030113 34
Drther

Lavel 3 assals -4 380 5 ]

¥ 4 wITE%  1B2%  36%313%  1406%
Multiples WA MiA 1t d S 35w
Dhraition fyns) 16w 36 2.4 23106 d.1
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[ the rable above:

* Other includes government and agency obligations, other
debrt abligations, equity securities and commodities.

* Ranges represent the significant unchservable inpurs that

were used in the valuation of each type of trading cash
instruament.

* Weighted averapes are calcolared by weighting each input
by the relative fair value of the trading cash instruments,

* The ranges and weighted averages of these inpurs are not
represepative of the appropriate inputs o use when
calculating the fair valee of any one trading cash
instrument. For example, the highest recovery rae for
corporate debt instruments is appropriate for valuing a
specific corporate debt instrument, bur may not be
appropriate  for  valuing any  other corporate  debt
instrument. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
Fepresent uncerainty in, of possible ranpges of, Fair value
measurements of level 3 trading cash instruments,

Increases in vield or duration wsed in the valuation of level
3 wrading cash instruments would have resuleed in a lower
fair value measurement, while increases in recovery rate or
multiples would have resulted in a higher fair value
measurement as of both December 2024 and December
2023, Due to the distinctive nature of sach level 3 trading
cash instrument, the imerrelationship of inputs is not
necessarnily uniform within each product type,

Trading cash instrurments are valued vsing discoumed cash
flows,

* The significant unchservable inputs for multiples related o
other trading cash instruments as of December 2024 did noc
have a range (and there was no weighted average) as it
related 1o a single position. Therefore, such unobservable
inputs are not included in the table above,

148 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Level 3 Rolforward. The table below presenis a summary
of the changes in fair value for level 3 rrading cash
INSIFUMeEnts.

Vit Encad Decarmbar

£ dlaens x4 Fig]
Assels
Baginning bolarcn & 1M1 &5 1T
Nt roalged painsiiossos) 181 154
Nt Ll iz o0 Qs restosses) T [4+]}
Purchases 612 BF5
Sales PB1E) 1595
Sotthamants [t} (e
Trarsiers i el 3 2x 67
Trarmters out of el 3 (5 L] o ii]
SR bl $ 213 5 179
Uabllithes
Baginning balards 5 T 5 L}
Wil realied paingiooses] 4 3
Kt urvealized gairmliosses) 125] L
Purchases 57 o1
Sales 1431 o
Setthements 1 1
Trarsstars irio lved 3 {8 @
Trarstinrs out of ewel 3 18 ]
oling belence P8 09

In the rable above:

* Changes in fair value are presenved for all trading cash
instruments that are classified in level 3 as of the end of the
peried.

® Net unrealized pains/{losses) relates o wrading  cash
instruments that were still held a |s-|.'::i|:ui-nn|bd.

® Transfers berween levels of the fair value hieearchy are
reported at the beginning of the repoming period in which
Ehr:r e, |.|- a Ifmjillg_f:sh s L el Was 1I".II'IJ’EH1'|‘.! [ £)
level 3 during @ reporting, pericd, its entire gain or loss for
the pericd is classified in level 3.

* For level 3 trading cash instrument assets, increases are
shown as positive amounis, while decreases are shown as
negative amounts. For level 3 wrading cash instrument
liabilities, increases are shown as megative amounts, while
decreases are shown as positive amounts.

# Level 3 wrading  cash  insruments  are  frequently
economically hedped with level 1 and level 2 crading cash
instruments andor level 1, level 2 or level 3 derivatives,
Accordingly, pains or losses thar are classified in level 3 can
be partially offset by gains or losses attributable 1o level 1
or level 2 trading cash instroments andfor level 1, level 2 or
level 3 derivatives. As a result, gains or losses included in
the lewel 3 ml"::rwund below do mot nm\cmril}' represent
the overall impact on the firm’s results of operations,
liquidity or capital resources.
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The rable below presents information, by product tvpe, for
assets included in the summary table above,

Yoa Erded Decambar

£in milons 2024 2093
Loans and securities backed by real estate

Baginning balanon -1 144 & 154
Mot realized poinsflioeses] 12 i}
Met unrealred gansiiosses) (5 R &
P ar 28
Sales 33 =71
SeTtheriels (28 el
Trareatens inke kvl 3 -] 1|
Traresbens out of kel 3 (38 11
Enifing balance 3 BE_% A
Corporate debt Ingtrumenis

Beginning balance 5 1415 & 1A
Mt PediEed g inafloates] a7 58
Net urreslPed GANSOases) z 2]
Prrchisses 253 L)
Sales (388 12
Sadtherneris 2an 111
Trarsiers imdo vl 3 118 L
Trarsiors out of bwed 3 250 128
Ending bala 5 Tem & t4i5
Oher

Bapinning balanon § 2324 2
Mt realized poinsfliosses] B L]
Met urrealived ganafosses) 16 1]
PLrGhirs Firrd 141
Sales [106) 11E1]
Setternesnis 2 Ll
Trarestens indo eval 3 100 ki)
Traratens oul of kel 3 13 A
Enifing balance $ 300 & e

In the table above, other includes government and agency
oblipations, other debr oblipgations, equity securities and
commodities.

Level 3 Reollforward Commentary for the Year Ended
Decembaer 2024, The net realized and unrealized gains on
level 3 reading cash instrument assers of 5168 million
I:n:-fln:'ling 5161 million of net realized gains and 57 million ol
net unecalized gains) for 2024 included gains of 5100 million
reported in market making and 568 million reported in
interest income,

The drivers of net unrealized pains on level 3 reading, cash
instrument assets bor 2024 were not marerial.

Transters into level 3 trading cash instrument assets during
2024 primarily reflecred cransfees of certain corporate debe
instruments and certain other debt obligations (included in
other cash instruments) from level 2 (in each cass, principally
due o reduced price transparency as a result of a lack of
market evidence, including fewer market transactions in these
InsEruments).

EDINETOOOO
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Transfers our of level 3 reading cash instrument assers dusing
2024 primarily reflected transfers of certain corporate debt
instruments o level 2 l:lhril'u;:ilmuy due o increased |:-ric'\¢-
transparency as a resolt of market evidence, including market
transactions in these instruments),

Level 3 Rollferward Commantary for the Year Ended
December 2023. The net realized and wnrealized gains on
level 3 trading cash instrument assets afl 5122 millien
{reflecting, $154 million of net realized gains and 532 millicn
of net unrealized losses) for 2023 incloded gains of
560 million reported in market making and 562 million
reported in interest income,

The drivers of net unrealized losses on level 3 wrading cash
instrument assets for 2023 were not material.

The drivers of transfers into level 3 trading cash instrument
assets during 2023 were not material.

Transfers ot of level 3 rrading cash instrument assers dusing
2023 primarily reflected transfers of certain corporate debt
instruments and other debt obligations {included in other
cash instrumenes) to level 2 {in each case, principally due 1o
increased price transparency as a result of marker evidence,
including market transactions in these instruments),
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Derivativas

Fair Value by Level. The wable below presenes derivarives
on a gross basis by level and product type, as well as the
impact of netting.

In the table above:

* Gross [air values exclude the effects of both coumerparty
newting and collateral newing, and therefore are not
representative of the firm's exposure,

S mlbiond i Lovell o2 Lwveld L * Counterparty nemting is reflected in each level to the extent
Assets thar receivable and payable balances are nerved within the

Interes? rates

& 102 $16860584 & SB0 5 168,735

same level and is included in counterparty netting in levels,

Erﬂd'- - “:j: l:: 111143’? Where the counterparty netting is across levels, the netting
ATRNCS - 14,674 = A '

Corrodilhes T oqim 14p2 1naoe is included in cross-level counterparty netting,

Equitiies 136 Ta.3m T4z =0,1M - w ety - T
T TR T R ) Assets are shown as positive amounts and liabilities are

Coundarpanty nlling in ks = {26} {T60)  (278.065)

shown as I'Itgﬂ[i'ln't Amounes,

Subiteasl S 238 5 S202F % 4120 § 96367 . . .

Croas vl countamarty netting prosi See MNMote 4 I'nrl an overview of lI'!r firm's E.'flr . value
Cash colisternl neting {42,70) measurement policies, valuation techniques and significant
ot Tair vnbug $ 47338 inputs used o derermine the fair valve of derivarives.
Linkilities )
pr——— § (92 S124231 S (892 S(1ESME) Significant Unobservable Inm:lts._ The :ab!r l.x-lw
Crecit - [mosn}  (8F0) (10,0300 presents the amount of level 3 derivative assers {liabilities),
Curaros = M4a4EE (1 (114615 and ranges, averages and medians of signilicam unobservable
Commodilies = {14111} 1) {14,52%) . s " b derivati

Equitiies (B (126,650} {1.848) (128508 inputs u Lo value such derivanyes.

Gross Tnir value [vooy (3mE544]  (4057) (IDEE85) - N

Counsarparty natting in levels - 7218 750 279,965 L. 4 A3 of Dacarnibgt 2033
Subtoanl & (100} {108,378} § (3.307) S(12.730) Ampunt o Beerage *’m:"'ﬂ "-‘:_:"'I_Fﬂf
Creas-knm| courterparty netting w7 o radbirs, amiied gt Range Median Rt kil
Canhy coliatsnl natting e Interest rates, net & 2 ] fan

et falr value $ {74.980) Conrelton [0 to 86% B0%/22% [10M 10 To%  60%MGE%
- Widatlity (hgs) a1 te 107 B3/59 31 1e 10 Sefap
i o Db 2023 ‘Credit, net 5 1218 % 1650

Assets Credil apresds by B e 1,308 13479 Fw .75 L
Irvtinst rates & 15 SAMIBESD § J58 & 32 63 Upliant credt pors [18] to 100 DA e 100 PEI
Credn - bS8 2861 12,85 Regovery mbes 20% 1o P0%  ABNIE0%  20% 15 T0%  ATNM0%
Curenciad - i G 290 9, 50 Curnendes, net [ 47 5 T3
Commedities - 1R 148 6B Comainton 0% 1o BE%  MNWSET%  J0% 0 00%  A1NMIN
Equiies 7 SRR 16 60,068 Vodpbiity 1% 0e 17%  IP%A17%  15% 0 6% IEN/E%N
Gross 1nir valke 1 AR L B v Commodithes, net & 8 g e
Countemparty nefting in levels = 315045 XN 31997 o 1 4 o,
Sebtcaal § 176 97076 § 5161 § 102,054 Velotley 2 ':::: * ‘":;"::3 23’:;“3:" z:n"’w
Cross-bvel counterpary netting 11,411) Naotural pos sprosd e . Ao o
Cash colisbml natting o, T 5376 508} 306 038
He falr iy £ S0 P Si6.42) 10 1.7 ShaMe S153
Uabilities p el 1] Sid.nok £3.68 $19.35
Interesi miss 5 (4 S@1EBE S 0,157 S215072) Elactr - 1091 F52.087 22w L i
Crcit - SR 0310 (10,134) T 84778 G328 SI0EE00 MGG
Cumanciis M A6 eE a7, 60d) Epuities, net 1 11,1081 5 n.arn
Commodities 17,5221 | (1754 Comreiaton [751% 1o 100°%  SE%I/5E% POV 0o 100W  GENTIN
Ecuities 5] (B2l (1867 60,114} Vedusiiy e 100%  IENIIE% 1% e 06N 14%/13%
Groes 16if walue 8 5568 G280 20 BT

Courserpanty nettling in el - 31EM5 9a 319578 bowve:

Subiteasl 5 (19 §F @6519 & ,357) § 000, 6EH In the table a '

gﬁ:"*ﬁ'ﬁﬁ"’“m“‘f netirg 4;'?;-: * Assers are shown as positive amounts and liabilities are

coliateml netting . .
il Tals vedim % 6 7] shown as negative amounts,

150 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K

* Kanges represent the 5if,nifj:'anl unohs=rvable mnputs chat
were used in the valuarion of each type of derivarive.
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* Averapes represent the arithmetic average of the inpurs and
are not weighted by the relative fair value or noticnal
Armarng ﬂ‘ ‘II.I.'. rl'!FK'ﬂ'.'li'l'l' ‘;II.H.I'II:'i.'-I] illﬂ'lll’lll‘]l!s. Arl '.I\'I.'I.'.'-IE;“
greater than the median indicates that the majority of
inputs are below the average. For example, the difference
berween the averape and the median for credit spreads
indicates that the majority of the inputs fall in the lower
end of the pange.

The ranges, averages and medians of these inpues are not
representative of the appropriate inputs 1o use when
calculating the fair value of any ome derivative. For
example, the highest correlation for interest rate derivatives
is appropriate for valuing @ spr.'ri.ni.' interest rate derivative
but may not be appropriave for valuing any other interest
rate derivative. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represent uncertainty in, or possible ranges of, fair value
measurements of level 3 derivatives,

* [nrerest r.al!-rs,t.'urmlu'irs and ﬂ|1lilimﬁ derivatives are valued
using oprion pricing models, credit derivatives are valued
using, option pricing, correlation and discouned cash flow
models, and commodities derivatives are valued using
option pricing and discounted cash flow models,

The Lair value of any one instrument may be determined
using, multiple valuation technigues. For example, aption
pricing models and discounted cash flow models are
typically used rogether 1o determine fair value. Therefore,
the level 3 balance encompasses boch of these rechniques,

Correlation within currencies and equities includes cross-
praduct tvpe correlation.

Martural gas spread represents the spread per million British
thermal units of natural gas.

Oil spread represemis the spread per barrel of oil and
refined products.

# Electricity price represents the price per megawatt hour of
elecrriciry.

Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs. The
following provides information abour the ranpes  of
significant unobservable inputs used 1o value the firm's level
3 derivarive instruments:

* Correlation. Ranges lor correlation cover a variety of
underliers both within one product type [e.g., equity index
and equity single stock names) and across product types
(2. . correlation of an interest rate and a currency), as well
as across regions, Generally, cross product type correlation
inputs are used o value more complex instroments and are
lower than correlation inpurs on assers within the same
derivative product type.
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* Yalatility. Ranges for volatility cover numerous underlicrs
across a variety of markets, maturities and strike prices,
Flir (‘x'.llﬂl:llﬂ., ﬂl]ﬂ:ili!_\’ ll{ ['l.llli" } il'll:lii.ﬂ i! r_:'m'm”]r |1.mt‘r
than volatlity of single s1ocks.

* Cradit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credic poines
amd recovery rates cover a variety of underliers (index and
single names), regions, sectors, maturities and  credit
qualities (high-vield and investment-grade]. The broad
range of this population gives rise to the width of the
ranpes of significant uncbservable inpurs.

* Commodity prices and spreads. [he ranges for
commodity prices and spreads cover variability in
products, maturiies and delivery locarions.

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs, The following is a
description of the directional sensitivity of the firm’s level 3
fair  value measurements to changes in  significant
unobservable inputs, in isolation, as of each period-end:

» Correlation. [n peneral, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlying asset or
index prices (e, imerest rates, crediv spreads, foreign
exchange rates, inflation eates and equity prices), an
increase in correlation resulis in oa higher fair value
measurement,

= Yolatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a higher Fair value measurement.

* Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In peneral, the faie valwe of purchased credit
protection increases as credit spreads or wpfront credi
points increase or recovery rates decrease. Credit spreads,
upfront credic points and recovery rates are strongly related
to distinctive risk factors of the underlying reference
oblipations, which include reference emtity-specific facrors,
such as leverage, volatility and industry, market-based risk
[‘.u'lul'i, such as 'KJI'I'I::-WiIIE;_ Cosls ar ]l'n:luin:lil:.' |::|i the
underlying reference  obligation, and  macroscenomic
conditions,

* Commaodity prices and spreads. In pgeneral, for
contracis where the holder is receiving a commodity, an
increase in the spread (price difference from a benchmark
index due 1o differences in quality or delivery location) or
price results in a higher fair valoe measurement,

Due 1o the distinctive nature of each of the firm®s level 3
derivatives, the interrelationship of inputs is not necessarily
uniform within each produce type.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Level 2 Rollferward. The table below presents a summary
of the changes in fair value for level 3 derivatives.

Year Erded Decsmber

$in millons 2024 2033
Tatal bevel 3 derivatives. net

Besginning balanes § 85 15N
Mt realized o insfliostes) (128 5
Mt urresliped e ioaded) 26 1327
Prchises 480 b}
Saled (&As) 1420
Settlernenits 573 gl
Trarsters indo vl 3 [F-] g
Trarsters out of el 3 (243 9
Emding balance 5 @ & w0

In the table above:

* Changes in fair value are presented for all derivative assers
and liabilities that are classified in level 3 as of the end of

the period.

# MNer unrealized pains/{losses) relates o insteuments chat
were still held at period-end.

* Transfers between levels of the fair value hieearchy are
reponted ar the beginning of the repoming period in which
they oecur, If a derivative was translerred into level 3
during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the
period is classified in level 3,

* Pogitive amounts for transfers into level 3 and negative
amounts for transfers our of level 3 represent net transfers
of derivative assets, Negative amounts for translers into
level 3 and positive amounts for transfers our of level 3
represent net transfers of derivative liabilities,

* A derivative with level 1 and/or level 2 inputs is classified in
level 3 i ics entirety if it has ar least one sipnificant level 3
input,

* [[ there is one significant level 3 input, the entire gain or
loss from adjusting only observable inputs (i.e., level 1 and
level 2 inputs) is <lassified in level 3,

* (ains or losses thar have been classified in level 3 resulting
from changes in level | or level 2 inpurs are frequently
offset by gains or losses attributable to level 1 or level 2
derivatives andior level 1, level 2 and level 3 wrading cash
instruments. As a result, gains/{losses) included in the level
3 rollforward below de not necessarily represent the averall
impact on the firm's resulis of operations, liquidity or
capital resources.

152  Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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The rable below presencs information, by product wype, for
derivatives included in the summary table above,

‘Figdr Ended Decamber

3 i milons FaT] 2093

Interest rates, net

Baginning balanon T k- |
Nt reaload painsiiosses) k3 5

Wit wrwializ o garetosses) (=] 1211}
Purchases 4 B5

Sales 28] 140
ST IS 280 433

Traratars il kel 3 {38 B
Trarmters oul of evel 3 14 i

Ending balance 5 (1A s e
Crodit, net

Baginning balarce § Les0 5 1460

Rt relid gainafiiosses)
N Lenrealiz ed parmiiosses)

.
]
Purchases 5 BB
Sles (4] = 1]
Settmants {354 [
Trarsiars iro gl 3 Fi-] chil
Trarsiors oul of ewel 3 {2} x]
Ending balance 5 1x8 5§ teed
Currencies, net
Baginning balanon 1 42 & i
Wit realzed painsiiosses) [Fa] Bl
Nis Letwrializ o A iosmis) 1 HE2)
Purthiss 44 2
Saleg 19 i1l
Seltkergnts 145] L=
Trarslars i el 3 3 4
Trarsiers oul of Evel 3 ] &3
Ending balsnce s a5 w
Commuaodities, net
Beginning bolance § 62m@ 5 59
Kt reslned ganalioases] 344 113}
BT el T oGl GRS s ses) Ll 1303
Purchases 182 4
Salas {n 1)
Settmepnts 57 (53]
Trarsiors iro owed 3 14 i
Trarsions oulof el 3 163 18
Ending balance $ T s &M
Equities, net
Baginning balaron 5 1,001 & 1561}
it realed gainsoases) 123 7
= I T T T 5 {139 x?
Pufchases 165 gl
Galed {148] 13-4
SElTheTEn s 625 169
Trarestars o kvl 3 (85 (15
Traselers oulof ewvel 3 I2 15
Ending balance s e s (0]
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Leval 3 Reollforward Commantary for the Year Ended
December 2024. The net realized and unrealized losses on
level 3 derivatives of S104 millicn (reflecting 5129 million of
net realized losses and 525 million of net unrealized gains) for
224 included painsf{losses) of $(113) million reported in
market making and 311 million reported in cther principal
Lransactons.,

The net unrealized gains on level 3 derivatives for 2024
primarily reflected gains on certain commodity derivarives
[principally due to the impact of changes in commodity
prices] and gains on certain interest  rate  derivatives
(principally due 1o an increass in interest rates), partially
offser by losses on certain equity derivacives (principally due
to the impact of changes in equity prices).

The drivers of translers imo level 3 derivatives during 2024
ware not material.

TI:IIIS&'FE ol af level 3 denvarives :!tlﬂl:l:lr. M rrn.cﬂrd
transfers of cerain credit derivative assets o level I
(principally due to increased transparency of cortain credit
spread inpurs used e value thess instruments), parially
offser by rransfers of certain commodity derivative liabilities
ta level 2 (principally due to increased transparency of certain
commodity price inputs used to value these instruments).

Level 3 Rollforward Commentary for the Year Ended
2023, The met realized and unrealized losses on level 3
derivatives of 5262 million (reflecting 565 million of net
realized gains and 5327 million of net unrealized losses) for
2023 included losses of 5251 million reported in marker
making and $11 million reported in other  principal
LRANEICTOns

The net unrealized losses on level 3 derivatives for 2023
primarily reflected losses on certain commodity derivarives
(principally due 1o the impact of changes in commodity
prices), losses on cemtain currency derivatives (principally due
to the impact of a decrease in interest rates), parially offser
by gains on certain credit derivatives (principally doe to the
impact of changes in foreign exchange raves and a decrease in
inperest rages).
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Transfers into level 3 derivarives during 2023 primacily
refllected transfers of cenain equity derivative liabilities
fprint'iim“}' due 1o IIH.{II&'I:'(I. lransparency ol certain
unobservable  volatility  inputs  wsed 1w wvalue  these
instruments) and transfers of certain interest rate derivative
liabilities  from  level 2 {primcipally doe o cemain
unobservable volatility inputs becoming significant 1o the
valwation of thess instruments), partially offser by transters
of cemain commoedity  derivative assers from  lewel 2
fprini;ipa“]; dise 1o n.-rl.:j:ll |:|||-::|Iﬂrn':||.1|:- 1.'|::||ali|il:|.' inpul:.'
becoming significant to the valuation of these instrumens),

The drivers of transfers out of level 3 derivatives during 2023
were not material,

Investmants

Fair Value by Lavel. The table below presemis investments
accounted for at fair value by level within the fair value
hierarchy.

5w anllis Layal 1 Ll 2 Leval 3 Tatal

As ol Decombaer 2024
Governmant and pgency oblgatons:

s, ETma0 § -8 = & 410

Nondl 5. 4,048 52 - 4,110
Corporate deb? securitos 157 25259 4510 T8
Sascurities backed by neal esims - T BE2 2]
by Pl iFS nefnesnls B2 1.45% - 1,780
s chob? oblipations x ik ] 403
Equity socurits BT4 333 B2 92847
Suliteital $ 80618 § 7636 § M,42 5102196
Imyistiradnts in funds o1 MAWV 2,547
Tatal investments baliurs
s o D POP3
Giowernmant 6nd sgency sbipatons

us, La8T3 & - % =S4T

Nondl 5. -] 144 - 2543
Corporate b Securitos 16 ] 6,533 Er= 2]
Sescuritios backed by neal esists 2 aar 2]
Moty Farkont iFes afnesnls 52 el - 1,061
Onbist chid? eebliationres ] 14 244 67
Edguity Sedufilies fral 2,058 G612
Subvbatal § 50072 & 5557 § 17,138 § 72,767
Irvestments in furcs a1 NAY 3, 0040
Torapl rvmstrmannis & M T

See Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value
measurement palicies, valuation technigues and significant
inputs used to determine the fair value of investments
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Significant Unobservable Inputs. The table below
presents the amount of level 3 investments, and ranges and
weighted averages of significant unobservable inputs used 1o
'r;llln.-. :il,:u;]l :i:ll'w-:l menks

s of Decambar 2024 Az of Decemiser 2023

Amount or  Weighted Amount or  Waighted
v mdlang Range  Average Range  iverage
Comporate debl ssuritios
Leval 3 asam 5 4,510 % B.530
Vil 0% 1o 28.8% 123% E0% w Il 0E 121
Rgcorery rans 5B e 41.0% IEIWN T Al 2R 27 6%
Dunaneon fyoars) O 150 3.8 (U h an
Mukiples 11K it 34 P BEx 008 oo B3 3 7.7
Seourities backed by real estate
Level 3 assets - B2 - 537
Wield B5% to 16.0% % T4% i 18aR 147%
Dumton fysars) 1N1e 28 8 Ol 1.1 38
Other debt obligations
Level 3 assets - =l ] - a4
Wield T.0% to 1% LT% TE% 038 2E%
Equity sscurities
Leval ¥ aisats % LA H % WhTa
Muliphrs Ll te 32 Ak 05 e 35 2 (%]
Drscount ratey il B.0% 80 27.9% 133% E0% w0 3RGN 123%
Caprairaon A% e 0% S54% 4 5% o305 53%

In the table above:

* Ramges represent the significant unobservable inpurs that
were used in the valuation of each type of investment.

* Weighted averapes are caleulated by weighting each input
by the relative fair value of the invesoment.

* The ranges and weighted averages of these inputs are not
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
calculating the fair valoe of any one investment. For
example, the highest multiple for private equity securities is
appropriate for valuing a specific private equity security
but may not be appropriate for valuing any other private
equity security. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do net
represenl wncerainty in, or possible ranpges of, Fair value
measurements of level 3 investments.,

* Increases in vield, discoumt rave, capitalization rare or
duration used in the valuation of level 3 investments would
have resulted in a lower fair value measurement, while
increases in recovery rate of multiples would have resubed
in a higher fair valoe measorement as of both December
2024 and December 2023, Duse to the distinctive nature of
each level 3 invessmient, the interrelationship of inputs is
not necessarily uniform within each product type.

152 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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* Corporate debt securities, securities backed by real estane
amd other debt chligations are valued using discounted cash
ﬂn::lwx, ::m;l. -m:ilu'I:r securiiies are valwed ||sinr_ rmarket
comparables and discounted cash flows,

* The fair value of any one instrument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used
together 1o determine fair valve. Therefore, the level 3
balance encompasses both of these techniques.

Level 2 Rollforward. The table below presents a summary

of the changes in fair value for level 3 investments.

Yot Ended Decembar

&= millers e Fig]
Beginring balsrce FRRERE - BEARTE
Nl renlged ganslosses] 342 453
Net unrsalized gairafiosses {287 [T
Purchases 1,355 1851
Salos (R L] 11, 1B
Seltemants 2322 10
Trarestars irro bowel 3 953 25918
Trarsiors oul of ewel 3 12,161} 11 16
Ending balance 5 a2 & 1700

In the rable above:

* Changes in fair value are presented for all investments chat
are classified in level 3 as of the end of the period.

* Ner unrealized pains/losses) relates to investments char
were still held at period-end.

* Transfers between levels of the [air value hierarchy are
reported ar the beginning of the reporting, period in which
they occur, If an investment was translerred to Jevel 3
tlllrillt_ El :I1'.'Fl|::||.'|.illﬂ |s-c-::i|:|-|:|, its entire g_;lin or loss for the
pericd is classified in level 3,
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The table below presents intormation, by product tvpe, for
investments i luded in the summary table above,

Yigar Ended Decarmbses

Zin milons 2024 2093
Corporate debt securities
Baginning balanon & 6533 & 000
Mot realized poinsflioeses] im M
Met urreslired ganaifosses) [iaa) i
PG (1] 500
Sales (306} 58
Senthernenis 678 nm
Trarstens i bl T 482 55
Traretens out of kw3 11,3171 i
Emdiing balance $ 4510 5 650
Securitbes backed by real estate
Baginning hidancs $ 687 § v
Mt Pealized @ inaflkades] 52 12
Net urreslPed GANSOEses] {82} 6]
Prrchisses 53 L]
Sales {33 e L]
Settiernents [114] 21
Trarsters inde kvl 3 1 i
Trarsters oul of kvl 3 12 5]
Ending balance $ 5825 G571
Orther debt cbBgations
Beginning balance § 245 54
Mot replied pRinsflosses] 5 L]
Plrghices 1 2
Setthements 3] [k
Trarsiors out of ol 3 {31} -
Snogossnce R T
Equity securities
Baginning balance & 96T & 9SG
Mot realized poinsfliosoes] 106 gr
Mot urrealzed gansosses) {35) 1557
Purchises (3] 1,081
Sakes 5 ]
Sattiermenls (505} 1572
Traresbens ime kel T A 1,602
Traretens out of kw3 11071} 1553
Endiing balance $ 8742 5 9604

Level 3 Rolforward Commentary for the Year Ended
December 2024. The net realized and unrealized gains on
level 3 investments of 535 million (reflecting 5342 million of
net realized pains and 5287 million of ner unrealized losses)
for 2024 included gains/(losses) of 3(224) million reported in
other principal trapsactions and 5279 million reported in
ingerest income,

The net wnrealized losses on level 3 investments for 2024
primarily reflected losses on certain corporate debt securities
(principally due 1o corporate performance amd com pamy-
specilic events),
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Transfers into level 3 investmemts during 203 primacily
reflected transfers of certain equity securities from level 2
I:Fll'il'li.'ipG“}' due o reduced |:lri|:t- IRANSparency as a resule of a
lack of market evidence, including fewer market transactions
in thess instroments) and transfers of certain corporate debt
securities  from  level 2 (principally due o cemain
unobservable vield inputs becoming sipnificant o the
valwation of thess instruments).

Transfers cut of level 3 investments during 2024 primarily
reflected transfers of certain corporate debt securities to level
2 [principally due to certain unchservable yvield inputs no
longer being significant to the valuation of these instruments
and increased price transparency as a result of market
evidence, including market transactions in these instruments)
and transfers of certain COuILY SCUrTS Lo lewel 2 [Fn'i:m.'i|m||}'
due 1o increased price transparency as a result of marker
evidence, including market transactions in these instruments).

Level 2 Rollferward Commentary for the Year Ended
December 2023. The net realized and unrealized losses on
level 3 investments of 5259 million [reflecting 5463 million of
ner realized pains and 5722 million of set uneealized losses)
for 2023 included gains/(losses) of 58200 millien reported in
other prancipal transscrions and 5561 million reporred in
inrerest income,

The net unrealized losses on level 3 investments for 2023
primarily reflecred losses on cemain equity securities and
securities backed by real estate (in cach case, prncipally due
to ongoing weakness in the commercial real estate market),

Transfers into level 3 investmems during 2023 primacily
reflected transfers of certain equity securities and corporate
debt securities from level 2 {in each case, principally due 1o
reduced price transparency as a result of a lack of marker
evidence, im:'h.n;linﬂ !rvnwrr market transactions in these
instruments, amd cemain unchservable vield inputs becoming
significant to the valuation of these instruments),

Transfers out of level 3 investrments durimg, 2023 primarily
reflected rransfers of cemain corporare debt securities to level
I I:|!-ri|1rj]:|.'.|||y due to increased price transparency as a result
of marker evidence, including marker transactions in these
instruments, and cerfain unchservable vield inputs becoming
less significant 1o the valuation of these insruments), and
transfers of certain equity securities 1o level 2 {principally due
to increased price tramsparency as 2 result of market
evidence, including market transactions in these instruments).
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIOWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Loans

Fair Value by Level. The able below presents loans held
for investment accounted for ar fair value under the Eir value
option by level within the fair value hicrarchy.

£ i endlang Lval 1 Ll 2 Lt 3 Tonal
An of December 20249
Loan Type
Cavpsintit 5 -8 B 5 403 5§ 487
el et
Comimerncal = 349 Fi] 424
Resdential - 3684 42 L6
Orihee collataralized - 643 135 83
Orihage = £ ) 60
Total ] =& 47T § 683 § BJ460
s o Decermber 2023
Loan Type
Corpoinie 5 -5 415 & =5 =
Rl ecsrimtie:
Gl - 0 ik ] M
Basdantial - 40847 58 4,140
Orihee collataraliped - TI5 136 1R
Orihaee - 4 [F) 174
M £ - 5 !FE £ EH- 5

The gains/(losses) as a result of changes in the fair valoe of
loans held for investment for which the fair value option was
elected were not material for both 2024 and 2023, These
pains{losses) were included in other principal transactions.

Significant Unobservable Inputs. The table below
presents the amount of level 3 loans, and ranges and weighted

averages of significant unobservable inputs used to value such
loans.

Az ol December 3004 Az of Decembes 2003

Amount or  Weighisd Amount o1 Weighted
& o mallegina Range  Average Range  Awerspe
Corporate
Level 3 pasets & 403 5 4
Yook 116% to 22.4% 75% B0%wITI% 5%
Fecovergtate IT2%oB5E%  T2E%  Z0W 0 ES0%  TADR
Drnatio fypeaes] LT 8.0 07123 1.7
Real estate
Level Fossets 8 my 5 k.
Yol 6.1% to 10.5% BET% LO0%wiA% 18.1%
Raooaang rte 33% to 89.7% T3T% 52 000 0% =
Dhuration tyoars] 42 to 36 0.6 0.5 il 1.6
Orther collateralized
Lanwus| 3 s s -1 156 5 a6
il B.2% 1o 6.0 B.3% SR 10 B.7% 8.1%
Crther
Level 3 pasets & i 5 B2
ikt A MN/A 73% o 1355 B6%
Dhursitic (sars] MIiA MIA A8 w52 4.2
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In the table above:

* Ranges represent the sif,nifi:'a:ll unobservable mnputs chat
were used in the valuation of each type of loan.

* Weighted averages are calculated by weighting cach input
I'.!:.' ll'u.-. n.-.|.ali.u¢ E:l:ir valur ::-Flht- ||::»a.n.

® The ranges and weighted averapes of these inputs are not
represemtative of the appropriate inputs to use when
calculating the fair value of any one loan. For example, the
highest vield for corporate loans is appropriate for valuing
a specific corporate loan but may net be apprapriate for
valuing any other corporate loan, Accordingly, the ranges
of inputs do not represent uncertainty in, or possible ranges
of, Fair value measurements of level 3 loans.

* Increases in vield or duration used in the valuation of level
3 leans would have resulted in a lower fair value
measurement, while increases in recovery rate would have
resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of both
December 2024 and December 2023, Due to the distinotive
nature of each level 3 loan, the interrelationship of inputs is
[ {18 :acn;-mn'l:r ull.ifurm within ﬂarh pr:s{!l,:u.'l I:.'Fu-..

* | oans are valued using discounted cash Nlows.

* The significant unobservable inputs for yvield and duration
{related to other loans) as of December 2024 did nat have a
ranpe [and there was no weiphted average) as each

pertained  to a  single  position.  Therefore, such
unobssrvable inputs are not included in the table above.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Level 2 Rollforward. The rable below presents a summary
of the changes in fair value for level 3 loans.

¥ear Ended Decermbes
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The table below presents information, by loan type, for loans
included in the summary table above,

‘iear Ended Daoarnins!

3 in mifons 2024 203 :‘"""'1"'_“ 2024 2073
Et?nr' ng balances £ 823 £ 1ea7 Hng'nn ng ba 5 PR &7
i risalized ainsliosbes) a3 L] N . N

i 3 . s . et realoasd gainsiiosses) 12 i}
Mt urredlived ganafossed) A i . . 5
Wit wrwializ o garetosses) [28) 124}
PLrChsEs 135 33 B N
wrchasis 127 (L
el Lol S o S 5} 7l
i 2e8) e Seltheints {160} 113}
Trarsters inde bvel 3 124 z .
" o ak & Trasglars i el 3 m 2
Trrsstars ot of kel 3 (a4 L] Tracestars out of kvel 3 - a1
Ealance [3:k] ] - = -
Loding £ £ Ending balance § 4@ s o
In the table above: Aeal extate
Baginning balarce 5§ w1 & S

* Changes in fair value are presented for loans that are

classified in level 3 as of the end of the pericd.

* Net unrealized gains/(losses) relates to loans that were still
held at period-end.

* Purchases includes originations and secondary purchases,

* Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
reported at the beginning of the reporting period in which
they occcur. If a loan was transferred to level 3 duning a
reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the period is
classified in level 3.

N renlnid painailiosses) ! 1

Nl unveslized QA s ses) [rap H2)
Purchases 2 7
S [=2) 73
Settpmaents [a3) 115
Traresinrs out of ewel 3 - )
wblhnu -3 11_'.' 13 il

Other collateralized

Baginning balanon

Nt realaad painsiiossoes) 4 1
Wit vl iz od garetosses) i |
Purchases L] 5
Sl (=]} i}
SElthETEn S [22) ]}
Traresters i vl 3 L] =
Ending balance $ 13 £ 6
Orther

Baginning balanon

Nt realoed painsiiosses)
Nist Letwrializ od gareiosnes)
Purchiss

Sales

Saiftlemapnts

Trarsiors oulof el 3

Lnding balance

-1 w2 L M

] 4
1] E
= 1
{1 2
[ (1R}
[44) i
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Leval 3 Reollforward Commantary for the Year Ended
December 2024. The net realized and unrealized losses on
level 3 loans of 58 million (reflecting 533 million of net
realized gains and $41 million of net unrealized losses) for
2024 included gaina/(losses) of $(13) million reported in cther
principal transactions and 3% million reported in interest
income.

The drivers of the net unrealized losses on level 3 loans for
2024 were not material.

Transters into level 3 loans during 2024 primarily reflecied
transters of certain corporate loans from level 2 {principally
due 1o reduced price transparency as a result of a lack of
market evidence, including fewer market transactions in these
InSEruments).

The drivers of the transfers our of level 3 loans during, 2024
were not maverial.

Level 3 Roliforward Commentary for the Year Ended
Dacembaer 2023, The net realized and wnrealized losses on
level 3 loans of 5143 million {reflecting 526 million of net
realized gains and 5169 million of net unrealized losses) for
123 ncloded E'.Ril“i"l:ll::-m‘x:l of SI:IEI:I millscn r\t'i:lm'lm! i
other principal transactions and 39 million repored in
interest income,

The net unrealized losses on level 3 loans for 2023 pricarily
reflecied losses on corporate loans (principally due 1w
campany-specilic events).

The drivers of both teansfers into and reansfers our of level 3
loams during 2023 were not material.

158 Goldman Sechs 2024 Form 104
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Other Financial Assets and Liabilities
Fair Value by Level. The table below presems, by level

within the fair value hierarchy, other Linancial asseis and
liabilitics ar fair wvaloe, subsantially all of which are
accounted for at fair value under the fair value option,

$ in milions Lewn| 1 Lewnl 2 Lewel3d Tl
As of December 2024

Assets

Fless il Sgpressirasn s -1 - & 17TB. Ty § - §17,6a
Syt b - 40, 902 - 9,902
Custadiisr aid GEhal nedeombies - 23 - 23
sl pasats = = 18 184
oial (IR Y- VRN R TIEE
Liabdlities

Dhepoails § - § (41870} § (3.045) § (44.855)
Repurchase agreamarnts - |zra,3m0) ~ {4380
Secuntes loored = {10,246) = {10,248)

Othar secupd financings
Ursiecured bommawings:

{274z4p () (27,885}

Snon-sem = 45073} (5284)  (50.367)

Long-tem = (810 (13379 (89,788)
b hsbiites - {8} (76) {84}
Total 5 - 5[474.761) §(32,305) 5{457,106)
A5 of Ducembser NS
Azzits
Rsnin sgresmints £ £ 23540 & £ XA 5a
Sascurities bomowmsd A S0 EER=ci]
Custonis’ and ot recehmbiis - il - i
Onbeist msats = 178 167 366
Tiras £ _ & JARAM & IRT & PARERD
Uabdiithes
Deepoaila 5 - & @eT2ZN S 2737 5 (20450
Refurchase agreemens - (M5BT - [24BEET
Sesutites loared - (B - -4
Db secured financings - nosE Q0¥ 12554
LirsecLrad DOrmorangs;

Shor-Senm - FI0SCEE 5.5 T ]

Lomg:temm FR562) 038 Ehda
Lhber Babsiites 1187} F] [
Toinl & = & 06 3T S O ATR SR I

In the table above, assets are shown as positive amounts and
liakilitics are shown as negative amounts.

See Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's [air valoe
measurement policies, valuation techniques and significant
inputs wsed ro determine the fair value of other financial
assets and Labiliies.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Unobservable Inputs. 5ec  below  for
information about the significamt unobservable inputs used 1o
value kevel 3 other financial assers and liabilivies av fair value

as af both December 2024 and December 2023,

Other Secured Financings, The ranges and weighted
averages of significant unobssrvable inputs used 1o value level
3 other secured linancings are presented below. These ranges
and weighted averages exclude wnobservable inputs that are
only relevant to a single instrument, and therefore are not
meaningful.

As of December 2024

* Yield: 3.8% 1o 12.3% (weighted average: 8.9%)

* Duration: 2000 5.4 years (weighted average: 2.9 years)
As of December 20023

* Yield: 5.7% to 11.3% (weighted average: 8.5%)

* Duration: 0.1 vo 4.5 years {weighted average: 0.9 years)

Generally, increases in vield or duration, in isolation, would
I'I.'-I'\'IH fﬂ}“lu‘(! i.l'l =] hbwl‘f E'.Iil' 'f.'-lll.'ll' measarement HEC'.I- Fl‘f'r.bﬂl:!'
end. Due to the distinctive nature of each of level 3 cther
secured financings, the interrelationship of inputs is not
necessarily uniform across such financings. See Note 11 for
further information about other secured financings,

Deposits, Unsecured Borrowings and Other Assets
and Liabilities. Substantially all of the firm®s deposits,
unsecured short- and longterm borrowings, and other assers
and liabilities that are classitied in level 3 are hybrid financial
instruments. As the significant unobservable inputs used to
walue hybrid financial instruments primarily relate 1o the
embedded derivative component of these deposits, unsecured
barrowings  and liabilities, these
unobservable inputs are incorporated in the firm®s derivative
diselasures, See Note 12 for [urther information abaut ather
assets, Note 13 for further informanion abour deposits, Note
14 for further information abeut unsecured borrowings and
Mote 15 for further informarion abour cther liabilities.

other  assets  and
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Level 3 Rolforward. The table below presenis a summary
of the changes in fair value for level 3 other financial asscis
and liabilities accounted for at fair value,

Year Ended Decemie

& mndlens Fara izl
Assets
Baginning bolaros § 187 & T4
Nt renlgnd painsiiossos) - [#]]
Wit Ll iz ol g ires ossaes) 18 ah
Purchases - il
Gl {11} -
Ending balance 5 184 5 187
Uabdiities
Baoginning balarcs § [(M2T6} & (18 EM]
WiEt rsalined painakess) [Falil] 212}
het wetveal iz ed ga Sl osses) Fatl 116671
[E8 [0, 7e8} I8, 1531
Seltements 11,840 258
Trarestars e vl 3 (R F: = I R
Trarestars oul of kvl 3 1828 g
Ending babwnce 3 P24} 5 a7
In the table above:

- GI‘IHIIE’!! mn fair valwe are pre wrntecd fer all other Finam:'i.a.]
assets and liabilities that are classified in level 3 as of the

end af the period.

MNer unrealized gaine/{losses) relates o other fimancial

assets and liabilities chat were still held at period-end.

Translers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are

reported at the beginning, of the reporting, period in which
they occur, If a financial instrument was transferred 1o
level 3 during a reparting period, its entire gain or loss for

the pericd is classified in level 3,

For level 3 other financial assets, increases are shown as

positive amoums, while decreases are shown as negative
amounts, For level 3 other financial liabilivies, increases are
shown as rmt;.l[i'l.'r Aamouints, while decreases are shown as

positive amounts.

Level 3 other financial assets and liabilities are fraquently

econamically hedged with Ir.'.bdjltg_ aseets and labilities
Accordingly, gains or losses that are classified in level 3 can
be partially offsst by gains or losses antributable vo level 1,
2 ar 3 vrading assets and liabilities. As a result, gains or
losses included in the level 3 rollforward below do not
necessarily represent the overall impact on the firm's
results of operations, liquidity or capital resources,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below presemts informarion, by the consolidated
balance sheet line items, for other financial liabilities included
il'l 1.]:!.' stu:rtl:n:r].‘ 1.'.II'.|Iﬂ Hh[)"-‘ﬂ.

Yoar Erced December

£ i indltng 2024 2
Deposits
Beginning batance $ 2mEns 213
Ml neslied poinafiostes] - i
Mt urrealized ganaiioases) 1] 114
Issuances {1.088) 1504
Settlermnents a8 Fri]
Trarsters indo vel 3 3 11531
Trarsions ouf of owd 3 118 k%
Ending balance £ {30481 & 2
Other secured financings
Bnginning balanon £ (2028 5 B3
Mot realized poinsiosses] {13 &
Mot urrialired gansfosses) 12 =]
iy mracais; (611 1657)
Setiernents 1616 1479
Trarstens in kvl T 104 8417]
Trarsters oul of kvl 3 - 3]
Ending balance § 5615 2000
Unsecined short-tenm borrowings
Beginning halance § (5589 § 4,0000
M renized GinaNiosses) 18} 55
Ml urraal Ped Banossag) ] 1553
Issuanes {a883 Maun
Safthemerts 4,700 3418
Trorsiors indo vl 2 {1073 211
Trarsbons out of vl 3 ¥l 278
Lnding balanoe 3 626 5 55
Umsecured long:temm borowings
Baginning balanon S 13,848 £ (10060
Mot realzed poing s (203 1155
Mt urrenlived ganafosses; TET ot ]
[EoiE o (M8 (2675
Sentiervients L7 2632
Troratens imd evel T {1.457) 3167
Trarsters out of eved 3 1.293 Wy
_EmSing balance 5 (13.379) & (13548
Other Habilities
Beginning balancs 8§ (s L=}
Mel urronlPed QAN oS ses) 3 -
Battlerments - [
Emding balance £ #ms oA

Level 3 Roliforward Commentary for the Year Ended
December 2024, The net realized and unrealized gains on
level 3 other hinancial Labilities of 8505 million (reflecting
5210 million of net realized losses and 5715 million of net
unrealized gains) for 2024 included pains'{losses) of 5491
million reported in marker making, $/42) million reported in
other principal transactions and 5(1) million reported in
interest expense in the consolidated statements of earnings,
and 357 million reported in debt valuation adjustment in the
consalidated statements of comprehensive incodme.
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The ner wnrealized gains on level 3 other lnancial liabilities
for 2024 primarily reflected gains on certain hybrid financial
illﬂrl.lll'lﬂlll.} i.rll:'ll.'ll:ll'(! i]l llllm'llm{! ||:s|1r_-l|:'rn| &&rm“'illt‘#
(principally due to the impact of increases in interest rates
and changes in foreign exchange rmes), partially offser by
losses on certain hybrid fnancial insteuments included in
deposits (principally due 1o an increass in equity prices),

Transfers inte level 3 other financial liabilities during 2024
primarily reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial
instruments included in unsecured long-term  borrowings
from level 2 [principally due 1o reduced transparency of
certain credit spreads and volatility inputs used 1o value these
Instruments),

Transfers out of level 3 other linancial labilities during 2024
primarily reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial
instruments included in long- and shost-term borrowings 1o
level 2 (principally due 1o increased transparency of cemain
'|.'|:s|.a:'||.il;|.' :i:llpnll:i wasd o valee these ingru nlmlls].

Level 3 Rollforward Commaentary for the Year Ended
Dacembar 2023. The net realized and vnrealized losses on
level 3 other fimancial Liabilicies of $1.88 billion {reflecting
5212 million of net realized losses and $1.67 billion of net
unrealized losses) for 2023 included losses of 5141 billien
reported in market making, 323 million reported in other
principal transactions and 52X million reported in interest
expense in the conselidated staterments of earnings, and §427
million  reported in debt  valuation adjustment in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income,

The net uneealized losses on level 3 ather Hinancial liabilities
for 2023 primarily reflected losses an certain hybrid financial
instruments included in unsecured long and short-reem
borrowings (principally due to an increase in global equicy

prices].

Transfers into level 3 other financial liabilivies during 2023
primarily reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial
instruments included in unsecured  long-term bt;rruwinﬂ:.‘
from level X (principally due to reduced price transparency of
cortain credit spreadd and volatiliey inputs vsed e value these
instruments) and teansfers of cemain other secured linancings
from level X (principally due to reduced price transparency of
certain yield and duration inpws used o value these
instruments).

Transfers out of level 3 other financial labilities during 2023
primarily reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial
instruments included in wnsecored longe and  short-term
borrowings to level 2 (principally due to increassd price
transparency of cerrain volatility inputs used 1o value these
Instruments).
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THE GOLOKMAN SACHS GROUWP, INC. AND SUBSIOWAIES

MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 6.
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities include trading cash instruments
and derivatives held in connection with the firm"s market-
making or risk management activities. These assets and
liabilities are carried at fair value either under the fair value
option or in accordance with other U5, GAAP, and the
related fair value gains and losses are generally recognized in
the consolidated statements of earnings

The table below presents a summary of rading assers and
liabilities.

Trading Teadng
& mdlans LEET O] Laind e
Az of December 2029
Tracing cash instrumsnts 5236 5127508
DS ves A7 335 74,880
Tatal & S70.555 & 302 BES
s o Dpgmeibge 02
Tracing cash instruments 54k 54360
Dt hes 1 1A i, TE4
Toitad £ 4T3 510 2 ik 356

—

See Note 5 for further information abowt trading cash
instruments and MNote 7 for Further informarion abour
derivatives.
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Gains and Losses from Market Making
The table below presents marker making revenues by major

product type.
Year Enced Dacarninet

£ i mdions ksl T D
Intanest rates -1 S § 4437 5 [E
Credi 2467 1,141 1,085
Cumencos 6,792 2EZY 11 G
Equities T.632 ER-x s |
Commodition 1,284 1, EEH 30
Totat $ 18300 5 a8 B
In the table above:

* Cains/{losses) include both realized and unrealized gains
and losses, Gams'[losses] exclude related interest income
and interest expense. See Note 23 for further information
about interest income and interest expense,

* Gaing/{bosses) included in market making are primarily
related to the firm®s trading assets and liabilities, including
both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments.

* Gains/(losses) are not representative of the manner in
which the firm manages its business activities because
many 1.1-r the ﬁ.rm's ma.rkrl-mald:lgr and clhent fan;'ilil:lﬁn:m
strategies  wtilize financial indroments across  various
product types. Accordingly, gains or losses in one produect
type frequently offser pains or losses in other product rypes.
For example, most of the firm®s longer-term derivatives
across product tvpes are sensitive to changes in interest
rares and may be economically hedpged with interest rawe
swaps. Similarly, a significant portion of the firm's trading
cash instruments and derivatives across product types has
exposure to foreign currencies and may be economically
hedged with foreign currency contracts,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 7.
Derivatives and Hedging Activities
Derivative Activities

Derivatives are instruments thar derive their valoe from
underlying asset prices, indices, reference rates and other
inpuns, or a combination of these Bcvors. Denvatives may be
traded on an exchange (exchanpe-traded) or they may be
privately negotiated contraces, which are usually referred 1o
as OTC derivatives. Certain of the firm's OTC derivatives
are  cleared  and  settled  throwgh cemtral  clearing
counterparties [(OTC-cleared), while others are bilaveral
contracts between two counterparties (bilateral OTC),

Market Making. As a marker maker, the firm enters into
derivative rransactions to provide liquidity o clients and o
facilitate the transfer and hedging of their risks, In this role,
the fiem rypically aces as principal and is required to commit
capital to provide execurion, and maimains market-making
pusil:il:m:. in res panse By, OF in .'.lllliq.'i|wiim:| l::l",,i.'lil:']:ll demand.

Risk Management. The firm also enters into derivatives 1o
actively manage risk exposures that arise from its market
making and investing and .nnz:m.'illg; activities, The firm's
holdings and exposures are hedged, in many cases, on either a
portiolio or risk-specific bass, as opposed 1o an instruoment-
by-instrumemt basis. The offsering impact of this economic
hedging is reflected in the same business sepment as the
related revenues. In addition, the firm may enter into
derivatives designated as hedges under US. GAAP. These
dervatives are used to manage interest rate exposure af
certain fixed-rate unsecured borrowings and deposits and
certain U5, and nonULS, govermment securities classified as
available-for-sale, foreign exchange risk of certain available-
for-sale securities, the net investment in certain non-ULS
operations and the exposure 1o the variability of the
forecasted cash Hows associaved with cerrain floating-rate
asHeLS,
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Tilr ﬁ:rm enfers nta wlril::.m'. l].'pl:s nf :lnril.'ali'rrs, inr'uc!i.nr_:

# Futures and Forwards., Comracts  thar  commit
counterparties to purchase or sell financial inscruments,
commodities ar currencies in the future,

* Swaps. Comtracts that require counterparties (o exchange
cash flows, such as currency or interest payment streams,
The amounts exchanged are based on the specific terms of
the comtract with reference 1o specified raves, financial
prist Fii |:r|.-c||l:i,ﬂ|-m|m.x|i1 i.c:-,n:'llnu:-nq;;cs ar inu;lir.wc:;.

* Options. Contracts in which the option purchaser has the
right, but not the obligation, to purchase from or sell wo the
option  writer financial instruments, commodities  or
currencies within a defined time period for a specified
price,

Derivatives are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis (i.e.,
the net payable or receivable for derivative assets and
liabilities for a -E,i'l.-rl:l 1.'|::lunl:t-rp\=.|1:r:l when a ||.-.g,:|| riE-_I'LL af
setoff  exisms under an  enforceable netting  agreement
{counterparty necting). Derivatives are accounted for at fair
valwe, met of cash collareral received or posed under
enforceable  credit support  apreemems  (cash  collaceral
netting). Dervative assets are ineluded in trading assets and
derivative liabilities are included in crading  liabilicies.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives not
designated as hedges are included in marker making (for
derivatives incleded in Fixed Income, Cuorrency and
Commedities (FICC) and Equities within Global Banking &
Markers), and other principal transactions (for derivatives
included in Investment banking fees and Other within Glabal
H:hlk:illg_& Markets, as well as derivatives in Asset & Wealth
Management) in the consolidated statements of earnings. For
both 2024 and 2023, substantially all of the Gem®s derivatives
were included in Global Banking, & Markers.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The tables below presemt the gross Faie value and the notional
amounts of derivative contracts by major product type, the
AmMounks of counterparty and cash collateral ||.|.-.I!Iinf_ i the
consolidated balance sheets, as well as cash and securities
collaeral posted and received under enforceable credic
support agreements thar do not meet the criteria for netring
under U5, GAAP.

Far Walus @ of Dacamber
pas ] 2023

Devivative  Derivative Dervatlve  Detivatien

§ o enllpns Azpets  Liabilities Azpats  Labdites
Mot sccounted for as hedges

Emihanpi-lraded § 2708 $ 1068 S DAM 5 10
OTCclesed 1748 2428 87815 B4, 450
Biateral OTC VHEORE 121515 170,108 14944
Teital Intenest rates 1HE535 12501 2320 M50
OTCckarad 1787 18893 12N 1,553
Bdoternl OTC G550 8,137 11,554 8601
Total credit 11437 10,030 12,825 10,134
[Exchange-traded 142 L] g 15
OTCckarad 1326 43 1,0 1,62
Sinteml OTE 112838 113,608 #2158 b, T2
Total currencies 114,205 114,807 80 855 o7 288
Exchange-traded BELT 5817 & 4 5, oo
OTCclesred E58 B50 6315 M
Biateral OTC 7206 7,558 10,73 11,234
Tatal commodities 13326 14,625 16,842 17,843
Emihane-raded 55,049 BIATS N3E 38,247
OTCclesed 180 m 122 m
Bdateral OTC 24591 44,900 26,60 40, B
Teatal equities 8079 128.508 40,038 80,114
Subtotal 375, THE  FLETI 420,57 49040
Aceounted for as bedges

Bdatersl OTC 20 8 238 a2
Teatal Intenest rates 20 | i @
QTCckarad ™ 3 - ?
Bintgpmal OTC 255 5 5 M
Total currencles 269 ] 5 Fil3
Subtotsl &0 ] 203 x4
Total fair value & 37 e 5 403 5 JR0ea7

Odtset in the consolidated balance sheets
Exchantraced & (6RTI S [STTMEY & (2T R TR

OTC-chesdid {A.EET [LR T2 67,272
Biateml OTC 1B260) 220 305 (321 065
G 1 212 R ERE [E2 aED
OTC-chasred 1912) {105} 1,335 1hEadi
Bdterl OTC (475890  (36.688)  MaBsm o
Cash collaters] netting (48,101}  (36.803) EENF=TI N
Total smounts affset 1 VL7I5) § 71113) 5 10l 113
Inchided in the corolidated balsmes sheets

[Exchange-irndad § 5584 § 3ZB0 5 B 5 13067

OTC-clesrnd 440 1,128 2268 b=
Bistemn OTC 41215 41,164 A0 6 42,501

el P Ee S TIE0 3 SLI03 ST
Mot offset in the consclidated balance sheets

Cash coliatemnl 5 {500) & {121y & \|Ins  RrE
Securites collbtend (1538  (B73) 115400 5,516
Tatal & 31 S E 1 A7 G
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Mot iomal fumownts as of Deceminer

& il ol Faire]
Mot sccounted for as hedges
Exchangistraded § 232117 § 3185680
DT C-thared 12,571,880 1607 815
Biaternl OTC 10,568,501 12 300 595
Taotal interest rates 25,473,308 32253 198
Exchange-raded zz et
OTC-chenred 850,181 i, T20
Biaberal OTC 618,058 AR
Total credt 1,278,571 1,118 554
Exchange-traded 8,064 11 504
OTCachnnmd Lrac ] i
Bisteral OTC 5,001, 50 [ ]
Total currencies 6,471,088 15,643 575
Exchange-traded 24,158 306, Ta7
OTCachnnred 3,087 133
Biateral OTC 183,14 196 2
“Total commodities 510,420 508,360
Exchangi-traded 1,868,855 1,564, 341
OTC-G e 1475 1,487
Bilateral OTC 1,256,005 120 140
Tatal equities oy ] 7, T S6h
‘Subnotal 36,861,600 AT 20 120
Accounted for &5 hedges
OTCchnnmed 246, 165 241 160
Biaterl OTC A.588 2914
Tatal interest rates 50,353 244,074
LT C-clenmegd 5,041 1737
Bistonl OTC 10,328 9 130
Total currencles 16,348 1 357
‘Subtotal 266,722 25 k31
Total notional amounts 5 dnierker § 41540551
In the tables above:

* CGross fair values exclude the effects of both coumerparty
neiting and collateral, and therefore are not represencative
of the firm's exposure.

* Amounts presented for collateral not offset in the
consolidued balance sheets consists of collateral received
or posted in connection with OTC-cleared and bilateral
OTC  derivatives  under  enforceable  credit  support
agreements that do not meet the criteria for netting under
U5 GAAP. In addition 1o collateral presented in the table
above, the firm alio posts or receives collateral in
connection with its rransactions with cenain excha nges in
accordance with the exchanges' margin requirements, Such
collateral may be calculated based on the firm's total
exposure 1o the respective exchanpge across all produec
types, including bath  derivative and  non-derivative
mstriments. See Note 11 fcu' .rurl:hrr 'ln:rurlnalil:m absout
collateral received and pledged.

* Towal pross fair value of derivatives included derivative
assets of $8.55 billion as of December 2024 and 58,98 billion
as of December 2023, and derivative labilities of §10.84
billion as of December 2024 and $16.08 hillion as of
Decernber 2023, which are not subject 1o an enforceable
neiting agreement or are subject to a neiting agreement chat
!hr ﬁrm ||zs ok y\nl n:k"lrnnim'd [ £a] I'n' :-nrwn:w':lHn. Tl‘l{'
collateral received or posted in connection with such
derivative agreements has not heen netted.

# Naotional ameounts, which represent the sum of gross long
amd short derivative contracts, provide an indication of the
volume of the firm’s derivative activity and do not
represent anticipated losses,

Goidman Spchs 2004 Form 10K 163
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

* During 2024, as peemitted under the rules of a clearing
orpanization in Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA),
the firm elected 1o settle its transactions with this clearing
orgamzation on a daly basis, The I pact of n:ﬂﬂ;ling_
rransactions with this clearing orpanization 2z sertled
would have been a reduction in gross derivative assers of
S64.19 billion and a reduction in gross derivative liabilities
of 36286 hillion as of December 2023, and a correspending
decrease in counterparty and cash collateral netting, with
no impact to the consclidated balance sheets,

OTC Daerivatives
The table below presents OTC derivative assets and liabilities
by tenor and major produce type.

Lecta than 1-5 Greane than
& i endiang 1¥mar Years 5 Yaare T
As of Decemnber 2024
Assets
Irvberes rates § 5680 § 9,552 § 46825 § 6057
Cregi 1864 2576 1,505 5.5
Curarcos 17,248 8,280 5387 30.ME6
Commodities 1908 1882 1026 4,818
Equiies 5483 2,395 15958 9.837
Counterparty natting in 1enes {2.681) (2.683) (42710 {9,835
Subtoinl § 29503 §7R007 § 52331 §103.536
Crosa-ionee counipiparty riiing {14,080
Cash colinterl netting {42, 101)
Total OTC derbvative assets § 41,665
Unbilithes
Imtmres? rales $ 6004 510858 § 16048 § 37,887
Credit g 24T il 4438
Curmercis 12,631 8,045 AT 30003
Cormirdilies 02 s 1201 5,681
Ecquitiess N4 15113 IBe  W.AAT
Courserparty netling in lensis  (2.681)  (2.883) 14271 |9.835)
Subtcaal $ 2,770 $37.855 § 25548 § 93.173
Cooma-tereee Compiparty netling {14,084
Cash colintieml natting 135.803]
Teital OTC dish th $ 4790
A8 o Decarmber JIEY
AssEls
Iinteres] mies £ afil S121T8 & 49045 S T
Cregi 1814 37E3 1,961 1,008
Curancns 117 1579 5409 EATS
Commodiies roar 2514 1451 108
Equities GEIS 3156 1655 11,435
Countarparty natting in lenors [ ] e @ a58)
Substotal £ 27014 SxE004 & B5043 S100 061
Cross-tenoe couisrparty nedting 18, Jedy
Cia caoliatiral nelting 49, 723)
Tortad CVTC clerintivs peants 5 47550
Uiahilithes
Iriesnesl rates £ 11,952 815572 § 17,540 & 4564
Credit M 2508 1.067 4,567
Curancios 15335 74 T2 30568
Comimagdities s R N s 1419 i
Equities 10TEE 10,048 330 FJmHN
Coundampariy natting in lenos B0l @2 TaR 8 45
Subtcanl B AT A2 S0 5 FTOMT S102 090
Croas e CoUIBIparty dting 116, 260
Cassh colintiaml nathing A2, T
Total OTE dersmtave lakdidies £ 43 IJE_.-'
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* Tenor is based on the remaining contractual maturity for
substantially all OTC derivarive assers and liabilivies.

* Counterparty netting, within the same product type and
tenor category is included within such produect type and

Lenar Lategory.

* Counterparty nerting across product types within the same
tenor category 15 ncluded in counterpany netting in tenors.
Where the counterparty netling is across lenor calegories,
the netting is included in cross-tenor counterparty netting,

See Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's [air valoe
measurement policies, valuation techniques and significant
inputs used to determine the fair value of derivarives, and
Mote 5 for further information abour derivatives within the

fair value hierarchy.

Credit Derivatives

The firm enters ime a broad array of credit derivatives 1o
facilivate <lient reansactions and to manage the ceedit sisk
associated with marker-making and investing, and financing
activities, Credit derivatives are actively managed based on
the firm's met risk position. Credit derivatives are generally
individually nepotiated contracts and can have various
settlernent and payment conventions. Credit events include
failure to pay, bankruptcy, acceleration of indebtedness,
restructuring, repudiation and dissolution of the refersnce

eneiLy.

The firm enters into the following types of credit derivatives:

+ Credit Default Swaps. Single-name credit defaule swaps
protect the buyer against the loss of principal on one or
more bonds, leans or mortgages (reference obligations) in
the event the issuer of the reference oblipaions sullers a
credit event, The buyer of protection pays an initial or
pericdic premium to the seller and receives protection for
the period of the contrace. If chere is no credit evenr, as
defined in the contract, the sller of protection makes no
payments 1o the buyer. [f a credit event accurs, the seller of
protection is required o make a payment o the buyer,
caleulated accarding to the terms of the conteact.

+ Credit Options. In a credit option, the option writer
assumes the obligation o purchase or sell a reference
obligation at a specilied price or credit spread. The option
purchaser buys the nght, but does mot assume ihe
obligation, to sell the reference abligation to, or purchase it
from, the option writer. The payments on credit options
depend either on a particular credit spread or the price of

the reference :shliﬁu LEcn.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

* Credit Indices, Baskets and Tranches. Credic
derivatives may reference a basket of single-name credit
-l;|.11[:-m|l! Swaps o 2 I‘III:!:H.‘I-E'HT{I. e I a crednt event
occors imone of the underlving reference obligations, the
protection seller pays the protection buyer. The payment is
typically a pro-rara portion of the rransaction’s ol
notional amount based on the underlying defaubed
reference abligation. In certain transactions, the credit risk
of a basker or index is separated into various porticns
flrunc'hrx:l, sach ]:I'.I'I'il'li'_ :lirfrmll levels aof :.'l:l!'l-c:l:rdi:l:l:ll:il::.n.
The most junior tranches cover initial defaules and onee
losses exceed the notional amount of these junior tranches,
any excess loss is covered by the next most senior tranche.

# Total Return Swaps. A total return swap translers the
risks relating to economic performance of a reference
obligation from the protection buyer 1o the protection
seller, Typically, the protection buyer receives a floating
rate of interest and protection against any reduction in fair
value of the reference oblipation, and the protection seller
receives the cash flows associated with the relerence
oblipation, plus any increase in the fair value of the
reference obligation,

The firm economically hedges its exposure to written credit
derivatives primarily by entering into offsewing purchased
credit derpvatives with identical underliers. ﬂlll‘ﬁl:anl:ia”:.' all
of the firm"s purchased credit derivative transactions are with
financial institutions and are subject o stringent collaveral
thresholds, In addiion, upon the occurrence of a specified
trigger event, the firm may take possession of the reference
obligations underlying a particular written credit derivative,
and consequently may, vpon liquidation of the reference
obligations, recover amounts on the underlying reference
obligations in the event of defaulr.

EDINETOOOO
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The rable presents  information  abow  eredit
derivatives,
Crpalt Spmad on Uinde ber Bage poinca)
Creae!
P51 B {man
£ millicrs 1 - 260 00 1,00 1,000 Tastarl
As of December 2024

Maximeam Payout' Motional Amount of Written Credit Dervatives by Tenor

Less than 1 year
1 - 5 i
AGreater than 5 yess

S2BETE 8 M7 3 LY 5aTTE
163490 4.2 6104 404,528

2457 an 84 32088

9,05 a0

Maximsurm Payout/Notionsl Amcant of Purchased Credit Dervatives

Oltsetling S63019 S2060T 5 47E1 § 264 SH07.ES5
Chiboger M7 .89 1,160 1804932
Tastnl

Fi

Falr Value of Written Credit Derlvatives

Aspat
Lisbity

§ 6479 § 884 8§ 11 % 59 § 7,983

314 37 1,138 2,794

Metasseti{lablity) % 6440 & 350 & (278) % {1.078) § 4430

A5 ol Decermbser NP3

Masbmeam Payowt!Motlonal Amsourt of Writien Credit Dedvatives by Tenor

Leas than 1 year

S126,607 1258 §  BEE ¥ 2611 §143.764

1- 5 yoars AN 53 582 347,363
Gradrter than 5 yeas 30406 138 G M3 m e
Topind SAEL G SPLPEI S F UM S S S GG

M sirsurm PayoutiNotionsl Amcunt of Purchased Cradin Derivatives

{igetiing $30.904 $11857 § 6171 § 8.MO 2308
Lok 1Dh408  TPME  1E 1613 1 Ead?
Toinl SEERASY SO 710 & 8BS € omkh GRon T
—_— — —_—

Falr Value of Written Credit Derfvatives

At
Lishility

€ 71,047 & 684 & XM & 185 & 121487
1,723

47 1 1,004 3,005

Wil pass il Tyl

£ BAM 5 60T & D0 E BN 5 DE2

In the rable above:

* Fair values exclude the effects of both netting of receivable
balances with pavable balances under enforceable nening,
agresments, and netting of cash received or posted under
enforceable credit suppoert agreements, and therefore are
not representative of the firm's credit exposure.

* Tenor is based on the remaining contractual maturity for
substantially all weitren credit desivarives.

* The credit spread on the undedier, together with the tencr
of the contract, are indicators of payment/performance
risk. The firm is less likely vo pay or otherwise be required
to perform where the credit spread and the tenor are lower,

Offserring  purchased credit  derivatives represemt the

notional amount of purchased credit derivatives char
econamically hedge written credit derivatives with identical

underlicrs.

* Ogher purchased credic derivatives represent the notional
amount of all other purchased credit derivatives not

included in offserting,

® Written and purchased credit derivatives primarily consist

of credit defaul swaps,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Impact of Credit and Funding Spreads on Derivatives

The firm realizes gains or losses on its derivative contracts.
These gains or losses include credit valeation adjustments
[CVAs) relating 1o uncollateralized derivative assers amd
liabilities, which represent the gains or losses [(including
hedges) attributable to the impact of changes in credit
exposure, counterpany credit spreads, liabilicy funding
spreads (which include the lirm's own credit), probability of
default and assumed recovery. These gains or losses also
include funding valuation adjustments (FVA} relating to
uncollateralized derivative assers, which represent the gains
or losses (including hedges) anributable 1o the impace of
changes in expected funding exposures and funding spreads,

The table below presents information abow CVA and FV A,

e Ended Dwoember

5 el Ficl Hd Filr
Cva, et of hedges % MW7 S 3HS E=1]
Pya, nal of hagdpes L 13 118G
Tatal § 379 & & v

Bifurcated Embedded Derivatives

The table below presents the fair value and the notional
amount of derivatives that have been bifurcated from cheir
related borrowings,

Ag ol Dacernb
S endiapng 2024 2093
Far woiun of sssels 5 46T % 450
Fair i of bt es (178) 1307
Het asset/{liabllity] 5 202 & la3

National amaunt $ BWe 5 9062

I the vable above, desivatives thar have been bilurcated from
their related borrowings are recorded at fair value and
primarily consist of interest rate, equity and commodity
products. These derivatives are included in unsecured shorn-
and longterm borrowings, as well as other secured
financings, with the related barrowings.

Derivatives with Cradit-Related Contingent Features
Cerain of the firm's derivatives have been transacted under
bilareral agreements with counterparties who may require the
firm to post collateral or terminate the transactions based on
champges in the firm's crediv ratngs. The fiem assesses the
impact of these bilateral agreements by determining the
callateral or termination  payments that would occur
assuming a downgrade by all rating agencies. A downgrade
by any one rating agency, depending on the agency's relative
ratings of the firm ar the time of the downgrade, may have an
impact which is com parable to the impact of 2 downgrade by
all rating agencies.

188 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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The wable below presents informartion abour net derivative
liabilitics under bilateral agreements (excluding collateral
|1-|:|M-n-;|j,_ the fair value af c'l::-":l:ﬂr..ll |5-u:l:|:-.:| and :ln:ldil:il::ln.u]
collateral or termination payments that could have been
called by counterparties in the event af a one- or twe-notch
downgreade in the firm"s credit ratings.

A of Dscember

§ o miges 2024 iy
Nt ceeivaitive labililies under beaternl sgreements 8 31578 5 30021
Collatersd posied & 028 & MM
Acditiona] collatern | or fermiradion paymants;

Oingerotch downprace £ ne = ¥

Twwo-nodeh Gowmgrede § 2 5 15
Hedge Accounting

The firm applies hedpe accounting for (1) interest rate SWApS
used to manage the interest rate exposure of certain fixed-
rate unsecured long- and shor-term  borrowings, cemain
fixed-rate certificates of deposit and certain U5, and non
LLS. government securities ¢lassified as available-for-sale, (i)
foreign currency forward comteacts used 1o manape the
foreign exchange risk of certain securities classified as
available-for-sale, (i) foreign currency forward contracts
and foreign currency-denominated debt used o manage
foreign exchange risk on the firm's net investment in cemain
non-UL.5, operations and {iv] interest rate swaps used 1o
manage the variabilivy of the forecasted cash flows associatad
with certain Hoating-rate assets,

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging instrument
must be highly effective at reducing the risk from the
exposure being hedped, Additionally, the firm must formally
document the hedging relationship at inception and assess the
hedping relationship at least on a quarterly basis to ensure the
hedging instrumem continues 1o be highly effective over the
life of the hedging relationship.

Fair Value Hedges

The firm designates interest rate swaps as fair value hedpes of
certain fixed-rate unsecured long: and short-term debt and
fiseed-rare certilicares of deposit and of certain ULS. and non-
L5, povernmemt securities classified as available-for-sale,
These interest rate swaps hedpe changes in fair value
ateributable vo the designated benchmark interest race (X"
Secured Overnight Financing Rare [SOFR), Overnight Index
Swap Rate or Sterling Overnight Index Average), effectively
converting a substantial portion of these fixed-rate financial
illﬂrull’lﬂll[} i]llﬂ ﬂl.mlinf_-r.alc ﬁl.ﬂl'll:'i.iﬂ illﬂfll]l’lclﬂg.

The firm applies a statistical method thar utilizes regression
analysis when assessing the effectiveness of these hedging
relationships in achieving offsetting changes in the fair valoes
of the hedping instrument and the risk being hedged {ie.,
interest rate risk). An interest rate swap is considered highly
effective in offsewting, changes in fair value atributable w
chanpes in the hedped risk when the repression analysis
results in a coeflicient of determination of $0% or greater

and a slope between 80% and 125%.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIOARIES
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For qualifying interest rate fair valuse hedpes, gaing or losses
on dervatives are included in interest incomelexpense, The
change in Fair valoe of the hedged items attriburable 1o the
risk being hedged is reported as an adjustment 1o its carrying
value (hedging adjustment) and is also incloded in interest
incoumeexpense. When a derivative is no longer designared as
a hedge, any remaining difference between the carrying value
and par value of the hedged item is amortized in interest
income/expense over the remaming life of the hedped item
using, the effective interest method, See Nate 23 for further
information abour interest income and interest expense,

The table below presents the gaing/losses) [rom interest rate
derivatives accounted for as hedpes and the related hedged

items.

Yt Eraind Decombpar

£ = mifang 203 20 2002
Ivvestin emts

Interes] rate redges -1 83 & (10|l s 366
Hegigad mwsiments {Ba} 1 i)

§ (s FI ]

Borrowings and deposits

Inbiressi mie hedpes § [581} 5 3B S(2218%
Hadgod Bammangn and Sepasis i1:51 3 R
SGainsfiosses) § fanojs  dEmi s IR
The table below pressnts the carrving value of investments,
deposits and unsecured borrowings that are designated in an
interest rate hedging relaticnship and the related cumulazive
hedping adjustment (increase/{decrease)) from corrent and
prior bedging relationships included in such carrying values,

Cumylasss

Cartyirg Haiging
Fnedone: ¥ifun_ Adpmroet
As of December 2024
Hssets
Iinessterens $ 3755 § [
Liabilithes
Dhfucrssis $ 1840 § (52
Unsacured shor-semm barowings § T % L E]
Ursegured long-tem bemovings $ 130,97 & (10.757)
Oz of Descuerbes IR
Asnets
Iveatiens 5 1685131 % 110
Liakdlities
Drapein 5 343 5 1123
Unsagured Shon-semm bemesings 5 149 § ]
Linsecured ontanm bamvwirgs 5 34567 § 00
In the table above:

* Cumulative hedging adjustment included 5{5.81) billion as
of December 2024 and 5(5.63) billion as of December 2023
of hedping adjustments from prior hedging relaionships
thar were de-designated amnd substantially all were relared
to unsecured long-term borrowings.

* The amerized cost of investments was 535,29 billion as of
Drecember 2024 and $17.33 billion as of December 2023,
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In addivion, cumulatve hedping adjustments for ems no
lenger designated in a hedging relationship were not material
as of bath December 2024 and December 2023,

The fiem designates cemain foreign  currency  forwared
contracts as fair valoe hedges of the loreign exchange risk of
non-LLS. povernment securitics classified as available-for-
sale. See Mote 8 for informarion about the amortized cost and
fair value of such sscurities. The effectiveness of such hedges
is assessed based on changes in spot rates, The gains/{losses)
on the hedpes (relating vo both spot and forward points) and
the foreign exchange gains/{losses) on the related available-
for-sale securities are included in market making. The net
gamns(losses) on hedpes and the related hedged available-for-
sale securities were not matenial for 2024, were ${2) million
(reflecting a Joss of $127 million related to edges and 2 gain
of §125 million on the relaved bedged available-for-sale
securities) for 2023 and were 50300 million (reflecting a pain
of $266 million relaved 1o hedpes and a loss of 5296 million
on the related hedped available-for-sale securities) for 2022

Net Investment Hedges

The firm seeks to reduce the impact of Nucnarions in foreign
exchange rates on its et investments in certaim oS,
operations through the vse of foreign currency forward
comtracts and foreign  currency-denominated  debr.  For
foreign currency forward contracts designated as hedges, the
effectivencss of the hedpe is assessed based on the overall
changes in the fair value of the forward contraces {ie., based
on changes in forward rates). For foreipn  currency-
denominated deba designated as a hedge, the effectiveness of
the hedge is assessed based on changes in spor rates For
qualifving net investment hedpes, all gains or losses on the
hedping instruments are included in currency translation,

The table below presents the gains/(losses) from  met
investment hedging,

Yaoat Erded Deciinbar
& o el el il Pl
Hisdgea!
Foeagn curmency lonsasd cordmcss
Foragps colf syttt il cheli

&0.084 & 200 S 1A
#1583 § LS

Gaing or losses on individual net investments in mon-1LS.
operations  are  reclassified  from  accumulated  other
comprehensive income/{loss) to earnings when such net
investments are sold or substantially liguidared. The gross
and met  painsflosses)  reclassilied to eamings  from
aecurmulated other comprehensive income{loss) were not
manerial for 2024, were 3049 million (reflecting a gain of
590 million related 1o hedpes and a loss of $139 million on the
eelated met investments in non-1L.5, operations) for 2023 and
were not material for 2022,

The firm had designated 522,10 billion as of December 2024
and 527,52 billion as of December 2023 of foreign currency-
denominated debs, included in unsecared long: and shori-
term borrowings, as hedpes of ner investments in non-11.5,
subsidianies,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash Flow Hedges

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the firm designared certain
interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges. These interest rate
swaps hedge the firm"s exposure 1o the \':lrial'ﬁilil.].' aof the
forecasted cash Hows due o changes in the comeactually
specified interest rates asociated with cenain (loating-rate
Frers

The firm applies a statistical method that utilizes regression
analysis when assessing hedpe effectiveness. A cash [low
hedge is considered  highly effective in offsetting the
variability of the forecasted cash Nows attribmable to the
hedped risk when the regression analysis results in a
-.-wffi;i:-m ::IE n:.‘-cd.rnnin:lil::ln :sr 0% ar r_n-.;llrr :ln-d A squ:lc
berween 80% and 125%.

For qualifving cash flow hedpes, the pains or losses on
derivatives are included in “Cash flow hedpes™ within the
comsalidated statements of comprehensive income. Such pains
or losses are reclassified to interest income/expense within the
comnsalidated sarements of earnings in the same period that
the forecasted hedged cash Nlows impact earnings.

The gaing/[losses) included within other comprehensive
income/{loss) and the pains/losses) reclassified o eamings
from accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss) related
to cash flow hedpes were mot material for 2024 and are not
expected to be material for 2025, The maximum length of
time over which the forecasted cash flows are hedped is
approximately one vear,

168 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Mote 8.
Investments

Investments includes debt securities classified as available-
for-sale and lm!:l.-lu-maul.rjl:f thar are ﬂ'lbﬂl‘:l”'r held in
connection  with the firm’s asser-liability management
activities, In addition, investments includes equity securities
and debt instruments thar are accounted for ar fair value and
equity securities thar are accounted for under the equity
method that are generally held by the firm in connection with
its lonp-term investing activities.

The table below presents information about investments,

A of Dokt

£ matong T
Sovmidpbvie-for-snke securties, ot Tnirvalue § Tease 5 45740
Higlhjpemnfurify seurities Fi- k] M3
Ecpuily Secismies, 81 1aF virke k832 13,747
el intnarmeia, Bl 1ol walus 11.452 12,679
_Eguity-rmathod irnes1ments 1.058 PLir
Toanl olher invesiments 26,343 11,588
Totnl investments 5 10451 5 1

Ht-f,l I'IIIiI'Ir_  the !rullrl.h {uarter al MM -1 the balances have
increased  during  the  year,  investments  are  further
disaggregated between available-for-sale securities, held-to-
maturity securities and other investments in the consolidared
balance sheets and the related cash Hows are disaggregated in
the consalidated statements of cash Nows. Previously, the
disaggregation of investments was provided in this footnote,
Priar p(-ri-;x! dizsclosures have bq'\cn n:llfl:srmrd 1o the current
presenaon.

See Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value
measurement palicies, valuation techniques and significant
inputs used to determine the fair value of investments, and
Mote 5 for information about investments within the fair
value hierarchy.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Available-for-Sale Securities, at Fair Value
Available-for-sale securities are accounted for ar fair value,
and the related unrealized fair value gains and losses are
incluoded in accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss)
unless designated in a fair value hedging relationship. See
MNote 7 for information about available-for-sale securities
that are designated in a hedging, relationship,

The table below presents information abour availalble-for-
sale securities by type and tencr.

Wimigraed
Arartignd Far  Awtage
&in milions Cost Walun ¥ield

As of December 2024
Less than 1 yoar

1 yiar 10 5 yoars
5y o 10 yesirs
Tatal U5 govemm ent obligations

1 yisir 10 5 iy

§ name $aum 2.62%
48564 47,817 3%
6620 G468 3.80%
30 TR0 3.38%

4.224 3803 1.7%

5 yeaing b 110 yiats 6% 166 0.7 %
Total non-U.5. govermment chiigations 4417 4,08 1.868%
Total avallable-for-sale securities 5 20717 8§ Toans 3.20%
s ol Dmcarnber J02F

Less than 1 year § A027 §19.687 0.A5%
1 yisarr 20 5 i’ 27562 36500 i Eaa
5yoans to 10 yiats 566 Sl 205%
Tots LLE {eemenmen oeligalions & 205 46 TR 1 25%

LS thad 1 year " 1 ULLE
1 yial 10 5 ybars 1,635 1,430 0105
5y o 110 s 1 150 ] DB
Totsl rofrlLE. powsmimint obigstions 2 o8 2 490 0-80%
Tors avidabbe-fonsale securilns § 51001 549141 121%

In the table above:

* The weighted average yield is presented on a pre-tax basis
and computed using the effective interest rate of each
security at the end of the period, weighted based on the fair
value of each secority. The effective interest rate considers
the contractual coupon, the amonization of premiwms and
accretion of discounts, and excludes the effect of related
hedpes.
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* As of December 2024, the pross unrealized gains includad
i accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) were
(175, § |n=lc|'ial and the fross ullmz'ixﬂ;l Tensmns included 10
accumulated other comprehensive  income/{loss)  were
51.38 billion. O such losses, 5983 million related o
securities (fair value of 521.10 billion, peimarily consisting
of U5, government obligations) that were in a continuous
unrealized loss position for 12 months o lonper and §399
millicn related w0 securities (fair value of $32.71 billion,
sllbﬂanlia"y a" mlsiﬂinr_ :5‘ U.S. f,u'lncr:lmclll ::nl;“f;a.linns]
thar were in a continuous unrealized loss position for less
than 12 months,

As aof December 2023, the gross unrealized gains included
in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) were
et matenial and the Rross unrealized losses incloded n
accumulated  other comprehensive  income{loss)  were
51.89 billion, and primarily related to U5, government
obligations in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12
months or longer.

Net unrealized gains included in other comprehensive
income[loss) weee 5541 million (53401 million, net of cax)
for 2024 and $1.65 billion (51.25 billicn, net of tax) for
2023,

Substantially all available-for-sale securities were classified
in level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

* If the fair value of available-for-sale securities is less than
amortized cost, such secunities are considered impaired. [
the firm has the intent 1o sell che debt security, or if it is
maore likely than not that the firm will be required o sell
the debt security before recovery of its amontized cost, the
difference between the amortized cost (net of allowance, if
any) and the fair value of the securities is recopnized as an
impairment loss in earnings The firm did not record any
such impairment  losses during either 2024 or 2003,
Impaired available-for-sale debt securivies that the firm has
the imtent and ability 1o hold are reviewed to determine if
an allowance for credit losses should be recorded. The firm
considers various factars in such determination, including
marker conditions, changes in issver credit ratings and
severity of the unrealized losses, The fiem did not record
any provision Tor credit bosses on such securities 4:|=I|'ing

cither 2024 or 2023,

The pross realized pains and gross realized losses relating to
the wles of available-for-sale securities were not material for

each of 2024, 2023 and 2021 The specilic identification
method is used o determine realized gains on available-for-
sale securities.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, IMC. AMD SUBSIDMAIES

MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Hald-to-Maturity Securities
Held-to-maturity securitics are accounted for ar amortized
cost.

The table below presents information abeut held-to-matarity
securities by type and tenor.

Viagied
Arrertized Faas Aymiage
£ endgns Cost ke Wild

As of December 2024

Lassss 1Fan 1 yoar £ 154459 & 15400 3a8%

1 ysar 1 5 yiisrs 42 AM 41,8%0 3.08%
Tatal government obligations GT.H60 &7 348 3.61%
Grasster than 10 yesrs HOBITF 20,482 5.43%
Tatal U.S agency obligations AT 20482 5.43%
1 yisair 20 5 pisrs 2 2 T.60%
Giresales than 10y 206 206 5.25%
Tatal securities backed by resl estate 207 i ] 5.20%
Tatal hebd-1a-n securities 713 4.09%
A8 ol Decarmbees AIEE

Lt 1Fn 1 yosar £ 13475 & 13507 009
1 ysar 10 5 piits 54,768 5l B57 3.50%
5 ymairs: o 10 yoars 1 B 1 Bt 249
Totsl pevemmaent olyligations 112 68 5585 365
1 yesir 10 5 piits 3 2 TE2%
Grialed than 10 yesn 1565 195 500 %
Taitsl sscurities bacind by risl st ] 197 [

Teital Faslc-te-rmaturity Sescur tiss

In the table above:

£ TR0 & 66747 A7 5%

* Substantially all of the government obligations consist of
U5, povernment obligations.

® LS. apency obligations consist of U5, agency issued
mongage-backed securities.

Substancially all of the securities backed by real estare
consist of securities backed by residential real estane.

As these sacurities are not accounted for at fair value, they
are not incleded in the firm®s fair valoe hierarchy in Notes
4 and 5. Had these secorities been included in the firm's fair
value hierarchy, government obligations would have been
classified in level 1, U5, apency obligations would have
been classified in level 2 and securities backed by real estate
would have been primarily classified in level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.

The weighted average vield is presented an a pre-tax basis
and computed using the effective interest rate of each
security at the end of the pericd, weighted based on the
amortized cost of each security. The effective interest rave
considers the contractual coupon and the amortization of
pl.‘rlniull'ls and aceretion af discounts.

170 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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® The pross wuneealized paing were 5121 million as of
December 2024 and 5383 million as of December 2023, The

E'-I'U!GK |:|:|:|m|ia:m‘| II::ISM'!! were 5_'"96 II.'IJIII.ilI:II as ﬂ‘ Dﬂ'l‘l‘lll‘.‘l‘]’

2024 and 5901 million as of December 2023,

* Held-to-maturity securities are reviewed to determine if an
allowance for credit losses should be recorded in the
consclidated statements of earnings. The firm considers
various [actors in such determination, including market
conditions, changes in issuer credit ratings, historical credit
losses and sovereign puarantees. Provision for credit losses
on such securities was not material during either 2024 or

2023,

Equity Securities and Debt Instruments, at Fair Value
Equity securities and debt insruments, ac fair value are
accounted for at fair value either under the fair value option
or in accordance with other US. GAAP, and the related fair
valee gains and losses are recognized in the consclidated
staterments of ea rl‘lillf-;g.

Equity Securities, at Fair Value. Equity securities, ar fair
valwe comsists of the firm®s public and private equity
investments in corporate and real estare entities.

The table below presents information about equity securities,
at fair value,

A of Dacednbar

0 miliors 2024 Fie]
Equity securities, at fair value $ lzam & 1ao
Equity Type

Pubbc goguity 5% 1)
Prriwn i ity Bt a1
Total 1005 100
Aszet Class

Loponats Fi5 bl
Ristil isstats 2% T
Tatal 1060 1005
In the table above:

* Equity securities, at fair value included  investments
accounted for ak fair valee under the fair value vn-]:ll:in::ln
where the firm would otherwise apply the equity method of
:-||:K'-::|t||:|li|||5 of S50 billion as af Decem ber XM and §5.18
billion as of December 2023, Gains/{losses) recopnized as a
result of changes in the fair value of equity securitics for
which the Faie value oprion was electad were $(172) million
for 2024 and 5(638) million for 2023, These gains/(losses)
are included in ather principal transactions,

* Equity securities, at fair value includes investments in
private equity, real estate and hedpe funds that are
measured at NAV,

* Equity secursities subject 1o conteactual sile eestrictions
were not material as of both December 2024 and December
20023,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Dabt Instruments, at Fair Value. Debt instruments, ar fair

value primarily includes mezzanine, senior amd distressed
debs,

The rable below presems

instruments, at fair value,

information  abour  debc

A of Decerbe

in milons 2024 3
Corporte cebt securites & 72T 5 a5
Securitns bacad by mal astaie o] (i3]
boney maro instruments 1,780 1,061
Onhaes 1,827 2147
Tatal 3 11482 § 12ETH

In the able above, money marker instruments primarily
consist of time deposits and other primarily  includes
investments in credit funds thar are measured ar NAY.
Investmaents in Funds at Net Asset Value Per Share.
Equity securities and debt instruments, at fair value include
investments in funds thar are measured ar NAV of the
investment fund. The firm uses NAV 1o measure the fair
value of fund investmems when (i) the fund investment does
not have a readily determinable fair value and (i) the MAV of
the investment fumnd is caleulared in 2 manner consistent with
the measurement  principles  of  investment  company
accounting, including measurement of the investrents at fair
value.

Substantially all of the firm's investmemts in funds at NAV

consist of investrments in firmesponsored  private equity,
credin, real estare and hedpe funds where the fiem co-invests
with third-party investors,

Peivate equity funds primarily invest in a broad range of
industries worldwide,  including  leveraged  buyouts,
rt'\:':lpil:lli.'_'.l!in::u:ls, mvestments  and  distressed
investments. Credic funds generally invest in loans and ocher
fixed income instruments and are focused on providing
private high-vield capital for leveraped and management
buyout transactions, recapitalizations, financings,
refinancings, acquisitions and restructurings for  peivate
equity firms, private family companics and corporate issuers,
R.t-:l| estabe F1|n|:|s :i:wq:.l r’t)l‘bﬂ]l}', Fn'im:rjl}' i real esfate
companies, lcan ponfolios, debt recapitalizations and
property. Substantially all private equity, credic and real
egate funds are closed-end funds in which the firm’s
investments are generally net eligible for  redemption.
Distributions will be received from these [unds as the
underlving assets are liquidated or distribured, che timing of
which 15 uncertain.

E'-]'I:m'l h

The fiem also invests in hedge funds, primarily mulc-
disciplinary hedge funds char employ a fundamental borom-
up invesment approach acros various asset classes and
strategics. The firm"s invesments in hedpge funds primarily
incluode interests where the underlying assets are illiquid in
nature, and proceeds from redemprions will nor be received
until the underlving assets are liquidated or distributed, the
timing of which is uncertain.

The table below presents the fair valve of investments in
funds at MAV and the related unfunded commirments,

Fie Vo of Linfomaied
£ w mailons Irfve TS Coaninimmants
As of December 2024
Prrivate aquity funcs 5 =1 % 432
Craisdit fungks 1,281 ]
Hisdge funds n -
Rl @slabe funcs 2| 1548
Tatal 5 2547 § 955
st of Discaribeist HIE
Private equity funcs 5 875 & 484
Credil fungs 1,733 248
Hiegge lunds L L] -
Real estate funcs 1] [
Tirasl £ T & a7

Goidman Sachs 2004 Form 10K 1T
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 8.
Loans

Loans includes (i) loans held for investment thar are
accounted for at amartized cost net of allowance lor loan
losses or ar fair value wnder the fair valoe option and (i)
loans held for sale that are accounted for at the lower of cost
or [air value. Interest on loans is recognized over the life of
the loan and is recorded on an accrual basis,

The table below presents information abom loans.

Adnodmesd Faa Hald Foe

& endlang Comy Wk b1 Tena
As of December 2024
Lasn Type
Cavpante § zaEED § 467 & 816 § TR
Commencip real estate 28,590 424 485 79,789
Resicental nepl esinte 22,243 378 = 15969
Securites-based 16477 - = 15477
Criher colisteralined 74,008 - 36 107
Consurmir;

Instaliment - = Tl M

Cradi cards 18,515 - 1788 2403
rhas 1,880 & &4 2,008
Total loans, gross 181,581 L[] 353% 200,808

Aborvanicn fior kan s i = = . )
Tatal koans £ W76 § 6460 § 3636 § 196 300
s o Drgmreriba 2T
Loan Type
Coiporate § d3g66 5 TS0 B 1B § 356M4
Comimencisl real estate 25,025 S 4 26,009
Fegickential nesl es1oe 21243 4,145 - 25,388
Securitws-based 14,81 - - 14
O e ol rali Te T, T anm s} 02 FE
Consumar;
Instalment 250 = 3048 3,
Lo cards 17432 = 1R 19
Orthax 1313 128 152 1,613
Total kpans, gross 1148 [ 2027 ER 40
Abpwrson Tor ean Dsses 15 05 = = 16, 60

Totsl loans £ ifgman £ GA0A £ F007 613558

172 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K

In the table above:

* Loans held for investmenmt that are accounted for ar
amortized cost include net deferred fees and costs, and
unamertized premivms and discounts, which are amortized
over the life of the loan, These amounts were less than 1%
of loans accounted for at amortized cost as of both
Decerber 2024 and December 2023,

Substantially all loans had Moacing interest rates as of both
December 2024 and December 2023,

During 2024, the firm sold the seller financing loan
poertfclio (included in installment loansl, The net carrving
value of such loans at the time of the sale was not material,

During 2023, the firm sold $3.24 billion of the Marcus loan
portfolio (included in installment loans).

* During 2023, the firm sald :lpp:rl:m:il:ﬂ:lcl}' 54.0 billion of
the GreenSky loan portfolio (included in installment loans)
and during 2024, sold the remaining GreenSky loan
portolio of $3.69 billion.

Dwring 2023, the firm cransferred  approximarely
sz_ﬂ hi“iuli uf I|"|:- oM r.'u-hr.a:lkictl 1.'I"L'dil L‘.ﬁr‘d pc‘u'lfuliu [ £)
held for sale. During 2024, we entered into an agreement 1o
transition the GM credit card program to another issuer.
The transition is expected o be completed in the third
quarer of 2025,

* During 1023, the firm purchased a portfolic of
approximately $15.0 billion of private equity capital call
credit facilities (including approximately $9.0 billion of
funded loans) from the FDNC's asction of Signature Bank s
loans.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following is a desceiprion of the loan types in the table
above:

* Corporate. Corporate loans includes term leans, revalving
lines of credit, letrer of credin facilivies and bridpe loans,
and are principally wsed for operating and  general
COfpoTale pUrposes, of in connection with acquisitions
Corporate loans are secured (typically by a senior lien on
the assets of the borrower) or unsecured, l:le:pv.-.lh.ﬁllg o the
lean purpose, the risk profile of the borrower and other
factors,

* Commercial Real Estate. Commercial real estate loans
includes originated loans that are directly or indirectly
secured by horels, retail stores, mulifamily houvsing
complexes and commercial and industrial propemies
Commercial real estate leans also includes loans extended
1o cliems who warchouss assers thar are directly or
indirectly backed by commercial real estate. In addicion,
commercial real estate incledes loans FH.'IH.']'I'.I!I’!d |‘.|:|.' the
firm.

* Residential Real Estate. Resdential real estate loans
primarily inclodes loans extended to wealth management
clients and 1o clients whoe warehouse assets thar are directly
or indirectly secured by residential real estate. In addition,
residential real estate includes loans purchased by the firm.

Securities-Based. Securities-based loans includes loans
that are secured 11:.' stocks, I‘.ium;h, rtual Ennu:!x, and
exchange-traded funds, These loans are primarily extended
to the firm"s wealth management clients and used for
purposes other than puechasing, carrving or teading maggin
stocks, Securities-based loans require borrowers to post
additional collateral on a daily basis [daily  margin
requirement)  based om  changes in the  underlying
collateral s fair value.

EDINETOOOO
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# Other Collateralized. Other collateralized loans includes
lcans that are backed by specific collateral (other than
m'llril‘ﬂ'!ﬂ'l'ﬂm! h:llﬂ “JTJ'(' lIH'!I'I' i! 2@ d:lll.:r' I'Illlfrjll.
requirement and real estave loans). Such loans are exzended
to cliems who warchouss assers that are directly or
indirectly secured by corporate loans, consumer loans amd
other assets, Other collateralized loans also includes loans
to imvestment funds (managed by thied pareties) thar are
collaceralized by capital commitments of the funds'
inw:sh::lrs Or A%l I'bﬂll;l. l;].' I]u- I'..m;l, A% wr|.| a% |::|L|'|¢r
secured loans extended o the firm's wealth management
and corporate clients.

Installment. Installmemt kans are unsecured loans chat
were originaved by the firm.

* Credit Cards., Credit card loans are loans made pursuant
to pevolving lines of credit isswed o consumers by the firm.

* Other. Other loans primarily includes unsecured loans
extendsd to wealth management clients and unsecurad
consumer loans purchased by the firm.

See MNote 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value
measurement policies, valuation technigques and significant
inputs used 1o determine the Eaie value of loans, and Mote §
for information about loans within the Fair value hierarchy,

Credit Quality

Risk Assessment. The firm's risk assessmemt process
includes evaluating the credit quality of its loans by Risk, For
corporate loans and a majority of securities-based, real
esate, other collateralized and other loans, the firm performs
credit analyses  which icorporate  mitial  and  ongoing
evaluations of the capacity and willingness of a borrower 1o
meet its financial obligations. These credit evaluations are
performed on an annual basis or more [requently if deemed
necessary as a result of events or changes in circumstances,
The firm determines am intermal credic rating for the
borrower by considering the results of the credit evaluations
and amumptions with respect to the nature of and outlook
for the borrower's indusiey and the economic environment.
For collateralized loans, the firm  also  takes into
consideration collateral received or ather credit support
arrangements when determining an intermal credit rating, For
comsumer loans and for loans that are not assigned an
invernal credit rating, including LS. residemial morigage
loans extended to wealth management clients, the [irm
reviews certain key metrics, including, but not limited 1o, the
Fair lsaac Corporation (FICO) credit scores, loan to value
ratios, delinguency status, collateral value and other risk
factors.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The tble below presents pross loanms by an inteenally
determined public rating agency equivalent ar other credit
rnrlrit.'s .'-II'I':! !I'I[' ﬂ]lll’l‘l“fﬂliiﬂl '!FE m’llml HIHI. L'H]mi'Llrl'{i
loamns.

vt Hondmestivesnt.  Othes Matmoal

£ malbons Gt Candes Liraatd Tatal
As of December 2024
Accounting Method
Amortined cost $ 113885 5 46586 § 32300 § 187881
Far vl 546 =B L] 5,460
Haid for salo BhG 145 1811 31528
Total $118360 § 47106 § 38310 § 200,860
Lo Tiype
Corporaie & 8601 § am 5 1§ 2812
Baal ecsinte;
Commanial 1817 11,514 100 26,785
Fascental 10227 3378 12,367 26, 065
Securites-based 12662 20 3,445 16477
Onthas codiaterslined B3 800 10,442 TED 7. 107
Congurmer:

Ingialiment = = re] mn
Creni Ghnds - - 21,403 1403
Orhgsr 1.799 175 105 2079
sl il arel JiZW ilnones
Securied 8% e 41% BI%
Ursetuted ™ 10% 5% 1%
Jettal 106% 10g% Joos Joote

A8 ol Decariues AIEE
Aooounting Method
Afrrtined ol £ B3N 5 200 & 29351 § 174,805
i el 1212 1213 & 081 6,508
Held for sale 255 1,628 5,144 1027
M 5 W?Q'I 5 570§ .EE’?H i Iﬂﬁﬁ
Lown Ty
Corpadnie F 9406 § MM § 138 § 3hET
sl eoinie!
Cairiiicial 12047 1350 as7 28,028
Pasidential 107 an7 11400 25,388
Secyritas-based 0 561 3005 14,61
Orihger collatanaliped HLEE 1320r 447 G
COnsurmarn
Ingialment - - 3208 3,258
Cristil cards - - 18,361 19,241
nhas ] 15l 41 1613
Tot 5 G7ie & Erodi & aein § iohas
Securad MN% 2% s 1%
Ursecured a% a% G0 19%
Taital (N (N el O

1748 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

In the vable above:

* Substantially all residential real estate loans included in the
other merrics/uneted catepory consists of loans extended
to wealth managemem clients. As of both December 2024
and December 2023, substantially all of such loans had a
loan-to-value ratio of less than 80% and were performing
in accordance with the contractual terms. Additionally, as
of both December 2024 and December 2023, the vas
majority of such loans had a FICD credit score of greater
than 740,

* The vast :n:i:srilf of securities-based loans included in the
other metrics/unrated category had a loan-te-value ratio of
less than 80% and were performing in accordance with the
contractuzal terms as of both December 3024 and December
2023,

For mstallment and credit card loans included in the other
metrics'unrated category, the evaleation of credic qualicy
incorporates the borrower's FICO credit score. FICO credit
scores are pericdically refreshed by the firm vo assess the
updated creditworthiness of the borrower, See “Vintage®
below for information abour installment and credit card

leans by FICO credi scores.

The firm als assigns a repulatory risk rating to its loans
based on the definitions provided by the US. federal bank
regulatory agencies, Total loans included 93% of bans as of
December 2024 and 92% al loans as of December 2023 char
were raved pass’non-criticized.
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Vintage. The tables below present pross loans accounted for s o Dpcmmine: 2073
at amortized cost (excluding installment and credit card e uz‘:.:'r
loans) by an imernally determined public rating agency Sy noiliona sl et i Tow
equivalent or other crediv metrics and origination vear for ey 3 2475 % 192 % % § 4400
term loans., Ee 1.293 R84 - 4,507
Frr g 4,045 - ama
As o Dibcssivobisr 2024 e - 2,008 2,404
Irreaairneni. b m_'.. il bk} 4% 1,500 . 1,964
B o Grede Gmde Ui Tornt 043 o2 aaskar a7t 2100 - 24m
Hed § 1447 5 25 § -~ § amm Revohing 3859 a385 20 __un
. 152 1448 _ 2968 Copaune 5,125 24,7085 36 33,866
- - 2084 2813 ] 553 1,847 33 2,138
. o=t 2244 N 2488 F] 1,281 a3 - A
N P 1287 _ 1388 2 1,134 2881 - ams
FO1 0r earber 378 1410 - 2286 e 21 124 - Ll
Revailing 4001 G - 2T 23 A3 el - L6
Revaolving comveried to term - i - 6 T o i &2 il - 1,506
Corporate [E - F ] 1 bl Revadving 123 a9 XA HLEID
= a8 1668 T e Fieretviosg comvtad Lo s 23 = - 2l
e A% 1282 i 2331 Cearanarcal sl ssme 11,830 V3,847 3T 25,005
sz 1,018 164 - ek . s 5 T L
2001 w4 1901 C zs L 103 a1 2E97 2008
o m Toh - 1 - b e
2019 0¢ parke amz 738 1 1728 . : = o bl
Revalving WA 2B IR EE ana & i ¥
Reveiling comernd 18 e 2m 05 - e 2013 o sasier - 20 4 774
Commeraal real estate 17,510 11,338 =0 28,59 Frvbing 3813 2,853 - a5
e T o 1748 2043 Fesiderzial roal extese 10,871 3210 TaE2 21,243
O FRT a 1414 1847 A 8 - - 8
o2 o 45 2837 2670 2z & - - 5
oo F 122 2588 2741 21 o paciar - o - o
. Y & a7 Rewirhvien 10,078 258 WOEY 14,305
21kt or marer i@ oy o Secants-hesed 105641 561 A0 14620
Rewobing ERL) 258m - e 2 a2 26 M5 Al
Residential resl estate w.zar 2am [T - e 1.840 & g LM
Foarl] 1.628 TR 16 1622 i 4l 1. kiS5 - 2.5
A i - - 5 s 1256 A6 k- 1,757
P, 5 - - 5 2019 177 b 9 280
i or parber k-] - F] 018 o parker 438 =] il 523
Revalving 11,004 220 3478 14,783 Revnhing 38,505 2243 1 43,848
Becuritiet-Baded 12662 20 3,485 18ATT Rervnhving comeried to term 1,161 = = 1,161
Ftaa 5,053 2,008 151 7083 Otfes collatesalized 47,870 12,75 73 B1,105
03 2816 1278 150 524 e [ 7 - T
T2 10 144 r- 1,06 ey &7 ) - %
ol 545 T3 72 1357 Fr 6 8 5 65
T 54 Sh6 - 1446 0 - 3 na -3
F01 B or earber 188 45 = 266 209 - - 4 4
Rewolving 61,373 BE1 1% LB SEA 2008 o eachar - - a 3
Revolying comveried 1o ierm AL b - BDE Fagrasrhy By [ - ]
Other collateralized (k] 10,088 4n TA008 D gl il FEL] 1.5
oaa 57 T - T30 Taenl L 0iag4 4 Ei000 § 11880 £157100
x: ‘: 1: - 12 Peicentapge of oo LT anE T 100
g 16 - 18 E
A - 2 - 2
Revaing 1,337 B4 1,421
Othar 1,753 175 16 1,550
Todal 1 'I'I&ﬂ £ ﬁ £ E& 5 172266
Percantage of lotal L % ™ 100
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The table below presents pross installmem loans accoumed
for at amortized cost by refreshed FICO credit scores and
l.TI'I.f-].IIHLiI:II'I :r\t':-lr HI'II;I r"l?** I:'"h:lil I:'Rfﬂl. I.i.ﬂ]'l* I'l} T‘TFHhI‘d
FIOOD credin scores,

Craanr chan of Leaa chas

& i i el v 66D L Tezal
As of December 2024

Credit cards ] 13,0900 § 6525 § 19615
Percentage 7% 33% 100%
isiof Docermirer 200

A g il 10 5 ]
002 112 18 150
2027 o esstlier 11 = ]
Instaliet 222 FI 250
Crech cors 11,118 6313 17432
Tesd 5 11341 & G341 5 1716EF
Pesonniige of tobal:

Irestalirvuest B 1% 100
Credi cangs e 8% 1003%
Totsl (] A5 100%

In the table above, credit card leans consist of revolving lines
of credit.

Credit Concentrations. The table below presemis the
concentration of gross loans by region,

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

In the vable above:

® The top five industry concentrations for corporate loans as
of December 2024 were 24% for technology, media &
telecommunications, 16% for diversified induscrials, 14%
for real estate, 9% for financial institutions and 9% for

healchcare.

® The top five industry concentrations for corporate loans as
of December 2023 were 25% for technology, media &
telecommunications, 17% for diversified induserials, 13%
for real estate, 11% for consumer & retail and 9% for
II['.HI!I'II:'HI.'E.

Monaccrual, Past Due and Modified Loans. Loans
accounted for at amortized cost (other than credit card loans)
are placed on nonaccrual status when it is probable thar the
firm will not collect all principal and interest due under the
contractuzal terms, regardless of the delinguency gatus or if a
loan is past due for 90 days or more, unless the loan is both
well collateralized and in the process of collection, At that
time, all accrued bur uncollected interest is reversed agains
interest ncome amd interest  subsequently  collected s
recopnized on a cash basis to the extent the loan balance is
deemed collectible. Otherwise, all cash received is used 1o

reduce the outstanding loan balance. A loan is considerad

Car
$in mdong 1::::3 Arprcas EMEA A Tool past due when a principal or interest paymem has not been
A3 ol Duceenbeer 2024 made according to its contractual terms. Credit card loans
Copoese § 28,972 : ﬁ 8% 100% are not placed on nonaccrual status and accroe inverest wneil
Commencial el estes 29,789 1 4% 100% s ey )

S 5,680 as, o P the loan is paid in full or is charged off.
Siieuthin b 18477 % - 0ot The table below presents information about past due loans.
Other collitarslized 75,107 BE% 1% % 100%
Conmumer
90 days
Irestaliment 0 10irs = = 0o % malond F0-E0 daya o e Tens
Credi cands 403 100 - = 100% AsolD her 2024
Lot 2000 o % =__100% Coiporate $ - % 5§ 15
ol BIOORMS R M % W00 mencid real estate 186 286 472
' vt G Resideniisl renl estote 3 L] k2l
Corponess § InET4 3% 29% a% 100% Seecur L - &
Commerial resl estee PE0FE i 17% I 00% - 5 &
Rapadantul res it F5.3 f0 d i 100
Securces-based 14521 T 2% 1% 100%: Crasdil cands 417 A58 B
Other collaterslived BETTS @/% 1% 1% 100% Tatal E3 812 5 Th0 § 1302
Consumer
[——— 3733 100 N - R Total divided by gross loans at amortized cost 0Fe
prean e - T TR o Decamber 023
Chhar 1813 ol ) el k)
Lo 5 45 i 118
Toea Sllddol ___Adh 1A% % 0% Commencinl real astate 3 T A
Resideniial repl estate 12 4 i
Seouitas-besed ) - ?
Okt collsnenbond o ¥ 16
Congurm:
Instalirssnt [ 13
el cands £ i R B
A Pt 7 11 19
Toasl £ i § a4 & 1k
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below peesenis information abour nonscerual
loamns,
A3 of Decomiee

& mdfang 2024 FOFI
Corparati & 1817 & 1778
Cormmusncisl roal asiats 00 1,468
Pesicental nesl esnte 104 k]
Sl 2 -
Onhaesr collataralined TeF ik
Orihuge 12 17
Tatal 5 3sks £ 441
Tatal divided by gross kaans at smontised cost 1.9% 2A%
In the table above:

* Nonaccrual loans inclueded 5322 million as of December
2024 and 5600 million as of December 2023 of loans that
were 30 davs or more past due.

Loans that were 90 days or more past due and still accruing
were not material as of both December 2024 and December
2023,

Allowance for loan losses as a percemtage of rotal
nonacerual boans was 127.8% as m‘ Dﬂ;rml’!cr X244 and
122.0% as of December 2023,

* Commercial real estate, residential real estate, securities
based and other collaeralized loans are  collageral
dependent loans and the repayment of such loans is
g_r.-urr.'tny expected to be Fu'-::l'.'i:lﬂ:l by the Qperation or cile
of the underlying collateeal. The allowance for credin losses
for such nonaccrual loans is determined by considering the
fair valee of the collateral less estimared cost o sell, if
applicable. See WNote 4 for further information abow fair
value measurements.

The firm may modify the terms of a loan agreement for a
borrower  experiencing  financial  difficulty.  Such
modifications may include, among other things, forbearance
of interest or principal, pavment extensions or interest rate
reductions.

The rable below presents the careving value of loans, as of
both December 2024 and December 2023, that were medified
i!LI:I':iII.B either 2024 or M3,

Wit Endod Decarmbe:
£ i Frdiiews: 2024 20
Moo fied oans ] 1208 & Bif

In the vable above:

® | can medifications during both 2024 and 2023 were
primarily in the form of term extensions. These extensions
increased the weighted average term by 19 months for
loans modified during 2024 and by 16 months for loans
modified during 2023,

Substantially all of the modified loans were related 1o
corporate loans, commercial real estare loans and credit
cards. Modified loans represented approximarely 2% of
corporate loans (at amaortized cost), and approximately 1%
of both commercial real estate loans (ar amortized cost)
amd credit card loans (at amornized cost).

* Lending commitments related to modified loans were
5156 millicn as of December 2024 and were not material as

of Decem ber 2023,

* Dwring 2024, loans that defaulted after being modified
were not material. During 2023, the Liem charped off
approximately $100 millicn of loans that had defaolied
after being modified. Substantially all of the remaining
modified loans were performing in accordance with the
madified contractual terms as of both Decenber 2024 and
December 2023,

Gofdman Sechs 2024 Form 10K 177
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Allowanes for Cradit Losses

The firm's allowance for crediv losses consists of the
allowance for losses on leans and lending commitments
accounted for ar amortized cost. Loans and  lending
commitmenis accounted for at fair value or accounted for at
the lower of cost or fair value are not subject to an allowance
for credit losses.

Te determine the allewance for credit losses, the firm
classifies its loans and lending commitments accounted for at
amortzed cost into wholesale and consumer  porntfolios.
Thess ponfolios represent the level ar which the firm has
developed and documented its methodolopy to determine the
allowance for credit losses. The allewance for credit losses is
measured on a collective bags for loans that exhibic saimilar
risk characteristics using a modeled approach and on an
asset-specific basis for loans that do not share similar risk
characreristics.

The allowance for credit losses takes inte account the
weighted average of a range of forecasts of fumure economic
conditions over the expected life of the loans and lending
commitments, The expected life of each lean or lending
commitment is determined based on the contractual term
adjusted for extension options or demand features, or is
modeled in the case of revolving credit card loans. The
forecasts include bascline, favorable and adverse econcmic
scenarnios over 3 three-vear pericd. For loans with expecied
lives beyond three years, the model reverts 1o historical loss
information hased on a non-linear modeled approach, The
forecasted economic scenarios consider a number of risk
factors relevant to the wholesale and consumer porifolios
described below. The firm applies judgment in weighing
individual scemarios each quarter based onm a variety of
factors, including the firm®s internally derived econcmic
outlook, market  consensus, recent  macroeconomic
conditions and industry trends,

The allowance for credit losses alse includes qualitative
components which allow manapgement to reflect the uncertain
nature of economic forecasting, capture  uncertaimty
regarding model inputs, and account for model impracision
and concentration risk. The qualivative facrors considered by
mamagement include, among others, changes and trends in
loan  portfolios, uncertaimties  associated  with  the
macroeconomic  and  geopolitical  environments,  credit
concentrations, changes in volume and severity of past due
and criticized loans, idiosyncratic events and deterioration
within an mdustry or region.

178 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Management™s estimate of credit losses entails judgment
about the expected life of the loan and lean collecabilicy ar
the reporting dates, and there are uncertaimtics inherent in
those judgments. The allowance for credit losses is subject 1o
a povernance process that involves senior management wichin
Risk and Controllers. Personnel within Risk are responsible
for forecasting the econcmic variables that underlie the
economic scenarios that are used in the modeling of expected
credit losses. While manapement uses the best informarion
available to determine this estimate, future adjustments to the
allowance may be necessary based on, among other things,
changes in the economic environment or variances between
actual results and the original assumptions used.

The table below presents gross loans and  lending
commitments accounted for at amenized cost by porfolio.

A ol Dacernber
Furel Fiirel

Labneng

£ w1 il Laans Commilmants Loasa  Comwritinents
W lasals

Copome & mBEg § 166662 5 333555 5 141,976

Cammercal real estule 0,860 4,868 RO 3,379

Rescential real estate .33 1,042 21243 1,431

Secur tes-baned 16,477 1542 14621 1]

{nher calatara iped L0008 KRR KL 61105 Pl

rthar 1.950 672 1.3 i
Consumar

Instalment - - 50 1

Lot sy 1085 63,781 1T 5. a7 8

M Im'l 5 M i Il-r.al‘ﬁ i I3 RE

In the table above, wholesale loans included 53,65 billion as
of December 2024 and $4.14 billion as of Decemnber 2023 of
nonaccrual loans for which the allowance for credit losses
was measured on an asser-specific basis. The allowance for
credit losses on these loans was 3735 million as of December
2024 and 5778 million as of December 2023, These loans
included 5585 million as of December 2024 and 5625 million
as of December 2023 of loans which did not require a reserve
2% the loan was deemed 1o be recoverable.

See Mote 183 for fumher information abour lending

commitmans,
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The following is a description of the methodolopy used 1o
calculate the allowance for credit losses:

Wholesala. The allowance for credit losses for wholesale
loans and lending commitments char exhibic similar risk
charactenstics s measured wiing a moedeled approach. These
models determine the probability of defaule and loss given
default based on various risk factors, including internal credit
ratings, industry  defaoll and lows dara, expected  life,
macroeconomic indicators, the borrower's capacity to meet
its financial obligations, the barrower's country of risk and
industey, loan seniority and collateral wvpe. For lending
commitments, the methodology also  considers  the
probability of drawdewns or funding, In addition, for leans
backed by real estate, risk factors inclede the loan-to-value
ratio, debr service ratio and home price index. The most
significant inputs 1o the forecast model for wholesale loans
and lending commitments include unemployment rates, GDP,
credit spreads, commercial and industrial delinguency rates,
short- and long-term interest raves, and oil prices.

The allowance for loan losses lor wholesale leans that do not
share similar risk chaeacrerisics, such as nonaccrual loans, is
calculated using the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the loan®s effective rate, the ohservable
marker price of the loan, or, in the case of collaeral
dependent loans, the fair value of the collateral less estimated
costs 1o sell, if applicable. Wholesale loans are charged off
against the allowance for loan lesses when deemed 1o be
uncallectible.

Consumer. The allowance for credit losses for consumer
loans that exhibit similar risk characteristics is caboulated
using a modeled approach which classifies consumer loans
inte pools based on barrower-related and exposure-related
characteristics that differentiate a pool’s risk characteristics
from other pools. The factors considered in determining a
pocl are generally consistent with the risk characteristics used
for internal credic risk measurement and management and
include key metrics, such as FICO credit scores, delinguency
status, loan vintage and macroeconomic indicators, The most
sipnificant inputs 1o the forecast model for consumer loans
include wnemployment rates and delinquency rates. The
expected life of revolving credit card loans is determined by
modeling expected furture draws and the timing and amount
urn.'.im‘lrnu'n[s :Ihﬂdlﬂj [1=] 1.'“" E’III'IdI'C! bﬂ1'.llﬂ.'l'. TI'II' nrj:rt CIIEE
not recognize an allowance for credit losses on credic card
lending commitments as they are cancellable by che firm,

Credit card loans are charged off when they are 180 days past
due. Installment loans were charged off when they were 120
days past due.
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Allewanea for Credit Losses Rellforward

The table below presents information abowt the allowance
for credit losses,

5 5 o Wholtaals  Comdurmer Tang
Year Ended Decembar 2024

Allowansce for loan lorses

Bagrinng balance § 257 § 2AM § 5050
Chasge-clla {188} 14716 1,840}
Rbcor g LFa] 104 i
Mt tehangi-cHalinssess s 48} [1.367) 11,415}
Preraamin 1292} 1,540 1248
Crihir {137} (B0} {217}
Endingbalance E 009 s RS 48
Allowance ratio 1.2% 11.1% 4%
Nat charge-off raths - 1.8% A%
Allowanes far losses on lending comm imenis

Bagenag balince 3 axh g - § (=]
Prenaagn 58 ol 58
Crthar (Fd} - (4}
Erding balanes H B4 5 - g B4

Year Encedd Deconcker 7023
Allowances for losn lorss

Bagenag halincs § IEED % 281 5 =3- k!
Chmge-cifa HEE 21 0,70
P Corves e L BE 153
_Nat icharge-offalirecoveries HO0 U 0dEs L E4E
Pravaicn [T B 1181
LCrhar 261 = L1261
Ending balsnce P 2576 § 2474 § EOR0
Allewanes ratio 16% 14,0% 2.9%
Nt charge -off ratia 03% 5,5% 0.0%
Allewranice for loseee on larding somm bments

Bepimning balanco 1 s [ 31 Ti4
Prossaion B [ ] (4 1%
Ohar 1 = 1
Enaing balence (T - § 60
In the rable above:

* Ohher primarily represented the reduction 1o the allowance
relared o boans rransferred to held for sale.

# The allowance ratio is calculated by dividing the allowance

for loan losses by gross loans accounted for at amontized
COSt,

® The net charge-off ratio is calculated by dividing net
[charge-oflsiirecoveries by average pross loans accounted
for at amonized cost.
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Forecast Model Inputs as of Decembar 2024
When modeling expected credit losses, the firm employs a

weighted, multi-scenario forecass, which includes baseline,
adverse and favorable economic scenarios. As of December
2024, this multi-scenario forecast was weighted towards the
bascline and adverse economic scenarios,

T|bq.- I:I:Ic h-|m\' prﬁsﬁlls the El:mct'a.slrd LIS, unem |:|||:l3rn1r1:|L
and UL5 GDP growth rates used in the baseline economic
scenano of the forecast model.

Foriscast Tor Thi: quariar &noed;

Jang H25 A4
Dmcombsr HI25 A4%
Jung W26 43%

Growth in U5 GOP
Foescant Tof Thes s

A5 20%
206 1.7%
2007 1.7%

The adverse economic scenario of the forecast model reflects
a global recession in the first quarrer of 2025 through the fest
quarter of 2026, resulting in an economic contraction and
rising wnemplovment rates. In this scemario, the US.
unemployment race peaks ar approximartely 7.4% during the
Lirst quamer of 2026 and the maximum decline in the
quarterly U5, GDP relative 1o the fournth quarter of 2024 is
approximately 2.7%, which occurs during the fourth quarter

ol 2025,
In the table above:

* L5, unemployment rate represents the rate forecasted as of
the respective quarter-end.

= Growth in ULS, GDP represents the year-over-year growth
rate [orecasted for the respective vears.

* While the U.5, unemployment and LS, GDP growth rates
are significant inputs to the forecast model, the model
comtemplates a variety of other inputs across a range of
scemirios (o provide a forecast of future economic
conditions. Given the complex mature of the forecasting
process, no single economic variable can be wiewed in
isclation and independently of orher inputs.

1680 Goidman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Allewanea for Credit Losses Commantary

Year Ended December 2024, The allowance for credit
losses decreased by 5330 million during 2024, primarily
reflecting a reserve release relating to the wholesale portlolio
due o improved macroeconomic environment, partially
offsat by growth in the credit card portfolio,

Charge-offs for 2024 for wholesale loans (principally relared
to term loans originated in 2022 and 2021) were primarily
related 1o corporate loans and charpe-olls for consumer loans
were primarily related vo credic cards.

Year Ended December 2023, The allowance for credit
losses decreased by 5847 million during 2023, reflecting a net
release related to the GreenSky installment loan portlolic
(including a reserve reduction af 5637 million related to the
partial sale and transfer of the portfolio wo held for sale), a
reserve reduction of 5442 million asociated with the sale of
Marcus loans, a reserve reduction af $160 million related 1o
the transfer of the GM co-branded credit card portfolio o
held for sale, a reserve release in the consumer portfolio
based on actual repayment experience and lower balances in
carporate loans due to sales and paydowns, partially offset
by asser-specific provisions and ratings downgrades in the
whaolesale porifolioc and seascning of the credic card
portfolio,

Charge-offs for 2023 for wholesale loans {principally relatad
ta term loans oniginated in 2021 and revolving loans) were
primarily related 1o corporate loans and charge-offs for
consumer loans were primarily related vo credic cards.

Estimated Fair Value

The table below presents the estimated fair valoe of loans
that are not accounted for at fair value and in what level of
the fair value hierarchy they would have been classified if
they had been included in the firm’s fair value hierarchy.

Caryng EfL i Fair Vakag

£ milions Velue  Lovel?  Leval 3 Tatal
As of December 2024

Amorized ol 187216 £09.700 L0840 £ 180,330
Hisld o sl & 36535 £ 2008 £ G600 3 36N
A o D ribetsr PO

Amorized cost S1698XS SE04R5 SEI2ED £ 1M.TT3
Hisld o S8l S 7027 5 A% 5 3008 £ 7030

See Note 4 for an overview of the firm's [air value
measurement policies, valuation wechniques and significant
inputs vsed 1o determine the fair value of loans, and Noe 5
for information about loans within the Faie value hisearchy.
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MNote 10.
Fair Value Option

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value

In addition to trading assets and liabilitics, and certain
investments and loans, the firm accounts for certain of its
other financial assers and liabilities ac fair valoe, substantially
all wnder the fair value option, The primary reasons for
electing the fair value QPLIoN are to:

* Reflect economic events in earnings on a timely basis;

= Mitigate wolatility in eamings from using different
measurement antributes (eg., transfers of linancial asses
accounted for as financings are recorded at fair value,
whereas the related secured financing would be recorded
on an accroal basis absent electing che fair value option);
and

* Address simplification and  cost-benefit  considerations
le.g., accounting, for hybrid financial instruments ar fair

value in their emtirety versus bifurcation of embedded
derivatives and hedpe accounting for debt hosts).

Hybrid fimancial instruments are instruments that congain
bifurcatable embedded derivatives and do not require
sertlement by physical delivery of nonfinancial assers (e,
physical commodities), Unless the firm has elected to account
far the entire |t:,'hri:| financial instrument 2t fair value under
the fair value option, the embedded derivative is bifurcaved
from the associated howt conteact, the denvative 15 accoumed
for ar fair value and the host contract is accounted for at
amortized cost, adjusted for the effective portion of any fair
value hedpes.

Other financial assets and habilities accounted for at fair
value under the fair value option include:

"errul‘t‘]:;l!u:' agrecments and 5|||‘.’ﬂ.!;m!i:"}' all  resale
ARICCmenis;

* Certain securities borrowed and loaned transactions

* Cemain customer and other receivables and certain other
assets and liabilities;

* Cepain time 1;|:-p|::-5i1s fdrptnsils with no stated :nahlril::.' are
not eligible for a fair value option election), including
structured  certificates of deposit, which are  hybrid
financial instruments;

* Substantially all other secured financings, including
structured financing arranpements and transfers of asssts
accounted For as linancings; and

* Cenain unsecured  short- and  longterm  borrowings,
xll.l‘::.t.;u:lli:l“].' all of which are ||:,-'|.1|'i;| financial instruments.
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See Mote 4 for an overview of the firm's fair value
measurement policies, valuation technigques and significant
inputs wsed o determine the fair value of ather financial
assets and liabilities, and Note 5 for information about other
fimancial assets and liabilities within the Eaie value hierarchy.

Gains and Losses on Other Financial Assets and
Liabilities Accounted for at Fair Value Under the Fair
Value Option

The table below presents the gains and losses recognized in
earnings as a result of the election o apply the fair value
option to certain financial assets and liabilities.

Woir Ended Dacaenbar
5 madgr 2034 2023 2088
Ursecired Sharl-wnm barowings § [274) 5 A0 § 406N
Ursecured long-term bomowings (2288} aan G54

b fama}  om 1o
Total (6400} & 5 050 &1

In the table above:

* Cains/{losses) were substantially all included in marker
making,

* Gains/{losses)  exclude conreactual  interest, which s
included in interest income and interest expense, for all
instruments cther than hybrid financial instruments, See
Nowe 23 for further information about interest income and
interest expense,

* Gains/{bosses) included in unsecured shart- and long-term
borrowings were substantially all related o the embedded
derivative component of hybrid [inancial instruments,
These gains and loses would have been recognized under
other US. GAAP even if the firm had not elected to
account for the entire hybrid Gimancial instrument ar Lair
value.

® Gains/{losses) included in other were primarily related to
resale and repurchase agreements, deposits and other
secured financings,

* Other Binancial assets and labilities at fair valoe are
frequently economically hedged with trading assets and
liabilities, Accordingly, gains or loses on such other
financial assets and liabilivies can be partally offzer by
gains or losses on trading assets and liabilies. As a resulr,
gains or losses on other financial assets and liahilities do
not mecessanily represent the overall impact on the firm’s
results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.
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Gaing/[losses) on reading, assers and liabilities accounted for
at fair value under the fair value option are included in
market nl:ll:i:llil_. Soe Note & for furl:]:u:r information abouat
gains{losses) from market making, See Note 8 for
information abour pains/{losses] on equity securities and
Note 9 for information abour pains’(losses) on loans which
are accounted for at fair value under the fair value aption,

Long-Term Debt Instruments

The difference between the appregare convractual principal
amount and the related fair value of long-tesm other secured
financings, for which the fair value option was elected was
not marerial as of December 2024, and the appregate
comtractual principal amount exceeded che fair value by 5147
million as of December 2023,

The aggregate comtractual principal amount of unsecured
longterm borrowings, for which the fair value option was
elected, exceeded the relared fair value by $4.23 billion as of
December 2024 and $3.37 billion as of December 2023,

These debt instruments include both principal-protected and

non-principal-protected long-term borrowings.

Dabt Valuation Adjustment
The firm calculates the fair value of financial liabilities for
which the fair value option is elected by discounting future

cash flows at a rate which incorporates the firm's credic
spreads.

The table below presents information abour the ner del
valvation adjustment [DVA)  paina/{losses) on  financial
liabilities for which the fair value option was elected.

Vet Eraiiesd Decambar
£ mdpng 2034 2053 20

Pre-na DVA $ (35 11,155 5 1R
Alver-ias VA, $ (283} 11015 5 1403
In the table above:

* After-tax DVA is included in debr valuaion adjustment in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,

# The gains'{losses) reclassified to market making in the
consolidared statemenmts of ecarnings from accumulaced
other comprehensive income!/{loss) upon extinguishment of
such financial Liabilities were nea marterial for each of 2024,
2023 and 2022,

1682 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Leans and Lending Commitmants

The wable below presents che difference between the
aggrepate [air value and the aggrepate contractual principal
amount for loans (included in trading assets and loans in the
consolidated balance sheets) for which the fair value option
was elected.

Az of Cescomber
] 2024 Frr=]
Performing loans
Aggregate conlrectus! principal in sacess of lerwlve $ PE5 § 1 @41
Lo o monacorus] status sndfor more than 80 deys past dus

Aggregate contrectus! principal in escess of ferwalve § 2402 § 2305
Appregate b value § 148 5 1 50B

In the rable above, the apgprepate contractual principal
amount of loans on nenaccreal status andfor more than 90
days past due (which excludes loans carried at zero [air value
and considered uncollectible) exceeds the related fair value
primarily because the firm regularly purchases loans, such as
distressed loans, ar values significantly below the contraorual
principal amouns,

The total contractual  amount of  unfunded  lending
commitments for which the fair value option was elected was
5568 millian as of December 2024 and $878 million as of
December 2023, and the eelated fair value of these lending
commitments was not material as of both December 2024
and December 2023, See Mote 18 for further information
about lending, commitments.

Impact of Credit Spreads on Loans and Lending
Commitmants

The estimared net loss anributable to changes in instrument-
specific credit spreads on leans and lending commitments for
which the fair value option was elecved was not maverial for
2024, 3125 million for 2023 and 5281 million for 2022, The
firm generally calculates the fair value of loans and lending
commitments for which the fair value option is elected by
discounting future cash Nows at a rate which incorporates the
instrument-specific credit spreads. For Noating-rate loans and
lending commitments, substantially all changes in Fair value
are atrributable o changes in instrumem-specific credit
spreads, whereas  for  lived-rate  loans  and  lending
commitments, changes in fair value are also attributable o
chamges in interest rates.
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MNote 11.
Collateralized Agreements and Financings

Collateralized  agreements  are  resale  agreements  and
securities borrowed. Collateralized financings are repurchase
apreements, securities loaned and other secured flinancings.
The firm enters into these transactions in order to, among
other things, Eacilivate client acvivivies, invest excess cash,
acquire securities wo cover shom positions and finance cermain
fjrln :lrli.vil ;cs.

Collareralized apreements and financings with the same
settlement date are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis
when such transactions meet certain settlement criteria and
are subject to neiting agreements. Interest on collateralized
agreements, which s included in imterest income, amnd
collateralized financings, which is included in interest
expense, is recopnized over the life of the transaction, See
MNote 23 for further information abour interest income and
inperest expense,

Resale and Repurchase Agreemaents

A resale apreement is a rransaction in which the firm
purchases financial instruments from a seller, cypically in
exchanpe for cash, and simuhaneously enters inte an
agreement to resell the same or substantially the same
financial instruments 1o the seller ar a stated price plus
accrued interest at a furere dage.

A repurchase agreement is a transaction in which the firm
gells financial instruments to a buver, typically in exchanpe
for cash, and simultanccusly enters i an agreement 1o
repurchass the wmme or substantially the same financial
instruments from the buyer at a staved price plus accrued
interest at a future date.

Even though repurchase and resale agreements (including
“repos- and reverses-to-matuncy”™) involve che legal rransfer
of ownership of financial ingruments, they are accounted for
as financing arrangements because they require the financial
instruments 1o be repurchased or resold before or at the
maturity of the agreement. The financial  instruments
purchased or sold in resale and repurchase aprecments
typically include U5, government and agency obligations,
and investment-grade soversipn oblipations.

The firm receives financial instruments purchased under
resale agreements and makes delivery of financial instruments
sold under repurchase apreements, To  mitigare  credic
exposure, the firm monitors the market value of these
financial insgruments on a daily basis, and delivers or obtains
additional collateral due to changes in the market value of the
financial instruments, as appropriate. For resale agreerments,
the fiem typically requires collateral with a fair value
approximately squal to the carrving value of the relevant
assers in the consolidared balance sheers,
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Repurchase  agreements  and  substantially  all  resale
apreements are recorded ar fair value under the faie value
option, See Mote 5 for further information about repurchase
and resale agreements,

Securities Borrowed and Loanad Transactions

In a securities borrowed transaction, the firm borrows
securities from a counterparty in exchange for cash or
securities, When the firm  returns the securities, the
counterpanty returns the cash or securities. Interest is
generally paid pericdically over the life of the transaction,

In a securities loanad transaction, the firm lends securities 1o
a counterpamny in exchange for cash or securities. When the
counterparty returns the securities, the firm returns the cash
or securities posted as collateral. Interest is generally paid
periodically over the life of the transaction.

In a transaction where the firm lends securities and receives
securities that can be delivered or pledped as collateral, the
firm recognizes the securities received within securitics
borrowed and the obligation to return those securities within
securities loaned in the consolidated balance sheets,

The firm receives securities borrowed and makes delivery of
securities loaned. To mitigate credit exposure, the firm
moniters the market value of these secarities on a daily basis,
and delivers or obtains additional collateral due 1o changes in
the marker wvalue of the securities, as appropriate. For
securities borrowed transactions, the firm typically requires
collateral with a fair valee approximately equal o the
carrying valee of the securities borrowed transaction.

Securities borrowed and loaned within FICC financing are
recorded ar fair value under the fair valee option. See Mote §
for further information abeat securities borrowed and loaned
accounted for at fair value.

Substancially all of the securities borrowed and loaned wichin
Equities financing are recorded based on the amount of cash
collateral advanced or received plus accrued interest. The
firm also reviews such securitics borrowed to determine if an
allowance for credit losses should be recorded by taking imo
consideration the fair value of collateral received, As these
agreements generally can be terminated on demand, they
exhibit linle, if any, sensitivity to changes in interest rates.
Therefore, the carrving value of  such  agresments
approximates fair wvalve. As these apgrecments  are  not
accounted for ar fair value, they are not included in the firm’s
fair value hierarchy in Motes 4 and 5. Had these agreements
been included in the firm™s faie value hierarchy, they would
have been classified in level 1 as of both December 2024 and
December 2023,
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Offzatting Arrangements

The table below presents resale and repurchase agreements
and securitics borrowed and loaned transactions included in
the consolidated balance sheets, as well as the amoums not
offset in the consolidated balance sheets,

Aseets Lishiltme
Resaly  Securites Repurchasd  Sacuiities
& milons agreements  bormowed  agiesments loaned

As of December 2029

Included in the consolidated balance sheets

Gross cornging wolue & 313,804 § 206,250 § A0BMME § G564
Counsamparty miting {133,882 {10,514} {133,852  (10,614)
Tatal 180,062 194 646 274,380 B, 060

Amounts not ofset _117!,3#1]! j:ll?.ﬁ'.l'lt mlmt jﬂ,ﬂgl
5

Total 672 8 A7 & 43w 8 60
s od Decarmber 2073
ded in the il i bal sheets
Gross carrying value & 315112 § 186752 & 11 § 60.B16
Couniparty nilling 181 307 [ o 07 [}
Testad 2T E05 156 420 245 57 (2]
Adrcunts hotofset  @1B494) U020 CMEEME 80 180
Teitsd 5 5311 & 1126 & LFRL & ]
In the table above:

* Substantially all of the gross carrving values of these
arranpements  are  subject o enforceable  merring
ARTECMENt s,

“‘IIH!I'[' !!m E’:irm hﬂﬁ mn-i\-'\cti oar ]H.Hﬂl:! ﬂl]l.il[['l'.'-tl. lII'II:klI
credin support apreements, but has not ver derermined such

agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not
been netred.

* Amounts not offset includes counterparty netting, thar does
not meet the criteria for netting under ULS, GAAP and the
fair valoe of collaeral received or posted subject 1o
enforceable credit support agreements,

* Rewle agrecments included in the conslidated balance
sheets of 517979 billion as of December 2024 and
§223.54 billion as of December 2023 and all repurchase
apreements included in the consolidated balance sheers are
carried ar Fair value under the Bair value option. See Mowe 5
for further information abow resale agreements and
repurchase agreements accounted for at Eair value.

Secwrities borrowed included in the consolidated balance
sheets of 546,90 billion as of December 2024 and
54493 billicn as of December 2023, and securities loaned
included  in the  consalidated  balance  sheets  af
$10.25 billion as of December 2024 amd 58.93 billion as of
December 2023 were ai fair value wnder the fair value
option. See Note 5 for further information abour securities
borrowed and securities loaned accounted for at fair value.

1842 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Gross Carrying Value of Repurchaze Agreemaents and
Securities Loaned

The wable below presems the pross caerying value of
repurchase agreements and securities loaned by class of
collateral pledpged.

Repuchase Securities

5w mralaors agreemrents Iinitemata
A of December 2024
Iy markal ird naments ] [0 ] -
UL, posvermnment and agercy cbigatons 278,341 -
Nor-LLS, govenm ment and agency oblgations 95,812 481
Secites bhacked by commedcial real esiate 407 =
Secuites hacked by esigental el esiaie 1154 =
Corporaie deb seountes 11,521 s
State and municipsl cbiigations &T3 -
i et obligations o -
Ecpuity s s 22,084 5,837
Total £ 408247 & 2 GEET4
s o Dl PP
by Farnl IS et g 35 -
LS, goweiniment and afeny olbgaton: 22 7e 216
Non-ULS. povemmant and sgency obligations B5. 730 3G
Securites backed by comimeicial real astale 135
Sesturitied backed by residental neal eS1mts [ B -
Coporate dely Seulites 10505 ]
SanE and muricipal oligalions 57 -
Onbeisr e Seblipaiticnnes 144 -
Exquity Securils 15 6H1 5 5
Joa 534113 5 G086

The table below presents the gross carrving valoe of
repurchase agreements and securities loaned by matority.

As of Decesnbear 3024

Repurchass Gaourities
§ i milaorg agrasments Ramnad
No sinted maturity and cvemeght % 128068 § 40,789
2 - 30 genym ME48 1.638
31 - 5o caeys 41381 1.634
B days - 1 year 38957 12,068
rnater than 1 year Z2Bay 11,74%
Total 5 408247 % G6EM
In the table above:

® Repurchase apreements and secorities loaned thar are
repayable prior te matarity at the aption of the firm are
reflected at their contractual matueity dares.

* Repurchase apgreements and securities loaned that are
redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the holder are
reflecred ar the carliess dates such options become
exercisable,
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Other Secured Financings

In addition to repurchase agreements and securities loaned
transactions, the firm funds certain assets through the use of
other secured financings and pledges hinancial instrwments
and other assets as collateral in these transactions, These
other secured linancings include:

* Liabilities of CIEs and consolidated VIEs;

* Transfers of assets accounted for as fimancings rather than
Sﬂlni [c.g__, p]:rdgc:' ﬁtrmlnwlili.c;, I'J.anl: ||:ba ns :llrd n'lurlgag\c
whaole loans); and

* Other structured financing arrangements,

Other  secured  fimancings  incloded
areangements, Nonrecourse other secured [inancings were
53,74 billion as of December 2024 and 55,57 billion as of
December 2023,

MAOAreCOMr S

The firm has elected to apply the fair value option to
substantially all other secured financings because the use of
Fair value eliminates non-economic volarility in earnings chat
would arise from wsing different measurement attributes. See
Mote 5 for [urther information about other  secured
financings that are accounted for at fair value.

Other secured financings that are not recorded at fair value
are recorded based on the amount of cash received plus
accrued interest, which generally approximares fair value. As
1hese fi:l:l:n:'inf_s are not accounted for ar [air r.:-lll.l:-, I!Iu::r are
not included in the firm"s fair value hierarchy in Notes 4 and
5, Had these financings been included in the firm’s fair value
hieearchy, substantially all would have been classified in level
3 as of both December 2024 and December 2023,

The table below presents information about cther secured
financings.

U5 MNondls
£ millions Dudlar Dallar Toral

Oriher sacured {inancings

Shwui-opm £ 18333 § 48582 § .6
__Long-term 1377 B8E8 7,238
Total other seouned financings 5 17710 510490 § #1650

Orther secured financings collateralized by
Financial instrumanis £ 17,084 § 8644 § 35738

O bt pssots -3 616 § 1,786 § 2412
Az of Deoariber M1

Oriher sacured linkncngs

Sheui-Dern § 355 3mB s M
Long-berm 2144 3846 5, G
Jonad cahes geduned finandings § 5520 5 7eAh § 13154

har secured finencings colls Sembizod by:
Financial instrumants L 2122 & 8755 & 9877
et Al 5 2407 % S90S 337
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In the table above:

* Short-term other secured financings includes financings
maturing within one year of the Onancial statement dare
and financings that are redeemable within one vear of the
fimancial statement dace at the option of the holder.

® Other secured financings inclueded 52799 billion as of
Decemnber 2024 and $11.55 billion as of December 2023 of
financings accounted For ar fair value under the Eair value
option,

Non-LL5. dollar-denominated shor-term other secured
financings had a weighted average interest rave of 0,47 % as
of December 2023, This rate includes the effect of hedging
activities and excludes other secured financings held ar fair
value under the fair valee option. As of December 2024, all
of the non-10.5  dollac-denominaved short-term  ather
secured financings were held ar fair value under the fair
value opticn.

* U5 dollar-denominated  long-term  other  secured
financings had a weighted average interest rate of 7.16% as
of December 2024 and 3.44% as of December 2023, These
rates include the effect of hedging activities and excludes
other secured financings held ar fair value under the fair
value option.

AIILLS, dollar denominated short-term and non-1.5, dollar

denominated long-term other secured financings were held
ar fair value under the Eair value oprion.

Total other secured financings included 52,50 billion as of
December 2024 and 5234 billion as of December 2023
related 1o transfers of financial assets accounted for as
financings  rather than sales, Swch financings  were
collateralized by financial assets, primarily included in
trading assets, of 3L50 billion as of December 2024 and
52.36 billion as of December 2023,

® Oiher secured  financings  collateralized by  financial
instruments incloded 52439 billion as of December 2024
and 5838 billien as of December 2023 of cther secured
financings collateralized by trading assets, investments and
loans, and included 51.35 billion as of December 2024 and
5149 billiom as of December 2023 of other secured
financings collateralized by financial ingruments received
as collateral and repledged.

Goidman Sachs 2024 Form 10K 188
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The wable below presemts other secured financings by
maturity,

Asal
& in midlans Dwoember 2024
Crher secyured linpncings |shor-larm) -1 0,005
Onher secured financings (longdarmi;
A6 E Wi
2027 476
2028 1223
2029 184
2000 - e neatier T
Totsl other secired linancngs Dong-tarm 1.235
Tatal ather secuned finandngs ] 8,168
In the rable above:

# Longterm other secured financings that are repayvable
prior o marunty at the oprion of the firm are reflecred ar
their contractual maturity dates.

* Long-term other secured financings that are redeemable
prior to maturity at the aption of the holder ase reflected ac
the earliest dates such options become exercisable,

Collateral Received and Pladged

The firm receives cash and securities [e.g., US. government
and agency oblipations, other sovercign and corporare
obligations, as well as equity securities] as collateral,
primarily in connection with resale agreements, securities
borrowed, derivative transactions and customer margin
loans. The fiem obuains cash and securities as collateral on an
uplfromt or contingemt basis for derivative instruments and
callateralized agreements to reduce its credit exposure o
individual counterparties.

In many cases, the firm is permitted o deliver or repledpe
financial instruments received as collateral when entering
inte  repurchase  agreements  and  secunities  loaned
transactions, prmarily in connection with secured clent
financing activities. The ficm is also permitted 1o deliver ar
repledpe these financial instruments in connection with other
secured fimancings, collateralized derivative rransctions and
firm or customer settlement requirements,

The firm also pledges certain trading asseis in connection
with repurchase agreements, securities loansd rransactions
and other secured financings, and other assets (substantially
all real estate and cash) in connection with other secured
financings 1o coumerparties who may or may not have the
right to deliver ar repledge them,

The table below presents financial instruments ar fair value
received as collateral that were available o be delivered or
repledped and were deliverad or repledged,

As of Dpcanmie
£ mdlans 0 IFI
Colateml v lphbe 1o be delvered or mpiedged  $1,038,7490 51 002 Bt
Collabem| thal vas delvered o repladged § 912,863 5§ B2 S

1688 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K

The table below presemts information abour assers pledged.

Ais of Decermiber
& w1 e g Fuirel
Fledged to counterparties that had the fight to deliver o repledge

Trading esseis § 187 5 110587
Pladged to counterpartiss that did net hawve the dght 1o delbver or mpledgs
Trachrg fsseis § 1734 5 TEAM
Irsveatranis § BMZ 5 165
Loans 5 12085 5 865
Cithber nasats § 1500 % 1,504

The firm alse segrepates securities for regulatory and other
purposes related o client activity. Such  securities are
segregated from trading assets and investmienes, as well as
from securities received as collateral under resale agresments
and securities borrowed transactions. Securities segrepated by
the firm were 564,21 billion as of December 2029 and
549.26 billion as of December 2023,

Mote 12.
Other Assets

The table below presents other assers by type.

Aa of Decembar
&= mdlons 2024 20
Property, leasehold improverments ond equipment § RO 5 11,4
Gocdwdll 5853 596
Igarifbia intangba pesots 847 1,177
DOporating loase right-oluse msols 1,867 FATS]
Incomme ta-relatod st 813 857
Mmolnneoyus necevpbies nng of fer B 365 1 525
Taotal § 34187 £ SaSe0

Proparty, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
Propenty, leaschold improvements and equipment is mer of
accumulared depreciation and amortization of 513.64 billion
as of both December 2024 and December 3023, Praperty,
leasehold  improvements  and  equipment  included
56.57 billion as of December 2024 and $6.63 billion as of
December 2023 thar the firm uses in connection with s
operations, and 552 million as of December 2024 and
$124 million as of December 2023 of foreclosed real estate,
The remainder is held by investment entities, including VI1Es,
consolidated by the firm. Substantially all property and
equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asst. Leaschold improvements are
amartited on a steaight-line hasis over the shorer of the
useful life of the improvement or the weem of the lease.
Capitalized costs of software developed or obtained for
internal use are amomized on a siraight-line basis over three
years,
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The firm vests propeny, leasehold improvements and
equipment for impairment when evenss or changes in
circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset group’s carrying
value may not be fully recoverable. To the extent the carrying
value of an asser or asset proup exceeds the projecied
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and
eventual disposal of the asset or aset group, the firm
determines the asser or asser group is impaired and records
an impairment equal to the difference berween the estimared
fair value and the careving value of the asset or asset group.
In addition, the firm will recognize an impairmem prior o
the sale of an asser or asser group if the carrving valoe of the
assel of assel proup exceeds its estimated fair value, Any
impairments recognized are included in depreciation and
amortization, The firm had i pairments of 5228 million
during 2024 and 5314 million during 2022, subsrancially all
related to commercial real estate included in C1Es within
Asset & Wealth Management. During 2023, the firm had
impairments of $1.46 billion related 1o commercial real estate
included in ClEs within Asset & Wealch Management and
5118 million related to capitalized software substantially all
within Platform Solutions and Asset & Wealth Management,
Goodwill

Goadwill is the cost af :r.'4.|_ui||.‘\ct| Cormpa fies im exoess of the
fair value of net assets, including identifiable intangible
assets, at the acquisition date,

The table below presents the carrving value of goodwill by
reporting uni.

& i rillions 204 2023
Glodal Banking & Markes:
Irveatrnent banking S M7 5 w7
FICC e8 Ha
Equiies 2,847 2,647
Assel & Viealth Monagemant
AL BB 1381 1410
Wiealth manmgement 1300 ]
Piatfonm Solutions;
Transaction banking nng giher - 14
Tatal §  5EE3 & LG

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually in the fourth
quarter o more frequently if events occur or ciecumstances
chamge that indicate an impairment may  exist, When
assessing  poodwill for impairment, first, a qualitative
assessment can be made to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the estimared fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying value. If the results of the
qualitative assessment are not conclusive, a quantitative
poodwill test is performed. Alternatively, a quantitative
goodwill test can be performed withour performing a
qualitarive assessment.

The quantitative goodwill test compares the estimated fair
value of each reporting unit with its carrying value (including
goodwill and identifiable imangible ass=ts). If the reporting
unit's estimated fair value exceeds its carrying  value,
goodwill is not impaired, An impairment is recognized if the
estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying value and any such impairment is included in
depreciation and amorntization,
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When performing a quantitative poodwill tes, the estimated
fair value of each reporting unit is bassd on wvaluation
l;m']:lll.in:llms the firm believes market |:l:|rli¢:il1'.ulls would use 1o
valee these reporting wnits. Estimaved fair wvaloes are
generally derived from wrilizing a relative value technigue,
which applies observable price-to-sarnings multiples or price-
to-book multiples of comparable competitors to the reporting
units” net earnings of net book value, or a discoumed cash
flow valuation approach, for reporting units with businesses
mn (-m-]}- stages -;Jf {Im'r]::[umlll. The r.arr:r.illg_ valwe af each
reporting unit reflects an allocavion of voral shareholders”
equity and represents the estimated amount of total
shareholders’ equity required 1o support the activities of the
reporting, unit under corrently applicable regulatory capital
Fecyui remEngs,

Dwring the third quarter of 2024, in connecrion with the
planned sale of the firm®s seller financing loan portiolio, the
firm performed a quantitative poodwill test and determined
thar the poodwill associared with Transaction banking and
other was impaired, and accordingly, recorded a 514 million
impairment,

In the fourth quarter of 2024, the firm performed its annual
assessment of goodwill for impairment, for each of s
reporting units with goodwill, by performing a qualivative
assessment. Multiple Lactors were assessed with respect 1o
each of these reporting units 1o determine whether it was
more likely than not that the estimated fair value of each of
those reporting units was less than its carrying value.

The firm considered the following factors in the qualitative
annual assessment:

# Performance Indicators. During 2024, the firm's net
revenues, elficiency ratio [total operating, expenses divided
by wotal net revenues), diluted earnings per commen share
(EPS], return on average common sharcholders' equity and
I'.u:l-ul; value per comman share all ilnprl::-n.nﬁl [resem 2023 and
from 2022 (when a quantitative test was last performed).
Within the reporting units with goodwill, there continued
to be solid fundamentals underlying cur businesses, where
the firm continued e maintain :illl‘lllh‘l.l'}' 'le.'.bdr.-rship
positions and execute on stratepic poals.

* Macroeconomic Indicators, Despite broad
macreeconomic and geopelitical concerns, the global
economy continued to grow in 2024,

# Firm and Industry Events. There were no events, entity-
specific or otherwise, that would have had a significant
negative impact on the valuation of the firm’s reporting
units with goodwill,

Fair Value Indicators. Fair value indicators for bath the
firm and its peers have penerally improved since the annual
assessment performed i 2023 and from 2012 (when a
quantitative test was last performed).
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As a resulr of the annual assessment, the firm devermined char
it was more likely than nct that the estimated fair value of
each frpcrrlinf_ wrt with i-_::ux!will rxn-.:-drd HES m:lmﬂiwz
carryving value, Therefore, the firm determined thar goodwill
for each reporting uml was  ned jmp:in.-d and that a
quamtiative pocdwill test was not required.

ldentifiable Intangible Assets
The table below presenis identifiable intangible assets by
type.

Al o Discarniag

£ milons P04 2007
Customer lists

Gross carrying value § 285 2Ea
Accumilsted smorizeton {1,3%8) 11, 260
Mot camying valun ora] 1,047
Other

Girgsms cornying wvalug =3 i
Moccumulated amortization Li1] [Tf}
Mt CAying valus 18 150
Tatal gross canrying vakie 2,260 3105
Taotal scoumulated amortimtion 1,42y 2, (ki
Tatal net cammying vakue k] Bay 5 177

Ini the rable above:

# The decrease in the net carrying value of idemtifiable
intangible assets from December 2023 1o Decermber 2024
reflected @ 5110 million reduction due to the sale of
Gmnik}' Huhling}, LLC (GreenSky) and a 572 million
write-down in connection with the classification of the GM
credit card program (incleded within Platform Solutions)
as held for sale in 2024,

Substantially all of the firm®s identifiable intangible assets
have finite useful lives and are amomized over their
ecaimared vseful lives generally using the straight-line
method.

The tables below present information about the amortization
of identifiable intangible assers.

Vit Eratiand Do bar
£ in o 2024 X M2
Armortiration E] 1M £ =5 il |

In the table above, amortization for 2024 included the write-
down related to the GM credit card program noted above.
Amortization for 2023 included a 3506 millicn write-down
related to GreenSky,

A ed
& ending D sbar 2024
Estimated future amortization
i ] & i)
AHG 5 3
a7 -4 3
i) $ s
A28 & i

1688 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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The firm rests idencifiable inangible asses for impaiement
when events or changes in circumstances suggest cthat an
'.I!m'* Or Asscel ﬂ“ﬁu]!'ﬁ 1.':|rr:|.'i||.r. V.H]lm JTHI" nak ht.' rlll]}
recoverable. To the extent the carrving valee of an asset or
asset group exceeds the projected undiscounted cash flows
expected 1o result from the use and eventual disposal of the
asset or asset group, the firm determines the asset or asset
group is impaired and secords an impairment equal o the
difference berween the estimared fair value and the carrving
\'z'lm :sr I|'||;- akeel ar assel Broup. In adl;!il;un, I.||:c finn wrll
recopnize an impairment prior to the sale of an asset or asser
group if the carrying value of the asset or asset group exceeds
its estmated faie value, Other than as noted above, there
were no material impairments or write-downs during each of

2024, 2023 and J022,

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets

The firm enters into operating, leases for real estate, office
equipment and other assets, substandally all of which are
used in connection with its operations, For leases longer than
one year, the firm recognizes a right-of-use asser represeming
the right to use the underlving asset for the lease term, and a
lease |ia|;|i|il.}' representing, the |i:|'&i'|il:}' o make payments.
The lease term is generally determined based on the
contractual maturity of the lease. For leases where the firm
has che option o terminate or extend the lease, an assessment
of the likelihood of exercising the option is incorporated into
the determimation of the lease term. Such assessment is
initially performed ar the inception of the lease and is
updated il events occur that impact the original assssment,

An operating lease right-of-use asser iz initially dererminad
based on the cperating lease liability, adjusted for initial
direct costs, lease incentives and amounts paid at or prior 1o
lease commencement. This amount is then amortized over
the lease term. Rig,hl-l::f—u:l;- assers  and vnimmling_ lease
liabilities recognized (in non-cash transactions for leases
entered into or assumed) by the firm were 3167 million for
2024, 5333 million for 2023 and 8256 million [or 2022, See
MNote 15 for informarion abour operating lease liabilites.

For leases where the firm will derive no economic benefit
from leased space thar it has vacared or where the lirm has
shortenad the term of a lease when space is no longer needed,
the firm will record an impairment or  accelerated
amortization of right-of-use assets. There were no material
impairments or accelerated amortizations during each of
2024, 2023 and 3022,
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Miscallaneous Receivables and Other
Miscellaneous receivables and other included:

* [nvesments in qualified affordable housing and renewabls
energy projects of $3.46 billion as of December 2024 and
£3.39 billion as of December 2023, The firm receives rax
credits for such investments. See Note 17 for funther
information about thess investments,

* Assets classified as held for sale were 5517 million as of
Decermber 2024 and 5518 million as of December 2023, See
below for further information.

Assets Held for Sale. During 2024, in connection with the
p|:|:||r|m| transition of the GM eredit card program ta ancther
issuer, the firm classified the GM credic card program (within
Platferm Sl::lluliullx] as held for sale. The hiem had pmiullxh'
classified the GM co-branded credit card loans as held for
sale in 2023, As of December 2024, the assets related 1o the
GM credit card program consisted of the GM co-branded
credit card portfolio of 51.8 billion (included in loans). See
Mote 9 for [urther information about loans classified as held
for sale,

Assets held for sale also included 53517 million as of
December 2024 and 5327 million as of December 2023 of
assets  related o certain of the firm's  consclidmed
investments  within Asset & Wealth Management.
Substantially all of these assets consisted of propeny and
equipment and were included in miscellancons receivables
and other within other assers. In addition, as of December
2023, GreenSky (within Platform Solutions) was classified as
held for sale, Assets related to GreenSky were approximarely
534 bilion and consisted of loans of approximarely
530 billion  (included in loans), segregated cash of
approximately 110 million (included in cash and cash
equivalents), identifiable intangible assets of approximarely
110 million {included in idemifiable intangible assets within
other assers) and other assets of approximarely $190 million
(included in miscellaneous receivables and other within other
assets). During 2024, the firm completed the sle of
Greensky, See Mote 9 for further informartion abour loans
classified as held for sale, above for further information
abowr identifiable intangible assers, and MNowe 15 for
information about liabilities classified as held for sale,
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Mote 13.
Deposits

The tahle below presents information about deposits,

Az of Decambar

£ i miions 2024 2003
U5, offices & 341711 S 210G
KoL, offions 91302 a5
Total $ 433013 £ a2R4IT

In the rable above:
* Deposits include savings, demand and time deposits,

& All U5 deposits were held at Goldman Sachs Bank USA
(GS Bank USA). Substantially all non-ULS. deposits were
held at Goldman Sachs International Bank (GSIB) and
Goldman Sachs Bank Eurape SE (GSBE).

* Substantially all deposits are interest-bearing.

The table below presents maturities of time deposits held in
U5, and non-ULS. offices.

A5 of Decembar 2024
£ n milliors U5 Monelll5, Tatal
M35 § B2 § 23167 % 100290
206 6226 543 6,858
2027 2182 215 2407
¥ol Ao 1.0 184 1,225
MEFD 1.382 a2 1.574
M - harenftar 1.285 50 1,315
Total 5 7 1 51

I the table above:

* The apgregate amount of time deposits in denominations
thar met or excesded the applicable insurance limits, or
were otherwise motl covered |.'r|. insurance, were 519,00
billion im U5 deposits and 52392 billion in non-LLS.
deposits,

* Time dr]:u:n.ils included 544,86 11i.||i|::-|| a% uI' Dﬂ;rml’s-cr 224
and 52946 billion as of December 2023 of deposits
:-II:".":JHJI'.I‘{! .|-|:sr At ‘Hir '\’.H..Ilr L'llﬂjrf |.III'.' {:-Iir \'HI.I.II' [’F[I‘l?l‘l. &'«E
MNote 10 for further information abour deposits accounted
for at [air valee.

The firm’s savings and demand deposits are recorded based
on the amount of cash received plus accrued interest, which
approximates fair value, In addition, the firm desipnates
certain derivarives as [air value hedges to convert a portion of
its time deposits not accounted for at fair value from fised
rate obligations inte [leating-rate abligations, The carrving
valee of time deposis mot accounted for ar fair value
approximated fair value as of both December 2024 and
December 2023, As these savings and demand deposits and
time deposits are not accounted for at fair valoe, they are not
included in the firm®s fair value hierarchy in Notes 4 and 5.
Had these deposits been included in the firm’s fair value
hierarchy, they would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2024 and December 2023,
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Mote 14.
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presems information abowt unsecured
barrowings.

A of Decerniber

&im milons 204 203
Unsecurad shorl-Snmm bompwings & E&9.708 £ Thoas
Ursncurad long-bomm bompeings 242,884 P EIT
Taotal 5 312343 £ 000w

Unsecured Short-Term Borrowings

Unsecured short-term borrowings includes the portion of
unsecured long-term borrowings maturing within one vear of
the financial statement date and wnsecored  lomg-term
borrowings that are redeemable within one year of the
financial statement date at the option af the halder,

The lirm accoums for certain hybrid financial instruments at
fair value under the fair value option. See Note 10 for further
information about unsecured short-term borrowings thar are
accounted for at fair value. In addition, the firm designates
certain derivatives as fair value hedges to convert a portion of
its unsecured short-term h:rm‘inﬁs not accounted for at fair
value from fixed-rate  obligations  into  floating-rare
ohligations. The carrving value of unsecured shortterm
borrowings that are not recorded at fair value generally
approximanes fair value doe 1o the shor-term nature of the
oblipations. As these unsecured shon-term borrowings are
not accounted for ar Eair value, they are nor included in the
firm®s fair value hicrarchy in Notes 4 and 5 Had these
borrowings been included in the Girm's Eair value hierarchy,
substantially all would have been classified in level 2 as of
both December 2024 and December 2023,

The table below presents information about unsecured short-
term borrowings.

Az of Decembar

& o ndlpng Farrald P e
Cumerd portan of pnsecued longoem borowings 8§ 38521 5 49,367
Hybird financisd instramans 28,120 23003
Commuencisl paper - 1.3
Onher urespouned shon-lemm borrowings 2,058 i
Total unsecured short-term bomowings 588708 5 7585
Welghted average interest rate 58T L

190 Goldman Sechs 2024 Form 10K
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In the table above, the weighted average imterest rates for
these barrowings include the effect of hedging activities and
exclude unsecured short-term borrowings accounted for at
fair value under the fair value option, See Note 7 for further
infermation abow hedging activities.

Unsecured Long-Term Borrowings
The table below presents information abowt unsecured long-

term barrowings,

Mo S
£ in malions LS. Codlar Dolar Total
Fiopg-ratm oblgations;
Geoup Inc, £ 118,007 & 24613 £ 140,680
Sultws iddiaries 7034 3,708 0,2

Figating-mbe ohilgatiors:

Group Ing,
S idiarives

18,07 8816 6,833
42,13 21,556 64,360

Total

2 183 841 T8I (=2

A5 o Ducambs NP2

Fiond-rate oblgations:
Group Ing.
Sulbwidisries

Floating-fate obligations:

S 1zE 5 31023 5143044
1,902 3,739 5731

Qg Ine. 1BE3G 12555 3140

Subsidiaries IRIIF FRAR 608
Teaw £ 1718 5 10011 & 241877
In the table above:

* Unsecured long-term borrowings consists principally of
senior  borrowings, which have maturities  extending

through 2061,

* Unsecured long-term borrowings included 58919 billion as
of December 2024 and 586,41 billion as of December 3023
of borrowings accoumted for ar fir valuwe under che fair
value option. The carrying value of unsecured long-term
borrowings for which the finm did not elect the Fair value
option was 31534 billion as of December 2024 and
515547 billion as of December 2023, The estimated fair
value of such unsecured long-term borrowings was $156.31
billion as of December 2024 and 515773 billion as of
December 2023, As these borrowings are not accounted for
ar fair value, they are not incleded in the firm's Fair value
hierarchy in Motes 4 and 5, Had these borrowings been
mncluded in the Girm®s Gair value hierarchy, substantially all

would have been classified in level 2 as of both December

2024 and Decermber 2023,

# Floating-rate oblipations includes equity-linked, credit-
linked and indexed instruments, Floating interest rates are
generally based on SOFR and Ewro Interbank Offered

Rarte,

544/617



THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

* U5 dollar-denominmed debr had interest sates ranging
from 0L86% to 6.73% (with a weighted average rate of
4,10%) as of December 2024 and 0.86% 1o 6.75% {with a
weighted average rate of 3.73%) as of December 2023
These rates exclode unsecured longterm  borrowings
aceounted for ar fair value under the Eair value option.

* Non-U.S. dollar-denominated debe had  interest  raves
FANEING from 0.25% 1o 7.25% (with a h‘eif_]llﬂl average
rate of L0M%) as of December 2024 and 0.25% 1w 7.25%
[with a weighted averape rate of 2.11%) as of December
2023, These eates exclude unsecured long-term borrowings
accounted for at fair value under the fair value option,

The table below presents unsecured long-term borrowings by
ALY,

As of Decvmbar 2024

&in mdlons Growp Ine.  Subsidisries Total
A8 £ F2peq % 14008 % 38030
2087 F2aeh 8748 41,138
2008 20,728 BAM 29,204
A9 F1.20%8 11,531 32736
000 - st T 0317 22300 102628
Tatal $ 87523 § 75111 §  2azend
In the table above:

* Unsecured long-term borrowings maturing within one year
of the financial starement dave and wnsecured long-rerm
borrowings that are redeemable within one year of the
financial satement date at the option al the holder are
excluded as they are included in unsecured short-term

borrowings.

Unsecured long-term borrowings that are repayable prior
1o marurity at the option of the firm are reflected ac cheir
comtractual maturity dates,

Unsecured long-term borrowings thar are redeemable prior
to maturity at the option of the holder are reflected at the
earliest dates such options become exercisable,

Unsecured long-term borrowings included ${10.74) billion
of adjustments to the carrving value of certain unsecured
long-term l':)rrc:“'inns resulting from the application of
hedpe accounting by vear of maturity as Follows: §{250)
millian in 2026, $(837) million in 2027, 5867} milken in
2028, 50874) million in 2029 and $7.91) billion in 3030 and
thereafter.

The firm dl:-sig_na tes certain derivatives as Fair value hm!g,rs [£]
convert a  portion of fixed-rate unsecured  long-term
borrowings not accounted for at fair value into floating-rate
obligations. See Note 7 for further information abour hedging
activities.

EDINETOOOO

O00DOo0ooOo0ooo00oo0OooOO(Eossss)

The table below presemas unsecured long-teem borrowings,
alter giving effect to such hedging activities,

£ w0 milong ioup Ine. Subadaras Tenw
Az of Decamber 2024

Fingert-rate oliigasions 4 19883 § 5783 § 75665
Fipating-mte oblipntions 147,590 68,328 216,908
Tatal § 7823 § TEI1 8§ J4DRI4
i o Dl PP

Foged-rate oblgasions & 15400 § 491 § 20372
Fioating-mbe obilpations 165 816 [ I S
Tosal 5 176335 &  dA54) & 241 HETT

I the table above, the aggregate amounts of unsecured long-
term borrowings had weighted averape imterest rates of
5.72% (4.39% related to fixed-rate obligations and 5.82%
relaved o floatng-rate obligations) as of December 2024 and
6.03% (3.44% related 1o fixed-rate obligations and 6.27%
related o .|-|L'r.'.|li|1g_-r.'|l.-l.- 1.|-1'.||i|5;uiu-ns:l as of December 2023,
These rates  exclude wnsecured  long-term  borrowings
accounted for at Gair value under the Fair valoe option.

Subordinated Borrowings

Unsecured long-term bosrowings includes subordinared debe
and jumior subordinated debt, Subordinated debr chat
matures within ene year is included in unsecured short-term
borrowings. Junior subordinated debt is junior in right of
payment to other subordinated borrawings, which are junior
ta senior borrowings. Subordinated debt had matrities
ranging from 2025 to 2M5 as of both December 2024 and
December 2023

The table below presemts information about subordinated
borrowings.

Par  Camying

o il At Vaksd Rinn
Sulnd ingted et 5 1233 & 1w 8.8
oy Salord of el L] 1.004 5.65%
Jotal $ 13009 8 122 eEn
i of Dscarrbeier P

Subordinnied debi § 1215 & 1858 T.M0%
Surior sulbondinated det Sl 1053 G5
Tozai § 1300 5 17851 Tim%

In the rable above:

* The par amount of subordinaved debr issued by Group Inc.
was $12,13 billion as of December 2024 and $12.22 billicn
as of December 2023, and the carrving,  value af
subordinated debs issued by Group Inc. was $11.22 billion
as of December 2024 and $11.90 billion as of December
2023,

® The rate is the weighted average imerest rare for these
borrowings [excluding borrowings accounted for an fair
value under the fair value option), incloding che effect of
fair value hedges used to convert fixed-rate obligations into
floating-rate  oblipations. See Note 7  for  fusther
nformation abowt hedging activities,
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Junier Subordinated Dabt

In 20M, Group Inc, issued 3284 billion of junior
subordinated debe to Goldman Sachs Capital 1, a Delaware
statutory trust. Goldman Sachs Capital 1 jssued 5275 billion
of guaranteed preferred beneficial interests [Trust Preferred
securities) to third parties and 585 million of common
beneficial inerests to Group Inc. As of both December 2024
and December 2023, the outstanding par amount af junior
subordinated debr held by Goldman Sachs Capital | was $968
million and the cuistanding par amount of Trust Preferred
securitics and common  beneficial  inverests  issued by
Goldman Sachs Capital [ was 3939 million and 329 million,
respectively. Goldman Sachs Capital 1 55 3 wholly-owned
finance subsidiary of the firm for repulatory and legal
purposes but is not consolidated for accounting purposes,

The firm pays interest semi-annually on the junior
subordinared debt ar an annual rave of 5.345% and the debo
matures on February 15, 2034, The coupon rate and the
payrrlmll v:l.:llc: .'-Lm:llii.':-ll‘.'lﬂ oo the l'.'mnrﬁl.‘i:] interests are e
same as the interest rate and payment daves for the junior
subordinared debe. The firm has the right, from time o time,
to defer pavment of imerest on the junior subordinared debr,
and therefore cause payment on Goldman Sachs Capital 1's
preferred beneficial interests vo be deferred, in each case up o
ten consecutive semi-annual  periods. During any  such
dﬂfrrral pq-ri-:x!, lh:- ﬁrln wiall ricak l;'u- pt-rn'lilln-;l [I=8 ERlaiihd
other things, pay dividends on or make cemain repurchases of
its commen stock. Goldman Sachs Capital [ is not permined
to pav any disrributions on the common beneficial interests
held by Group Inc. umless all dividends payable on the
preferred benelicial interests have been paid in full.

Note 15,
Other Liabilities
The table below presents other habilities by type.

s of Decmmber

£ in millions et 203
Compansation and benedts £ 8FM0 5 7o0d
lrmcomrrna Besog=rielert el lihod | iess 3,54 2,87
Opiiating hoase labiites 2062 2,307
Momcndialing mlsnss 4m b}
Ernprerppe inarests in consobdated funds 18 ]
Accrued expenses snd grhar BAZT 10438
etal 324320 3 ZiA0G

Operating Lease Liabilities

For leases longer than one vear, the firm recognizes a right-
of-use asser representing the right ro use the underlying asse
for the lease term, and a lease liability representing the
liability to make pavments, See Naote 12 for information
abowt operating lease right-of-use assets.
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The rable below presens information abour operating lease

liabilities,
Cpewting
% a0 mdlong ase ke Tes
A ol Decamber 2074
MEE ] 295
MG k3L
2007 8
2008 52
Hpr Feu]
5 - Fareafter 1,268
Total undiscounind ase paymaents 2,663
Amputed inbonest e}
Total operating lesse labllitles ] 2082
Weighted avorage remaining kesse term 12 years
Wsighted ge discount rate 4.5%%
s oo Dt PP
204 £ x5
2005 w5
G ]
207 b
20 1
D - A 1,462
Tirial wniiSdtunedl s e QyTments 2 B
Irrpeted intenes] [B55)
2 ! s 5 2 m
Viisghted sisins fismaining kease Serm 12 years
Vgt sistags discount rate 413

In the rable above, the weighted averape discount rate
represents the firm® incremental I'.iurmwi:llz_ rate as of the
date of adoption af ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Tapic 842),"
for operating leases existing on the date of adoption and as of

the lease inceprion date for

the adoption of chis ASU.

Operating  lease cosis were 3473 million  for

5484 million for 2023 and

leases entered imto subsequem 1o

224,
5462 million for 2022, Variable

lease costs, which are included in operating lease costs, were

not material for each of 2004, 2023 and 2011

Tatal

oocupancy expenses for space held in excess of the firm’s
current requirements were not material for each of 2024, 2023

and 2022

Lease payments relating to opecating lease arranpements chat
were signed but had not vet commenced were 51,10 hillion as

of December 2024,
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Acerued Expanses and Other
Accrued expenses and ocher included:

* Liahilities classified as held for sale wers not material as of
December 2024 and were 3257 million as of December
2023, substantially all of which related 1o GreenSky within
Platfarm Solutions and consisted primarily ol customer
and other payables. See Note 12 for further information
about assers held for sale,

- ﬁ:mrzd |i.a|.'|i|ili¢s, w||iq.']'.| n:pn:n-nl n:rl.-siu:!c-raliull r{'twci'rrd
by the firm in connection with its comracts with clients
prior to providing the service, were net material as of both
December 2024 and Decernber 2023,

* Accrued unfunded commitments related to investments in
{lLI:]iﬁ[‘d alfordable housing, projects were 52,15 hillion as
of December 2024 and §2.25 billion as of December 2023,
See Note 17 for further information about  thess
INVesments.

Mote 16.

Securitization Activities

The firm securitizes residential and commercial mongages,
corporate bonds, loans and other types of financial assets by
selling these assers o securitization vehicles [e.p,., trusts,
corporate entities and limited liability com panies) or through
a resecuritization, The firm acts as underwriter of the
beneficial interests thar are sold w investors. The fism's

residential  morpgage  securitizations  are  primarily  in
connection with government agency securitizations.

The firm accounts for a securitization as a sale when it has
relinquished control over the transferred financial assers
Prior o securitization, the firm generally accounts for assers
pending transier at fair value and therefore does not ey pically
recopnize spmbicant gaing or losses upon the ransfer of
Met revenues from  underwriting  activities are
recognized in connection with the mles of the underlying
beneficial inverests to investors

AsECTE,

The firm pemerally receives cash in exchange for the
transferred assets but may also have continuing, invalvement
with the reansferred financial assers, including ownership of
beneficial interests in securitized linancial assets, primarily in
the form of debt instruments. The firm may also purchase
senior or subordinated secorities issued by securitization
vehicles [which are wypically VIEs) in connection with
secondary market-making activities.
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The primary risks included in beneficial imerests and ocher
interests  from  the firm's continuing  invalvement  with
securitization vehicles are the Fu-rrnrm:.llwc of the ||n|:|n|'|;|.'in-E;
collateral, the position of the firm"s investment in the capital
structure of the securitization vehicle and the marker vield for
the secury. Imterests accoumted for ar fair value are
primarily classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Interests mot accounted for at faie value are caeried ar

amoums that approximare

fair value. See Mote 4 for furcher

in.rl:srm:llil:m :ll'u::-nl .rai.r '|.'z||.m measuremenis.

The rable below presents

the amoum of financial assers

securitized and the cash flows received on retained interests

i securitization entitics in

which the firm had cominuing

invalvement as of the end of the pericd.

Vel Encind Decarins

4 milions 2024 23 202
Residential mopspos £33.210 520276 LM77
Commarcisl morgapes 1238 oA b 13,835
N s | isiidl i1 2. 7182 5 551 1817
Tatal financial sssets secirtized SO0 AT S84 360
Retained interests cash flows $ M2 L 491 £ 551

The firm securitized asset

s of 5364 million during 2024,

5369 million during 3023 and §792 million during, 2022, in a
non-cash exchanpe for boans and investments,

The table below presents in

formation about nonconsolidated

securitization entities to which the firm sold assers and had
continuing, invalvernent as of the end of the period.

Chasmndng
Princapad Hezpned Purchased
£ w0 o Aprount  maneam Inoeesgara
As of December 2024
U5, povemment spency-ssued Chi0s § 34098 § 3053 8§ =
Dhibar ros dantisl monpage-bocked 33,088 1357 14
Chthr commiarcinl monpage-bagked 50,562 845 57
Lo el and caher pasel-ivcked 12058 w03 5
el £ EIE ) Bpi e J0
i of Dscarrbeier Y
US, povemment spency-ssued Ch0s & 31980 & 2260 & =
Lribsiar residandinl morpage-ac o 28167 1,162 T8
Chibr commarcinl monpage-bagked 61,540 1,152 i1
Corponate debs and other neset-backed 12 6 L1153 S
Todsl £ 134066 £ S908 & 155
Goidman Spchs 2024 Form 10K 153
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I the rable above:
*= CMOs represents collateralized mortgage obligations.

* The cutstanding principal amount is presented for the
purpose of providing information about the size of the
securitization entities and is not representative of the firm's
risk of loss.

* The firm's risk of loss from retained or purchased interests
is limited 1o the carrying value of these imerssts.

* Purchased interests represent senior and subordinared
interests, purchased in connection with secondary marker-
making activities, i securitization entities i which the
firm also holds retained interests.

* Substantially all of the total owtstanding principal amount
and total retained interests relate to securitizations during,
19 and thereafter.

* The fair value of retained interests was 35,78 billion as of
Drecernber 2024 and $5.26 billion as of December 2023,

In addition to the interests in the table above, the fiem had
other comtinuing invelvement in the form of derivative
transactions and commitments with cemain nenconsclidated
VIEs, The carrving walue of these derivatives and
cammitments was a net asset of 3847 million as of December
2024 and $120 million as of December 2023, and the noticnal
amount of these derivatives and commitmems was 5278
billion as of December 2024 and 51.95 billion as of December
2023, The notional amounts of these derivatives and
commitments are included in maximom exposure 1o loss in
the nonconsolidated VIE rable in Notwe 17, Additionally, the
firm provided seller financing of 5212 billion in connection
with the sale of 5444 billion of loans (the vast majority of
which were related to GreenSky) during 2024 and of
approsimately $1.7 billion in connection with the sale of
53.24 billion of Marcus loans during 2023, The principal and
interest repayments received from these financings were 52,85
billion for 2024 and were $L0 billion for 2023, Seller
financing related 1o the GreenSky loans sale was fully repaid
as of December 2024, The total owm smlldillg_ prineipal amount
of these seller financings were $1.32 billion as of December
2024 and $1.81 ballion as of December 2023

194 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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The wable below presents information abour the weightad
average key economic assumptions used in measuring the fair
valuwe of mortgage-backed retained interests.

fis of Decerrioer
& »n milions 2024 FFI
Fai valug of relained mesests § 53?5 4500
Vieighled svemage e heans) 8.1 57
Constan prepayTnent e 00 12.2%

Impact of 10% poverse changs
Impact of 0% schnerse Chane
Drmcount rate

It o 0% pohverse change
Impiect o 0% poverse changs

In the table above:

* Amounts do mor rellect the benefit of other financial
instruments that are held to mitigate nisks inherent in these
retained interests.

LR
Nz
S
w
£

Changes in fair value based on an adverse variation in
assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the
relationship of the change in assumptions 1w the change in
fair value is not usually linear.

® The impact of a change in a particular assumption is
caleulated  independently of changes in any  other
assumption. In  practice, simulianeous changes  in

assumpticns might magnily or counteract the sensitivities
disclosed above.

* The constamt prepayment rate is included only for
positions  for which it is a key assumption in the
determination of fair value.

® The discount rate for retained interests that relate 1o ULS
government agency-isssed CMOe does not include any
credit loss, Expected credit loss assumptions are reflected in
the discount rate for the remainder of retained interests.

The firm has other retained imerests not reflected in the table
above with a fair value of 5491 million and a weighted
averape life of 5.0 years as of December 2024, and a fair value
of 8674 million and a weighved averape life of 5.0 years as of
December 2023, Due 1o the natare and fair value of cortain of
these retained interests, the weighted average assumptions for
constant  prepayment and discount rates and the related
sensitivity to adverse changes are not meaningiul as of both
December 2024 and December 2023, The firm's maximum
exposure to adverse changes in the value of thess interests is
the careving valoe of 5493 million as of December 2024 and
3683 million as of December 2023,
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Mote 17.
Variable Interest Entities

A variable interest in a VIE is an investment (e.g., debt or
equity] or ather interest (e,g. , derivatives or loans and lending
cammitments) that will absorb portions of the VIE™s expected
losses andior receive portions of the VIE's expected residual
rerLrns.

The firm's variable interests in VIEs include senior and
subordinated debt; loans and lending commitments; limited
and general partnership interests; preferred and commen
equity; denivatives that may include foreign currency, equity
andfor credit risk; guarantees; and cenain of the fees the firm
receives from investment funds, Certain interest rane, foreign
currency and credit derivatives the firm enters into with VIEs
are not variable interests because they create, rather than

absorb, risk.

VIEs generally finance the purchase of assets by issuing debt
and equity securities that are either collaveralized by or
indexed to the assets held by the VIE. The debt and equity
secirities isuwed by a VIE may include wanches of varying
levels of subordination. The firm®s involvement with VIEs
includes securitization of financial assets, as described in
Note 16, and investments in and loans to other types of VIEs,
as described below, See Mote 3 for the finm's consolidation
palicies, including the definition of a VIE.

VIE Consolidation Analysis

The enterprise with a contralling financial imerest in a VIE is
known as the primary beneficiary and consolidates the VIE.
The firm determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a
VIE by performing an analysis thar principally considers:

* Which variable interest holder has the power to direct the
activities of the VIE that most significamly impact the
VIE"s economic performance;

* Which variable interest holder has the obligation to absorb
losses ar the right 1o receive benefits from the VIE that
could potentially be significamnt 1o che VIE;

* The VIE™s purpose and design, including the risks the VIE
was desipned 1o create and pass through 1o its variable
interest holders:

* The VIE"s capital structure;

* The verms berween the VIE and its vanable interest holders
and other parties involved with the VIE; and

* Related-party relationships.

The firm reassesses its evaluation of whether an entity is a
VIE when cemain reconsideration events occur. The firm
reasseiees s determination ol whether it is the ]:ll.‘i.l:n:l'].'
beneficiary of a VIE on an ongoing, basis based on current
facts and circumstances,

VIE Activities
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The firm is principally involved with VIEs through the
following business activities:

Mortgage-Backed VIEs. The firm sells residennial and
commercial morigage loans and securities 1o monpape-
backed VIEs and may retain beneficial interests in the assets
sold to these VIEs. The firm purchases and sells beneficial
interests issued by mortgage-backed VIEs in connection with
market-making activities, In addition, the firm may enter into
derivatives with certain of these VIEs, primarily interest rate
swaps, which are typically not variable interests. The firm
generally entees into derivatives with ether counterparties 1o

mitigate its risk,

Tax Credit and Other Investing VIEs. The [irm makes
equity investments in VIEs that invest in gualified affordable
housing and renewable energy projects designed 1o generate a
recurn through the realization of tax credits and relared tax
benefits. The firm also purchases equity and debt securities
issued by and makes loans e VIEs that hold real eseate,
performing and nonperforming debt, distressed boans and
equity  securities, In addition, the firm makes equity
investments in cerain investment fund VIEs it manages and is
entitled to receive fees from these VIEs. The firm generally
does not sell assets 1o, or enter into derivatives with, these

WiEs.

Corporate Debt and Other Asset-Backed VIEs. The firm
structures VIEs thar issue notes to clients, purchases and sells
beneficial interests issued by corporate debt and other asset-
backed VIEs in connection with nl:ll'krl!-nl:ll!inr_ activities,
and makes loans o VIEs that warchouse corporate debe.
Certain of these VIEs synthetically create the exposure for the

beneficial

interests they issue by entering imto  credic

derivatives with the firm, rather than purchasing the
underlving assets. In addition, the firm may emter into
derivatives, such as total rerurn swaps, with certain corporate
debt and other asset-backed VIEs, under which the firm pays
the VIE a return due to the benelicial imerest holders and
receives the return on the collateral owned by the VIE, The
collateral owned by these VIEs is primarily other asser-
backed loans and securities. The firm may be removed as the
total return swap counterparty and may enter into derivatives
with other counterparties to mitigate its risk relaved 1o these
swaps, [he firm may sell assets to the corporare debt and
other asmet-backed VIEs it structures,

549/617
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Principal-Protected Note VIEs. The Lirm structures VIEs
that issue principal-protected notes 1o clients, These VIEs
W poert falios af A%EELE, |:lrin|:'i|:|=||].' with exposure 1o IIﬂtIE’I\ﬂ
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The table below presents information, by peincipal business
activity, for nonconselidated VIEs included in the summary
l;.a1'.|||: above,

funds. Substantially all of the principal protection on the s of Decermber
notes isswed by these VIEs is provided by the asset portfolio £ i g 2024 Fit]
rebalancing that is required under the terms of the notes. The ',' "'?;m“'ﬂh;f“ $ 18I S 175000
firm enters into total return swaps with these VIEs under Canryirag valus of varisbie iedets — agols $ 5B 5 487
which the fiem pavs the VIE the retuen due to the principal- M T B RpeFe 10 lass
protected note holders and receives the return on the assets r;frr:sds:m:m s E.g % 4-3:';
. . - . " i s
vnw:lcd 11:,. II‘IE 1|,.'|E_. Thr EJIII'! -I'I'I:I}' m.rlvrr |.nl1.1- d’r.rlvailwzs “th Commitmeanss smnd Gusnntons - a5
other coumterpartics to mitigate its risk. The firm also Chr v veess 1 a
obtains funding through these VIEs, JTaotal $ __BSIG £ dcod
Nonconsolid VIEs 1:&15 in '-"IlE': : § SB3N §& J47iGE
T.hc table I..'mIr:rw presents a summary of the nonconsolidared Camying value of vorisbie iBTGsEs — DSSaLs £ BIm S G0
VIEs in which the firm holds variable interests. Camying walue of varisbie inerests = lisbiites § 2318 & 2F0
Mackmum exposure to loss
Az of Decembers Commitmants and puaranboes £ 4938 £ L850
& o endlong Fa=ril i Dreit ard ity 4,831 A
Taotal nencenaolicaned VIES Total ] Bogl 5 077
Assels in VIEs § 206,500 5 190,54
Carrying value of vorabie inferests — nssets £ BM0 5 154 Corporate debt and cther asset-backed
Carrying walue of vanabde interests — lisbiites 5 274 £ 275D Assals in ViEs . ) § zEm o noEm
Manknum oy — Camyirg valus of variabie orests — aesils -1 4181 £ LEEs
Rataingd inbernsss § E@48 5 5000 Camying valus of varisble inerests — lisbiites ] 438 % 530
Purhosed Inferesis e o ﬂ@mammmhﬂ:
Commitmants and guana s 5,034 4155 Rotared intorests % 483 % 8%
Fa——— B84 P Purchased imenasts 50 1]
Dbt ard squity 6.ATE & 57 Commitimints and pusranbies Bo6 Fadl
Tatal _ $ 2950 5 250 Dot Rord e
h— — Chelst ard scuity 2047 2103
[
In the table above: Tl £ 12813 5 12000

* The natore of the firm®s variable interests is described in
the rows under maximum exposure 1o loss.

* The firm's exposure 1o the obligations of VIEs is penerally
limited to its interests in these entities, ln certain instances,
the figm provides goarancess, including  derivarive
guarantees, to VIEs or holders of variable interests in VIEs,

* The maximum exposure 1o loss excludes the benefit of
offserring linancial instruments thar are held to mitigace the
risks associated with these variable interests,

* The maximum exposure to loss from retained interests,
purchased interests, and debt and equity is the carrying
value of these interests,

* The maximum exposure 1o loss from commitments and
guarantees, and derivatives is the noticnal amount, which
does mot represemt anticipated losses and has not been
reduced by unrealized losses. As a result, the maximusm
exposure o loss  exceeds  liabilities  recorded  for
commitmems and puarantees, and derivatives.

19 Goldman Sechs 2024 Form 10K

Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2024, investment fund
VIEs are included in tax credic and ather investing in the
table abowve. Prior to the fourth quarner of 2024, such VIEs
were disclosed separately in investmemts in funds, The
carrying value of the firm's variable imerests in such VIEs
was 39 million as of December 2024 and 591 million as of
December 2023, Prior period amounts have been conformed
to the current presengation,

As al bath Decernber 2024 and December 2023, the carrying
valwes of the firm's variable interests in nonconsolidued VIEs
are included i che consolidated balance sheets as follows:

* Moripage-backed: Assets primarily included in trading
assets and loans.

* Tax credit and other investing: Assets prmanly included in
investments and other assets, and liabilities included in
trading, liabilities and other Labilities.

* Corporate debr and other asser-backed: Assers included in

lcans and crading assers, and liabilities included in crading
liabilities.
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Tax Credit VIEs

The firm makes equity investments in nonconsolidated ax
credit VIEs that invest in qualified affordable housing and
renewable energy  projects. These VIEs are  generally
organized as limited partnerships or similar entities and a
third-party is typically the general partner or the managing
member. The firm invests in the encity as a limited paroer
and receives income tax credits and other income tax benefits
fear such investments. In connection with the adoption of ASU
Mo, 202302, as of January 1, 2024, the firm elected the
proportional amortization method for gualified affordable
housing and remewable enerpy  projects  that  receive
production tax credits. The investments that meet the criteria
for the proportional amorization method of accounting, are
amortized in proportion o the income tax credits and other
income tax benefits received on such investments, The
amortization of investmenis and the related income tax
credits and other income tax benefits are recorded as a
component of the provision for taxes, and are included in
other operating activities in the consolidated statements of
cash Nows,

The wble below presents information abour investments
(included in miscellaneous receivables and other within cther
assets in the consolidited balance sheers) in gualibied
affordable howsing and renewable energy projects thar met
t]'.rc vl.'r:i!gl'i:l 1.:||l I]l:- |:lr\c||:u.1|'liuna| :llnurl.iminn m:'ll'l-un:' uf
ACCOUNTINE.

#a of Decambar
5 el 204 200
Carrying value of investments -3 3456 & G0

In the vable above, invesments included 52,15 billion as of
December 2024 and 5126 billion as of December 2023 of
accrued unfunded commitments. As of December 2024, a

majority of such accrued unfunded commitments were
expected 1o be funded by year-end 2025

The table below presents information abowt the amortization
and income tax credits and other income tax benefits related
1o investments in gualified affordable housing and renewable
energy projects that met the criteria of the proportional
amartization method of accounting,

Yeor Ended Decemmbar
5 endllgng 20 0 20

Armronization § =1 s I & 1y
Tax crecits and other berwlits § #2583 5 1R

Investments in qualified affordable housing projects thart did
nat meet the eriteria for the proportional amortization
method of accounting were not material as of both December
2024 and December 2023,
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The fiem's exiszing investments in renewable encrpy peojects
that receive production tax credits were nat eligible for
transition  te the proportional  amortization methed  of
accounting upon adoprion of ASU No, 202302, Such
investments were 51,39 billion as of December 2024 and §1.40
billicn as of December 2023, were included in investments in
the consolidated balance sheets and were accounted for at
fair value under the Eair value option.

Consolidated VIEs
The table below pressnts a summary of the carrying value
and balance sheer classification of assets and liahbilities in

consolidated VIEs.

A ol Decenber

& in milons 24 FLvE]
Taotal corsolidated VIEs

AssiEts

Cosh and cosh eguialents -1 12 5 &30
Custiomar and obhar recenmbles 35 7
Tracng fssats i a5
Imyestments 1M Bl
Loans 2 27
i psmnts 8 48
Total ] Bap £ 1476
Lintkiaps

{iher secwred financings -1 B8l 5 50
Customas and obthar payabies 7 2
Ursecurid shor - bomowings ] 14
Ursicurid Iong-barm bomowangs 15 17
AONbisd Rskyifines 165 a1
Tatal ] B3 5 ST
In the table above:

* Assets and liabilities are presemed net of intercompany
eliminations and exclude the benefit of offsening Gnancial
instruments that are held to mitigate the risks associated
with the [iem™s variable interests.

W1Es in which the firm holds a majority voting interest are
excluded if (i) the VIE meets the definition of a business
and (ii) the VIEs assets can be nsed for purposss other than
the settlement of its obligations.

Substantially all assets can only be used o senle
obligatians of the VIE.

Gofdman Sechs 2024 Form 10K 187
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The table below presents informaion, by principal business
activity, [or consolidated VIEs included in the summary table
EEE'HIT['.

s of Decemmiber
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MNote 18.
Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

Commitments
The table below presents commitments by cype.

_fin milons id 20T
Real estate, credit-related and other investing
Aszats s of Decembar
Cansh v cosh equinlents § wEs o7 4 s miliorw o oo
Trocing assels 8 i Commitment Type
I et 170 Bl LCommencipd kending:
Losna M w7 Investment-gmde § 124007 5 111 302
P — P 248 Nondmmstmaent-prnde 67,785 % =1
I“" 5 E % 10 Varghousa finarcing 13,887 4 184
Consurm: TH,0E8 73,074
Lishaitazs Todal Ipnding FAIA4F 247 ThE
Criher secured Tinancangs 5 45 3 Risk parteipations 5,014 %167
Customes and oifer payables 1 2 Collatonliznd sgroemimnt =1 rd Tk 503
Onher kablins 165 a9 Collstenslized financing 48, 3x2 B, 2T
Total ] 1M & P |yt 6,8 4 562
bt B.22% 8258
Corporate dett and other asset-backed Total cormmitments (A B e
#::'.N srzh o nlants : ::; : ﬁ The table below presents commitments by expiration,
Linhi¥thrs An ol D B 2O
Orthar secured financings % 334 & T4 FOE - 2028 - 2030 -
Tatal & I 5 T4 5 1 Fralagriss 2025 2037 2029 Thersafter
- — Comamitment Type
Pl'hﬂ)\lhpfﬂ'tlﬂld notes Commarcinl lending:
Aszats Inmstment-grode £ 18,772 &£ 41607 & Ba5M £ 3047
Customes and otfer mcehabis -1 2. 5 zaT Hondmmstment-grde B.T52 24,247 0378 8,430
Trading sssais 7 G Viarghowss firarcing 1,286 1872 arm BE
Tatal ] A2 & 414 Lo it - - -
P Tortal ket WLB20 13 520 187 TR0z
Onhes secured linancings k] 323 & fix 2’:::;:: :S::;:‘mﬂ._ “ﬁ E,HH: E.Z‘Iﬂ; 25
Unsecutid shor-tenmm boirowings L] 14 Colistonized financing A5.393 _ _ _
Unsecuned hong-ieim baineings 15 17 ot 1808 754 88 2844
il i_3ti: il D 7.796 24 a0 w3
Taotal commitments § 258938 § TPET0 § G483 5 16.035

In the table above, creditors and beneficial interest holders of
real estate, credit-related and other investing VIEs do not
have recourse to the peneral credic of the fiem.

198 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 104

Lending Commitments

The firm's commercial and warehouse fmancing lending
commitments are agreements to lend with fixed termination
dates and depend on the satisfaction of all comtractual
conditions 1o borrowing. These commitments are presented
net of amounts syndicaied to third pariies, The total
commitment amount does not necessarily reflect acoual furure
cash flows becanse the firm may syndicate portions of these
commitments, In addition, commitments can expire unused
or be reduced or cancelled ar the counterparty’s request. The
firm also provides credie to consumers |'|:|.' issuing eredit card
lines. The firm also provided credit te consumers through
commitmentis to extend wnsecured installment loans and
beginning in the third quarer of 2024, ceased providing such
COMMilments.
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The table below presemis  intormation  abour lending
COmMmitments,
Aa ol Decannber

& in midlans 2024 2073
Hdd for rvessimian] £ ME2004 L 277 G
Held for salg 20,258 19129
AL s vaiun BEa it
Taotal 5 EHE £ 247 ?E
In the rable above:

* Held for investment lending commitments are accounted
for at amortized cost, The carrving value of lending
commitmems was a liability of §929 million {including
allowance for credit losses of 5674 million) as of December
H24 and 5845 millon [inrlu{li::g_.a”l::-wamt fesr credin losses
of 3620 million) as of December 2023, The estimated fair
value of such lending commitments was a liability of §4.84
billion as of December 2024 and 3529 billion as of
December 2023, Had these lending commitments been
carried at fair valee and incleded in the [fair value
hierarchy, 5244 billion as of December 2024 and 5310
hi]li::-n a% af D:.-.n-.ln'lw:r X023 would have I's-ﬂ:-n clzssiﬁnd n
level 2, and 5240 billion as of December 2024 and 5219
billicn as of December 2023 would have been classified in
level 3.

Held for sale lending commitments are accounted for at the
lower af cost or fair value. The CAFTYIng value af lending
commitmems held for sale was a Babilicy of $43 million as
of December 2024 and 570 million as of December 2023,
The esumared fair value of swch lending commitments
approximates the careying valoe. Had these lending
commitments been incloded in the [air value hierarchy,
they would have been primarily classified in level 3 as of
both December 2024 and December 2023,

* Gains or loses related to lending commitments at fair
value, if any, are generally recorded net of any fees in other
principal transactions,

Commercial Lending. The firm’s commescial lending
commitments were primarily extended 1o investment-grade
corparate borrowers, Such commitments primarily included
5148.78 billion as of December 2024 and $137.11 billion as of
December 2023, relsted to relationship lending activities
(principally used for operating and general corporate
purposes), and $11.26 billicn as of December 2024 and $4.21
billion as of December 2023, related to other investment
banking activities (penerally exvended for continpent
acquisition financing and are often intended to be short-term
in mature, as borrowers often seck to replace them with other
funding scurces). The lirm also extends lending commit ments
in connection  with other ypes of corporate lending,
commercial real estate financing and other collateralized
lending. See MNote 9 for further information about funded
loamns.

To mitigate the ceedit risk associated with the firm's
commercial lending  activities, the firm obtains  credit
pr\c:ll-m'l;ull an certam loans and Il‘]:ll:li:lli'_ COMmmItments
through credit default swaps, both single-name and index-

based contracts.

Warehouse Financing. The firm provides fimancing o
clients whe warchouse financial assets. These arrangements
are collateralized by the warchoused assers, primarily
consisting of residential real estate, consumer and corperate

loans.

Consumer. The firm's consumer |-c|1|;!i1:|g, EOrmmit ments
includes:

* Credit card lines issued by the firm to consumers were
578.10 billion as of December 2024 and 57082 billion as of
December 2023, Such credit card lines included 514.32
billion as of Decemmber 2024 and 514.35 billion as of
December 2023 of commitments classified as held for sale
in connection with the planned sale of the GM co-branded
credit card pontfolio. These credit card lines are cancellable
by the firm,

* Commitments 1o provide unsecured installment loans 1o
consumers were 52,25 billion as of December 2023 and
such commitments were classified as held for sale in
connection with the sale of GreenSky., During 2024, the
firm completed the sale of Greensky.

Risk Participations

The firm also risk participates certain of its commercial
lending commitments to other financial institutions, In the
event of a risk participant’s defaolt, the firm will be
responsible to fund the borrower.

Collateralized Agreemant
Collateralized Financing Commitments
Collateralized apreement commitments inclodes forward
starting resale and securities borrowing apreements, and
collateealized hnancing commitments  includes  forward
starting, repurchase and secured lending agreements thar
settle at a future date. Collateralized agreement commitments
also includes ranmactions where the firm has entered inte
commitments to provide contingent financing to its clients
and counterparties through resale agreements, The firm’s
funding of these commitments depends on the satisfaction of
all contractual conditions to the resale agreement and these
commitmants can expire unused.

Investment Commitments

Investment commitments includes commitments to invest in
private equity, real estate and other assets directly and
through funds thar the firm raises and manages. [nvestment
commitments included $1.10 billion as of December 2024 and
5963 million as of December 2023, related to commitments to
invest in funds managed by the firm, [f these commitments
are called, they would be funded at market value on the date

of investment.

Commitments/
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Contingencies

Legal Proceedings. Sec Note 27 for information about kegal
proceedings.

Guarantees

The table below presents derivatives thar meet the definition
of a guaramee, securities lending and clearing guarancees and
certain other financial guarantees.

Secut e Char
iending and france
£ midlegns Dersarses cleaning  guaranioes
As ol December 2024
Carryling Valkie of Nat Lisbility £ 3535 § -4 425

Maximum Payout/Notionsl Amount by Perlod of Explration

AE £ 18840 §  B2056 & 2523
G- HET a9 = 3086
A - 2D 17.074 - 1843
2040 - thaneatter 3,819 = 505
Total $ seme s Geoss 8 7es1
s o Decarmer SR

Carnying Value of Mag Lisbiity 5 ¥ L] -5 A5
Manimum Payout/Notions] Amount by Perod of

i | £ 1TMES 8 MY S 2,525
A5 - 6 it Bk - 3,908
02T - M8 182602 - 2,0
2029 - thenesatter 20,030 - 31
e $ I2h0S0 §  FRIRG S 37T
In the rable above:

* The maximum payout is based on the notional amount af
the contract and does not represent anticipated losses,

* Amounts exclude cermain commitments o issue standby
lerters of credit thar are included in lending commitments.
See the tables in “Commitments™ above for a summary of
the firm's commitments,

* The careving value for derivatives included derivative
assets of 5164 million as of December 2024 and $359
million as of December 2023, and derivative liabilities of
54.00 billion as of December 2024 and 55.60 billion as of
Decenber 2023,

200 Goldman Spchs 2024 Form 10K

Derivative Guarantees. The firm enters imo various
derivatives that meet the definiticn of a guarantes under U5,
GAAP, ill.-:'l.l.n:'ing writhen rqltil:r and com n||:|-|:|:iI!1lr pant ::-p!i-::lle,
written currency contracts and interest rate caps, floors and
swaptions. These derivatives are risk mﬂn:g;-d tegether with
desivatives that do not meer the defininoen of a guarantes, and
therefore the amounts in the table above do not reflect the
firm"s overall risk related vo derivative activities. Disclosures
abour derivarives are not required if they may be cash serrled
:llld the rirm has ne I'Jasis [{s] r:slw]wﬂr :il i.s |:-n.1|'.|:|Hr lhzl I|'u.-
counterpartics  held the underlying  instruments ar  the
inception of the contract. The firm has concluded that these
conditions have been mer lor certain large, internatiomnally
active commercial and investment bank counterparties,
central clearing counterparties, hedge funds and certain other
counterpartics. Accordingly, the firm has not incloded such
contracts in the table above. See Mate 7 for information
about credit derivatives that meet the definition of a
guaraniee, which are not included in the table above,

Drerivatives are accounted for an fair value and therefare the
carrying value is considered the best indication of payment/
performance risk for individual contracts. However, the
carrying values in the mble above exclude the effect of
counterpanty and cash collateral netting,

Securities Lending and Clearing Guarantees. Sccurities
lending and clearing guarantees include the indemnifications
and puarantees that the firm provides in its capacity as an
agency lender and in its capacity as a sponsorning member of
the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation,

As an agency lender, the firm indemmnifies most of its
securities lending customers against losses incurred in the
event that borrowers do not return securities and the
collateral held is insufficient to cover the market value of the
securities  borrowed. The maximum payomr of such
indemnifications was $10,62 billion as of December 2024 and
514.19 billion as of December 2023, Collateral held by the
lemders in connection with securities lending indemnifications
was 511.02 billion as of December 2024 and $14.63 billion as
of December 2023, Because the contractual nature of these
arrangements requires the firm to chtain collateral with a
market value thar exceeds the value of the securities lent 1o
the borrower, there is minimal performance risk associated
wi[ll Ihrm iJHI.CII'I niii:'ali:s|1s.
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As a sponsoring member of the Government Securities
Division of the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, the firm
puarantees the |mff::r|n=|we al its x[u:llm::lmd member clients
to the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation in connection with
certain resale and repurchase agreements, To minimize
potential losses on such puarancees, the firm obiains a
security interest in the collateral that che sponsored client
placed with the Fixed Imncome Clearing Corporation.
Therefore, the risk of loss on such guarantees is minimal, The
m:lximum payl::-m Qan Ihis f_uaranlﬁ- Was 5-4?.41 I'!nﬂ"nm:l A% :sr
December 2024 and $14.60 billion as of December 2023, The
related collateral held was $46.96 billion as of December 2024
and 514.6% billion as of December 2023,

Other Financial Guarantees. In the ordinary course of
business, the firm provides cther financial guarantees of the
oabligations of third parties fe_g., standby letters of credit and
other guarantees to enable clients to complete transactions
and [und-related guarantees). These puarantees represent
oblipations 1o make payments o beneficiaries if the
guaranteed party fails o fulfill is oblipaion under a
comractual  arcangement  with  that  beneficiary. Ouher
financial guarantees also include a guarantes that the firm
has provided 1o the Government of Malaysia thar v will
receive, by Avpust 2025, ac least 514 billion in assets and
proceeds from assets seized by povernmental authorities
arcund the world related ro 1Malavsia Development Berhad,
a soversign wealth fund in Malaysia (IMDB). In connecticn
with this guarantes, the firm agreed to make a one-time
interim payment of 5250 million towards the 51.4 billion if
the Government of Malaysia did not receive at least
5500 million in assers and proceeds by Avgusr 2022, The firm
does not believe that any intenim payment is required. Any
amounts paid by the firm would, in any event, be subject 1o
reimbursement in the event the assets and procesds received
l‘rr the Government al h-l.al:}r:d: Ihn::ltlt‘_l'l Aur_mﬂ 18, 2028
exceed 51.4 billion.

On October 11, 2023, the firm filed a demand for arbitration
alleging, that the Government af Malaysia had, as of August
Mi22, recovered assets and proceeds well in excess of
5500 million; it had recovered substamtial additional assers
and proceeds that should be credived apains the guarantee;
and it had not used all reasomable efforts to recover other
assets and proceeds thar could be credited apainst the
puaraniee. On November 2, 2023, the Government of
Malaysia Giled a response to the firm®s demand for arbitration
and on June 10, 2024, filed an application for a partial award
to immediately enforce the interim payment {plus interest).
On July 24, 2024, the arbitral tribunal rejecred tha
application. Final determinations on all remaining, isues,
including any subsequent enforcement of the interim
payment, are to be made at a fimal hearing. The arbicral
process is ongoing. See Mote 27 for (urther information about
matters related o 1MDE,

EDINETOOOO
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Guarantees of Securities lssued by Trusts. The firm has
egablished trusts, including Goldman Sachs Capital |,
G:sl:!ln:n Sachs l::]:l'tl:ll 11 and GI::II'!.‘IIH.H.I'I Sachs Ca Fﬁ!:l 1 [l|'u.-
Trusts), and other entitics, for the limited purpose of issuing
securities to third parties, lending the procesds 1o the firm
and entering into comeactual arcangements wich the firm and
third parties related to this purpose, The firm does not
consolidate these entities. See Notes 14 and 19 for further
information abow the cransactions invelving the Truscs,

The firm effectively provides for the full and wnconditional
puarantee of the securities issued by these entities. Timely
payment by the firm of amounts due to these entities under
the guarantee, borrowing, preferred sock and  related
contractual arrangements will be sufficient to cover payments
due on the securities isoed l'n' these entities. No sul'.!sin:li.ar}' al
Group Inc. puarantees the securities of the Trusts,

Manmagement  believes that it is  unlikely that any
circumsances will oecur r::l:u;ll a% nunFn-rrl::-rm:lm:'r on the part
of paying agents or other service providers, thar would make
it mecessary for the firm to make payments related o these
entities other than those required umder the reems of the
guarantee, borrowing, preferred  stock  and  related
comtractual arrangements and  connection with certain
expenses incurred by these enciries.

Indamnities and Guarantees of Service Providers. In
the ardinary course of business, the fiem indemnifies and
BuAraniees certain service providers, such as clearing and
custody agents, trustees and administrators, against specified
potential losses in conmection with their acting as an agent of,
or providing services 1o, the firm or its affiliates,

The firm may also be liable to some clients or other parties
for losses arising, from its custodial role or caused by acts or
CHTIISE LTS 1.1‘ lhin;'-lmn}- wrvice prﬂri:lﬂrs, i.|1|:'|u:|inr. sul;—
custodians and third-party brokers. In certain cases, the firm
has the right 1o seck indemmnification from these third-party
service providers for certain relevant losses incurred by the
firm. In addivion, che firm is a member of pavment, cleasing
and settlement networks, as well as securities exchanges
around the world that may require the firm w meer the
cbligations of such networks and exchanpes in the event of
member defaules and other loss scenarios.

In connection with the firm's prime brokerage and clearing
businesses, the firm agrees 1o clear and seutle transactions
entered inta by clients with other brokerage firms. The firm’s
oblipations in respect of such transactions are secured by the
assets in the client™s account and proceeds received from the
rransactions cleared and sewled by the firm on behall of the
client, In connection with joint venture investments, the firm
may issue loan guarantees under which it may be liable in the
event of fraud, misappropriation, environmental liabilities
and other matters involving the barrower,
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The firm is unable to develop an estimare of the maxinsm
pavowt under these puarantees and indemnifications as this
depends upon the occurrence of future events, including an
assessment of claims that have net yer accurred. However,
mamagenent believes tha iv is unlikely the frm will have 1o
make any material payments under these arcangements, and
na material labilities related 1o these goarantees and
indemnifications have been recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets as of both December 2024 and December 2023,

Other Representations, Warrantias and
Indemnifications. The firm provides representations and
warranties o counterparties in connection with a variery of
commercial transactions and occasionally indemnifies them
against potential losses caused by the breach of those
representations and warranties, The firm may also provide
indemnifications protecting against changes in or adverse
application of cemain US, ax laws in connection with
ordinary-course transactions, such as securities issuances,
borsowings or derivatives,

In sddition, the firm may provide indemnifications to some
counterparties to protect them in the event additional taxes
are owed or payments are withheld, due either to a change in
or an adverse application af certain non-U.5, tax laws, These
indemnifications, as well as indemnifications provided by the
firm cn ather contractual or other obligations, generally are
standard conteactual terms and are entered imte in the
ordinary course of business, Generally, there are no stated or
national amounts included in these indemnifications, and the
comtingencies triggering the abligation to indemnify are not
expected to occur, Future changes in tax laws and how such
laws would apply o these indeminifications cannmot be
determined. Therefore, the firm is unable o develop an
estimiare of the maximuom pavour under these guarantees and
indemnifications. However, management believes thar it is
unlikely the firm will have to make any material payments
under these arrangemems, and no marenal liabilities related
to these arranpemems have been  recopnized in the
consalidated balance sheets as of both December 2024 and
December 2023,

Guarantess of Subsidiaries. Group Inc, is the entity that
fully and unconditionally guarantees the securities issued I;].'
G5 Finance Corp., 2 wholly-owned finance subsidiary of the
firm. Group Inc, has guaranteed the payment obligations of
Goldman Sachs & Co, LLC [G5&Co.), GS Bank USA and
Goldman Sachs Paris Inc. et Cie, subject to cermain
exceptions. Group Inc. also poarantess many of the
oblipations of its other consolidated subsidiaries on a
transiction-by-transaction basis, as  nepotimted  with
counterparties.  In  addition, Group Ine. has  provided
puarantees o Goldman Sachs Intemational (GS1) and GSBE
related 1o agreements thar each entity has entered into with
certain of s counterparties. Given the oblipations of the
consolidated subsidiaries are recognized in the consolidated
ha];m;:- Jln-.l.:'. o r\cﬂﬂ;lm' A% r::mlnilmrnls, (-'rrl::nup |nr.'s
liabilities as guarantor are not separately disclosed.

202 Goldman Sschs 2024 Form 10K
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Mote 15,
Shareholders’ Equity

Common Equity

As af both December 2024 and December 2023, the lirm had
400 billion authorized shares of common stock and 200
million authorized shares of nonvoting common stock, each
with a par value of $0.01 per share.

The firm"s share repurchase program is intended o help
maintain the appropriate level of common equity. The share
repurchase program is effected primarily through repular
open-market purchases (which may include repurchase plans
designed 1o comply with Rule 10b3-1 and accelerated share
repurchases), the amounts and timing of which are
determined primarily by the firm"s current and projected
capital position, and capital deployment opportunities, but
which may also be influenced by the evelution of current and
future regulatory capital requirements, peneral marker
conditions and the prevailing price and trading volumes of

the firm commaon wock.

The rable below presents information abour common aock
repurchases,

‘el Enchad Deonimber
N Mo, Soepl per Shave smounls 2024 2073 JEE
Common share repurchases 175 i 0
Avaragn oost per sharg SABTED LM5ET S46,07
Tootall cost of coavaveon shans ipardases § 8000 £ 556 S.i'.jﬂ

Pursuant 1o the terms of cermain share-based awards,
employees may remit shares to the firm or the firm may
cancel share-based awards 1o satisly statutory emplovee tax
withholding, requirements. Under these plans, 1,197 shares in
2024, 868 shares in 2023 and 11644 shares in 2022 were
remitted with a 1ol valoe of S0.5 million in 2024, $0.3
million in 2023 and 54 million in 2022, and the firm cancelled
3.4 millicn share-based awards in 2024, 3.9 million in 2023
and 4.6 million in 2022, with a rotal valoe of $1.33 billion in
2024, 51,35 billion in 2023 and $1.59 billien in 2022, The cash
sertlement of share-based awards is included in other in
additional paid-in capital in the consolidated statements of
sharcholders’ equity and in other financing, net in the
consolidaved statements of cash flows. The amount of cash
used 1o settle share-based awards was not material for each
of 2024, 2023 and 2022,

The table below presents common stock dividends declared.

Yoar Endgd Decambar
piies] 2023 el
1150 S10.50 § H00

Diwiands ceclired per comman Share

On January 14, 2025, the Board of Directors of Group Inc,
declared a dividend of $3.00 per common share to be paid on
March 18, 2015 o common sharcholders of record on
February 28, 2025,
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Proferred Equity
The tables below presemt information about the perperoal
preferred stock issued and cutstanding as of December 2024,

Depositary
Eharin Bhates Bhuide Eharis
Saries Authorined fpsund  Outstanding Par Share
A 50, G0 30, D008 25,550 1,00
L5 il B000 [ HLed 1.5
o Ll d) Sl (0 5900 1455
E 17800 7687 LBGT HA
P LY 1,518 1LE1S WA
] 6000 T, 000 26,000 =
a FOLOD F0 000 204,000 5
A 2000 F4.000 24,000 Fi]
] T L) 1, 14, [ F]
T fradad] 7000 29,000 &)
u T ] 30,0008 000 N
v ] 30, 008 3000 n
W B0 B0 DN BODOO 5
X LD S O W ) Fi]
¥ LD 130 000 13 O Fi]
ol SEh o0 e ing S0z 00
Liquidstion  Redemption Value
Serles  Earliest Redemption Date  Prederence 15 i erillicns)
A Cumently redeamabie § 25000 § 0
C Cumenty redieamabie 5 25,000 200
o Cufrenty redesmalie 5 25,000 1350
E Currenty redesmabie § W0, ¥ T
F Cumenty redesmabie § 100, o} 161
Q Kowambar 10, 2006 § 25,000 650
aQ Cumently redeamabie § 25,000 500
] Febeuary 10, 2025 5 25,000 L]
5 Febwuany 10, 2025 & 25,000 354
T May 10, 2006 & 25,000 6%
u August 10, 2026 § 25 000 mha
v Kowamber 10, 2006 § 25,000 50
W Feberuary 10, 2009 § 21 00 1.500
X My 10,2009 5 25,0 2,250
A Woneeriber 10 2004 & 25 00 2,000
Tatal F 13,63
In the tables above:

® All shares have a par value of $(L01 per share and, where
applicable, each share is represented by the specified
number of depositary shares.

* The carliest redemption date represents the date on which
each share of non-cumulative preferred stock is redeemalbile
at the firm"s option.

* Pricr to redesming preferred stock, the firm must receive
approval from the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System (FRE).

* [n April 2024, the firm jsved 90,000 shares of Series X
7.50% Fixed-Rate Reser Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock
(Series X Preferred Stock).

# [n Seprember 2024, the firm issued 80,000 shares of Series ¥
6.125% Fixed-Rate Reset Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock
[Series Y Preferrad Stock).

* The redemption price per share for Series A through F and
Series () through Y Preferred Szock is the liquidation
preference plus declared and wnpaid dividends, The
redemption price per share for Series O Preferred Stock is

the liquidation preference plus accrued and  unpaid
dividends.

All series of preferred stock are pari passu and have a
preference over the firm"s common stock on liquidation.

* The firm"s ability to declare or pay dividends on, or
purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, its common stock is
sllb‘ilﬂ.‘l [ £ mrl;j:: n.-.sl.rirl i.v.'ms T 1.|'|-c event l||a.l i]lc finn J',.-.Lls
o pay or set aside (ol dividends on the preferred stock for
the latest completed dividend pericd.

* Series E and Series F Preferred Stock are held by Goldman
Sachs Capiial Il and Geldman Sachs Capiral I,
respectively, These trusts are Delaware statutory trusts
sponscred by the fiem and wholly-owned  finance
subsidiaries of the firm for regulatory and lepal porposes
but are not conselidated for accounting, purposes,

In 2024, the fiem redeemed all ourstanding shares of s (3)
Series K 6.375% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative
Preferred Stock (Series K Prefereed Stock) with a redemprion
valwe of 5700 million (525,000 per share), plus accrued and
wapard dividends and (01} Series P 5.00% Fixed-to-Fleating
Rawe Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock (Series P Preferred
Stock) with a redemption value of $1.50 billion [$25,000 per
share), plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The difference
between the redempeion value and net carrying value at the
time of these redemptions was 534 million, which was
recorded as an addition to preferred stock dividends in 2024,

In 2023, the firm redeemed all cutstanding shares of its Series
] 5.50% Fixed-to-Floating Rave Non-Cumulative Preferred
Stock (Series | Preferred Stock) with a redemprion value of
31 billion (325000 per share), plus accroed and unpaid
dividends. The difference between the redemprion value and
net carrying value was 510 million, which was recorded as an
addition to preferred stock dividends in 2023,

In January 2025, che firm issued 76,000 shares of Series £
6.85% Fixed-Rate Resst Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock
(Series 7 Preferred Stock). Each share of Series Z Preferred
Stock issued and cutstanding has a liquidation preference of
$25 000 per share, is represented by 25 depositary shares and
is redeemable ar the firm's option beginning February 10,
2030 at a redemption price equal to S25,000 per share plus
declared and unpaid dividends. Dividends on Series £
Preferred Stock, if declared, are payable semi-annually ar (i)
6.85% per annuwm from the wsuance date 1o, but excludin e
February 10, 2030 and, therealter, (i) L461% per annum plus
the five-vear treasury rate,
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The preferred stock issuance costs in the comsolidmed
statements of sharehalders” equity rellects reclassifications of
issuance costs 1o retained earnings on redemptions, net of
issuance costs relating to new isswances,

The table below presents the dividend rates of perpetual
preferred stock as of December 2024,

On Janwary 7, 2025, Group Inc. declared dividends of
§345.49 per share of Series A Preferred Stock, 534549 per
share of Series C Preferred Stock, $340.49 per share of Series
D Preferred Stock, $922.38 per share of Series ) Preferred
Stock, $618.75 per share of Series B Preferred Stock, 5550000
per share of Series § Prefersed Stock, 5436.25 per share of
Series U Preferred Stock and $937.50 per share of Series W

Barisn P A v Divideadt Rirts Peelerred Stock thar were paid on February 10, 2025 1o
A rronsh baem SOFR + 107101 %, wein foar of 1 9%, gyl qusterty preferred sharcholders of record on January 26, 2025, In
[4 Beviah paern SOFA » 1 07181%, wim Boor of & 000, gevanis qusnay addition, the lirm declared dividends of 51,397 48 per share
g v e SOFR « 3 EI81, wan oo o 4 00, Syl Guaery of $eries E Preferred Stock and $1,398.11 per share of Series F
E Feronm v SOFR + 1 G118, witn oo of 4 00, cavabie quanteriy Preferred Stock that will be paid en March 3, 2025 o
: Jrmonah trm SOFA + 100161 %, wen £or of & 00, Eaysld qusiery preferred sharcholders of record on February 16, 2025,
B D0, ST STy, TH0eT B5UsT0a GATg 5, DUt ecising,
@ Mrearrioas 115, 3008, 3 eveseurs varmn SOFR + & D15, pavetia eartinty, Seraaitor Aecumulated Other Comprehensive Income/|Loss)
a 5 yaar Loy 1604 + 363N, pryebid STeanTLSy The table below presents changes in accumulated ocher
£ DEY, arpaDbe SRRy, T S80S0 10 B, Dot ieang, T ] .
A . 1 o ' comprehensive income/{loss), net of tax, by type
g & 7%, (gt TRy, 1o e G100 53, bt gtiaing,
Fabrusry 10, F02 & yaer Taam0ry rate + 3 EB%, Dayelin pamearraty Taeaane Dt
¥ 10F%, gt parTe-anmualy, from ipsusca Sata 8, bt rcsng, comprihanshe
Doty 1, O, ol B T 4 SO, R STH-aTMURTy, Tresaain 5 mceenglcaal .
gty adjuALIEmE, nefing
G, pirpabie pmearnusly, 1 sty daba 50, ot scisdng,
v dangiar Imm&wlumlm-lali’:nn;m;nn:rxm:i‘m § w1 mdlgns L] netol b balana
v 1A%, at STy, 110 BT data 50, bt sciading, Year Ended December 2024
PeremDa 1 O Gy AR TN ¢+ 73S DRI BTG ATy, T Curency racdlalion 3 BN % ax % (5
w 7 %, st Smearnaly, 1o s st data 5, bt seciedng, Dt s husistion Ss1imient zn [263) {386)
Fabeuaty 10 T G b Wbasorty T + 3 1509, S alig daie-aifnaly, Terdaling Pestisicey il P og T eimen labdites (575} 47 {528}
% 7 G0, DD BHTANNLETY, T 858N JAT 5, DUT SEciaang, Sl plvie- oS0k SECUTTHES 11.373) 4m {972}
oy 100, SO, e WSy T 4 3 BRI, ByRET STR-ATT ATy, T Carsh T hecines - i m
1PN, DM BTNy, TP S8 0 8T 50, DUT cisang, Taotal % ] Fil-]
¥ ot 100 0, 10 weir ey rate + 3 43, Deyel sty Tarelte " Eﬂ Eﬂ
‘wat Encied Depember 20873
In the table above, dividends on each series of preferred stock Lrrancy imrslation S 0As 635 R
. . . Dbt valuntion sdjusiment i e 1,008 nzy
are payable in arrears for the periods specified. Ponsion g posttiegmen liabiligs 456 P
The table below t ferred stock dividends daclared. Siovailplvie-Tor-snke secyries @G 125 0,313
able below presents prefere ock divi 5 ar Cash T . ! ! -
2024 - - Tots £ aing % & pam
Sin S s Vst B [egsmimbier 2002
Sarias porahire milioms pavate mions perahase midans Curpngy tmnslation $ S “ans  man
Yaar Endad Dasember Dbt waluntion adjusiment 15112 1,403 f2¥)
A 5160663 § 48 128437 8 44 & SE0BL 8 33 Pension ang postratesment lisbilitns 12N L] 5
[+ £1,606.63 13 5143437 17 5000350 a Bosmiobyie-foranln Socuriihes 1450 el ] @ a1
) £1,586.18 B 5126333 739 51,0035 uy i Tl hisdiges - - -
E § 64237 B SE07487 4B £ 4085058 Ll Toss RN 1M § B0
F $6,426.01 10 S60770 10 % 4088585 [
J ] - = S &1 %000 S5
L § ToaeR 2 5158376 dd %1 55078 &5
o §1.325,00 MM OE 132500 ORS00 S
" 51,6823.00 97 RR0FIEL 1§ IS0 00 5
Y] £1,375.00 | £1.37500 OSSO F]
A §1,237.50 W 5173750 30 5 1,73750 30
1] §1,100,00 18 $1.90000 B 500000 16
T 5 @as50.00 I8 & 05000 6% SEHD0 F]
u § 91250 27 % 913ED T 5 MIeY 23
v §1,091.25 5103135 3 5 1,06376 a2
w $1,833.33 m s - - % - -
X £ 1,026.04 |: = - % = =
Total § Ty 5 mn § a7
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MNote 20,
Regulation and Capital Adequacy

The FRE is the primary regulator of Group Inc., a bank
halding cempany under the 1.5, Bank Halding Company Act
of 1956 and a financial holding company under amendments
to this Act. The firm is subject to consolidated regulatory
capital requirements which are caleulaved in accordance with
the regulations of the FRB [(Capital Framework).

The capital requirements are expressed as risk-based capital
and leverage ratios that compare measures of repulatory
capital to risk-weighted assets (R'WAs), average assets and
off-balance sheer exposures. Failure 1o comply with these
capital requirements would result in restrictions  being
imposed by the firm’s regulators and could limit the firm's
ability to repurchase shares, pay dividends and miake cerain
discretionary compensation payments, The firm®s capital
levels are also subject o gqualiative judgments by the
regulators about components of capital, risk weightings and
other factors. Furthermore, certain of the firm's subsidiaries
are subject 1o separare repulations and capital requirements.

Capital Framework

The regulations under the Capital Framework are largely
based on the Basel Commines on Banking Supervision’s
[Basel Commirtes) capital [ramework for strempthening
internaticonal capital standards (Basel 1} and also implement
certain provisions of the US. Dodd-Frank Wall Seeeer
Beform and Consumer Protection Act. Under the Capital
Framework, the firm is an *Advanced approaches” banking
orpanization and has been desipnared as a plobal systemically
impartant bank (G-51B).

The Capital Framework inclodes the minimum risk-based
capital and the capital conservation buffer requirements. The
buffer must consist entirely of capital that qualifies as
Common Equity Tier 1 ({CET1) capital.

The firm calculates its CET1 capital, Tier 1 capital and Total
capital ratios in accordance with both the Standardized and
Advanced Capital Rules. Each of the ratios calculaved wnder
the Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules must meet its

respective capital requirements.

Under the Capital Framework, the firm is also subject to
leverage requirements which consist of a minimum Tier 1

leverage ratio and a minimum supplementary leverage ratio
[SLR), as well as the SLR bufler.
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Consolidated Regulatory Capital Requirements
Risk-Based Capital Raties. The table below presents the
risk-based capital requirements,

Standard med Aurhai neata

As of December 2024
CET1 capital rato 13.7% 1040%
Thar 1 cageital rates 16.2% 115%
Torial capital raic 17.2% 135%
g o D POPE
CET1 copiisl ratic 12.0% 100k
Thrr 1 cageital ratic 14.5% 11.6%
Torsl capitsl ralico 16.5% 11.5%
I the table above:

* As of both Diecember 2024 and December 2023, under both
the Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules, the CET1
capital ratio requirement includes a minimum of 4.5%, the
Tier 1 capital ratic requirement includes a minimum of
6.0% and the Total capital ratio requirement includes a
minimum of 3.0%. These requirements alse include the
capital conservation bufler requirements, consisting of the
G-SIB surcharge  (Method 1) of 3.0% and the
countercyclical capital buffer, which the FRE has set to
rero percent. In addition, the capital conservation bulfer
requiremenis include the siress capital buffer (SCB) of
6.2% as of December 2024 and 5.5% as of December 2023
under the Standardized Capital Bules and a buffer of 2.5%
as of both December 2024 and December 2023 under the
Advanced Capiral Rules.

® The G-5IB surcharge is updated annually based on
financial data from the prior year and is generally
applicable for the following vear. The G-5IB surcharge is
calculaved using two methodelogies, the higher of which is
rellected in the firm's rsk-based capital requirements, The
first calculation (Method 1) is based on the Basel
Cammtes"s nlrlhl:xlulnty which, amang, other fm:'[l::lrx,
relies upon measures of the size, actvity and complexity of
each G-SIB. The second calculation (Method 2] uses similar
nputs bur includes a measure of reliance on shom-rerm
wholesale funding,
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The tble below presenes information abour risk-based
capital ratkos
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Risk-Based Capital. The table below presents information
about risk- based capital,

£ ot pcaeninr
$in endipns Stndediosd  Adwanced £ maton 2024 0
LCommon sharsholoers’ equity £ 108,743 £ 106 02
CET1 caphal § 03,085 § 103,065 Impact of CECL trarsiticn T 553
Tar 1 capinl £ MEMT § NME6T Dreduction for poadwill 6,158} 15,224
Ther 2 cagetal & M §F 1004 Dreduction Toe identilabe intang e astels | EkR} =1
Tatad capital 5 1@ s s i pcustmasnts {167} (635
Fvdds § 6EA5A1 § GME2 CET1 capital 103,065 p v
N Potairid £1ock 13,253 11,203
CET1 caghal raka TR0, T5.E% Dredduction fod imeatments in cowred funds {60} (354}
Tier 1 cagetsl ratis 168% 17.1% T ——— (2} 3
Teitad capital ratic 188% 186% :
ier 1 capita $ 186N 5 0z
A8 o Decarmber JIEY
‘Standardized Tier 2 and Total capital
CET! copial 5 WA 5 M Tier 1 capisl $ 17 5 TI0EE
Tt 1 csptal 5 10280 £ 110.280 Quabtying s ubordinated debi 9,124 500
Tiar 2 cageinl 5 146874 § 10684 T — 5011 5012
Taotad capital £ 125962 & 130672 T —— 10 ! G4y
Fiihe 5 GW737 § 66534 Standoraizes Ter 2 capinl W% iagra
CET' coprol s 4% 9% Standadized ol capltl (IR MR
Toar 1 cageinl rvtee T9% 665
X Advanced Tier 2 and Totsl capital
Tortal capital mtis A — Tior 1 cogital & 1BE7 S 100788
|
Leverage Ratios. The table below presents the leverape _i:’nmrﬁu.;?.ﬁ:;; ;;ﬁ, 1;'3::;.
PedpuiiFEFEnlE. Oribvisf affustingsnts 1,650 jirrd
Aivanoed Tl 2 capine 10,164 1) 55
Ais cf Deceriber Advanced Totsl capital § 175811 5 ia0are
ol 203
Thasr 1 lervesrags mso 4.0% T In the rable above:
SR 5.0% S0

In the rable above, the SLR requirement of 5% includes a
minimum of 3% and a 2% buffer applicable 1o G-5[Bs,

The table below presents information abow leverage ratios.

For the Three Months
Ended or a5 of Decembes

5 in milions 24 2003

Ther 1 capital $ 116847 & 110700
Boverage 1608] sdse1s § 1600410 51 570 27

Dhsctions: droer Tiesr 1 Gapitsl (8.918p 7167
Awverage o usled 1016l sEsets 1682500 1,572,070

O kool S drnyd 1 el o pcisou nist @28, 250 L]
Jotal keverage exposure $2120,756 § | 506 06
Ther 1 leverage ratho aa% T
SLR 5.5% LA ]
In the table above:

* Averape total assets represents the average daily assets for
the quarter adjusted for the impacr of Current Expected
Credit Losses (CECL) transition,

* Ofi-balance sheet and other exposures primarily includes
the monthly average of afl-balance sheet exposures,
CONSISINg, of derivatives, securities nnz:la;illg;_ trangctions,
commitments and guarantees,

* Tier I leverage ratio is caleulated as Tier | capital divided
by average adjusted total assers.

* SLR is calculated as Tier | capital divided by total leveeape
EXpOSUre.

208 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K

* Beginning in January 2022, the firm started to phase in the
estimated reduction to regulatory capital as a result of
adopting, the CECL model, The total amount of reduction
to be phased in from January 1, 2022 through January 1,
2025 (ar 25% per year) was 5111 billion, of which 5329
million had been phased in as of December 2024, The total
amount 1o be phased in includes the impac of adopting,
CECL as of January 1, 2020, as well as 25% of the increase
in the allowance for credit losses from January 1, 2020
!h!’l::ll.lr.]'l Dnﬂ.‘rml’!cr 3', 221, The il'l'lpﬁi.‘[ of CECL
reansition reflects the remaining amount of reduction o be
phased in as of bath December 2024 and December 2023,

Deduction for poodwill was net of deferred tax liabilities of
5699 millicn as of December 2029 and 3692 million as of
December 2023,

* Deduction for identifiable intangible assets was net of
deferred tax liabilities of $209 million as of December 2024
and 5227 million as of December 2023,

Deduction for investments in covered lunds represents the
firm"s aggregate investments in applicable covered funds as
defined inthe Volcker Rule.

Oiher adjustments within CET1 capital and Tier 1 capital
primarily include CVAs on denvative liabilities, the
overfunded portion of the firm's defined benefit pension
plan obligation net of associated deferred rax liabilities,
disallowed deferred tax assets, debt valuation adjustments
amnd other required credit risk-based deductions, Other
adjustments within Advanced Tier 2 capital include eligible
credit reserves,
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* Qualifving subordinated debr is subordinared debr issued
by Group Inc, with an original maturity af five vears or
preater. Thea 'I:Inl:l[!.!.'-ll'll:lil'lE'_ amount of subordinated u;l:-1'.|L
qualifving for Tier 2 capital is reduced upon reaching a
remaining maturity of five years, See Mote 14 for further
information about the firm’s subordinaed debe.

The table below presents changes in CET1 capial, Tier 1
capital and Tier 2 capital.

& milans Swndardzed Agranced
CET1 capital
Baginning balanon 5 88442 & 55,332
Change inc
Common shamsholoens' squity 1041 3001
Irpsct of CECL mransition 277 [2rh
v o iy i it B B5 B5
Dreduction 1o identilisbie nangibe asse1s Mz 3z
NPt pEuSTTENTE 482 482
Emtiing blance 5 103065 § 103.065
Ther 1 capital
Beginning Dakands § mozes § 10288
Change irc
CETT cogeinl 34623 3623
Frafemed s30ck 2450 LAG0
Dedustion for immstrments in covered funds [318) [31E)
NPt s LestinaishilS 1 1
Ending balance 115647 116647
Ther 2 capital
Beginning balance 14874 10,684
Change irc
Cualfying subordinmted dietit (7821 [ra2)
Alcwance Tor credit losses ! =
(e pojustmants 14 24
[Erding balsnon 14,125 10,164
Total capital $ Wiz 8 eean

RWAs, RWAs are caleulated in accordance with bath the
Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules,

Credit Risk

Credit BW As are caleulated based on measures of exposure,
which are then risk weighted under the Standardized and
Advanced Capital Rules:

* The Standardized Capital Ruoles apply prescribed risk-
weights, which depend largely on the type of counterparty.
The exposure measures for derivarives and securities
financing transactions are based on specific formulas which
take certain factars into consideration,

Under the Advanced Capital Rules, the fiem computes risk-
weights for wholesale and retail credit exposures in
accordance with the Advanced Internal Ratings-Based
approach. The exposure measures for derivatives amd
SECHFILIeS .nn::u.'illg transactions are computed utilizing

inernal models.
For both Standardized and Advanced crediv RW As, the

risk-weights for sscoritizations and equities are based on
specific required formulaic approaches.
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Market Risk

RW As for market risk in accordance with the Standardized
and Advanced Capital Rules are generally consistent. Market
RWAs are calculated based on measures of exposure which
include the Fallowing:

* YValue-at-Risk (VaR) is the potential loss in value of trading
assets and labilities, as well as certain invest ments, loans,
and other fimancial assets and liabilities accounted for ar
fair value, due to adverse market movements over a definad
rime hariron with a spﬂ'il‘ird canlidence level.

For both risk management purposes and regulacory capital
calculations, the firm uses a single VaR model which
caprures risks, including those pelated 1o interest rates,
equity  prices, currency rates and  commodity  prices,
Haowever, VaR used for rusk MUAMAZEMent paarposes ¢IJII'¢:=
from VaR wsed for repulatory capital requirements
[regularory VaR) due to differences in time harizons,
confidence levels and the scope of posinons on which VaR
is calculated, For risk managememt purposes, a 95% one-
day VaR iz used, whereas for repulatory capital
requirements, a 99% 10-day VaR is used vo determine
Markes BRWAs and a 9% oneday VaR is used o
determine regulatory VaR exceptions. [n addivion, che daily
net revenues used to determine risk management VaR
exceptions (i.e., comparing the daily net revenues 1o the
Vak measure calculated as of the end of the prior business
day) include intraday  activity, whereas the Capital
Framework requires that intraday actviry be excluded
from daily net revenues when calculating regulatory Vak
exceptions.  Imtraday  activity  includes  bidloffer  net
revenues, which are more likely than not to be positive by
their natire, As a result, there may be differences in the
number of VaR exceprions and the amount of daily ne
revenues caloulated for regulatory VaR compared 1o the
amounts calculated for risk management VaR.

The firm's positional losses observed on a single day
exceeded  sts 99%  one-day  regulatery VaR oon two
occasions during 2024 and on one occasion during 2023
There was no change in the firm®s VaR muliiplier used to
l.'.'-lli.'lll:l-l’! Marker R‘Wﬂs‘,

Srressed VaR is the potential loss in value of rrading assers
and liabilities, as well as certain investments, loans, and
other financial assets and liabilities accounted for ar fair
value, during a pericd of significant market stress;

* Incremental risk is the potential loss in valoe of non
securitized positions due to the default or eredit migration
of issuers of financial instruments over 2 one-year time
horizon;
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* Compeehensive risk is the potential loss in value, due 1o
price risk and defaults, within the firm*s credit correlation
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The table below presems changes in KW As

In the table above:

® Securities [inancing transactions represents resale amd
repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and loaned
[FAMSACTIONS,

* Orher includes receivables, cemain debs securities, cash and
cash equivalenis, and other asseis,

208 Goldman Spchs 2024 Form 10K

e £ matons Swndansed  Adwncad
positions; and Year Ended December 2024
RWias
* Specific rigk is the risk of loss on a position thar could Baginning balssc § B2TIT § 685348
result from factors other than broad market movements, Credit RWAs
including event risk, default risk and idiosyncraric risk. The Change in:
stan#ardi.a:d MEASI et m.r:hod is us.cd o d.c:crm.inc E:;'T::':T':r__s. gueranises and loans MI:: B,HI'BWI“
specific risk RWAs, by applving supervisory defined risk- Seduilitied THANCNG MANASEIbNE {6.530) (701
weighting factors after applicable netting is performed. Equily imvestments {4.205) {5463}
Qiirer {5468 a4
Operational Risk Change in Credt RWAS {12.148] ERLE)
Operational RWAs are only required to be included under Markat RWAS
[]I::.r Advanced Capiral leieg. The Iﬁrm urilizes an internal {':'n':l;‘_wn 3838 -
risk-based medel to quantify Operational RWAs, Sireresesd Vs {247 {247
The table below presents information abow RWAs. ‘I:L:::::::_‘:::”“ e (681)
Fo— Spaeciic risi 3,208 3,208
:l-;nn-d-ns per 2028 Standerdmed  Adwenced g in Marh 7 960 7 960
A -lel Change in Operational RWAS - {1,830}
' — & 18538 5 5O TO6 Ending balance 3 _0eabdl $ Brasis
Comiritimdnls, Quannees and ibans 247,140 188818
Saurites Dnancing 1rahssctichs 97,174 F2EE RWAs Rollforward l‘.‘-ommontlrv .
Exquity ivesimanis 30,078 1457 Year Ended December 2024, Standardized Credic RWAs
Orihees .03 97.129 as of Decemmber 2024 decreased by 51215 billion compared
—E;hm“?“‘ BLNS  48LOM ik December 2023, primarily refllecting a decrease in
Reguistony R 19,995 19,995 securities linancing transactions [principally due 1o reduced
Svesaed Vait 48,2449 43,249 funding exposures), a decrease in other coredic RWAs
Increemenital rak ros4 1054 [principally due to decreases in other assers), and a decrease
m:_:‘:r:aﬂ:nw ek ;:',; .Im in equity investments (principally doe to reduced exposures).
Total Market RWAS a6, 528 5,828 These decreases were partially offset by an increase in
_Total Operationsl RWAs - 1070 commitments, puaeantess and loans (principally due 1o
ol P PSR E sMMa increased lending exposures), Standardized Marker BW As as
i ol Db WL of December 2024 increased h}' 5795 billion mm;l:--.ur.-c! with
':T:_'t_m' e s s o December 1023, primarily reflecting an increase in regulatory
mlﬁ_’m:“s_ Quanmses and kens 247084 19493 jl"aR I:}':rinci_pally *:.lll'.".tﬂ irrrrtaal:d.cxposurcs:' and an increase
Securiting finanhcing ransstiona 100,704 7,67 in specific risk (principally due o increassd exposures 1o debr
Ecuity vesirments M, 723 36, 500 and equity instruments held for market-making purposss).
Othes 1 o6, 755
Tobsl Cresit Fiihs BOLESE 447 670 Advanced Credit RWAs as of December 2024 increased by
Market RWWAs . $3.14 billion compared with December 2023, primarily
:‘ﬁ::g::,ﬁ";tﬁ 2_:; :':E reflecting an increass in commitments, guarantees and loans
Inerenentsl sk 5032 5,062 (principally due o increased lending exposures) and an
Comprehensie risk 18 28 increase  in derivatives  [principally due 1o increased
Speeriie resk 1175 16,175 counterparty credit risk). These increases were |:qarli.a||:r
Total Mariet FRVAS mEtE  mam fiset by a dec . L orincioally d
Total Omerathonal WiS T B0 offset by a decrease in equity investments {principally due o
Totsl By 600 70 & Gah ol reduced  exposures),  Advanced Market RWAs as of

December 2024 increased by $7.95 billion compared with
December 2023, primarily reflecting an increase in regulatory
VaR [principally due to increased exposures) and an increase
in specific risk (principally due to increased exposures 1o debt
and equity instruments held foor market-ma king, purposes).
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G5 Bank USA

GS Bank USA is the firm"s primary US. bank subsidiary. GS
Bank USA is a New York State<chartered bank and a member
of the Federal Reserve System, is supervisad and regulated by
the FRE, the FDIC, the New York Swate Department of
Financial Services (NYDFS) and the Consumer Financial
Protection Bareau {CFPB), and is subject to regulatory capital
requirements  that are calculated wnder  the Capital
Framework. G5 Bank USA is an “Advanced approaches™
banking organization under the Capital Framework. The
deposits of G5 Bank USA are insured by the FDIC to the
extent provided by law,

The Capital Framework includes the minimum risk-based
capital and the capital conservation buffer requirements
[consisting, of 2 2.5% baffer and the counercyclical capital
buffer). The buffer must comsist entirely of capiral that
qualifies a5 CET1 capital. In additien, the Capital
Framework includes the leverage ratio requirement. G5 Bank
USA is required to calculate the CET1 capital, Tier 1 capital
and Total capital ratios 0 accordance with both the
Standardized and Advanced Capital Rules. The lower of each
risk-hased capital ratio under the Standardized and Advanced
Capital Rules is the ratio against which G5 Bank USA's
compliance with its risk-based capital requirements s
assessed. In addition, under the regulatary framework for
prompt correciive aciion applicable to G5 Bank USA, in
order to meet the guantitative requirements for a “well-
capitalized” depository institution, G8 Bank USA must also
meet the “well-capitalized® requirements in the able below.
4GS Bank USA%s capital levels and prompt corrective action
classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the
regulators about components of capital, risk weightings and
other factors. Failure to comply with the capital
requirements, including a breach of the buffers described
below, would result in restrictions being imposed by the
regulators,

The table below presents GS Bank USA% risk-based capiral,
leverage and “well-capitalized™ requirements,

Az of Dipcermine
pavel] 2093 Hi24 2053
SWelcepidalined”
Rgqueenmants Ragussmants

filsk-based capital requirements
CET1 capiinl mio T.0% T 5% 5%
Toisi 1 ashgtal ratis BE% 8.5% % B0%
Testad capital i 10.5% 10.5%: 1000% 00
Leverage requirements
Tt 1 lerverages mato 4.0% A0 0% S0%
SR 10% M B0% .05
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In the table above;

* The CET1 capital ratio requirement inclides a minimuom af
4.5%, the Tier 1 capital ratio requirement includes a
minimum of £0% and the Total capital ratio requirement
includes a minimum of §.0%. These requirements also
include the capital conservation buffer requirements
consiging of a 2.5% buffer and the countercyelical capital
buffer, which the FRB has set to zero percent.

* The “well-capitalized™ requirements are the binding
requirements for leverage ratios.

The table below presents information abour GS Bank USA's
risk-based capital ratios.

£ Frllacid Sundaidioed  Advancod
As of Decdmber 2034

CET1 cophinl -1 Brao2d & E2O02
Tiar 1 capital -1 o2y £ E202
Thier 2 capuital 5 4208 % 865
Toral capitsl 3 8231 &8 &2.677
Rviis § 3EsEel § 28460
CET1 copilal rato 16.0% Ha%
Tier 1 cageinl rto 16.0% %
Toanl capital i 11% 22.1%
As of Decombes MBS

CET1 copiinl & R 8§ 51T
Toar 1 caginl -1 oM & 53
Tear 2 cageinl 4 SR 2.9
Tosal coptal £ G00es & MG TR
Adas £ aE Y4 8 2t
CET1 copiial o 1% 18.6%
Tiirr 1 cagutal ratio 1d1% 1R6%
Torsl capital ralico 15.8% 18.6%
In the table above:

# The lower of the Standardized or Advanced ratio is the
ratio against which G5 Bank USA's compliance with the
capital requirements is assessed under the risk-based
Capital Rules, and therefore, the Standardized ratios
applied 1o GS Bank USA as of both December 2024 and
December 2023,

* Beginning in January 2022, G§ Bank USA started 1o phase
in the estimared reduction to repulatory capital as a result
of adopting the CECL model at 25% per wear through
Januvary H025. The rotal amount to be phased in includes
the impact of adopting CECL as of Janvary 1, 2020, as well
as X3% of the increase in the allowance for credit losses
from January 1, 2020 chrough December 31, 2021,

The Standardized and Advanced risk-based capital ratios
mcreased  from  December 2023 1o December 2024,
primarily reflecting an increase in capital, principally due
to net earnmings, and a decrease in Market RWAs, partially
offser by an increase in Credit RWAs,
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The rable below presents informarion abour GS Bank USA's
leverage ratios,

Fortha Thiee Manths
Ended oo 3 of Decamber

Fan endipng 024 203
Towr 1 copeinl s &R 5 Lam
Aversgs sdjusiod 1016 ssets $ BEEE13 § 51 GAE
Taitad birvisrasgyis Goqecebune § FEAT & TGS
Ther 1 leverage ratho 1140% 1025
SLR 20% TA%

Ini the rable above:

* Averapge adjusted total assets represents the average daily
assets for the quarter adjusted for deductions from Tier 1
capital and the impaa of CECL reansition.

* Tier 1 leverapge ratio is calculared as Tier | capital divided
by average adjusted votal assers.

* SLR is calculated as Tier | capital divided by total leverage
exposure.

The FRB requires thar GS Bank USA muintain cash reserves
with the Federal Reserve. As of both December 2024 and
December 2023, the reserve requirement ratio was zero
percent. See MNote 26 for further information abour cash

deposits held by the firm at the Federal Reserve,

GS Bank USA is a registered swap dealer with the CFTC and
a registered security-based swap dealer with the SEC. As of
bath December 2024 and December 2023, GS Bank USA was
subject to and in compliance with applicable capital
requirements for swap dealers and security-based swap
dealers.

210 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K

Restrictions on Payments

Group Inc. may be limited in its abilicy 1o acoess capital held
at certain subsidiaries as a result of regulatory, tax or other
constraints,  These  limitations  include  provisions  of
applicable law and repolations and  other  regulatory
restrictions that limit the ahility of those subsidiaries o
declare and pay dividends withour pricr regulatory approval,
For example, the amount of dividends that may be paid by
GS Bank USA are limited 1o the lesser of the amounts
calculated under a recent earnings test and an undivided
prafits rest.

In addition, subsidiaries not subject wo separare regulatory
capital requirements may hold capital wo satisfy local gax and
legal guidelines, rating agency requirements [for entities with
assipned credit ratings) or internal policies, including, policies
concerning the minimum amount of capital a subsidiary

should hold based on its underlving level of risk.

Group Inc."s equity investment in subsidiaries was 5140.79
billion as of December 2024 and 513375 billion as of
December 2023, of which Group Ine. was required o
maintain 59848 billion as of December 2029 and 595,80
billicn as of December 2023, of minimum equity capital in its
regulated subsidiaries in order to satisfy the regulavory
requirements of such subsidiaries.

Group Inc.'s capital invested in certain non-US. dollar
functional currency  subsidiaries is expossd o foreign
exchange risk, substantially all of which is managed through
a combination of non-U.5. dollar-denominated debe and
derivatives, See MNote 7 for informatien abom the irm’ net

investment hedpes used 1o hedpe this risk.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 21.
Earnings Per Common Share

Basic EPS is calculared by dividing net carnings 1o common
by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding and restricred stock units (RSUs) for which the
delivery of the underlying common stock is not subject 1o
satisfaction of future service, performance or  market
conditions (collectively, basic shares). Diluted EFS includes
the determinams of basic EPS and, in addition, reflects the
dilwive effect of the common sock deliverable for RSUs for
which the delivery of the underlying common stock is subject
to satisfaction of [uture service, performance or market
conditions.

The table below presems information abour basic and dilured
EPS.

Wt Ended Decarbe

o el ! P SR TGt 2024 radrae ] 2037
Nt aamiligs 1o comimcn 13526 § TO0T 51004
Wiesphiied svesnpe basic shares @B M0E 820
EHact o dilutaes RS -1 &0 {11

ted diiluted shares 3336 H6E 3581
Baskc EFS § 407 & FA06 5 AR
Diksted EPS £ 4084 £ Jopr L GG
Inn the table above:

* Ner earnings 1o Commoen represenis net earmings applicable
to common  sharcholders, which is calculaved as net
earnings bess preferred stock dividends.

Unvested share-based awards that have non-forfeitable
rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are treated as a
separate class of securities under the two-class methed.
Distributed earnings allocated to these securities reduce net
carmngs o common (o caleulare EPS under this method.
The impact of applying this methodolopy was a reduction
in basic EPS of $0.15 for each of 2024, 2023 and 2022,

Diluted EPS does nor include antidilurive RSUs, including
those that are subject to market or performance conditions,
of 0.1 million for 2024, 0.4 million for 2023 and 0.5 million
for 2022,
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Mote 22,
Transactions with Affiliated Funds

The firm has formed nonconsolidated investment funds with
third-party investors. As the firm generally acts as the
investment manager for these funds, it is entitled 1o receive
management fees and, in certain cases, advisory fees or
incentive fees from these funds. Additicnally, the firm invests
alongside its clients in certain funds.

The tables below present information about atfiliated funds.
o Endid Dovaenion!

£ w1 mallions 2024 203 P
Fees parmind Trom funcs $ Bagd £ 476 £ 4553

A Depriog
5 o il i F00
Foas roconvabio from funds £ 1880 £ 1R
Apgrogate chmying vaiue of intemsts in funds £  40T8 & 442

In the ordinary course of business, the fiem may choose 1o
provide voluntary financial support o funds, although any
such support is not expected 1o be material to the results of
operations of the firm. The firm has waived or deferred
collection of management fees and  has  deferred
reimbursement of expenses, and in the future may waive or
defer collection of management fees, from select funds. The
impact of these waivers and delerrals was not material to the
firm’s resulis of operations for bodh 2034 and 2023
Management lees waived were 5123 million for 2022, Except
as noted above, the firm did not provide any additional
financial suppen to its affiliated funds during each of 2024,
2023 and 2022,

In addivion, in the ordinary course of business, the firm may
alse engage in other activities with its affiliated funds,
including, amaong others, secarities lending, rade execution,
market-making, costody, and  acquisiion and  bridge
financing, See Note 18 for information about the firm’s
investment commitments related to these funds.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

MNote 23.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest is recorded over the life of the instrument on an
acerual basis based on contractueal interest rates.

The table below presents sources of interest income amd

INEerest expense,

Wit (Ended Decarbe
5 endiang 2024 Hd 2052
Deposis with banks § 828z 510845 5 A3
Collatemized agresments 15,285 16405 4,408

Troding assals 14316 400 5087
IrrvEstrmasnts [5-5E 3055 2,188
Loans 16162 14500 069
Crihee inbhnest 15,744 13840 44578
Total Interest Income 81387 48515 F0Ed
D1 2028 17000 5,833
Colatiembiped financings 1738 12705 2,004
Trading labdit s 281 2453 1.823
SrorHern beerowings 2112 1222 =1
Longrterm baosmowings M0 17064 518
Orihee inbanes 19884 17550 4,535
Total Wterest sxpene 732 62064 F10
Maet interest income $ BOSE & 61 5 ren

In the table above:

* Collateralized  agreements includes rebates paid  and
interest income on securities borrowed.

* Loans excludes interest on leans held for sale that are
accounted for ar the lower of cost or fair value. Such
inverest is included wichin other imerest.

* Ocher interest income incluodes interest income on customer
debit balances, cther interest-earning assers and loans held
far sale that are accounted for at the lower of cost or fair
value,

* Collateralized hinancings consists of repurchase apreements
and securities leaned.

* Shart- and long-term I:urmwjng,; include both secured and
unsecured borrowings.

* Other interest expense includes rebates received on other
il:llrrrxl-he:uring. liabilities and interes expenss on customer
credit balances,

212 Goldman Spchs 2024 Form 10K
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Mote 24.
Income Taxes

Provision for Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided for using the asset and liabilicy
method under which deferred tax assets and liahilities are
recopnized for temporary differences berween the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, The firm
reports interest expense related to income ax matters in
provision for taxes and income tax penalties in other
Exlmllm*.

The table below presents information about the provision for
taxes,

Year Ended Decembes

3 a0 o pares ] 2023 2033
Current taxes

LS, doderal $ 2000 £ 123 82356
State and kecal ] aery i
MU, 222 16 1658
Total CUFTEnt tax experme 4921 a5E1  4EaT
Deterred taxis

LS, tedernl -] 5 2,079
Slale and kcal {144 [ I
her-ULS 08 50 103
Tatal deterred L (Benefith o xperie (B0 i136W 24021
Prauision for trxes $a32) 52073 2700

The table below presents a reconciliation of the LS, federal

starory income tax rate to the effective income ax rate.

i Ended Decasmbu
4 HF Ficerd

U5, fedenal $18tuleny inGome lax rle 0% 21.0% 210%
Sate and ool ames, nel ol U5, Tecen! benelin 24 0.6 13
Sttt of ernpioyes shane-hased pwands .2) ne @24
Nor-LLS, opernations 1.4} 24 @A
GILTI 28 4.4 14
Tay grodis L] n.& s
Texmxamp! income, including dviderds {os)y 1.0 @2
Nor-taductible bl apenses = 02 0
L heiar oz 1.3 0%
wiioctive bncoans 132 ryty RA% _I07% 105%,

I the table above:

* The firm recognizes income ax expense associated with
Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTI) in the

period in which it is incurred.

* Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2023, GILTI is presented
as a separate reconciliation item. Previously, GILTI was
included in non-US. operations. Prior period amounts have
been conformed 1o the current presentation.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIOWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Daferrad Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and labilities. These emporary differences result in
taxable or deductible amounts in future years and are
measured wsing the tax rates and laws that will be in effect
when such differences are expected 1o reverse, Valuation
allowances are established to reduce deferred rax assets ta the
amount that more likely than sor will be realized and
primarily relate to the ability to wiilize losses and tax credits
in various tax jursdictions. Tax assers are included in other
assers and tax liabilities are included in ather liabilities.

The table below presemts information abowt deferred tax
assets and liabilities, excluding the impact of neting within
tax jurisdictions,

As of Decambar

& i mdlang 2024 2073
Deferred tax assets

Compansation and benains &% 1888 L 1000
ASE 740 assot redntisd % inencognized 16y borsdits 266 m
MNon-ULS, oparations 1,507 1,278
Urrisabpisd ko 2780 2,100
et opsraling loddes TRO 829
et uparsy-feln ed &5 oa
Onhgsr cornprehens g ircormetioss-relabed 4 1.158
Taol cracits carmplonsm 261 Fal]
Openating lease labiites 581 L]
ABoanon Tor credil g 1412 1,450
Onihgr, it 21 165
Subtcanl 11,007 0,15
Wit ol s {2084) (1.5
Tatnl deferred thx pssets § 8843 & 010
Deterred thx labilithes

Depracintion ard ameeiization § @2 § nE
Opomating lease right-ol-Lse resets 512 R4
Total deferred tax Babilites § 1484 & 00

The ficm has recaorded deferred vax assers of 5786 million as
of December 2024 and 5929 million as of December 2023, in
connection with U5, federal, state and local and foreign net
operating loss careyforwards. The frm also recorded a
valuation allowance of $328 million as of December 2024 and
5396 million as of December 2023, related 1o these net
operating loss carryforwards.
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As of December 2024, the US. federal net operating loss
carrvforward was $1.3 billion, the sate and local net
operating loss carrylorward was 53.3 billion, and the foreign
net operating loss carryforward was 815 billion. 1f net
utilized, the U5, federal, the state and local, and foreign net
operating loss carrylorwards will begin 1o expire in 2025, 1f
these carrvlforwards expire, they will not have a material
impact on the firm's results of operations. As of December
2024, the Lirm has recorded deferred rax assets of $405
millien in connection with foreign tax credit carrylorwards
and a related valuation allowance of 5289 million. As of
December 2024, the firm has recorded deferred tax assets of
845 million in connection with general business credit
carrviorwards and §11 million in conmection with scate and
local tax cradit carryforwards, If not wilized, the foreign tax
credit carryforward will begin to expire in 2033, the peneral
business credit carryforward will begin to expire in 2023 and
the stae :lnd |w.'a| Lax 1.'r|:'dil: carr:,'[tu'\\':lul will I'u:f_ill (151
expire in 2026,

As af both December 2024 and December 2023, the fiem had
nie LS, federal capital loss ca.rryrnrwzn:ls and no related net
deferred income tax assets. As of December 2024, the firm
had deferred tax assets of 7 millicn in connection with stage
and local capital loss careyforwards and a valuation
:l“l:rw:-llb;':- |::|f Sl milliun ncl.al-cu:' (T I]:rw rap-ilal |-::|:\.:¢
carryvlorwards. As of December 2024, the firm had deferred
tax assets of 365 million in connection with foreign capital
loss carryforwards and a valuation allowance of 5346 millicn
related po these ca Flil:=|1 loss q'zrr}'l‘l::lrw;lrw;ls..

The valuation allowance increased by 5856 million during
224 and 5409 million during 2013, The increases in both
2024 and 2023 were primarily due 1o an increase in deferred

tax assers from which the firm does not expect to realize any
benefir,

The firm permanently reinvested eligible eamings of cemain
foreign  subsidiaries. As of both December 2024 and
December 2023, all .S rtaxes were accrued on these
subsidianies® disiributable earnings.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The firm recognizes tax positions in the consclidated
financial statements only when it is more likely than not that
the position will be sustained on examination by the relevant
taxing authority based on the technical merits of the position.
A position that meets this standard is measured at the largest
amount of benefit thar will more likely than not be realized
on seitlement. A liability is established for differences
berween positions taken in a wax return and amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statemenis.

The accrued liability for interest expense related to income
tax matrers and income tax penalties was $475 million as of
December 2024 and 5320 million as of December 2023, The
firm recogmized interest expense and income rax penalties of
5113 million for 2024, 590 million for 2023 and $59 million
for 202L It is reasonably possible that unrecopnized rax
benefits could change significantly during the twelve months
subsequent 1o December 2024 due 1o potential audit
settlements. However, at this time it is nat possible to
esimate any potential change,

The table below presemts the changes in the liability for
unrecopnized tax  benefirs, which is included in other
liabilities.

Wi Enchod o iy of Do bage

§an rdfng 2024 Fuirs] 2073
Bnginning balanon £ 1.7 L 150 5 16
Increasos basod on cument year to postions am 142 i)
Ingrenses tased on pror years' Hx positions -1 1 19
Drecrases Dicsed on prod years' inx positons {23} ] =]
Dncrosses mdabed to seitamanis {9 (M 1]
Exchangs mabe fuctiuntions - [#}] 5]
Ending balance $2i6F £ 706 8 15

Ini the table above, the liabilay for unrecopmized rax benefits
included 518 billion as of December 2024, 51,4 billion as of
December 23 and 1.2 billion as of Dﬂ'rm"rﬂ' 022 ol
unrecognized tax benefits which, if recopnized, would reduce
the annual effective tax rate. The remaining unrecopgnized rax
benefits in the table above would notr atffect the annual mx
rate, as such benefits have jurisdictional offsets or relate 1o
temporary differences.

214 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Regulatery Tax Examinations

The firm is subject to examination by the U5, Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) and other raxing authorities in
jurisdictions  where  the firm  has  significant  business
operations, such as the United Kingdoem, lapan, Hong Kong
and various states, such as New York. The tax vears under
examination vary by jurisdiction. The firm does not expect
completion al these andits to have a material impact on the
firm*s financial condition, but it may be material to cperating
results for a particular period, depending, in part, on the
operating results for thar period.

The table below presents the earliest tax years that remain
subject to examination by major jurisdiction.

Ais of
Surisdistion o bver B0
U5, Fasderal 2011
Moy Yok Siate ard City 2016
Uritéd Kingdiam 2017
Japeh 2018
Hing Kong 2018

The firm has been accepted into the Compliance Assurance
Process (CAP) program by the IRS for each of the tax years
from 203 theouph 2025, This program allows the firm to
work with the TRS to identify and resclve potential U5,
Federal tax issues before the filing of tax revurns. All jssuoes
addressed throogh the CAP program for the 2011 through
I8 rax vears have been resolved and completion is pending
fimal review by the Joint Committee on Tasation. All issues
for the 2009 through 2022 tax years have been resolved and
will be effecrively serled pending adminisrrative completion
by the [R5, Final completion of tax yvears 2011 chroough 2022
will net have a material im]:l.m;l o1 the rf.rﬂﬂiﬂ.- pax rate. The
2123 tax vear remains subject to post-filing review, New
York State and City examinations of tax years 2013 through
2018 commenced during 2021,

All years, including and subsequent to the years in the table
above, remain open to examination by the taxing authorities.
The firm believes that the liability for unrecognized ax
benefits it has established is adequate in relation to the
potential for additional assessments.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIOWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Mote 25.
Business Segments

The firm manages and reporcs s activities in three business
segmentss Global Banking & Markets, Aset & Wealth
Manmapgememt and Platform  Solutions.  These  business
segments are determined and erganized based on products
and services provided, and the wypes of customers and
counterparties served. See Note | for a descripgion of the
firm's business segments.

The firm's chiel operating decision maker [CODM) is s
president and chief operating officer. The CODM makes
operating  decisions, assesses the performance of, and
allocates  eesources o, the firm’s opeeating  sepments
principally based on the total net revenues of the segments,
revenues net of provision for credic losses, toral operating
CXPENsCs, pre-lax  camnings, net carnings applicable
common sharchalders and the return on average common
equity to assess the performance of the scgmemts. The
CODM evaluates segment operating performance agains the
Firm's targets and induscry mernics and considers the current
and future business and operating envirenment,

The acconnting policies used 1o prepare the operating results
and other metrics for the sepments are consistent with those
described in Mote 3, The following provides a description of
the primary components of the fiem's sepment resulis
disclosed in the table below.

* The firm fully allocates its revenues, expenses, assets and
shareholders” equity 1o the firm s theee business sepments.

* Revenues and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining pre-tax earnings for
the respective segment.
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* Mer revenues in the irm's SORMents include allocations of
interesi  income and expense based on the funding
generated by, or the funding and liquidity requirements of
the respective sepments. Net interest is included in sepment
net revenues @s it s consistent with how management
assesses sepment performance.

* Expenses not directly associated with specilic sepments are
allecated among the business segments based on an
estimate of support provided 1o each sepment.

* Compensation and benefits expenses in the firm"s segments
reflect, among other factors, the overall performance of the
firm, as well as the performance of individual businesses.
Consequently, pre-tax margins in one segment of the firm's
business may be significamly affected by the performance
of the firm's other business sepments,

* Certain assets (incleding allocations of global core liquid
assers and cash, and secured cliemt financing), not directly
associaved with specific sepments are generally allocared
AMOng the I'Jlln'ucﬂ sepments hﬂsﬂ:l an the funn;linf_ and
liquidity requirements of the scgments.

* Common  shareholders®  equity and  preferred  stock
dividends are allocated 1o each spment bassd on the
estimated amount of equity required to support the
activities of the segment under relevant regulatory n:'.;lpil::.ﬂ
Fequirements.

* Ner carnings for cach sepment is calculaved by applyving the
firmwide tax rate 1o each segment 5] |Jm-|axﬁrninzﬁ.

* Management believes that this allocation provides a
reasonable representation of each segment™s contribution
to consolidated net carnings to common, return on average
common equity and total assets. Doe to the integrated
nature of these sepments, estimates and judgmems are
made in allocating these assers, revenues and expenses.
Transactions between segments are based on specific
criveria or approximate third-pany rates.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Segmaoent Results
The rable below presents a summary of the firm's segment
results.

Wear Ended Decernber

& an endlapng 2004 e 205
Glabal Barking & Marfkets
Mo e revenues

£ 2530 § PN S X0

Met inbetest income 2405 742 242k
Todal reed rervenises 34,043 il a2 aay
Provision for credit losses 0 il L
oy aned bl g 9428 BHT BL651
Gther opsuting Saponses 10554 886 8,15
Tol spaiating sapansss 19980 1E0s0 7L
Prea samings & 14823 % 11660 & 14068
et samings £ 1580 & 9061 5 11,830
Nl samings b commron £ 10808 £ 0703 % 11458
Ayarags common egquity £ TSTHE £ TIBE] £ £0051
E:nnﬁmﬂmnmww A4 5% 12]‘% 164%
Apsat & Waealth Management
Mo nlenest ienanues § 12248 5 0700 § Q883
Mol mbsanl ndETe &, T8 fi ol v
Tl ful rrdriass 18,142 13880 13.376
Provmicn for credit loeses [Fix il 1508k 519
Comp anand benafits s 505 6122 Sa27
Other cpesaling exponses S0 6UERS 5623
T Gpabraling expandts 11025 13020 11,550
Pré-li Srmeniga § 4540 5 1350 1.307

Nl sarmings

Met @arings kS Comneas

5

£ 253 % 107 £ 1R

§ 38 £ 052 £ am
]

Ararages SHMITGS egua ity § DPBADS § J0OTE e
i 1 £ AR, e+l 1 7% T 1%
Platform Solutions
S-S lanEEl iR § [s  NE 5 |
S il N 2855 2519 1,700
TeAal e rerenrvas ZAZT 2,378 1,507
Profedenn fod e pases 1,540 1,135 1.728
Gamp ain and binof I fifih Thd 6l
Orhat epaealing sup 1277 2Em 1203
Tedal cptating wap 1882 3418 1,763
Pra-ti Same g Tossh § MOTSFS (275F § (.98
el e ngeu sl § [(B3M}S 11,725 S [L6EN
Mot earmingaiTioss) 1o commaon § [BRB}S (1.728F S [LGFD
Ivmrage common s iy £ 4573 5 2853 § ALns
"HJlanﬂcwmw 1'” 45 21% L0
Total
Son-mlenesd ievenues 45408 S 20901 § BT
el inbepst income /050 6361 TETH
Tolal reed rervervses 32512 254 47 365
Provvimicn bor credit oeses 1240 1028 215
Loy i anal besnasfits eag 18708 1L 15,148
_Gther operating oxponses 17,001 18858 164N
Toln| oporating expenses 3. 76T 207 162
Pro-fax samngs £ 1837 % 10730 [RIEEL

Sl sarmings
Mol sarminge: i Comimon § 1358 5 a7
Anragen SHMmGS egu ity S108.TT4 5105604
PRI £ i sl COMITEn mauity 12 T% T5% 0L %

[

§ 1420 £ 0516 % 10360
]
]
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In the table above:

* Onher operating, expenses for Global Banking & Markers
primarily included rransaction based, communications amd
technology, and depreciation and amortization expenses,

* Oiher operating expenses for Asset & Wealth Management
primarily  included  transaction  based  expenses,
depreciation and amortization expenses, and professional
fees.

* Other operating expenses for Platform Solutions primarily
included professional fees, depreciation and amortizatian
expenses, and communications and technolopy expenses,

The table below presents depreciation and amortization
expenses by segment.

et Enched Dsommber

£ w1 mdlicns 2024 FLE] 20
Giobal Banking & Markets % 1118 £ 108 5 1 0aa
Aorpinl & Wearth Management 1097 2425 1,32
Flatiorm Soluliong 266 1,322 210
Totul $ 2025 A6 § i85

In the table above:

* Asget & Wealth Management included impairments related
to commercial real estare in ClEs of 5146 billion for 2023,

* Platform Solutions included 2 write-down related 1o
GreenSky of 5506 millien for 2023, and an impairment of
poodwill relared vo Consumer platforms of S50 million for
2023,

Segment Assats
The table below presents assets by sepment.

A of Dascamier
& s malicns Farl] 2023
Gl Banking & Marcets 51420042 51 500 347
Soesar & Wsarth Managemant 183,308 191 Bl
Fiatorn Solnions 2. 502 Lol
Tatal #'! 675072 & 1 A8l ool
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THE GOLOMAMN SACHS GROWP, INC. AND SUBSIOMAIES

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Geographic Infarmation

Due to the highly integrated natore of imernacional financial
markets, the firm manages s businesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology
for allocating profitability 1o geographic regions is dependent
an estimates and management judgment because 3 significant
portion of the firm's  activities  require  cross-border
coordination in order o facilitate the needs of the firm's
clients, Geographic results are geneeally allocated as folbows:

* (lobal Banking & Maskers: Investment banking fees and
Other: location of the client and investment banking team;
FICC imermediation and Equities intermediation: location
of the market-making desk; FICC financing and Equities
fimancing: location of the desk.

* Asser & Wealth Management  [(excluding  directr-ro-
CofsLmer I:‘ru:.iru:-.s.'i, F.l.]llil.:r' Ve e s .:mn:l [)1"11[
InvesLments); location of the sales team; Direcr-to-
comsumer  business:  location of the client; Equity
investments  and Debr  investments:  location of the
investment of investment professional.

* Plagform Solwions: location of the client.

The table below presencs rogal net revenues, pre-tax earnings
and net earnings by geopraphic region,

5 i g 2024 20 M

Yaar Enclod Docembar

Amancia 539448 64% S7BIN 4% SREOE W%
EMEA 12,250 23% 11744 0% 12BE60 2%
Aain BEA 1% ST 1% SEH  12%
Total misl Favens s 51 54 100% S47 0365 100%
AmnEncas 512106 @8% S 6030 S4% 5 Y06 5
EMEA, 4418 24% 4003 30% Soal 3%
fain 187E 0% [ L0 O
Total pre-ias 1 Wk S0738 o0 L1040 1004
Aenancas S B354 A% C 4040 57 £ 0067 SN
ERMEA 3470 2% L3737 49684 37
dsm 1482 0% G0 i 10k 9
Total net sarnings 514278 100% £ G576 004 £11361 1004

In the rable above:

* Amenicas pre-tax carmings for 2023 were impacted by
impairments related 1o commercial real eszate in CIEs, the
write-down  related o GreenSky, an  impairment of
geodwill related 1o Consumer platforms and the FDIC
special asscssment fee,

* Subsrantially all of the amounts in the Americas were
ateributable to the LL5,

* Aga mnclodes Awstralia and Mew Fealand,
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Note 2.
Credit Concentrations

The firm’s concentrations of credit risk arise from its market-
making, client facilitation, investing, underwriting, lending
and  collateralized transactions, and cash  management
activitics, and may be impacted by changes in economic,
industey or political facrors. These acrivities expose the firm
o many different indusiries and counterparties, and may also
subject the firm to a concemtration of credit risk to a
particular cemtral bank, counterparty, borrower or issoer,
including soversign issuwers, or 1o a particular clearinghouse
or exchange. The firm secks to mitigate ¢redit risk by actively
monitoring  exposurcs  and  ohiaining  collareral  from
counterparties as deemed appropriate,

The firm measures and moniters its credit CRpIsITE based on
amounis owed to the firm afier taking into account nsk
mitiganes that the firm considers when determining, credit
risk. Such risk mitipanrs include netting and collmeral
arrangements  and  economic  hedpes, such  as  credit
derivatives, futures and forward contracts. Nerting and
collateral agreements permit the lirm vo offset receivables and
imruh-]rs with such CONLErpartics andlor enable the firm 1o
obtain collateral on an upfront or contingent basis,

The table below presents the credit concentrations inclwded
i I!rjr_i'mf_c:asdl illx‘trllnlm:!xn:rd v est menls.

L L

& g 2024 -1'-'"31
U5, powetriraent snd sguedy chegatons $ IB04B § F60,5T
Percanioge of Hasl assens 5.2% 15.0%
Non-ULS, governiment and agenty obiigations 5 74498 5 90081

Petimringe of 14l nasets 4.4% 5 5%

In .adn:li!im‘l, I.I'w ﬁrlh ||.m.{ 5'.“.8-4 b&lliun A% nf I'chﬂm‘bcr ml-l
and 520607 billion as of December 2023 of cash deposits held
at central banks (included in cash and cash equivalents), of
which 510578 billion as of December 2024 and $105.66
billion as of December 2023 was held at the Federal Reserve,

As af bath Decernber 2024 and December 2023, the firm did
not have credit exposure to any other counterparty that

exceeded 2% of total assets,

Cu“.aicnﬂ n}'r!:imd h:.' the Firm :r|:-|a.|:r.'d (1) drrivaliw A%SALE 1%
principally cash and is held by the firm or a third-party
custodian, Collateral obtained by the firm related 1o resale
apreements and sscurities borrowed rransactions is primarily
U5 government and apency oblipations, and non-lLS
government and apency obligations, See Note 11 for further
informaticn abow collareralized agreements and financings.
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The table below presents US. povernment and apgency
ehligations, and non-ULS, government and agency chligations
that n:'w.'r":ll:r.l':lli.ac resale agrecients and secunties bt:-l'rm\'rd
LrANEICTIONS,

At of Do
£ ending 2024 Flo 2]
UL, pewemimeni and s ney obiigations § 128,942 5 154058
Bon-ULS, posermimaent s sgenoy oligaions § TASIF 5 ¢ HN

In the table above:

* MNon-UL5. government and agency obligations primarily
consists of securities issued by the governments of the LK.,
Japan, Germany and France,

® (iven that the firm' primary credit exposure on such
transactions is to the counterparty to the transaction, the
firm would be exposed 1o the collareral issver only in the
event of counterparty default,

Note 27.
Legal Proceedings

The firm is invalved in a number of judicial, regulatory and
arbirration proceedings (including those described below)
concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of
the firm's businesses, Many of these procesdings are in early
stages, and many of these cases seck an indeterminare
amount of damages,

Under ASC 450, an event is “reasonably possible® il “the
chamce of the furure event or events occurring is more than
remate but less than likely™ and an event is “remote™ if “the
chance of the future evemt or evens occurring is slight.™
Thus, references to the upper end of the range of reasonably
possible loss for cases in which the Giem is able 1o estimate a
range of reasonably possible loss mean the upper end of the
range of loss for cases for which the firm believes the risk of
loss is more than slight.
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With respect 1o mamers described below For  which
management has been able to estimate a range of reasonably
[hrna.imr loss where I:i:| actual or Ptslcllt:i:' p]:illlif.rs lave
claimed an amount of money damages, (i} the firm is being,
or threatened 1o be, sued by purchasers ina securities offering
and is not being indemnified by a party thar the firm believes
will pay the [l amount of any judgment, or (i) the
puschasers are demanding thar the firm repurchase securiies,
management has estimated the upper end of the range of
reasonably possible loss based on (a) in the case of (i), the
amount of money damages claimed, (b} in the case of (i), the
difference between the initial sales price of the securities that
the bem sold in such offering and the estimared lowest
subsequent price of such securities prior to the action being
commenced and (¢} in the case of (i), the price that
purchasers paid for the securities less the estimated value, if
any, as of December 2024 of the relevamt securities, in each of
cases (i), (i) and (i), taking into account any other factors
believed to be relevant to the particular matter or matiers of
that type. As of the date hereaf, the firm hos estimated the
upper end of the ranpe of reasonably possible agprepate loss
for such matters and for any other matters described below
where management has been able o estimare a range of
reasonably possible appregate loss 1o be approximately
S1.7 hillion in excess of the aggrepgate reserves for such
matters,

Management is penerally unable 1o estimate a range of
reasonably possible loss for matters other than those included
in the estimate above, including where (i} actual or potential
plaintlls have nor claimed an amoumt of money damages,
except in thoss instances where manapement can otherwise
determine an appropriate amount, (i) matters are in early
stages, (i) matters relare 1o repulavory investipations or
reviews, except in those instances where management can
otherwise determine an :p[n'l:r[n'j'.ll::-. srmcount , I:i'|.':| there 1%
uncertainty as o the likelihood of a class being cenified or
the ultimate size of the class, (v) there is uncertainty as to the
outcome of pending appeals or motions, [(vi) there are
significant factual issues to be resolved, andfor (vii) there are
novel legal issues presented. For example, the firm's potential
liabilities with respect o the investigations and reviews
described below in “Regulatory Investigations and Reviews
and Related Litigation™ generally are not included in
management s estimate of reasonably possible loss. However,
management does not believe, based an currently available
information, that the outcomes of such other marers will
have a material adverse effect on the firm's financial
condition, though the oumcomes could be marterial w the
firm's operating results for any particolar period, depending,
in part, upan the operating results for such perod.
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1MDE-Related Matters

Between 2012 and 2013, subsidiaries of the firm acved as
arrangers or purchasers of approximately 36.5 billion of debe
securities of 1MDE.

On November 1, 2018, the ULS, Deparcment of Justice (DO])
ursealed a eriminal information and guiley |:l|r.1 I'qr Tim
Leissner, a former participating managing director of the
firm, and an indictment agains Mg Chong Hwa, a former
managing director of the firm. On August 28, 2018, Leissmer
was adjudicared puilcy by the LS. District Court for the
Eastern District of Mew York of conspiring to launder money
and o violae the US. Foreipn Corrupt Practices Act's
(FCPA)  anti-bribery  and  intermal  accounting  controls
provisions, Mg was charged with conspiring 1o launder
money and to violate the FCPA's anti-bribery and internal
accounting controls provisions, and on April 8, 2022, Ng was
found puilty on all counts following a trial.

On August 18, 2020, the fiem announced that it entered intc a
settlement agreement with the Government of Malaysia 1o
resolve the criminal and regulatory proceedings in Malaysia
involving the firm, which includes a guarantes that the
Government of Malaysia receives ar least 514 billion in
assets and proceeds from assets seized by pgovernmental
autharities around the world related o IMDB. See Noae 18
for further information about this guarantee, including
related arbitration procesdings.

On Oaeber 22, 2020, the hiem announced that it reached
seitlements of governmental and regulatory investigations
relating o IMDE with the DOJ, the S5EC, the FRB, the
NYDFS, the Financial Conduct Authorsity, the Prudential
Repulation Authority, the Singapore Attorney General's
Chambers, the Singapore Commercial Affairs Department,
the Monetary Auwthority of Singapore and the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission. Gr\ullp Ine. entered into a
three-vear deferred prosecution agreement with the DOJ, in
which a charge against the firm, cne count of conspiracy o
violate the FCPA, was filed and was later dismissed on May
&, 2024 in accordance with the agreement, In addition, G5
Malaysia pleaded guilty to one count of conspiracy to vielate
the FCPA, and was semtenced on Jume 9, 2021, In May 2021,
the 115, Drpﬂrl:rnmll -udr |,.a1'.|n.r r,ranl:ﬁl the firm a E‘iw:-:pnar
exemplion [0 maintain s stats as a gualified professional
asset manager [QPAM).
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On December 20, X018, a purmive securities class acrion
lawsuit was filed in the U.S, District Court for the Southern
Dhsarce af Mew York .ar_aim:l. G:n::u.l]:l Ine. and certam fesrmer
officers of the firm alleging violations of the angi-frand
provisiens af the Exchange Act with respect to Group Ine.’s
disclosuees and public statememts concerning IMDE and
secking unspecified damages. The plaintff filed the second
amended complaint on Ocraber 28, 2019, On June 28, 2021,
the court dismissed the claims agains one of the individoal
{[cfﬂnd;nl.s t‘ml dﬁnir:l I|'|:- |:|n|:: rv::m.'l;-l:l:ll.:\sr |n-;;li:m [ {s] d:isln:i:.s with
respect o the firm and che remaining individoal defendancs,
On Avgust 4, 2023, the plaindff filed a third amended
complaint. On September 29, 2023, the plainfl moved for
class certification. On April §, 2024, the Magistrate Judge
recommended  that  the plaimill®  mation  for  clas
certification be granted in parc and denied in pare, On May 3,
2024, the defendants filed objections 1o the Magistrate
Judpe®s report and recom mendation with the district court.

Meortgage-Related Matters

Complaints were filed in the U5, Districe Court for the
Southern District of New York on July 25, 2019 and May 29,
20200 agains Goldman Sachs Mongape Company and G5
Mortgage Secunties Corp. by US. Bank National
Association, as rustee for two residential monpape-backed
securitization trusts that isswed 51.7 billion of securities. The
Ooam Fll:linls f_rnrr.a”y a":.-.ip: Hl:ll. m::rlf_:g_r ||::-a.|:|:.' n l|'u-. Erusis
failed 1o conform 1o applicable  representations  and
warranties and seck specific performance or, alternatively,
compensatory damages and other reliel. On November 23,
2020, the court granted in part and denied in part defendants®
motion to dismiss the complaing in the first action and denied
defendants’ motion o dismiss the complaing in the second
action. On January 14, 2021, amended complaints were filad
in both actions.

Currencies-Related Litigation

GS&Co. 18 among the defendamts named in a putative class
action filed in the US. Districc Court for the Southern
District of Mew York on Avgust 4, 2021, The amended
complaing, filed on January 6, 2022, penerally asserts claims
under federal antitrust law and state common law in
connection with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants
to manipulate auctions for foreign exchange transactions on
an electronic trading platform, as well as claims under the
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupr Organizations Act. The
complaint seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
|tn:.]:|c|:'ir|.ct| amounts of wreble and other da mapges. On May
18, 2023, the coun dismissed certain state common law
claims, but denied dismissal of the remaining claims. On July
7, 2023, the plaimifls filed a second amended complain.
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Banco Espirite Santo S.A. and Oak Finance

In December 2004, Seprember 2015 and December 2005, the
Bank of Portugal (BoP] rendered decisions to reverse an
earlier rransfer 1o Novo Banco of an 53835 million faciliny
agreement (the Facility), structured by G5, between Oak
Finance Luxembourg 5.A. (Qak Finance), a special purpose
vehicle formed in connection with the Facility, and Banco
Espirite Santo S.A, (BES) prioe to the [ailure of BES. In
response, G5 amd, with respect to the Bols December 2015
decision, GSIB commenced actions beginning in February
2015 against Move Banco S.A. (Novo Banco) in the English
Commercial Court  and the BoP in the Ponupuese
Administrative Court. In July 2018, the English Supreme
Court found that the English courts will not have jurisdiction
over GS51%  action unless and  until the Ponupuese
Administrative Court finds against BoP in GSIs parallel
action, In July 20018, the Liquidation Committee for BES
issued a decision secking to claw back from GSI 554 million
paid ta GSI and 350 million allegedly paid to Oak Finance in
connection with the Facility, alleging that G31 acted in bad
faith in extending the Facility, including because G5l
allegedly knew thar BES was ar risk of imminent Eailure. In
October 2018, G5l commenced an action in the Lishon
Commercial Court challenging the Liguidarion Commirree’s
decision and has since also issued a claim against the
Portuguese  State  secking compensation for  losses  of
approximarely 5222 million related o the failure of BES,
together with a contingent claim for the $104 million sought
by the Liquidation Committee. On April 11, 2023, GSI
commenced administrative proceedings against the Bol,
secking the nullification of the BoP"s September 2015 and
December 2015 decisions on new grounds,

Financial Advizory Sarvices

Group Inc. and cercain of its affiliates are from time o time
parties te varsous civil litigation and arbitration proceedings
and other disputes with clients and third parties relating 1o
the firm’s financial advisory activities, These claims generally
seek, among other things, compensatory damages and, in
sodme cases, punitive damages, and in certain cases allege thar
the firm did not appropriately disclose or deal with conflicts
of interest.
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Archegos-Related Matters

GS&Co, is among the underwriters named as defendants ina
putative securties class action filed on Avgust 13, 2021 in
New York Supreme Court, Coumty of New York, relating 1o
ViacomCES Inc.'s [ViacomCBS) March 2021 public offerings
of 1.7 billion of commen stock and 510 billion of preferred
stock. In addition to the underwriters, the defendants include
ViacomCES and certain of its officers and directors, GS& Co.
underwrote 646,154 shares of commaen stock representing an
aggregate offering price of approximately 355 million and
323077 shares of preferred stock representing an aggregate
effering price of approximately 532 million. The complaint
asserts claims under the Federal securities laws and alleges
that the offering documents conained  material
misstatements and omissions, including, among other things,
that the offering documents failed 1o disclose thar Archegos
Capital Managemenr, [P  [Aechepos! had  substantial
exposure o ViacomCBS, including through total return
swaps to which certain of the underwriters (the erading
underwriters), including GS&Co.,  were  allegedly
counterparties, and that such underwriters failed 1o disclose
their exposure o Archegos. On December 21, 2021, the
pl:ij:[ifr: filed a corrected amended n:'::-mlslzilrl.. The
complaint secks rescission and compensatory damages in
unspecified amounts. On February &, 2023, the trial court
dismissed the claims against ViacomCBS and the individual
defendants, but densed the defendants’ motions to dismiss
with respect o GS&Co. and the other underwriter
defendants. On January 4, 2024, the trial count granted the
plaintiffs® motion for class certification, and on February 14,
224, the underwriter defendants appealed. On April 4, 2024,
the Appellate Division for the First Deparcment affirmed the
trial coum’s dismissal of the claims against ViacomCBS and
the individual defendants, reversed the crial courr’s Eailure 1o
dismiss the clims against the non-trading  underwriter
defendants, and affirmed the trial court™s demial of the

motion o dismiss claims againg the trading underwriter
defendants, including GS&Co.

Group Inc. is also a defendant in putative securities class
actions filed beginning in October 2021 and consclidated in
the LS. District Court for the Southern Disinct of Mew
York, The complaints allepe that Group Inc., along with
another financial insitution, sold shares in Baidu Inc
(Baidu), Discovery Inc. (Discovery), GSX Techedu Inc
(Gaotu), 1QIYT Inc. (QIY1), Tencent Music Entertainment
Group {Tencent), ViacomUCBS, and Vipshop Holdings Lud.
(Vipshop) based on  material nonpublic  informarion
regarding, the liguidation of Archegos” position in Baidu,
Discavery, Gaotn, iQIY], Tencent, ViacomCBS and Vipshop,
respectively. The complaints generally assert violations of
Sections 100h], 20A and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and seek
unspecified damages, In May 2023, the plaintilfs in the class
actions liled second amended complaines, and on March 28,
2024, the court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss the
second amended complaints with prejudice. On April 26,
2024, the plaintiffs appealed to the U.S, Court of Appeals for
the Second Circuit.
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Silicon Vallay Bank Mattars

GS8&Co. is among the underwriters named as defendants ina
putative socurities class action filed on April 7, 2023 and
consalidated in the US. District Court for the Narthern
District of California and an individual action filed on
January 25, 2024 in the same count relating to SVE Financial
Group's  (SYBFG)  Janwary 2021 puoblic  offerings  of
5500 millon principal amount  of senior  notes  and
5750 million of depositary shares representing intereits in
preferred stock, March 2021 public offering of approximately
51.2 billion of common stock, May 2021 public offerings of
500 billion of depositary shares representing interests in
preferred stock and 5500 millicn principal amount of senior
notes, August 2021 public offering of approximarely
51.3 billion of commeon stock, and April 2022 public offering
of 5800 million Agpregate |rri|'|:':i!:u-|| amount of senier notes,
among other public offerings of secunities. In addition to the
underwriters, the defendants include certain of SVBFG's
officers and direcrors and s avditor. G58:Co. underwrote
an apgregate of 231,250 depositary shares representing an
aggregate offering price of approximately 5831 million, an
appregate of 3,266,108 shares of common stock representing
an aggregate :srfr.rinf_ price al approximately 51.8 billion and
SeniOr notes representing an aggregate price to the public of
approximatcly 3727 million, The complaints generally assen
claims under the federal securities laws and allege that the
offering documents conuained material misstatements and
omissions, The complaints seek compensatory damages in
unspecified amounts. On March 17, 2023, SVBFG filed for
Chapter 11 bankropicy in the ULS. Bankropicy Court for the
Southern District of New York. On Januvary 16, 2024, the
plaimtiffs filed a consolidated amended complaing in the
putative class action, and on April 3, 2024, the defendants
moved 1o dismiss the consolidared amended complain.

The firm is also cooperating with and providing information
1o varions governmental bodies in connection with their
investigations and inquiries reparding SVBFG and  its
affiliates (collectively SVE], including the firm"s business with
SVE in or around March 2023, when SVB engaged the firm o
assist with a proposed capital raise and SVEB sold the firm a
portfolio of sscurities.
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Underwriting Litigation

Firm affiliates are among the defendants in a number af
proceedings in connection with securities offerings. 1n these
procesdings, including those described below, the plaintiffs
assert class action or individual claims under federal and state
securities laws and, in some cases, other applicable laws,
allege that the offering documents for the securities that they
purchased contained material misstatements and cmissions,
and generally seek compensatory and rescissory damages in
unspecified amounts, as well as rescission. Cerrain of these
proceedings involve additional allegations,

Ubar Technologies, Ime. G5 Cs. s among  the
underwriters named as defendants in several purative
securities class actions filed beginning in September 2019 in
California Superior Court, County of San Francisco and the
LS. Districe Cournt for the Morthern Districe of California,
relating to Uber Technologies, Ine."s [Uber) $8.1 billion May
2019 inivial public offering. In additicn o the underwriters,
the defendants include Uber and certain of its officers and
directors. GS&Co. underwrote 35,864 408 shares of common
stock represemting  an  aggregate  offering  price  of
approximately $1.6 billion, On November 16, 2020, the court
in the state court action gramed defendants® motion o
dismiss the consolidated amended complaint filed on
February 11, 2020, and on December 16, 2020, plainniffs
appealed, On August 7, 2020, defendants' motion to dismiss
the district court action was denied. On September 25, 2020,
the plaintiffs in the district coun action moved for class
certification. On December 5, 2020, the plaintifls in the state
court action filed a complaing in the districr cour, which was
consolidated with the existing district court action on
Jamaary 25, 2021, On May 14, 2021, the plaintiffs Giled a
second amended complaing in the district court, purporting to
add the plaintiffs from the state court action as additional
class representatives. On October 1, 2021, defendants'
motion to dismiss the additional class represemtatives from
the scond amended complaint was denied, and on July 26,
2022, the district court granted che plaintiffs' motion for class
certification. On February 27, 2023, the US. Cournt af
Appeals for the MNinth Circuit denied the defendams® petition
seeking imerlocutory review of the district court's grant of
class certification. On December 4, 2024, the court in the
federal counm action approved a settlement, which does mor
require a contribution from GS&Co,
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Array Technologies, Inc. G58Co. is among  the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
class action filed on May 14, 2021 in the U5, Distric Court
for the Southern Districe of New York relating 1o Array
Technalogies, Inc.’s [Array) 51.2 billion Ocrober 2020 initial
public offering of common stock, 51.3 billion December 2020
offering of common stock and $993 million March 2021
offering of common stock. In addiion to the underwriters,
the defendants include Array and cerrain of its officers and
dirﬂ'lurs. GSE:C&:. ||n:|¢rwl\n1.n;- an awlc n::f .H,_'Dlz,.?ls
shares of common stock in the three offerings representing an
aggregate offering price of approximately 5877 million. On
December 7, 2021, the plainciffs Gled an  amended
consolidated complaint, and on May 19, 2023, the court
granted the defendants’ motion o dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint. On July 5, 2023, the court denied the
plaintiffs" request for leave 1o amend the amended
consolidated  complaint  and  dismissed the case  with
prejudice. On August 4, 2023, plaintifls appealed to the LS.
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuir.

ContextLogic Ine. US&Co. is among the underwriters
named as defendants in putative securities class actions filed
beginning on May 17, 2021 and consolidated in the L5
District Court for the Northern District of California,
relating to Comextlogic Inc.'s {(Contextlogic) 51.1 billion
December 2020 initial public offering of common stock. In
addition 1o the underwriters, the defendams include
Comtextlogic and cerain of its officers and directors.
GS&Co. underwrote 16,169,000 shares of common stock
representing an aggregate offering price of approximarely
5388 million. On July 15, 2022, che plainiffs filed a
consalidated amended complaint, and on March 10, 2023, the
court  geanted the defendants” motion o dismiss the
consolidated amended complaing with leave to amend, On
.5|.|s|'i| ]n,_ lﬂlﬂ, the ]:Ililil'lli"f!- f:]md a mr.tml;l. t'\nnm:ﬂin:l;ﬂ.rd
amended complaing, and on December 22, 2023, the court
granted in part and denied in part the defendants® metion o
dismizs the second consolidared amended complaint with
leave to amend, On Febroary 15, 2024, the plaintiffs filed a
third consalidated amended complaint, and on August 22,
2024, the cowrt granted the defendants™ motion to dismiss the
third consolidated amended complaim withow leave 1o
amend. On September 19, 2024, the plaineiffs fled a motion
to alter the court's judgment.
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DiDi Global Ine. Goldman Sachs (Asia) LL.C. (G5 Asia) is
amang the underwriters named as defendants in putative
securities class actions .mn-;l I‘.‘l’!t-illl'lillﬂ on Jllly i, 2021 in the
L5, District Courts for the Southern District of New York
and the Central District of California and New Yeork
Supreme Court, Coumy of Mew York, relating to DNDi
Global Inc.'s (Dilv] 544 billion June 2021 initial public
offering of American Depositary Shares [ADS). [n addivion 1o
the underwriters, the defendants include Dili and cerain of
il.s n!TJ'n:vcr; :lnd ;Urﬂ;lu:rs. GS- ﬁsia ull.drm'nslr lm,i.i-i,ﬂm
ADS  representing  an apgregate  offering  price of
approximately 31.5 billicn. On September 22, 2021, plaintiffs
in the California action voluntarily dismissed their claims
without prejudice. On May 5, 2032, plaintiffs in the
consolidated federal action filed 2 second consolidated
amended complaing, which includes allegations of violations
of Sections 100k} and 204 of the Exchange Act against the
underwriter defendants. On March 14, 2024, the court demied
the defendants® motions to dismiss the second consolidated
amended complaint. On January 6, 2025, the plaimiffs
moved for class cenification.

Vreeom Inc, G55 Co. is among the underwriters named as
defendants in an amended complaint for a putative securities
class action filed on Ocrober 4, 2021 in the U5, District
Court for the Southern District of New York relating 1o
Vroom Inc."s (Veoom) approximately 8389 million Seprember
2020 public offering of common stock, In addition 1o the
underwriters, the defendams inclede Veoom and certain of its
officers and direciors. GS8& Co, underwrote 3,886,819 shares
of commen steck representing an aggregate offering price of
approximarely 5212 million. On December 30, 2021, the
defendants served a motion to dismiss the consolidated
complaine. On November 13, 2024, Veoom filed a Chaprer 11
bankruptcy petition in the ULS, Bankrupicy Coun for the
Southern District of Texas,
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Zymargen Ine. GS& Co, is among the underwriters named
as defendants in a putative securities class action filed on
Auwgust 4, 2021 in the US, District Court for the Narthern
Diarict of California relating to Zymergen Inc. s {Zymergen)
5575 million April 2021 initial public affering of common
stock. In addition wo the underwriters, the defendams include
Zymergen, certain of its officers and directors and certain of
its shareholders. GS&Co. underwrote 5,750,345 shares of
common stock representing an aggrepate offering price of
am:mxim;lc]}' SI?E million. On Frl;ruar}' 14, I{'FH, I|'|¢
plaimtiffs filed an amended complaing, and on November 29,
2122, the court gramted in part and denied in part the
defendants” motion o dismiss the amended complaing,
denying dismissal of the claims for viclations of Section 11 of
the Securities Act, On Aupust 11, 2023, the court granted the
plaimtiffs” motion for class cerification. On Ocrober 3, 2023,
Fymergen and three alfiliates filed Chapter 11 bankruptey
petitions in the U.S. Bankruptey Court for the Districr of
Delaware, On March 4, 2024, the plaintiffs filed a second
amended complain.

Sea Limited. G5 Asia is among the underwriters named as
defendants in putative securities class actions filed on
Febroary 11, 2022 and June 17, 2022, respectively, in New
York Supreme Court, County of Mew York, relating to Sea
Limited’s approximately $4.0 billion September 2021 public
offering of ADS and approximarely $2.9 billion Seprember
2021 public offering of convertible senior notes, respectively.
In addition 1o the underwriters, the defendams include Sea
Limited, certain of its officers and directors and cerain of its
sharcholders. G5 Asia  underwrote  §222500  ADS
represenring an agpeepate offering price of approximarely
526 billion and converible semior notes representing, an
appregate offering price of approximartely $1.9 billion. On
August 3, 2022, che actions were consolidated, and on August
'_}, 22 the pl:in[i”s !rilm;l. a "ﬂllml;d:ll’.‘tl '.III'II.'.IIJ!.‘II:'d
complaint. The defendants had previously moved o dismiss
the action on July 15, 2022, with the parties stipulating that
the motion would apply o the consolidmed amended
complaint, On May 15, 2023, the coun granted the
defendants’ motion to dismiss the consolidated amended
complaint with prejudice. On May 28, 2024, the Appellae
Division fer the First Dcparlm:-nl reversed the trial court®s
dismizsal of the consolidated amended complaing, and on
June 27, 2024, the defendants moved to reargue or
alternatively, for leave to appeal the eeversal. On November
11, 2024, the parties reached a seatlememt in principle, subject
to final documentation and court approval, to resolve this
action, which does not require a comtribution from GS Asia,

Rivian Automotive
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Ine. GS&Co. is among the

underwriters named as defendants in putative securities class
ACLRINS J".Im! on March ?1 2022 and Frl:nl'.lrf Eﬂ, 2023 wn the
L5, Districe Cournt for the Ceneral Diserict of California and
in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of
Orange, sespectively, relatng o Rivian Auwomotive Ine.'s
(Rivian) approximately 513.7 billion Movember 2021 initial

public offering. In

addition w0 the underwriters, the

defendants include Rivian and cemain of its officers and
directors. GS&Co. underwrote 44 733 050 shares uf CONm MmN

stock  represemting  an

aggregate  offering  price  of

appreximately $3.5 billion. On March 2, 2023, the plaintiffs
in the federal court action filed an amended consolidared
complaine, and on July 3, 2023, the count denied the
defendants’ mation to dismis the amended consolidated
complaine, On June 30, 2023, the court in che state court
action  granted the defendamts’ motion o dismiss  the
complaint, and on Seprember 1, 2023, the plaintiffs appealed.
Om July 17, 2024, the court in the federal court action granted
the plaintilfs’ mation for class cerrification.

Natera lne. GS&Co. is among the underwriters named as
defendants in putative securities class actions in New York
Supreme Court, County of Mew York and the U5, District
Court for the Western District of Texas filed on March 10,
2022 and October 7, 2021, respectively, relating 1o Matera
Inc.'s (Matera) approximarely $585 million July 2021 public
effering of common steck, In addition to the underwriters,
the defendants include Matera and cerain of s olficers and

directors. G5& Co, underwrote 1,449,000 shares of common

stock  representing

appregate  offering  price  of

approximately 5164 million. On July 15, 2022, the parties in
the state court action filed a stipulation and propossd order
approving the discontnuance of the action withour prejudice.
On Seprember 11, 2023, the federal court granted in part and
demied in part the ;[ﬂfﬂm!:lu & mation o dismiss. On _"||.1||L- -4,
2024, the plaintiffs in the federal court action moved for class
certification, and on January 28, 2025, the Magistrate Judge

recommended

plainiffs”  motion  for  clas

certification be  gramted. On February 21, 2015, the
underwriter defendants filed objections 1o the Magistrate
Judpe's report and recommendation wich the discrict cowrt.
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Robinhood Markets, Ine. CGS5&Ca. iz among the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
1.'1:455. actn filed on I}ct,‘rm[‘rr I?, M2l i the ULS, Diserict
Court for the Northern District of California relating o
Robinhood Markets, Inc."s [Robinhood) approximately 52.2
billien July 2021 inimal public offering. In sddinion to the
underwriters, the defendants include Robinhood and certain
of its officers and directors, G58& Co. underwrore 18,039 706
shares of common stock representing an aggregate offering
prim of appru.xim:llr,l:r L2885 mullion. On Frl;nl.ar}' 10, 2023,
the court granted the defendamts” motion o dismiss the
complaint with leave to amend, and on March 13, 2023, the
plaimiffs filed 2 second amended complaine. On January 24,
2024, the court granted the defendants® motion to dismiss the
second amended complaint without leave to amend. On
February 21, 2024, the plaineiffs appealed vo the U8, Court of
Appeals for the Minth Circuit.

ON24, Inc. G5& Co. is among, the underwriters named as
defendants in a purative securities <lass action filed on
Movember 3, 2021 in the U5, Districe Court for the Northern
Digrict of California relating o ONM, Inc's [OMN24)
approximatcly 5492 million February 2021 initial public
offering of common stock. In addition 1o the underwriters,
the defendants include ONI4 and certain of its officers and
directors, including a director whe was a Managing, Director
of GS8:Co. ar the time of the initial public offering. GS& Co.
underwrate 3,616,785 shares of commaon @ock representing
an aggregate offering price of approximately 5181 million.
On March 18, 2022, the plaindffs filed a consclidaed
complaint, and on July 7, 2023, the court graned the
defendants” motion o dismiss the consolidued complain
with leave to amend. On September 1, 2023, the plaintiffs
filed an amended consolidated complaint, and on March 5,
2024, the cowrt granted the defendants™ motion to dismiss the
amended consolidated mll‘lp]:-lilll with Fn'riun;lit'\e. On .5|.|:lri| 4,
2024, the plaintifts appealed o the US, Court of Appeals for
the Minth Circuit,

234 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K
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Oscar Health, Ine. C5&Co. iz among the underwriters
named as defendants in a putative securities class action filed
L3 En.l.:-l:.' ]2.,_ 2022 i che VLS. Diserict Coure far the Southern
District of New York relating to Oscar Health, Inc.s (Oscar
Health) approximately $1.4 billion March 2021 initial public
offering. In addition 1o the underwriters, the defendants
include Oscar Health and certain of its officers and directors,
GS&Co. underwrote 12,760,633 shares of common stack
representing an aggregate offering price of approximately
Slﬁlﬂ mi“iull. ﬂn Dcﬂrml'u-r .'5, mll, lhc ]:lla'tnlirfs ﬁl:-d an
amended complaing, On April 4, 2023, the defendants moved
to dismiss the amended complaine,

Dak Street Health, Ine. G58Co, is among the underwriters
named as defendants in an amended complaint for a putative
securities class action Oled on May 25, 2022 in the U5,
Disrict Court for the Narthern Diszrict of Hlinois relating 1o
Oak Street Healch, Inc®s (Oak Street) 5377 million Avgust
2020 initial public offering, 3298 million December 2020
secondary equity offering, 5691 million February 2021
secondary  equity  offering and $747  million May 2021
secondary equity offering. In addition to the underwriters,
the defendants include Crak Street, cerain of its officers and
directors  and  cerain of Rs  sharcholders. GS&Co.
underwroge 4,157,103 shares of common stock in the Augost
2020 initial public offering represemting, an aggregate offering
price of approximately 887 million, 1,503,944 shares of
commen stock in the December 2030 secondary equity
offering  representing  an  aggregate  offering  price  of
approximately 569 million, 3083098 shares of common
stock in the February 2021 secondary equity offering
representing an agprepate offering price of approximately
$173 million and 3,013,065 shares of common stock in the
May 021 secondary equity offering sepresemting an
apgrepate offering, price of approximarely 5187 million. Cn
Fcl'.!ru::j.' 1.“, ml;, the court -E,ranlﬁl i part and demied in
part the defendanes” motion to dismiss, dismissing the claim
alleging a viclation of Section 12{a)(d) of the Securities Act
and, with respect 1o the May 2021 secondary equity offesing
only, the claim alleging a violation of Section 11 of the
Securities Act, but declining to dismiss the remaining claims.
On December 15, 2023, the plaintitis moved for class
n:rl:inq':ll:]u:m. On Dr\wml‘rr ]2,_ 1014, the court :ll:lp:'n::l\wi a
settlernent, which does not reguire a comtribution from
G5 Co,
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Bright Health Group, Ine. CS&Co. iz among the
underwriters named as defendants in an amended complaint
far a |'r|.|l.:-|1.i'|.'|:- secuntes class action filed on I]l.l:llt: 1‘1, Ni2Xin
the U5, District Cournt for the Eastern District of New York
relating te Bright Health Group, Inc’s (Bright Health)
approsimarely 5924 million June 2021 inital public offering
of common stock. In addition 1o the underwriters, the
defendants include Beipht Health and cerain of its officers
and directors, GS&Co. underwrore 11,297,000 shares of
COMmmdn s!l::u.'k mprrn-llling An :Wgalc n!‘l},-:ing, prir\c ::E
approximarcly 5203 million, On September 30, 2024, the
court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss the amended
complaing, and on Nowvember 17, 2024, the plainriffs
appealed to the UL, Court of Appeals for the Second Circuir.

MINISO Group Holding Limited. G5 Asia s among the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
class action filed on Avgust 17, 2022 in the U5, District
Court for the Cencral District of California and transferred 1o
the U5, District Court for the Southern District of New York
on November 18, 2022 relating to MINISO Group Halding
Limiteds {MINISO) approximarely 5656 million October
20200 imitial public offering of ADS. In addition o the
underwriters, the defendants include MINISO and cernain of
its officers and directors. G5 Asia underwrote 16,408 (93
ADS  representing  an  aggregate  offering  price  of
approximarely $328 million. On April 24, 2023, the plainciffs
filed a second amended complaint, and on February 23, 2024,
the court graned the defendams’ motion o dismiss the
second amended complaing with leave to amend,

Coupang, Ine. G558 Co, is among the underw nters named as
defendants ina putarive securities class action filed on August
26, 2022 in the US, District Court for the Southern District of
Mew York relating o Couwpang, Inc.s  (Coupang)
approximately $4.6 billion March 2021 initial public offering
of common sock. In addition to the underwriters, the
defendants include Coupang and cerain of its officers and
directors. GS&Co, underwrote 42,900,000 shares of common
stock  represemting  an aggregate ::-I'l‘minf, price af
approximately 515 billion. On May 24, 2023, the plaintiffs
filed an amended complaint, and on July 28, 2023, the
defendants moved 1o dismiss the amended complaine.
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Yatsen Holding Limited. C5 Asia iz among the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
rl::es action filed an 5'-c|:l1.cm|'.|m' 232022 imoakee LS. Dhstrict
Cournt for the Southern District of New York relating 1o
Yasen Holding  Limited™s  (Yarsen)  approximarely
5617 million Nevember 2020 iniial public offering of ADS.
In addition to the underwriters, the defendants include
Yawzen and certain of s officers and directors. G5 Asia
underwrote 22912500 ADS represemting an  aggregane
n!"rri.nf_ Frrin.-. al ap]:mim:ln'}' 8241 mullion, On ﬂr.'l.l::ll'mr ‘1,
20023, the plainciffs filed an amended complaint, and on July
12, M4, the count granted the defendants' metion to dismiss
the amended complain.

Rent the Runway, Inc. G558 Co. is among the underwriters
named as defendants in a putative scurities class action filed
on Movember 14, 2022 in the US. District Court for the
Eastern District of Mew York relating to Rent the Runway,
Inc."s (Rent the Runway) 3357 million Ocober 2021 initial
public offering of common sock. In addition w the
underwriters, the defendants include Rent the Runway and
certain of its officers and directors, GS&Co. underwrote
5,254,3H shares of common stock representing an aggregate
offering price of approximarely $110 million. On Seprember
5, 2023, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint, and on
September 25, 2024, the court granted in part and denied in
part the defendants” motion vo dismiss the amendad
camplaint, On Qctober 9, 2024, the defendants filed a maotion

for reconsideration of the courts order.

Opendoor Technologies Inc. G5&Co. is amonpg the
underwriters named as defendants in a putative securities
class action filed on November 22, 2022 in vhe U5, Districe
Court for the District of Arizona relating to, among other
things, Opendoar Technologies Inc.’s  [Opendoar)
approximately 5886 million Febroary 2021 public offering of
common  stock, In addition to the underwriters, the
defendants include Opendoor and cerain of its officers and
directors. GS8&Co, underwrote 10,173,401 shares of commen
stock  represemting,  an aggregate ::frrnrillg; price al
approximately 3275 million. On April 17, 2023, the plaintiffs
filed a consolidated amended complaint, and on February 28,
2024, the court granted the defendants” motion 1o dismiss the
consolidated amended complaimt with leave to amend. On
May 14, 2024, the court granted the plaincffs’ motion for
reconsideration and vacated the dismissal of cermain of the
plaintills’ ¢laims, and on September 9, 2024, the coun denied
the defendants® motion for cenification of an interlocurory
appeal as to the plaintiffs’ surviving claims,
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FIGS, Ine. GS&Co. is among the underwriters named as
defendants in a putative securities <lass action filed on
December R, H22 i the LS. District Court fesr the Central
Digrict of California relating w FIGS, Incs (FIGS)
approximately 5668 million May 2021 initial public offering
and approximately 3413 million Seprember 2021 secondary
equity offering. In addition to the underwriters, the
defendants include FIGS, cerain of its officers and directors
and certain of s sharcholders, G5& Co,  underwrone
9545,0?.1 slnar\ﬂ. 1.1‘ GO n 51.:5-;']-; m lhr ﬁl;y lﬂl' i.|1iLi:||
public offering representing an aggrepate offering, price of
approximately $210 millicn and 3,079 47 shares of common
stock in the Seprember 2021 secondary equity offering
representing an aggregate offering price of approximarely
5128 millicn. On April 10, 2023, the plaintifls filed a
consolidated complaing, and on Janwary 17, 2024, the court
granted the defendants’ motions to dismiss the consolidated
camplaint with leave po amend. On March 19, 2024, the
plaintifls filed a first amended complaint, and on January 10,
2025, the count gramted in part and denied in part the
defendants” motions 1o dismiss the firss amended complaint
with leave ta amend, resulting in the dismissal of all claims
against the underwriter defendams, including G38:Co, On
February 10, 2025, the plaintiffs appealed to the U5, Court of
Appeals for the Minth Circuit.

Silvergate Capital Corporation. C558Co. is amonp the
underwriters and sales agents named as defendants in a
putative securities class action filed on Janvary 19, 2023 in
the U5 District Cownt for the Southern Districe of
California, as amended on May 11, 2013, reluwing 1o
Silvergare Capital Corporation™s (Silverpare) approximarely
5288 millien January 2021 public offering of common stock,
approvimarely 3300 million “ac-the-marker™ offering of
common stock conducred from March through May 2021,
.ap]:lul-;uim:ln]}' L2060 million Iu'}' i | ]:llll‘r'i.' ulT:-rinE; af
depositary shares representing interests in preferred stock,
and approximately 5552 million December 2021 public
offering of common stock. In addition o the underwriters
and sales agents, the defendants include Silvergate and certain
of its officers and directors, GS&Ca, underwrote 1,711,313
shares of common stock in the January 2021 public offering
vnr cammon stock mpr\ﬁ.‘rnﬁng_ an aggregate :srfﬂrinz, pri;r af
approximately 108 million, acted as a sales agemt with
respect to up to a $300 million aggregate offering price of
shares of common stock in the March through May 2021 *ar-
the-marker”™ offering, underwrote 1,600,000 depositary shares
in the July 2021 poblic offering representing an aggregate
offering price of approximacely $40 million, and underwrore
1,375,397 shares of common stock in the December 2021
public offering of common stock representing an aggregate
offering price of approximately $199 million. On July 10,
2023, the defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated
amended complaint. On Seprember 17, 2024, Silvergare and
two alfiliates filed Chapter 11 bankruptey petitions in the
U5, Bankruptey Court fewr the District of Delaware.
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F45 Training Holdings Ine. GS5&Co. is among the
underwriters named as defendants in an amended complaint
for a |:l||J.'.|I:i1.'t- secuniies class action filed an En'l.a:r 19, X123 in
the UL5. Disrict Court for the Western District of Texas
relating to F45 Training Holdings Inc."s (F45) approximarely
5350 million July 2021 imitial public offering of common
stock, In addition to the underwriters, the defendants include
F45, cerrain of its officers and directors and ceetain of its
sharcholders, G5&Co. amed as a qualified independent
unn:lcrwril.rr rnr l|'|r -;J!rrw:illg_an:' u:l:u;lu:-rw rate R,ﬂfﬂ,?d'q :-!lau':i
of common stock represemting an aggregate offering price of
approximately 5133 million. On August 7, 2023, the
defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complain.
On January 25, 3024, the plaintiffs filed a second amended
complaint, and on March 11, 2024, the defendants moved 1o
dismiss the second amended complaine.

Olaplex Holdings, Inc, G558 Co. is among, the underwriters
named as defendants in a putative secorities class action filed
on April 28, 2023 in the ULS, District Cour For the Ceneeal
Disrict of California relating 1o Olaplex Holdings, Ine.'s
(Olaplex) approximarely $1.2 billion Seprember 2021 initial
public offering of common sock. In addition w the
underwriters, the defendants include Olaplex, certain of its
officers and directors and selling sharcholders, GS8&Co.
underwrote 19,419,420 shares of common stock representing
an agpgrepate offering price of approximarely 5408 million.
On June 22, 2023, the plaintifls Gled a revised consolidated
complaing, and on Febroary 7, 2025, the court granted in part
and denied in part the defendants’ motions o dismiss the
revised consolidated complaing, resulting in the dismissal of
all claims apainst che underwriter defendancs, including
S8,
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agilen health, ine. G5& Co. i among the underwriters
named as defendants in purative securities class actions Giled
beginning on March 19, 2024 and consolidated in the U5
Diﬂri(l f'.n;ulrl EHF I|'|r 1L.‘l.'-'t-:g.‘l.:-rn Dislrig‘t nf TI;'.B(:I$.| n-|alinf_ [1s]
agilon health, inc,"s [agilon) approximately 51.2 billion April
2021 initial public offering, approximarely 5587 million
September 2021 secondary equity offering and approximately
51.8 hillion May 2023 secondary equity offering. In addition
to the underwriters, the defendants include agilon, certain of
its officers and directors and certain of its sharcholders.
GS&Co. underwrote 10,631,949 shares of common stock in
the April 2021 initial public offering representing an
appregate offering price of approximarely 5245 million,
3,759 588 shares of common stock in the September 2021
secondary equity offering representing an aggregate offering
price of approximately $113 million and 26,879 772 shares of
common stock in the May 2023 secondary equity offering, of
which 2,731,638 shares were purchased by agilon,
representing an aggregaie offering price of approximately
5519 million sold to third panies. On Seprember &, 2024, the
plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaing, and on Movember 8,
2024, the defendants moved o dismiss the consolidared

camplaint,

Investment Management Services

Group Inc. and cerain of its affiliates are parties 1o various
civil litigation and arbitration proceedings and other disputes
with clients relating to losses allegadly sustained as a result of
the firm’s invesment management services. [hese claims
generally seek, among other things, restitution or other
compensatory damages and, in some cases, punitive damages.
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Variable Rate Damand Obligations Antitrust Litigation
Group Inc. and GS& Co. were among the defendants named
in a putative class action relating to variable rate demand
obligations (VEDOs), filed beginning in February 2019 under
separate complaints and consolidated in the LS. District
Court for the Southern District of MNew York. The
consolidared amended complaing, filed on May 31, 2019,
generally asserts claims under federal antitrust law and state
commoen law in connection with an alleged conspiracy among
the defendanis to manipulate the market for VRDOs, The
complaint seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
unspecified amounts of compensatory, treble and other
damages, Group Inc, was voluntarily dismissed from the
purative class action on June 3, 2019, On November 2, 2020,
the court gramed in part and denied in part the defendants’
motion 1o dismiss, dismissing the state common law claims
agains GS8%Co., but denying dismissal of the [federal
amtitrust law claims

GS&:{";.._ 15 also :hhvmlg_ the drfrn:lan!* |l;||:|.‘|t-d il ] Hcl:ll:-«;l.
putative class action filed on June 2, 2021 in the US, District
Court for the Southern District of New York. The complaint
allepes the same conspiracy in the marker for VRDOs as char
alleged in the consolidated amended complaint filed on May
31, 20019, and assers fedeeal anciteost law, seate law and scae
common law claims against the defendants. The complaine
soels J;Ind:n!-::r}' and il'lilll'lﬂi\-'\c ml;c'f, a% well as unspﬂ(:ifiﬂ;l
amounts of compensatory, treble and other damages. On
August 6, 2021, plaintifls in the May 31, 2019 action filed an
amended complaint consolidating the June 2, 2021 acrion
with the May 21, X019 action. On September 14, 2011,
defendants filed a joint partial mation to dismiss the Augost
6, 2021 amended consclidated complaine, On June 28, 2022,
the court granted in part and denied in part the defendants”
motion 1o dismiss, dismissing the stare breach of Gduciary
duty claim against GS8&Co., but declining to dismiss any
portion of the federal antrrust law claims On Seprember 21,
2023, the count pranted the plaintiffs’ motion for class
certification. On Febroary 5, 3024, the U5, Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuir granmed the defendants” petition
secking interlocutory review of the district court's grant of
class certification, On February 15, 2024, the district court
granted the delendants’ request to stay the proceedings
pending, their appeal of the district court’s grant of class
certification.
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation

Group Inc., G858 Co., GS1, G5 Bank USA and Goldman Sachs
Financial Markets, L.P, are among the defendants named ina
putative antitrust class action relating 1o the wading of
interest rate swaps, filed in November 2013 and consclidaved
in the UL8, District Court for the Southern District of MNew
York. The same Goldman Sachs entities are also among the
defendants named in two antitrust actions relating to the
trading of interest rate swaps, commenced in April 2016 and
June 2018, respectively, in the U5, District Court for the
Southern District of New York by three operators of swap
execution facilivies and certain of their affiliates. These
actions have been consolidated for pretrial procesdings, The
complaints generally assert claims under federal antitrust law
and state common law in connection with an alleged
conspiracy among the defendants 1o preclede exchange
teading of interest rate swaps. The complaints in the
individual actions also assert claims under state antitrust law.
The complaims seek declararory and injuncrive reliel, as well
as treble damages in an unspecified amoum. Defendants
moved to dismiss the class and the lirse individual action and
the district court dismissed the state common law claims
asserved by the plaintiffs in the first individual action and
otherwise limited the state commen law claim in the putative
class action and the anmtitrust claims in both actions (o the
period from 213 o 2016, On November 20, 2018, the court
granted in part and denied in part the defendanis® motion
dismiss the second :iw;l:iv:in:'u:] .'.u.‘liull, :!i.xmimﬁing. the state
common law claims for unjust eneichment and rorious
interference, but denying dismissal of the federal and stare
antirug claims. On March 13, 2019, the court denied the
plaimtiffs” motion in the putative class action o amend cheir
complaint to add allegations related ro conduct from 2008 1o
202, bur granted the motion 1o add limited allegations from
M3 wo 2006, which the plaintffs added in a fourth
consalidated amended complaint fled on March 22, 2019,
On December 15, 2023, the count denied the plaingiffs”
motion for dlass certification, and on December 18, J23, the
plaimtiffs filed a petition with the U5, Cournt of Appeals for
the Second Circuit seeking interlocutory review of the district
court™s denial of class cenification. On July 11, 2024, the
court preliminarily approved a  settlement among the
plaimiffs and certain defendants, including the firm, 1o
resolve the class action. The firm has paid the full amount of
its proposed contnibotion to the setilement into an escrow
account. The individual actions remain pending.
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Commodities-Related Litigation

G5l is among the defendants named in putative class actions
relating to trading in platinum and palladium, filed beginning
on Movember 23, 2004 and most recently amended on May
15, 2017, in the US, Disrice Court for the Southeen District
of New York, The amended complaint generally alleges that
the defendants violated federal anticrust laws and the
Commodity Exchange Act in connection with an alleged
conspiracy to manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum
and palladivm prices and seek declaratory and injunctive
relief, as well as treble damages in an unspecified amount, On
March 29, 2020, the court granted the defendams’ motions 1o
dismiss and for reconsideration, resulting in the dismissal of
all claims, and on February 37, 2023, the U5 Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuir reversed the disteict courn’s
dismissal of certain plaintiffs” antitrust claims and vacated
the district coun's dismissal of the plaintifis’ Commodity
Exchange Act claim. On April 12, 2023, che defendancs
|1-cl:iliu|| far n-hr.arillg_ or m]mrint; en I'Ja.nn:' with the LIS,
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit was denied, On July
21, 2023, the delendants filed a motion for judgment on the
pleadings. On January 17, 2025, the court approved a
settlement to resolve this action, The firm has paid the full
amaunt of its contribution to the sstilement,

Corporate Bonds Antitrust Litigation

Group Inc. and GS8:Co. are among the dealers named as
defendants in a putative class action relating 1o the secondary
market for odd-lor corporate bands, filed on April 21, 2020 in
the L5, District Court for the Southern District of New
York. The amended comsolidared complaing, filed on
Ocrober X, 2020, asserrs claims under federal antitrust law
in connection with alleged anti-competitive conduct by the
defendants in the secondary market for odd-lots of corporate
bonds, and secks declaratory and injuncrive relief, as well as
|tn:.]:|c|:'ir|.ct| Manerry cl:m.ay::s. :illt."lldinf; treble and I:Iullil.l'“.'
damages and restitution. On October 25, 2021, the court
granted defendams’ motion e dismiss with prejudice. On
MNovermber 10, 2022, the districe court denied the plaimnnffs®
mation for an indicative ruling that the judgment should be
vacated because the wife of the district judge owned stock in
one of the defendamis and che districe judpe did not recuse
hij:n.sc". On Jui}' 1, lﬂlli, the LS, Court of .-al.|='pt'a|¥ !rur the
Second Circuit vacated the district court’s dismissal and
remanded the case for further proceedings. On Seprember 3,
2024, the plainniils filed a second amendad complaim, and on
Ocrober 18, 2024, the defendams moved 1o dismiss the
secend amended complaimt,
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Cradit Dafault Swap Antitrust Litigation

Group Inc,, GS&Co. and G5l were among the defendants
named im a putative antitrust class action relating 1o the
sertlement of credit default swaps, Gled an June 30, 2021 in
the US, District Court for the District of New Mexico. The
camplaint generally aserts claims under faderal antitrust law
and the Commaodity Exchange Act in connection with an
alleged conspiracy among the defendants to manipulate the
benchmark price vsed 1w value credit default swaps for
scitlement. The complaint also asseris a claim for unjust
enrichment under state common law. The complaim seeks
declaratory and injunctive reliel, as well as unspecified
amounts of treble and other damages, On November 15,
2021, the defendants filed a motion 1o dismiss the complaine.
On February 4, 2022, the plainciffs filed an amended
camplaint and voluntarily dismissed Group Inc. from the
action, On June 5, 2023, the couri dismissed the claims
against certain foreign defendants for lack of personal
jurisdiction but demied the defendams’ maotion 1o dismiss
with respect to GS8Co., G351 and the remaining defendants.
On January 2, 2024, the court pranted the defendants
motion 1o stay the procesdings pending the resolution of the
motion filed h}r the defendants on Movember 3, 2023 in the
LS. District Court for the Southeen Districn of New York o
enforce a 20015 settlement and release among, the parties. On
Jamuary 26, 2024, the US. District Courr for the Southern
Digrict of MNew York pramed the defendams’ motion o
enforce the settlement and release and enjoined the plaintiffs
from pursuing any claims apainst the detendants in the New
Mexico action for any alleged violation of law based on
conduct befare June 30, 2004, and on February 23, 2024, the
plaimtiffs appealed o the U5, Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit.
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Consumar Investigation and Review

The firm has been cooperating with the CFPB and ather
governmental bodies  relating to  investipations  andfor
inquiries concerning GS Bank USA’s credit card account
management practices  and  is providing  informarion
regarding  the application  of  refunds, crediting  of
nonconforming  payments,  billing  error resolution,
advertisements, repornting o credic bureaws, and any other
rtul:ulnm‘-n.-.lalmj information rm:ll:c:slm:! 11:,.' Ih-ﬂll‘lII and G§
Bank USA has entered inte a consent order, without
admitting or denying the findings, to resolve the CFPB's
investigation. The consent order requires a 545 million
penalty, approximately $20 million in restitution (to be offset
by restitution GS Bank USA has already provided to
consumers), and certain non-monetary remedial measures,
The firm has |Jai|:! the ru]] AmoLnt nf the sertlement.

Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation

Group Inc. and cercain of its affilares are subject 1o a number
of other investipations and reviews by, and, in some cases,
have received subpoenas and requests for documents and
information  from, various governmental and regulatory
bodies and self-regulatory organizations and litigation and
sharcholder requests relating o various maners relating 1o
the firm's businesses and operations, including:

* The securities offering process and underwriting practices;

® The firm"s invescment mamapgement and financial advisory
BECVICes;

* Conflicts of interest;

* Rewarch Fm':rlin-.x, ill.l:'l.l.ll:lil'li'_ research ijul;-.[mm.irm:m and
interactions between rescarch analyss and other firm
personnel, including investment banking personnel, as well
as third parties;

* Transactions invelving government-related financings and
other matters, municipal securities, including wall-cros
procedures and conflict of interest disclosure with respect
to state and municipal clients, the trading and structuring
of municipal dervative instrumems in connection with
municipal offerings, palitical contribution rules, municipal
advisory services and the possible impact of credit defaul
swap transactions on municipal issuers;

Consumer lending, as well as residential mongage lending,
servicing, and securitization, and compliance with related
consumer laws;

Godman Spchs 2004 Form 10K 239
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® The offering, awction, sales, trading and clearance of
corporate and  government  securitics,  CURMENSES,
Lo mesdities and other rll:lm'u.‘:izl l:ln.ull.lﬁs and relatved sales
and other communications and activitics, as well as the
firm"s supervision and controls relating 1o such activities,
including compliance with applicable short sale rules,
algerithmic, high-frequency and quantitative trading, the
firm's LS. alernative reading syaem (dack pool), [urures
trading, options trading, when-issued trading, rransaction
:llbd mwl]z!::r}' u-]:u:lnl:lin;f;r Icrhllu]l:sg_f s:ﬂﬂrms :llld l."::l:lll.rl::-ls.,
communications recordkeeping and recording, securities
lending practices, prime brokerape activities, trading and
clearance of credit derivative instruments and interest rate
swaps, commodities activities and metals storage, private
placement  practices, allocations of and trading  in
securities, and trading acivities and communications in
connection with the establishment of benchmark rates,
such as currency rates;

* Compliance with the FCPA;
* The firm"s hining and compensation practices;
* The firm"s system af risk management and controls;, and

® [nsider teading, the potemtial misuse and dissemination of
material nonpublic information regarding, corporate and
governmental developments and the elfectiveness of the
firms insider trading controls and information barriers.

The firm is cooperating with all such governmental and
regulatory investigations and reviews,

230 Goldman Sechs 2024 Form 10K
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Mote 28.
Employee Benefit Plans

The firm sponsors vanous pension plans and cerain other
postretirement benefit plans, primarily healthcare and life
insurance. The firm also provides certain benefits 1o former
or inactive employees prior to retirement.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Postretirement
Plans

Emplovees of certain non-U.5. subsidiaries participate in
various defined beneflit pension plans. These plans generally
provide benefits based on vears of credited service and a
prroentage af eligible compensation. The firm maintaing a
defined benefit penston plan for certain UK. employees. As
of April 2008, the UK. defined benefit ]:l|.'.|||. was closed 1o
new participants and frozen for existing participants as of
March 31, 2006, The non-LLS. plans do not have a material

impact on the firm"s consolidated resulis of operations.

The firm also maintains a defined benefit pension plan for
substantially all 1.5, employees hired prior to Movember 1,
2003, As of November 2004, this plan was closed o new
participants and frozen for existing participants. In addition,
the firm maintains unfunded postretiement benelit plans
thar provide medical and life insurance for cligible retirees
and their dependents covered under these programs. These
plans do not have a material impact on the firm's
consolidaved resulis of operations.

The firm recognizes the funded status of its defined benefit
pension and postretirement plans, measured as the difference
between the fair value of the plan assets and the benefi
obligation, in the consolidated balance sheets. As of
December 2024, other assets included 573 million (related to
overfunded pension plans) and other labilities included
5344 million relmed to these plans. As of December 2023,
other assets included 593 million (related 1o overfunded
pension plans] and other labilities included 5449 million
related to these plans.

Defined Contribution Plans

The firm contributes to employer-sponsored U5, and mon-
LS. defined contribwtion plans. The firms contribution 1o
these plans was $382 millicn for 2024, 3377 million for 2023
and 5378 million fer 2022,
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MNote 29.
Employee Incentive Plans

The oo af I;'l.'l'l!:lll::l}'{'c services recerved vr:m;!langﬂ for a
share-based award is generally measured based on the grant-
dare fair value of the award, Share-based awards that do not
require future service (ie., vested awards, including awards
granted 1o retirement-eligible employees) are  expensed
immediarely. Share-based awards that require future service
are amortized over the relevant service period. Forleitures are
recorded when they oceur,

Cash dividend equivalents paid on RSUs are penerally
charged to retained earnings. I RSUs that require future
service are forfeited, the related dividend equivalents
originally charged to retained earnimgs are reclassified o
compensation expense in the period in which forleiture
acours.

The firm generally issues new shares of common stock upon
delivery of share-based awards. In limited cases, as outlined
in the applicable award agreements, the fiem may cash serle
share-based awards accounted for as equity instruments. For
these awards, addivional paid-in capital is adjusted o the
extent of the difference between the value of the award at the
time of cash settlement and the grant-date valoe af the
award. The tax effect related o the serlement of share-based
awards and pavments of dividend squivalents is recorded in
income tax benelit or expense.

Stock Incantive Plan

The firm sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan [2021)
(2021 SIP), which provides fesr prants of R3lls, restricied
stock, dividend equivalent righes, incentive stock options,
nulu.]lla“rl.m:l stock opticns, stock appreciation rights, and
ather share-based awards, each of which may be subject 1o
terms and conditions, including performance or market
conditions. On April 29, 2021, shareholders approved the
2021 SIP. The 2021 SIP is a successor to several predecessor
stock incentive plans, the first of which was adopted on April
3, 1999, and each of which was approved by the firm's
shareholders,
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As of December 2024, 55.7 million shares were available io be
delivered pursuant to awards granted under the 2021 SIP, If
any shares of common stock underlying awards gramed
under the 2021 5IP or awards granted under predecessor
stock incentive |:l|a.n:. are not delivered because such awards
are forfeited, terminated or canceled, or if shares of common
stock underlving such awards are surrendered or withheld 1o
satisly any obligation of the prantee (including raxes), those
shares will become available to be delivered pursuant 1o
awards pranted under the 2021 SIP. Shares available o be
delivered under the 2021 SIP also are subject o adjustment
for certain events or changes in corporate structure as
provided under che 2021 S1P. The 2021 SIF is scheduled 1o
terminate on the date of the 2025 Annuwal Meeting of
Shareholders.

Restricted Stock Units

The firm prams RSUs (incloding RSUs subjpa 1w
performance or market conditions) 1o employees, which are
generally valued based on the closing price of the underlving
shares on the dawe of grant, after taking imo account a
liquidity discount for any applicable post-vesting and delivery
rransfer  restrictions. The value of equity awards also
considers the impact of material non-public information, if
any, that the firm sxpects to make available shartly following
gramt. K5Us not subject 1o performance or market conditions
Ernrf:.l”_v vest and ull.u:.‘-t.-r]}-j:llg_ shares nf LOrmman ﬂurk Aare
delivered (et of required withholding tax) over a three-year
pericd as outlined in the applicable award agreements.
Award agreements penerally  provide thar  vesting s
accelerated im certain circumstances, such as on retirement,
death, disability and, in certain cases, conllicted employment.
Delivery of the underlying shares of common stock is
conditioned on the grantees satisfying cemain vesting and
other requirements outlined in the award agreements.

BSUs that are subject 1o performance or market conditions
generally are sttled after the end of a three 1o five-year
period. For awards thar are subject 1o performance or market
conditions, generally the final award is adjusted from zero up
to 150% of the original grant based on the exaent 1o which
those conditions are satisfied. Dividend equivalents char
acorue on these awards are paid when the awards settle,

Goidman Sachs 2004 Form 10K 2301
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, INC. AND SUBSIQWBAIES
MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The table below presemts the 2024 activity eelated 1o stock
settled RSLs,

Waghtad Aveugs
Grant-Date Fae Valos of

Reaorened F1ock Raarreied Sock

Limitn Checaranding Linits Churstanding
Frenure ko Futune Future N Futues
Sernce Sarace Serace Sensaos
Resquired Requied Feguined _ Fequired
B inining bafanc: 4378941 15306521 § 30 § 3MAT
Grared 275500 4302501 §  FO1E7 § 35489
Forleted {585.760) (418815} § 20084 & 3177
LB - [B.EO205T) & - § 308
Vi ed (31000704} 3103004 8§  FIoBe § 33086
balance 3 13791564 5 34405 § 37981

In the table above:

* The weighted average gramt-date fair value of RSUs
granted was 5365.28 during 2024, 332,23 during 2023 and
531698 during 2022, The granc-date fair valoe of these
RSUs included an average liguidity discount of 39%
during, 2024, 4.5% during 2023 and 6.0% doring 2022, o
reflect  post-vesting and  delivery  transfer restrictions,
generally of | year for each of 2024, 2023 and 2022 In
addition, delivered RSUs include RSUs that have been

settled in cash.

* The agpregate fair value of awards thar vested was 53,15
billion during 2024, 5247 billion during 2023 and
53.91 billion during 2022,

The ending balance included restricted stock subject to

future service requirements of 4,579 shares as of December
2024 and 347 240 shares as of December 2023,

The ending balance included RSUs subject to future service
requirements and performance or market conditions af
466,731 KSUs as of December 2024 and 617,655 K5Us as of
December 2023, and the maximum amount of such RSUs
thar may be earmed was 700097 B5Us as of December 2024
and 913,551 R5Us as of December 2023,

The ending balance also included RSUs not subject 1o
future service requirements bur subject 1o performance
conditions of 1,587 795 RSUs as of December 2024 and
1,620,470 RSUs as of December 2023, and the maximim
amount of such RSUs that may be camed was 2,381 693
RSUs as of December 2024 and 2430705 RSUs as of
Drecember 20023,

232 Goldman Sschs 3024 Form 10K

In relation to 2024 vear-end, during the Grst quamer of 2025,
the firm granted 1o its employess 3.0 million BSUs (of which
1.5 million RSUs require future service as a condition for
delivery of the related shares of common stock). These RSUs
are subject to additional conditions as autlined in the award
apreements. Shares underlving these R5Us, mer of required
withholding, tax, generally are delivered over a three-year
pericd and are generally subject 1o a one-vear post-vesting
and delivery transfer restriction. These awards are noc
im_'ludrd mn ll‘u- l:lhlr :lI'ch:-.

As of December 2024, there was 3630 million of total
unrecopnized compensation cost related to mon-vested share
based awards, This cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.70 vears. In addition, there is
unrecognized compensation  cost related to share-based
awards subject to performance conditions. The maximum
payout related to these awards is 5299 million, This cost is
expected 1o be recopnized over a weighted averape period of
(.65 vears.

The table below presents the share-based compensation and
the related excess tax benefir.

Weer Erded December

& w1 miers Faiegl FLrE] Fir e
Shasi-basid compersalon $27T2 % 300 £ 4707
Excirds ol Bax bishedil dor shavebeded pvards 8 8 5§ 100 § 59

In the table above, excess net tax benefit for share-based
awards includes the net tax benefit on dividend equivalents

paid on R5Us and the delivery of common stock underlving
share-based awards.

Overrides

The firm shares a portion of its overrides related 1o
investment management services with approximarely 900
cmlnlu}'ms, inﬂu:h':lg_ with the Eirrn': EXECR I ::Ffiu:'rrs. The
fair value of these averrides is recopnized as compensation
expense  over the wvesting pericd. Such  expense  was
5376 million for 2024, 5407 million for 2023 and 5493 millien
for 2022
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Mote 30.
Parent Company
Group Inc. - Condensed Statements of Earnings

Vi (Enchsd Discarri

5 indlang M Wl 2
Revenues
Diwidbends from sulisgianes ard oiher aifilisles:

Bani § 6825 s

Monbank a2 148 GM3
Orhes revanues {1.24) 00 585 03 he0)
Total ronintens] ivenuos TA6S  S5H 3054
[T F ik ] 04T
s res dogecrin HEIT 21475 G438
Bt il i bk f2ead) (2Eand 1 0ET)
Tt rusrl Fevinass 4876 G952 1,683
Operating expendss
Compansation and beneits G it o Im
nhis expinsis 683 218 [ii5]
Tt opising e 1369 506 1013
Pr-Baor eaCTiNGE 1506 6446 (]
Bonefit for axes {1817 .00 1,280
Unaistributed samings of subsidanes

A ot i Ml B.I6F 7 O o 1E3
Mt A ngs W27e 8516 71261
Prafemed s10ck dhicenss Eil a0e 457

Het sarnings spplicable to common sharsholdens $13,535 & 7507 510, e
Supplemental Disclosures:

In the condensed statements of carnings above, revenues and
expenses included the following with subsidiaries and other
affiliares:

* Dividends from bank subsidiaries included cash dividends
of 862 million for 2024, 558 million for 2023 and 597
million for 2022,

* Dividends from nonbank subsidiaries and ather affiliares
included cash dividends of $9.02 billion for 2024, $11.49
billicn for 2023 and $6.14 billion for 2022,

* Other revenues included $(1.72) billion for 3024, 5(892)
million for 2023 and 5(3.34) billion for 2022,

* [nterest income included 517,65 billion for 2024, 516,82
Billion for 2023 and $7.47 billion for 2023,

* [nterest expense included 51191 billion for 2024, 59.94
billicn for 2023 and $3.80 billion for 2022,

* Other expenses included 5104 million for 2024, S10%
million for 2023 and 5116 million for 2022,

Group Inc.'s other comprehensive income/{loss) was 5216
millian for 2024, $92 million for 2023 and $(942) million for
2022,
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Group Ine. - Condensed Balance Sheets

An of Dpcemiper

5§ w1 milors e Fig]
Aszets
Corih snd comh egualents:

\Aith thisg-pany banks § 1w s 35

With subsigieny bark 2 ?
Loans o nng receinvabies Trom subsdmnes;

Bank 5,738 1B

Mok (515,484 ang S4.813 af far valoa) 282,580 JHi e
Irvestrrants in subesidio nos and othar stflisies:

Bank 3,427 55, 164

Noribwank T a2 TBE81
Tradng freseis (at Tair valua) 438 387
Iy Erents (S35, 208 ond 527 443 of falr value) =0,857 75 M)
L Foier Bt 8,300 7 it
Total assets $618,683 §512 273
Uabilities and shareholdens” equity
Repurchase sgreements with subsdanes 1 br valuel § TE, W5 S 7RT76
Syl Bornnvings with subsigianies 28,151 18253
Pitpibias 10 subsituies 1.803 o
Trachng labkties ot i valaa) 1.107 L)
Lirsecyrad Shor-Wanm Dormesengs:

Wish third paries i, 883 nnd 54,721 ot dor vaioe) 2408 a21,ex

Wiith Subsiinries 3,588 50

Urdecured long-tanm bomowangs:
Wiih third partes S200081 ano S50, 900 of far voluel 167,883 175335

Wiish subsigiarios 29,883 ToEIG
{hwer Babyilitns 080 LES
Totsl kshiltas J08 R8T 065004
‘Commiiments, contingencies and guarantees
Bharetolders’ equity
Prmfamed slock 13282 11Ha
Common 5800k a El
She-Dadad mvbigs 548 5121
SAnCTCn] PG Copital 61,378 GhAy
Rataned sarnings 153,412 4L
Acoumniaied other compen hensie oss {2, 102 [ 58
Stock hodd in iressuny, a? cost {108, 500 (1043 5]
Total shanihoiders’ equity 121,808 116805
Taotal Babiiitles and shareholders” equity SH18.683 £512 3K

Supplemaental Dizelosures:

Goldman Sachs Funding LLC, a wholly-owned, direct
subsidiary of Group Inc., has provided Group Inc. with a
committed line of credit that allows Croup [nc. to draw
sullicient funds to meet its cash needs in the ordinary course
of business,

Tr:n:!inr_ ASEELS inrlu:lm:l dervative contracts with su]’:si.(l:i:rics
of 5261 million as of December 2024 and 5155 million as of
December 2023

Trading liabilities  included derivative contracts  with
subsidiaries of $1.11 billicn as of December 2024 and $808
million as of Decembser 2023,

As of December 2024, unsecured long-term borrowings with
subsidiaries by maturity date are 58766 billion in 2026, S160
million in 2037, 8224 million in 2028, $243 million in 2029
and 51.60 billion in 2030-thereafter.

Godman Sachs 2004 Form 10K 233
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Group Ine. - Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

it Erclind Discoinbar

& v el 2024 HEI 209
Gash flows from operating sctivities
Nel paTnegs S14XNE 5 2006 510360
Adprstrmants to reconcile net eenrgs 1o net
cos® By opatang actvd
Undetributed sairings of subsaieras
A ot o oe [RASH  dh000h  L1EN
Dot CTan A aFn T ETOn o 13 a
Defered nosme T &y a0 (1.5%3
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Changes in opeetng asse and kabiites
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secuned betroradngs, nel (B3 10,537 BE.AED
Teafing msets 3855 TEID {3,451
Trading heipdces 08 ) E4EF 1473
(e, net B0 @30h 5833
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Supplemantal Dizclosures:

Cash payments for interest, net of capitalized interest, were
§22.43 billicn for 2024, 520,53 billion for 2013 and 58.54
billion for 2022, and included 51160 billion for 2024, §2.40
billicn for 2023 and $3.55 billion for 2022 of payments to

subsidiaries,

Cash paymemts for income taxes, net, were 51.29 billion for

2024, 5671 millicn for 2023 and 52,59 billion for 2022,

There were ne matenal non-cash activities during the vear

ended December 2024,

Non-cash activities during the vear ended December 2023:

* Group Inc. exchanged 51.42 billion of equity investment in
itz wholly-owned subsidiaries for loans.

Mon-cash acrivities during the vear ended December 2022

* Groop Inc, issued 5175 billion of equity in connection with
the acquisition of GreenSky. Upon closing of the
teansaction, GreenSky became a wholly-owned subsidiary

of G5 Bank USA.
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THE GOLOMAN SACHS GROUF, IMC. AMD SUBSIOMAIES

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk

Qll:lnﬂl.:al.h':- and :Il:l:llil.al:i\-r disclasures abowr market risk
are set forth in “Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk
Mamapement™ in Part 11, [vem 7 of this Form 10-K.

Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data

Management's Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting

Mamapememt of The Galdman Sachs Group, [ne., together
with its consolidared subsidiaries (the firm}), is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal contro] over
financial reporting. The firm®s internal conrel over Bnancial
reporting is a process desipned under the supervision of the
firm's principal executive and principal financial officers 1o
provide reascnable assurance reparding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of the firm’s financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance
with LLS, generally accepted accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2024, management conducted an
assessment of the fiem's internal comteol over [finamcial
reporting based on the framework established in Internal
Conrrol Integrated Framework [2013) Gssued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission [C0OS0), Based on this assessment, mamagement
has determined char the fiem®s internal contrel over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024 was elfective,
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Our internal comtrol over financial repornting includes policies
and procedures that pertain to the mamtenance of records
thar, in reasomable derail, aceuravely and faiely reflect
transactions and dispositions of asets; provide reasonable
assurance thar transactions are recorded as necessary 10
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
L5, -Eﬂlrra“].' ai.'ﬂ'pl{'ti .Hi.'ml:ll‘llil‘lE. prilu;il:lh:-s. and that
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and the directors of the
firm; and provide reasomable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of vnauthorized acquisition, wse or
dispesition of the firm's assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statemenrs,

The firm's internal control over financial reporting as of

Drecember
PricewarerhouseCoopers

has  been  audied by

LLP (PCADB 1D 238), an

independent registered public accounting flirm, as stated in its
report appearing below, which expresses an ungualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the firm*s internal control over
fimancial reporting as of December 31, 2024,
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Satements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, of comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders
equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “ consolidated financial statements’). We aso have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion,
the Company maintained, in al material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basisfor Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financia reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financia reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in al material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financia reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide areasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s interna control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financia reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generaly accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financia statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to
the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especialy challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
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communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to

which they relate.
Valuation of Certain Level 3 Financial I nstruments

As described in Notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financia statements, as of December 31, 2024, the Company carries financial instruments
at fair value, which includes $20.4 billion of financia assets and $25.7 billion of financia liabilities classified in level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy (a portion of which relates to certain equity securities and hybrid financial instruments), as one or more inputs to the financial
instrument’s valuation technique are significant and unobservable. Significant unobservable inputs used by management to value certain of
the level 3 financial instruments included market multiples, discount rates, and capitalization rates for equity securities; and correlation and
volatility for hybrid financial instruments.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of certain level 3 financial instruments
isacritica audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of certain level 3 financial
instruments, (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to
the significant unobservable inputs related to market multiples, discount rates, and capitaization rates for equity securities; and correlation
for hybrid financia instruments, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the valuation of financial
instruments, including controls over the methods and aforementioned significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of certain level 3
financia instruments. These procedures also included, among others, testing the completeness and accuracy of data used by management, as
well as (i) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of certain level 3 financia instruments, (ii) evaluating the
appropriateness of the techniques used by management, (iii) evaluating the reasonableness of the aforementioned significant unobservable
inputs, and either (iv) the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating (a) the appropriateness of the
techniques used by management and (b) the reasonableness of the aforementioned significant unobservable inputs, or (v) the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of management’s estimate by (a) evaluating the
appropriateness of the techniques used by management and (b) developing an independent estimate of fair value for a sample of certain level
3 securities using independently determined assumptions, and comparing the independent range of prices to management’s estimate.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Wholesale Loan Portfolio

As described in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the allowance for credit losses was $4.7 billion as of December 31, 2024, of
which $2.1 billion relates to the wholesale loan portfolio. The alowance for credit losses for wholesale loans that exhibit similar risk
characteristics is measured using a modeled approach. These models determine the probability of default and loss given default based on
various risk factors, including internal credit ratings, industry default and loss data, expected life and macroeconomic indicators (the most
significant to the forecast model being the forecasted U.S. unemployment and U.S. GDP growth rates), the borrower's capacity to meet its
financia obligations, the borrower's country of risk and industry, loan seniority and collateral type. The allowance for credit losses aso
includes qualitative components which allow management to reflect the uncertain nature of economic forecasting, capture uncertainty
regarding model inputs, and account for model imprecision and concentration risk.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the allowance for credit losses for the wholesale
loan portfolio isacritical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when devel oping the allowance for credit losses for the
wholesale loan portfolio using a modeled approach, (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment and effort in performing procedures and evaluating
audit evidence related to management’s internal credit ratings, forecasted U.S. unemployment and U.S. GDP growth rates, and the qualitative
component to reflect the uncertain nature of economic forecasting, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized
skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the allowance for credit losses
for the wholesale loan portfolio using a modeled approach, including controls over the determination of management’s internal credit ratings,
forecasted U.S. unemployment and U.S. GDP growth rates, and the qualitative component to reflect the uncertain nature of economic
forecasting. These procedures also included, among others, (i) testing management’s process for developing the allowance for credit losses
for the wholesale loan portfolio using a modeled approach (ii) testing the completeness and accuracy of data used in the estimate, and (iii) the
involvement of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating (a) the appropriateness of the forecast model and
methodology used by management (b) the reasonableness of management’s internal credit ratings, forecasted U.S. unemployment and U.S.
GDP growth rates, and (c) the reasonableness of the qualitative component to reflect the uncertain nature of economic forecasting.

/s PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1922.
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